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ПРЕПРОВОДИТЕЛЬНОЕ ПИСЬМО

10 сентября 1986 года

Сэр,
Специальный комитет по расследованию затрагивающих права человека действий 

Израиля в отношении населения оккупированных территорий настоящим имеет честь 
препроводить Ван свой восемнадцатый доклад, подготовленный в соответствии с 
резолюциями Генеральной Ассамблеи, касающимися Специального комитета, и, в 
частности резол1Щией 2443 (XXIII) от 19 декабря 1968 года, в соответствии с которой 
был учрещден Специальный комитет, а также резолюцией 40/161 D от 16 декабря 
1985 года, - последней из резолюций, предусматривающих продление Генеральной 
Ассамблеей его мандата.

Настоящий доклад охватывает период с 30 августа 1985 года (дата утверхщения 
предцдущего доклада) по 31 августа 1986 года. В основе доклада лежит информация, 
полученная Специальным комитетом из устных свидетельских показаний лиц, лично 
знакомых с положением в области прав человека на оккупированных территориях, а 
также письменная информация из различных источников. Исходя из этой устной и 
письменной инфюрмации. Специальный комитет отобрал для настоящего доклада наиболее 
существенные данные, приводимые в нем в виде вццержек или резюме. С целью сбора 
устных свидетельских показаний Специальный комитет организовал слушания, которые 
прошли в Нью-Йорке, Женеве и Аммане. Специальный комитет продолжал держать под 
своим пристальным вниманием заявления членов правительства Израиля, в которых 
отражается политика, проводимая этим правительством на оккупированных территориях, 
а также сообщения о мерах по реализации этой политики. Специальный комитет принял 
к сведению письма, касаю1циеся мандата Специального комитета, которые были 
направлены на Ваше имя и на имя Председателя Совета Безопасности в течение периода, 
охватываемого настоящим докладом, и распространены в качестве документов 
Генеральной Ассамблеи и Совета Безопасности. Специальный комитет получил 
информацию от ряда организаций по различным аспектам положения на оккупированных 
территориях. Следует особо упомянуть о ряде документов и статистических сводок, 
представленных Специальному комитету Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
и Отделом образования и высшей школы Организации освобождения Палестины в Аммане и 
отразкающих различные стороны политики и практики в отношении прав человека 
гразкданского населения этих территорий.
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Его Превосходительству
Г-ну Хавьеру Пересу де Куэльяру
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Организации Объединенных Наций 
Нью-Йорк



Несмотря на усилия, предпринятые в этом направлении, правительство Израиля не 
изменило своей позиции по отношению к Специальному комитету. В то же время 
правительства Арабской Республики Египет, Иорданского Хгипимитского Королевства и 
Сирийской Арабской Республики, а также Организация освобояд^ения Палестины оказывали 
Специальному комитету содействие в деле осуществления его мандата. Вместе с тем 
члены Специального комитета вьфажают свое сожаление по поводу того, что финансовые 
затруднения, о которых Вам хорошо известно, не позволили ему в осуществление своего 
мандата провести слушания в Каире и Дамаске.

При подготовке своего доклада Специальный комитет стремился представить на 
Ваше рассмотрение всеобъемлющую картину действительного положения в области прав 
человека гражданского населения на оккупированных территориях. В настоящем письме 
Специальный комитет хотел бы обратить Ваше внимание на ряд моментов, заслуживающих 
особого упоминания.

Как свидетельствуют факты, приводимые в настоящем докладе, власти Израиля 
продолжают проводить политику аннексии и создания поселений на оккупированных 
территориях. Специальный комитет серьезно обеспокоен судьбой граящанских лиц, 
выселенных из родных мест. Одной из иллюстраций сложившегося положения является 
судьба ясителей Эммауса, Бейт-Нубы и Ялу, которые превратились в кочующих беженцев 
после того, как в 1967 году их деревни были стерты с лица земли оккупационнывми 
властями. Предметом глубокой озабоченности Специального комитета является тот 
факт, что жителям этих деревень упорно отказывают в праве на возвращение в их 
родные места, где на средства Еврейского национального фонда Канады был создан парк 
Канады и где израильские власти собираются произвести лесопосадки вместо того, 
чтобы воссоздать разрушенные деревни. . ьи ^

Содержащаяся в настоящем докладе инфорнгщия указывает на новые факторы, еще 
более усугубляющие положение граящанского населения. Специальный комитет выражает 
обеспокоенность по поводу эскалации насилия, вызванной тем, что правительство 
Израиля вновь обратилось к политике "железного кулака”, что следует из заявлений 
самих властей. Проявлением этой политики стало принятие ряда жестких мер, 
затрагивающих права человека палестинского населения оккупированных территорий, - 
как, например, увеличение числа арестов и судебных процессов, которые заканчиваются 
тюремным заключением многих граязданских лиц (в том числе несовершеннолетних), 
осуяздаемых за политические преступления и за преступления против безопасности, а 
также введение мер, предусматривающих административное задержание. Наряду с этим 
вызывает беспокойство такой аспект политики "железного кулака", как возобновление в 
широких масштабах актов высылки и депортации. .

Положение, слоясившееся в связи с проведением этой политики на Западному берегу 
и в секторе Газа, а также жесткий реяош на территории Голанских высот не оставили 
никаких надеязд на улучшение ситуации в области прав человека на оккупированных 
территориях в период, охватываемый настоящим докладом.

Картина повседневной жизни гражданского населения, вырисовывахяцаяся на основе 
изучения устных свидетельских показаний и письменной информации, собранной 
Специальным комитетом, ясно свидетельствует о серьезных нарушениях основных прав и 
свобод жителей оккупированных территорий. При этом последние подвергаются 
различным формам притеснений, включая коллективные меры наказания - такие, как 
разрушение ясилых домов; вразедебные действия поселенцев, которые пользуются любой
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возможностью для расширения своей власти; ограничение свободы передвижения, на что 
указывает возрастание числа домашних арестов и запрещений на выезд из городов, а 
также ограничения права на свободу образования, о чем, в частности, свидетельствует 
произвольная депортгщия ряда преподавателей и профессоров университетов. В данной 
связи Специальный комитет выражает надежду на то, что эти преподаватели и 
профессора, которые были депортированы без каких-либо обоснованных причин, будут в 
возможно более короткий срок репатриированы и восстановлены на работе.

Официальными лицами в Израиле был сделан ряд заявлений по вопросу о 
возвращении муниципальных органов под управление местных руководителей. Несмотря 
на неоднократные заявления по этому вопросу и сообщения о якобы предпринятых шагах 
по их осуществлению. Специальный комитет считает, что на данной стадии едва ли 
можно судить о мотивах, лежащих в основе этих заявлений.

Сложившееся положение продолжает приводить к многочисленньт арестам по 
обвинениям в политических преступлениях и преступлениях против безопасности, что 
придает постоянный характер проблеме условий жизни и положения заключенных всех 
возрастов и порождает непрерывный поток серьезных обвинений в связи с обращением с 
заключенными.

Принимая во внимание вьш1есказанное. Специальный комитет стремился составить 
ясную картину и дать точное описание положения в области прав человека на 
оккупированных территориях. Серьезность и постоянное ухудшение этого положения 
требуют от международного сообщества предпринять новые усилия в борьбе за улучшение 
положения гражданского населения на оккупированных территориях.

,, Г-н Генеральный секретарь, как Вам известно. Специальный комитет, действуя в 
духе конструктивного сотрудничества, согласился ограничить масштабы своей 
деятельности в ответ на просьбу, адресованную Вами всем органам системы Организации 
Объединенных Наций в стремлении преодолеть финансовый кризис, с которьо< столкнулась 
Организация в нынешнем году. Мои коллеги и я лично сделали все, что в наших силах, 
для максимсшьно полного осуществления нашего мандата в рамках этих ограничений. №>i 
вьфажаем надежду на то, что эти ограничения будут сняты и, в случае возобновления 
мандата Специального комитета, ему будет предоставлена возможность осуществлять 
вверенные ему функции таким образом, чтобы не снижать эффективности его работы.

Примите, Сэр, от имени моих коллег и от меня лично заверения в нашем самом 
глубоком уважении.

Н. ВЦДЖЕВАРДАНВ 
Председатель Специального комитета 

по расследованию затрагивающих права человека 
действий Израиля в отношении населения 

оккупированных территорий
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1. Специальный комитет по расследованию затрагивающих права человека действий 
Израиля в отношении населения оккупированных территорий был учреяоден Генеральной 
Ассамблеей в соответствии с резолюцией 2443 (XXIII) от 19 декабря 1968 года. В 
этой резолюции Ассамблея постановила учредить Специальный комитет в составе 
представителей трех государств-членов ; просила Председателя Ассамблеи назначить 
членов Специального комитета; просила правительство Израиля принять Специальный 
комитет, сотрудничать с ним и содействовать его работе; просила Специальный 
комитет представить, возможно скорее. Генеральному секретарю доклад и затем 
представлять такие доклады по мере необходимости, а также просила Генерального 
секретаря обеспечить Специальному комитету все необходимые условия для выполнения 
возложенной на него задачи.

2. 12 сентября 1969 года в состав Специального комитета были назначены следующие
государства-члены: Сомали, Шри Ланка и Югославия. Правительство При Ланки
назначило своим представителем в Специальном комитете Постоянного представителя При 
Ланки при Организации Объединенных Наций г-на Г.П. Анерасингхе. Правительство 
Югославии назначило своим представителем в Специальном комитете профессора 
факультета права Люблянского университета и члена Союзной скупщины Югославии
г-на Борута Бохте. Правительство Сомали назначило своим представителем в 
Специальном комитете г-на А.А. Фараха, а затем Постоянного представителя при 
Организации Объединенных Наций г-на X. Нур-Эльми. 26 апреля 1974 года Председатель 
Генеральной Ассамблеи на ее двадцать восьмой сессии информировал Генерального 
секретаря о том, что Сомали приняла решение выйти из состава Специального комитета 
и что в соответствии с пунктом 2 резолюции 2443 (XXIII) Генеральной Ассамблеи он 
назначил членом Специального комитета Сенегал. 30 апреля 1974 года Постоянный 
представитель Сенегала при Организации Объединенных Наций информировал Генерального 
секретаря о том, что его правительство назначило своим представителем в Специальном 
комитете г-на Кеба Мбайе, главного судью Сенегала (Premier Prisedent de la Cour 
suprême du Senegal). 21 сентября 1976 года Постоянный представитель Шри Ланки при 
Организации Объединенных Наций информировал Генерального секретаря о том, что 
г-н Г.Ш. Амерасингхе вышел из состава Специального комитета в связи с избранием его 
Председателем Генеральной Ассамблеи на ее тридцать первой сессии. 18 февраля 
1977 года правительство Шри Ланки информировало Генерального секретаря о том, что 
на заседаниях Специального комитета в Женеве с 22 февраля по 1 марта 1977 года 
будет присутствовать Верховный комиссар ||̂ и Ланки в Соединенном Королевстве 
Великобритании и Северной Ирлацдии г-н В.Л.Б. Иецдис.

3. 26 апреля 1977 года правительство Шри Ланки информировало Генерального 
секретаря о том, что оно назначило своим представителем в Специальном комитете 
заместителя Постоянного представителя Шри Ланки при Организации Объединенных Наций 
г-на И.Б. Фонсеку. 8 июля 1977 года правительство Сенегала информировало 
Специальный комитет о том, что г-н Кеба Мбайе вышел из состава Специального 
комитета, и назначило вместо него в качестве своего представителя в Специальном 
комитете г-на Усмани Гундиама, Генерального прокурора Верховного суда (Procureur 
general près la Cour suprême). 20 июля 1978 года правительство 1Кри Ланки 
информировало Генерального секретаря о том, что оно назначило своим представителен 
в Спещ 1альном комитете г-на Б.Дк. Фернандо, Постоянного представителя Шри Ланки при 
Организащи Объединенных Наций. Вербальной нотой от 11 сентября 1979 года 
правительство Шри Ланки уполномочило г-на Д.Р. Переру участвовать в заседаниях 
Специального комитета с 10 по 21 сентября 1979 года.
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4. Вербальной нотой от 23 апреля 1980 года правительство Шри Ланки уполномочило 
г-на Надарадя» Баласубраманиама, посла и временного поверенного в делах Постоянного 
представительства Шри Ланки при Организахц1И Объединенных Наций, представлять Шри 
Ланку на заседаниях Специального комитета с 19 по 30 мая 1980 года.
Г-н Баласубрамгшиам был назначен представителем Шри Ланки в Специальном комитете 
вербальной нотой от 14 июля 1980 года. На заседгшиях, проходивших с 21 по 25 июля
1980 года, Шри Ланку представлял г-н К.К. Брекенридш, уполномоченный вербальной 
нотой от 18 июля 1980 года.

5. Письмом от 16 января 1981 года правительство Югославии уведомило Секретариат о 
назначении г-на Бецира Иехольича, председателя Городской комиссии по иностранньн 
делам в Сараево (Босния и Герцеговина), представителем Югославии в Специальном 
комитете. Вербальной нотой от 10 апреля 1981 года правительство Шри Ланки 
уведомило Генерального секретаря о назначении г-на И.Б. Фонсеки, Постоянного 
представителя Шри Ланки при Организации Объединенных Наций, представителен Щри 
Ланки в Специальном комитете на его заседаниях с 21 апреля по 1 мая 1981 года. 
Вербальной нотой от 12 июня 1981 года секретарь министерства иностргшных дел Шри 
Ланки уведомил Генерального секретаря о назначении г-на Фонсеки представителем Шри 
Ланки в Специальном комитете. Вербальной нотой от 31 августа 1981 года 
правительство Сенегала уведомило Секретариат о назначении г-на Алиуне Сене, посла 
Сенегала в Берне и Постоянного представителя Сенегала при Отделении Организации 
Объединенных Наций в Женеве, представителем Сенегала в Специальном комитете.

6. Вербальной нотой от 4 апреля 1984 года правительство Шри Ланки уведомило 
Секретариат о том, что вместо г-на И.Б. Фонсеки оно назначило в состав Специального 
комитета г-на Ниссанку Вцджевардане, Постоянного представителя Шри Ланки при 
Организации Объединенных Наций. Письмом от 4 апреля 1984 года правительство 
Югославии информировало Секретариат о кончине г-на Бецира Мехольича. Своим письмом 
от 15 мая 1984 года правительство Югославии назначило в состав Специального 
комитета вместо г-на Мехольича г-на Драгана Йованича, профессора права, 
председателя административного совета факультета права Риекского университета.

7. С октября 1970 года Специальный комитет представил 17 докладов 1/. Эти 
доклады обсуждались Специальным политическим комитетом, который затем представлял 
свои отчеты Генеральной Ассамблее 2/. По рекомендации Специального политического 
комитета Ассамблея приняла резолюции 2727 (XXV) от 15 декабря 1970 года,
2851 (XXVI) от 20 декабря 1971 года, 3005 (XXVII) от 15 декабря 1972 года, 3092 А 
и В (XXVIII) от 7 декабря 1973 года, 3240 А-С (XXIX) от 29 ноября 1974 года,
3525 A-D (XXX) от 15 декабря 1975 года, 31/106 A-D от 16 декабря 1976 года,
32/91 А-С от 13 декабря 1977 года, 33/113 А-С от 18 декабря 1978 года, 34/90 А-С от
12 декабря 1979 года, 35/122 A-F от 11 декабря 1980 года, 36/147 A-G от 16 декабря
1981 года, 37/88 A-G от 10 декабря 1982 года, 38/79 А-Н от 15 декабря 1983 года, 
39/95 А-Н от 14 декабря 1984 года и 40/161 A-G от 16 декабря 1985 года.

8. Настоящий доклад подготовлен в соответствии с резолюциями Генеральной 
Ассамблеи 2443 (XXIII), 2546 (XXIV), 2727 (XXV), 2851 (XXVI), 3005 (XXVII), 3092 В
(XXVIII), 3240 А и С (XXIX), 3525 А и С (XXX), 31/106 С и  D, 32/91 В и С, 33/113 С,
34/90 А-С, 35/122 С, 36/147 С, 37/88 С, 38/79 D, 39/95 D и 40/161 D.
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11. ОРГАНИЗАЦИЯ РАБОТЫ

9. Специальный комитет продолжал свою работу согласно правилам процедуры, 
содержащимся в его первом докладе Генеральному секретарю 3/. Г-н И. Вцджевардане 
(Шри Ланка) продолкгш исполнять обязанности Председателя.

10. Специальный комитет провел первую серию своих заседаний с 2 по 6 декабря 
1985 года в Нью-Йорке после того, как Генеральная Ассамблея удовлетворила его 
просьбу, с которой его вынудили обратиться чрезвычайные обстоятельства, разрешить 
проведение заседаний до возобновления его мандата Ассамблеей. Специальный комитет 
постановил сохранить свою систему анализа информации об оккупированных территориях 
и в соответствии с пунктом 17 резолюции 40/161 D уделять особое внимание информации 
об обращении с гражданскими лицами, содержа1цимися под стражей. Спещ 1альный комитет 
рассмотрел информацию о положении на оккупированных территориях за период с
30 августа 1985 года - даты утверждения его доклада Генеральной Ассамблее 
(А/40/702). Он рассмотрел ряд переданных ему сообщений, касающихся отдельных 
предполагаемых нарушений прав человека на оккупированных территориях. Он принял 
решение относительно организации работы в течение года. Специальный комитет решил 
обратиться к правительству Израиля, а также правительствам Египта, Иордании и 
Сирийской Арабской Республики с просьбой о сотрудничестве с ним в осуществлении его 
мацдата. Специальный комитет также решил обратиться к Организации освобождения 
Палестины. Специальный комитет заслушал показания свидетелей, только что 
вернувшихся с оккупированных территорий, где они непосредственно изучали случаи 
вынесения в отношении ряда гражданских лиц постановлений о высыпке. И наконец. 
Специальный комитет постановил, что в ходе следующей серии его заседаний он 
■проведет слушания в рассматриваемом районе в целях получения необходимой информации 
и свидетельств. 16 декабря 1985 года Генеральная Ассамблея приняла 
резолкя;1ИЮ 40/161 D. В этой резолюции Генеральная Ассамблея:

"16. ПРОСИТ Специальный комитет в ожидании скорого прекращения израильской 
оккупации продолжать расследование политики и практики Израиля на арабских 
территориях, оккупированных Израилем с 1967 года, проводить, по мере 
необходимости, консультации с Международным комитетом Красного Креста для 
обеспечения гарантий благосостояния и прав человека населения оккупированных 
территорий и представить доклад Генеральному секретарю в ближайшее время, 
после чего представлять такие доклады по мере необходимости;” .

11. 19 декабря 1985 года Специальный комитет направил письмо Постоянному 
представителю Израиля при Организа1Ц<и Объединенных Наций, которбе гласило:

Специальный комитет провел серию заседаний и принял ряд решений в 
отношении осуществления своего мандата. Специальный комитет постановил 
обратиться к заинтересованным правительствам, с тем чтобы просить их о 
сотрудничестве. В частности, речь идет о сотрудничестве с теми, кто 
непосредственно осведомлен о положении в области прав человека на 
оккупированных территориях и располагает инфюрмацией на основе собственного 
опыта.

Специальный комитет осведомлен о позиции, занятой правительством Вашего 
Превосходительства в прошлом, что отражено в официальных отчетах Генеральной
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Ассамблеи о тех заседаниях, на которых рассматривались доклады Специального 
комитета. Несмотря на такую негативную позицию. Специальный комитет выразил 
мнение, что ему следует по-прежнему прилагать все усилия в целях обеспечения 
сотрудничества со стороны правительства Вашего Превосходительства.
Специальный комитет считает, что правительству Израиля следует вновь
рассмотреть свою политику, с тем чтобы дать возможность Специальному комитету
посетить оккупированные территории, что позволило бы ему полностью осуществить 
свой мандат. Специальный комитет намерен провести серию заседаний с 20 апреля 
по 10 мая 1986 года, и он будет признателен, если ему будет предоставлена 
возможность получить непосредственно из первых рук свидетельские показания, 
которые станут доступными в результате предоставлёния такой возможности.

Специальный комитет обращается к правительству Израиля с призывом . 
пересмотреть свою позицию и позволить гражданскому населению оккупированных 
территорий пользоваться той защитой, которую ему предоставляет международное 
право".

12. 19 декабря 1985 года Специальный комитет направил постоянным представителям
Египта, Иордании и Сирийской Арабской Республики при Организации Объединенных На1Ц1Й
письмо следующего содержания:
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Специальный комитет провел серию заседаний и принял ряд решений в 
отношении осуществления своего мандата. Специальный комитет постановил 
обратиться к заинтересованным правительствам, с тем чтобы просить их о 
сотрудничестве. В частности, речь идет о сотрудничестве с теми, кто 
непосредственно осведомлен о положении в области прав человека на 
оккупированных территориях и располагает информацией на основе собственного 
опыта.

В прошлом Специальный комитет при содействии правительства Вашего 
Превосходительства организовал слушания в (Арабской Республике Египет, 
Иорданском Хашимитском Королевстве, Сирийской Арабской Республике), где он 
имел возможность встретиться с лицами с оккупированных территорий. 
Свидетельства этих людей оказались неоценимьвга для Специального комитета в его 
работе; Специальный комитет планирует провести подобные слушания в регионе с 
20 апреля по 10 мая 1986 года. Если правительство Вашего Превоходительства не 
имеет возражений. Специальный комитет намерен провести слушания в (Арабской 
Республике Египет, Иорданском Хашимитском Королевстве, Сирийской Арабской 
Республике) в любое удобное время в течение этого периода”.

13. Аналогичное письмо было направлено в тот же день Организации освобождения 
Палестины.

14. 6 февраля 1986 года Постоянный представитель Израиля при Организации 
Объединенных Наций направил Председателю Специального комитета в его качестве 
Постоянного представителя Шри Ланки при Организации Объединенных Наций следующее 
письмо:
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"B ответ на Ваше письмо G/SO 234 (16-2-3) от 19 декабря 1985 года 
Правительство Израиля вновь рассмотрело свою политику в отношении Специгшьного 
комитета по расследованию затрагиваюорос права человека действий Израиля в 
отношении населения оккупированных территорий и подтверждает свою нынешнюю 
позицию.

Это решение обусловлено причинами, которые в прошлом неоднократно 
разъяснялись и которые можно найти в о^ищиальных отчетах Генеральной Ассшблеи 
о заседаниях, когда рассматривались доклады Специального комитета.

Резолюция 40/161 D лишь усиливает решимость Израиля не менять своей 
шгаешней политики в отношении Специального комитета. Как и все предыдущие 
резолюции Специального комитета, резолюция 40/161 D содержит искажения фактов, 
основывающиеся на тенденциозных посылках, которые предвзято истолковывают 
положение населения на территориях, находящихся под управлением Израиля. 
Поэтому правительство Израиля считает невозможным сотрудничество с органом, 
руководящими принципами которого являются такие тенденциозные и превратнью 
посылки.

В условиях открытого общества и широкой демократии Израиля в свободной 
прессе публикуется масса достоверной информации об этих территориях. Эта 
информация доступна для всех, кто ей интересуется. К сожгшению. Комитет 
осуществляет подборку материалов прессы тенденциозно, с тем чтобы лишь 
обосновать свои претензии, и намеренно игнорирует всю информацию, которая не 
отражает его предвзятых выводов. Правительство Израиля будет и дальше 
публиковать информацию об этих территориях, касающуюся таких областей, как 
образование, здравоохранение, жилищное строительство, сельское хозяйство, 
орошение, и других областей.

В дополнение израильская демократия предоставляет каждому 
заинтересованному лицу возможность совершить поездку по этим территориям, с 
тем чтобы непосредственно ознакомиться с теми позитивными явлениями и 
преобразованиями, которые имели место в этих районах, находящихся под 
управлением Израиля, в течение последних 19 лет".

15. Правительства Египта, Иордании и Сирийской Арабской Республики впоследствии 
направили ответы Специальному комитету, вновь подтвердив свою готовность продолжать 
сотрудничество со Специальным комитетом.

16. 18 февраля 1986 года Постоянный наблюдатель Организации освобождения Палестины 
при Отделении Организации Объединенных Нахщй в Женеве направил письмо Секретарю 
Специального комитета, в котором он подтвердил готовность его организации 
сотрудничать со Специальным комитетом и информировал Специальный комитет о 
готовности Организации освобождения Палестины содействовать проведению слушаний 
Специальным комитетом.

17. 14 января 1986 года Генеральный секретарь направил Председателю Специального 
комитета письмо, в котором он напомнил, что перед Организацией Объединенных Наций 
стоят серьезные проблемы, касающиеся бюджета, и просил Комитет пересмотреть с 
учетом ситуации расписание своих заседаний и место их проведения, с тем чтобы 
обеспечить минимальное использование средств на путевые и другие связанные с 
проведением заседаний расходы. В другом письме на имя Председателя Специального
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комитета от 11 апреля 1986 года Генеральный секретарь упомянул о возможности 
отменить с целью сокращения расходов заседания Комитета, которые намечалось 
провести в августе в Женеве.

18. 26 марта 1986 года Специальный комитет на1Ц>авил Постоянным представителям
Египта и Сирийской Арабской Республики при Отделении Организации Объединенных Наций 
в Женеве письмо следующего содержания:
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... с учетом общих событий, касающихся его работы. Специальный комитет 
пересмотрел программу своих мероприятий на предстоящий период и, 
соответственно, решил, что намечавшиеся слушания в (Арабской Республике 
Египет/Сирийской Арабской Республике) будут перенесены на более поздний срок. 
Специальный комитет непременно проинформирует правительство Вашего 
Превосходительства о любых новых сроках, которые будут установлены для 
проведения этих слушаний, и искренне надеется, что на этом этапе правительство 
Вашего Превосходительства вновь будет сотрудничать со Специгшьным комитетом".

19. В тот же день Специальный комитет направил Постоянному представителю Иордании
при Отделении Организации Объединенных Наций в Женеве письмо следующего содержания:

... с учетом общих событий, касающихся его работы. Специальный комитет 
,,пересмотрел программу своих мероприятий на предстоящий период и,
соответственно, решил, что намечавшиеся слушания в регионе будут теперь 
проведены в период с 24 апреля по 1 мая 1986 года в Аммане. Специальный 
комитет будет благодарен правительству Вашего Превосходительства, если оно 
подтвердит свое намерение расширить сотрудничество со Специальным комитетом в 
проведении заседаний Комитета в течение этого периода в Аммане".

20. Письмо подобного содержания было направлено ()рганизации освобождения Палестины.

21. Спе1диальный комитет провел ряд заседаний в период с 21 апреля по 1 мая 
1986 года в Женеве и Аммане. В ходе этих заседаний Специальный комитет изучил 
информацию о событиях, происшедших на оккупированных территориях за период с 
декабря 1985 года по апрель 1986 года. Он имел в своем распоряжении ряд сообщений, 
направленных ему правительствами, организациями и отдельньеш лицами в связи с его 
мандатом. Специальный комитет принял к сведению несколько писем, направленных ему 
Постоянным наблюдателем Организации освобояздения Палестины при Отделении 
Организации Объединенных Наций в Женеве, и ряд направленных Генеральному секретарю 
Постоянными представителями Израиля, Иордании и Сирийской Арабской Республики 
писем, касающихся вопросов, связанных с докладом Комитета. В Женеве и Аммане 
Специальный комитет заслушал свидетельские показания лиц, проживаю1^  на Западном 
берегу и в секторе Газа, относительно положения на этих территориях.

22. В Аммане Специальный комитет был принят министром по делам оккупированных 
территорий Иорданского Хашимитского Королевства г-ном Марванон Дудинон.
Специальному комитету были представлеша доклады о положении на оккупированных 
территориях, подготовленные министерством по делам оккупированных территорий, и в 
ходе встреч Специального комитета с министром бьши обсуждены различные аспекты

/...



мандата Комитета. Специальный комитет получил также ряд докладов и статистических 
сводок о положении на оккупированных территориях от Отдела по вопросам 
оккупированных территорий и Отдела образования и высшей школы Организации 
освобождения Палестины. Перечень документов, представленных Организацией 
освобождения Палестины, приводится в Приложении II к настоящему докладу.

23. 17 июня 1986 года Постоянное представительство Сирийской Арабской Республики 
при Организации Объединенных Наций направило Специальному комитету через 
Генерального секретаря послгшие следующего содержания:

"Временный поверенный в делах Сирийской Арабской Республики 
свидетельствует свое уважение Генеральному секретарю Организации Объедашенных 
Наций и вьфажает сожаление своего правительства в связи с сокращением периода 
проведения заседаний Специального комитета по расследованию затрагивающих 
права человека действий Израиля в отношении населения оккупированных 
территорий, а также по поводу того, что Специальный комитет не смог посетить 
Сирийскую Арабскую Республику в соответствии со своей намеченной программой 
работы на год. Это не позволило Специальному комитету решить задачи, 
поставленные перед ним Генеральной Ассамблеей, в частности заслушать 
свидетелей с оккупированных Голанских высот, и рассмотреть свидетельские 
показания лиц, непосредственно осведомленных о положении на оккупированных 
Голанских высотах, где сионистские оккупационные власти ужесточают свои 
репрессивные и варварские действия против населения. ...”

24. 7 августа 1986 года Постоянное представительство Сирийской Арабской Республики 
при Отделении Организации Объединенных Наций в Женеве направило помощнику 
Генерального секретаря по правам человека вербальную ноту следующего содержания:

"Постоянное представительство Сирийской Арабской Республики при Отделении 
Организации Объединенных Наций в Женеве свидетельствует свое уважение 
помощнику Генерального секретаря по правам человека и имеет честь приложить к 
настоящей вербальной ноте доклад, подготовленный министерством иностранных 
дел, по вопросу о действиях Израиля, направленных против сирийского арабского 
населения оккупированных Голанских высот. №i надеемся, что Вы доведете этот 
доклад до сведения Спе1Ц(ального комитета по расследованию затрагиваюар1х права 
человека действий Израиля в отношении населения оккупированных территорий, 
который не смог в этом году посетить Дамаск, и что Вы обратитесь с просьбой к 
Комитету приложить его к очередному докладу, который Комитет будет 
представлять в Генеральную Ассамблею".

Этот доклад был должным образом рассмотрен Спехдиальньв* комитетом и приводится ниже 
в разделе IV.С.

25. Вследствие обмена корреспонденцией м«вду Председателем Специального комитета и 
Генеральным секретарем (письма от 27 апреля и 8 мая 1986 года) была согласована 
процедура, предусматривающая консультации между членами Комитета, с тем чтобы 
позволить им рассмотреть, дополнить и утвердить доклад без проведения офмо^иальной 
двухнедельной сессии, которую первоначально предполагалось провести в августе в 
Женеве. Соответственно, с 8 по 10 сентября 1986 года члены Специального комитета 
заседали в Женеве и рассмотрели и приняли настоящий доклад.
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26. Генеральная Ассамблея в своей резолхяцш 2443 (XXIII), озаглавленной "Уважение 
и осуществление прав человека на оккупированных территориях", постановила учредить 
Специальный комитет по расследованию затрагивающих права человека действий Израиля 
в отношении населения оккупированных территорий в составе представителей трех 
государств-членов.

27. Мацдат Специального комитета, определенный в вышеуказанной и последуюарос 
резолххциях, состоял в том, чтобы "расследовать действия Израиля в отношении 
населения оккупированных территорий, касаюоцнеся прав человека".

28. Интерпретируя свой мандат. Специальный комитет определил, что:

a) территориями, которые надлежит рассматривать, как оккупированные 
территории, являются такие районы, которые находятся под оккупацией Израиля, а 
именно: Голанские высоты. Западный берег (включая Восточный Иерусалим), сектор 
Газа и Синайский полуостров. После осуществления египетско'-израильского соглашения 
о разъединении войск от 18 января 1974 года и соглашения о разъединении между 
израильскими и сирийскими войсками от 31 мая 1974 года демаркация оккупированных 
районов была изменена, как это показано на картах, приложенных к этим соглашениям. 
Районы египетской территории, находящиеся под военной оккупацией Израиля, были 
далее изменены в соответствии с мирньи договором мещду Арабской Республикой Египет 
и государством Израиль, который был подписан 26 марта 1979 года и вступил в силу
25 апреля 1979 года. 25 апреля 1982 года египетская территория, находившаяся под 
военной оккупацией Израиля, была возвращена правительству Египта в соответствии с 
положениями вышеупомянутого соглашения. Таким образом, для целей настоящего 
дЬклада, территориями, которые надлежит считать оккупированными, будут считаться 
территории, остающиеся под оккупацией Израиля, а именно: Голанские высоты.
Западный берег (включая Восточный Иерусалим) и сектор Газа;

b ) лицами, подпадающими под действие резолххцш 2443 (XXIII) и, таким 
образом, являющимися объектом расследования со стороны Специального комитета, 
является гражданское население, проживахщее в районах, оккупированных в результате 
военных действий в июне 1967 года, а также те лица, которые обычно проживали в 
районах, находящихся под оккупацией, но покинули эти районы из-за военных 
действий. Однако Комитет отметил, что в резолкядии 2443 ( Х Х Ш )  слово "население" 
использовано без уточнения, к какой части жителей оккупированных территорий оно 
относится;

c) "права человека” населения оккупированных территорий включают два 
элемента, а именно; те права, которые в своей резолхщии 237 (1967) от 14 июня 
1967 года Совет Безопасности называет "существенными и неотъемлемыми правагш 
человека", и те права, которые основываются на защите, обеспечиваемой международным 
правом при особых обстоятельствах, таких, как военная оккупация, и, в отношении 
военнопленных, взятие в плен. В соответствии с резолюцией 3005 (XXVII) Генеральной 
Ассамблеи Специгшьному комитету также поручено проверить заявления об эксплуатации 
и разграблении ресурсов оккупированных территорий; разграблении археологического и 
культурного наследия оккупированных территорий; и вмешательстве в свободу 
отправления религиозных культов в святых местах оккупированных территорий;
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d) под "политикой” и "действияни", затрагивающими права человека и 
являющимися объектами расследования Специального комитета, понимаются: под
"политикой" - любой курс, сознательно одобренный и проводимый правительством 
Израиля как часть его объявленного или необъявленного намерения; в то время как 
под "действиями” - такие действия, которые, независимо от того, проводились ли они 
в осуществление политики или нет, отражают характер поведения израильских властей 
по отношению к арабскому населению в оккупированных районах.

29. Со времени своего создания Специальный комитет при толковании и осуществлении 
своего мацдата опирается на следующие международные документы:

a) Устав Организации Объединенных Нащ|й;

b ) Всеобщую декларацию прав человека;

c) Женевскую конвенцию от 12 августа 1949 года о за1ф 1те гражданского 
населения во время войны 4/;

d) Женевскую конвенцию от 12 августа 1949 года об обращении с 
военнопленными 5/;

e) Гаагскую конвенцию от 14 мая 1954 года о защите культурных ценностей в 
случае вооруженного конфликта 6/;

f) Гаагские конвенции 1899 и 1907 годов о законах и обычаях с]гхопутной 
-войны и  А

д) Иеждународаый пакт о гражданских и политических правах и Международный 
пакт об экономических, социальных и культурных правах 8/.

30. Специальный комитет опирается также на резолххдци, которые касаются положения 
гражданских лиц на оккупированных территориях и были приняты органами Организации 
Объединенных Наций, Генеральной Ассамблеей, Советом Безопасности, Экономическим и 
Социальным Советом и Комиссией по правам человека, а также на соответствующие 
резолкяцш Организахцш Объединенных Наций по вопросам образования, науки и культуры. 
Всемирной орггшизации здравоохранения и Меящународной организации труда.

IV. ИНФОРМАЦИЯ И ПОКАЗАНИЯ, ПОЛУЧЕННЫЕ СПЕЦИАЛЬН!» КОМИТЕТОМ

31. в ходе осуществления своего мацдата Специальный комитет опирается на следующие 
источники:

a) показания лиц, непосредственно осведомленных о положении населения на 
оккупированных территориях;

b ) сообщения израильской прессы о заявлениях ответственных лиц в 
правительстве Израиля;

c) сообщения других средств массовой информации, включая материалы печати, 
издающиеся на арабском языке на оккупированных территориях и в Израиле, и 
международную прессу;
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d) доклада о положении на оккупированных территориях, которые были 
представлены еиу правительствами, неправительственными орггшизгщиями и частными 
лицами.

Специальный комитет получил письменные заявления от правительств Иордании и 
Сирийской Арабской Республики, а также от Организации освобождения Палестины.

32. Специальный комитет провел ряд слушгший на своих заседаниях в Нью-Йорке и 
Аммане, состоявшихся соответственно 2-6 декабря 1985 года и 21 апреля-1 мая 
1986 года. В ходе этих заседаний Специальный комитет заслушал свидетельские 
показания лиц, имеющих информацию из первых рук о положении с правами человека на 
оккупированных территориях. Эти свидетельства содержатся в документах А/АС.145/ 
RT.441 и 445-453 и приводятся ниже.

33. Специальный комитет с особой осторожностью относится к информации в 
израильской прессе, которая не расходится с позицией правительства Израиля или 
которую правительство обычно считает надежной.

34. В процессе осуществления своего мандата Специальный комитет принял к сведению 
информацию, полученную из различных источников, как то отдельные лица, организации 
и правительства. В ходе заседаний Комитет рассмотрел ряд сообщений, адресовгшных 
непосредственно ему или препровожденных ему Генеральным секретарем, которые 
поступили из источников, находящихся на оккупированных территориях, и из других 
районов мира. В необходимых случаях Комитет проверял информацию, содержащуюся в 
этих сообщениях.

35. В приложении III ниже (только на английском языке), которое включает в себя 
разделы А и В главы IV, содержится краткое изложение иш^рмации, рассмотренной 
Специальным комитетом, с разбивкой по следуххцим категориям:

устные свидетельства;

информация, собргшная из израильской прессы и из прессы, выходящей в 
оккупированных территориях на арабском языке.

36. Раздел С главы IV, в котором содержится информгщия, переданная правительствами 
Иордании и Сирийской Арабской Республики, Организацией освобоядения Палестины и 
другими организадаями, приводится ниже.

С. Ин4юрмаиия. переданная правительствами Иордании и Си р и й с к о й 
Арабской Республики. Организацией освобождения Палестины и 
ДРУГИМИ организалиями

1. Общее положение

(См. приложение III (только на гшглийском языке), пункты 2-4 и 85-102)

Политика возврата муниципальной власти местным лидерам

Информация, предоставленная Отделом по вопросам оккупировгшных территорий 
Организгшии освобождения Палестины
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37. Bo время своего пребывания в Аммане Специальный комитет получил доклад от 
17 марта 1986 года, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организгщии освобождения Палестины, касаюндшся проблемы муншцтальной власти на 
Западном берегу. В докладе особо отмечается важная роль, которую играет 
муниципальная власть Западного берега в предоставлении основных услуг гражданскому 
населению. В докладе напоминается, что с первых же дней оккупации в 1967 году 
оккупационными властями были введены специальные меры, такие, как ряд военных 
приказов, в нарушение международного права, а также законодательства Иордании. В 
докладе упоминаются муниципальные выборы, проведенные в 1976 году, которые 
показали, что победу одержали национальные силы, подцерживакхцие ООП. Далее в 
докладе говорится:

Военные власти, зная о национальной нгшравленности муниципальных советов, 
оказывавших основные услуги гражданскому населению, защищавших его права и 
выступавших против планов насильственной эмигргщии, иудизации, конфискации, 
лишения населения средств к существованию и его подчинения, усилили 
репрессивные меры против мэров, членов муниципальных советов и самих 
муниципалитетов, организовывая нападения на членов этих советов, вьщвигая 
против них фальшивые обвинения, совершая в некоторых случаях попытки их 
убийства и прибегая к высылке. Кроме того, военные власти ужесточили контроль 
над муниципалитетами, ограничив их свободу и запретив им получать помощь.

38. Что касается израильской политики назначения новых мэров, в докладе цитируется 
заявление Бассам Шакаа:

Стремление израильского правительства назначать новых мэров является 
планом, направленным на замену избранных мэров представителями арабского 
населения, которые проводили бы израильскую политику, чтобы можно было 
избежать необходимости в назначении военных губернаторов. Это позволило бы 
также применять гражданские административные законы, нудеизировать оккупирован­
ные территории, расширять поселения и зажать наш народ в тиски, чтобы 
заставить его подчиниться израильскому господству и принудить к переселению.

39. В заключение в докладе упоминается ряд мер, которые оккупирующие власти 
предприняли в отношении муниципальных советов. Эта часть доклада приводится ниже:

Меры, принятые в отношении муниципальных советов

1.Ро с п у с к муниципальных и поселковых советов

21 августа 1980 года Сотрудник министерства внутренних дел на
Западном берегу распустил поселковый совет Эль- 
Аз з ария, входящий в состав района Бейт-Лахма.

8 июля 1981 года Оккупационные власти сместили Али Лесина
эль-Харза, мэра поселка Эд-Дахирия.

19 марта 1982 года Менахем Мильссон, директор гражданской
администрации, отдал распоряжение о роспуске 
муниципального совета Эль-Биры и назначил 
комитет для управления советом под руководством 
полковника Юссефа Баркурия в составе еще четырех 
членов "израильской" гражданской администрации.
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11 апреля 1982 года

16 июня 1982 года

7 июля 1982 года

12 июля 1982 года

27 июля 1982 года

9 нарта 1983 года

7 июля 1983 года

Менахем Нильссон подписал назначение Шломо 
Коена, начальника отдела связи на Западном 
берегу, на должность мэра Наблуса.

Граящанская администрация приняла решение о 
роспуске муниципального совета Дура-Хеврона.

Граящгшская администрация приняла решение о 
роспуске избранного муниципального совета 
Дженина, возглавляемого Ахмедом Шауки 
эль-Махнудом.

Граящанская администрация приняла решение о 
роспуске муншцшального совета Дир-Дибваиа.

Аналогичное решение было принято в отношении 
муниципального совета Калькилии.

Граядцанская администрация не разрешила еще на 
один год возвращение мэров Наблуса, Рамаллаха и 
Эль-Биры (первоначальным сроком являлся один 
год), и это решение действительно по сей день.

Комгиздующий центральньм округом отдал приказ о 
роспуске муниципального совета Хеврона и 
смещении исполняющего обязанности мэра Мустафы 
Натше и назначении еврейского члена граящанской 
администрахцш на долкность мэра этого 
муниципалитета.

2. Провокационные действия и меры по затягиванию

16 апреля 1979 года

14 апреля 1980 года

17 июня 1981 года

Оккупирующие власти отказались предоставить 
муниципалитету разрешение на строительство рынка 
овощей и фруктов в Хевроне, несмотря на то, что 
проект был уже утверяд^ен.

Израильский офящер, ведающий финансовыми 
вопросами, распорядился о кон^скации активов 
муниципалитетов оккупируюцими властями.

Израильские войска окружили здание 
муниципалитета Наблуса, не позволяя граяда1анскому 
населению приблизиться к зданию, и запретили 
входить в него мэру и членам муниципального 
совета; ранее было принято решение о запрещении 
празднеств по случаю открытия современной 
электростанции и 50-летия проекта электрификации 
города Наблуса.

/...
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24 мая 1986 года Израильские власти не позволили г-ну Хассану 
Эз-Зиру, мэру Сальфшта, совершить поездку в 
Амман, где он должен был снять вклады, 
положенные на ш<я муниципалитета в Арабском 
банке.

3. Ограничение свобода передвижения 

10 мая 1979 года

26 мая 1979 года

7 июня 1979 года

14 июня 1979 года

16 марта 1980 года

18 апреля 1980 года

7 июля 1980 года

Военные власти не позволили Хадж Амину 
эль-Насру, мэру Калькилии, совершить поездку в 
Амман для обсуждения вопросов, касающихся 
фабрики по переработке цитрусовых.

Власти отменили разрешение на поездку в Амман 
Ехь эль-Химауи, мэра Бани Зейда под тем 
предлогом, что он участвовал в демонстрации 
против Гуш %чунима.

Военные власти сообщили Кариму Халафу, мэру 
Рамаллаха, что он не сможет совершить поездку в 
Амман из-за того, что он провел пресс- 
конференцию в знак протеста против взрыва его 
дома и закрытия четьфех других домов в районе 
Рамаллаха.

Власти запретили мэру Наблуса совершить пездку в 
Италию и Соединенные Штаты через Амман под 
предлогом, что он участвовал в политических 
конференциях и симпозиумах по палестинскому 
вопросу.

Военные власти помешали мэрам Наблуса и Хальхуля 
(Бассаму Шакаа и Мохаммеду Мильхему) совершить 
поездку в Вашингтон, куда их пригласили для 
участия в совещании по вопросу о правах человека 
палестинцев.

Оккупационные власти помешали мэрам городов 
Западного берега совершить поездку в Назарет для 
участия в посвященных демонстрации солидарности 
мероприятиях, организованных Ассоциацией друзей 
задержанных лиц по случаю проведения 
Международного года задержанных лиц.

Военные власти запретили г-ну Мохаммеду Муссе 
Амру, мэру города Дура и председателю совместной 
делегадаи муниципалитетов Рамаллаха и Эль-Биры, 
а также г-ну Мустафе Натше, исполняющему 
обязгшности мэра Хеврона, совершить поездку в 
Амман для выражения своих соболезнований в связи 
со смертью премьер-министра Иордании.

/.
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9 сентября 1980 года

26 апреля 1982 года

23 октября 1982 года

6 января 1984 года

Израильские власти отказались предоставить 
разрешение Ибрагиму Тарвилю, мэру Эль-Биры, на 
поездку в Соединенное Королевство по приглашению 
британского правительства, которое предложило 
ему посетить некоторые города и группы в 
Великобритании.

Военный суд Тулькарма приговорил Вахцда 
Хамдаллу, мэра города Анабта, к тюремному 
заключению сроком на пять месяцев с отсрочкой 
исполнения приговора.

Израильская нахцюнальная компания 
электроснабжения отключила электричество в 
Хевроне под предлогом того, что муниципалитет не 
выплатил свою задолженность.

Израильская полиция арестовала Вахида Хамдаллу, 
мэра города Анабта, по ложному обвинению в 
убийстве Махмуда Раджаба из города 
Кафр-эль-Лабад.

4. Высылка; административные задеожгшия и домашние аресты

Сионистские власти, стремясь к осуществлению политики, нгшравленной на 
изгнание из оккупированных территорий активных и компетентных нахцюнальных 
кадров, прибегли к осуществлению закона 1945 года о чрезвычайном положении, в 
частности статьей 111 и 112 этого закона, в соответствии с которьми 
разрешается высыпка палестинских борцов за пределы их родимы и 
административное задержание подозреваемых без суда или предоставления права на 
апелляфоо или защиту. Как указывается в таблице ниже, такие меры применялись 
как в отношении муниципалитетов, так и в отношении отдельных лиц:

а) Высыпка

1. Рухи аль-Хатиб

2. Мохаммед Тауфик Хассан

3. Недим аз-Зру

4. Юсеф Маррар

5. Абдель Дкавад Салех

6. Мохаммед Мильхем

7. Фащд аль-Кавасме

8. Альфред Тобасси

мэр Иерусалима

заместитель мэра Дженина

мэр Рамаллаха

муниципальный советник 
Эрихи

мэр Эль-Биры

мэр Хальхуля

мэр Хеврона

муниципальный советник 
Рамаллаха

26 февраля 1968 года 

25 ноября 1967 года 

6 октября 1969 года

10 декабря 1973 года 

2 мая 1980 года 

2 мая 1980 года

21 ноября 1974 года 

/...



9. Азми аль-Шваиби

10. Хани Арафат

Ь) Доиаиние аресты 

Вахид Хамдалла

Ибрагим Тавиль 

Техсин ан-вахнир

Яссер Аслан

Хальдун Абдель Хак

Мустафа Натне

Мохаммед Муса Амр 

Ахмед Науки Амр 

Бассам Накаа 

д-р Азин аа-Нвеиби

JD̂ icaMHHb Осман 

Хадж Анин ан-Наср 

Джордж Хазбун

с )  У гр о з ы  д л я  ж изни

муниципальный советник 
Эль-Биры

инженер из муниципалитета 
Наблуса

мэр Анабты

мэр Эль-Биры

муниципальный советник 
Наблуса

муниципальный советник 
Наблуса

муниципальный советник 
Наблуса

исполняющий обязанности 
мэра Хеврона

мэр Дуры

мэр Дкенина

мэр Наблуса

муниципальный советник 
Эль-Биры

мэр Эрихи

мэр Калькильи

заместитель мэра 
Бейт-Лахма
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.31 января 1986 года 

6 июня 1969 года

С 18 февраля 
1981 года несть раз 
подвер>гался 
домашнему аресту 
каждый раз на шесть 
месяцев.

18 февраля 1981 года

12 ноября 1981 года

12 ноября 1981 года

12 ноября 1981 года

17 февраля 1982 года 

17 февраля 1982 года 

28 февраля 1982 года

5 июня 1982 года

16 января 1983 года 

1 марта 1983 года

6 августа 1983 года

10 сентября 1984 года

10 июня 1980 года Бассам Накаа, мэр Наблуса, и Карим Халаф, мэр 
Раналлаха, вышли из своих домов и направились к машинам. Как только они 
включили зажигание, произошел взрыв и обе машины загорелись. У Бассама были 
ампутированы обе ноги, а у Карима - ступня.

/...



Ибрагии Тавиль предупредил полицию об опасности, как только узнал о 
взрьгаах, однако третья бомба взорвалась, когда сапер пытался разрядить ее. 
Согласно признаниям виновных, которые являлись членами тайной еврейской 
террористической организации и которые были арестованы после попытки нападения 
на три туристических автобуса лишь спустя четыре года после совершения этих 
вызывающих презрение актов, их действия были полностью скоординированы с 
военными властями Западного берега и осуществлялись с их ведома.

2. ИнФормгщия об арестах, судах и приговорах судов

(см. приложение III (только на английском языке), пункты 5-10 и 111-193)

ия^аормапия. представленная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

40. Во время пребывания делегации Специального комитета в Аммане ей был 
представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины, касающийся положения гражданского населения в 
оккупированных территориях в 1985 году и в первом квартале 1986 года. В документе 
содержался список лиц, подвергавшихся задержанию или домашним арестам в ходе этого 
периода, с указанием имен пострадавших, районов и другой соответствующей 
ин^рмации.

41. В этом документе также содержалась информация о приговорах, вынесенных 
палестинским гражданам в ходе первого квартала 1986 года:

За первый квартал 1986 года сионистские военные суды приговорили к 
различным срокам ткфемного заключения 761 палестинского борца.

Предъявлявшиеся им обвинения включали: забрасывание камнями израильских
транспортных средств, нападения с применением бутылок с зажигательной смесью, 
закладывание взрывных устройств и членство в местных организациях или в 
палестинских движениях сопротивления.
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В приводимой ниже таблице указаны различные сроки заключения, к которым 
были приговорены палестинские борцы:

Менее трех месяцев 50
От трех месяцев до двух лет 326
От двух до десяти лет 212
Более десяти лет 59
Пожизненное заключение 2
Срок не известен 114

Всего 761

Кроме того, военные суды наложили крупные штрафы в размере от 50 шекелей 
до 5 млн. шекелей.

/...
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42. В документе представлен список имен осужденных лиц с указанием источника 
информации, даты, района, срока ткфемного заключения или условного наказания, 
наложенных в итоге штрафов, обвинений и других соответствующих замечаний.

3. Обретение с гражданским населением и положение 
в области основных свобод

(см. приложение III (только на английском языке), 
пункты 11-53 и 199-344)

а) События общего характера

1) Преследование гражданского населения

Информация, представленная Отделом по вопросгт оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

43. Как указывалось вьше, во время пребывания в Аммане делегации Специального 
комитета был представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных 
территорий Организации освобождения Палестины, касающийся положения гражданского 
населения в оккупированных территориях в 1985 году и в первом квартале 1986 года.
В докладе представлена информация о фактах преследования гражданского населения в 
оккупированных территориях в ходе этого периода. В нем также представлен список 
убитых и раненых в 1985 году на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа с указанием дат 
инцидентов, имен пострадавших, городов и с кратким описанием инцидентов. Кроме 
toro, в нем содержалась информация о ряде инцидентов, происшедших в ходе первого 
квартала 1986 года и приведших к смерти и ранениям гражданских лиц. Документ был 
подготовлен на основе сообщений средств ин^рмации в местной печати или по местному 
радио, а в ряде случаев были представлены вспомогательные материалы, такие, как 
копии заметок в печати; копии письменных свидетельских показаний лиц, 
располагавших непосредственной информацией об инцидентах, т.е. самих пострадавших, 
мэров соответствующих городов, членов МККК или Иорданской ассоциации Красного 
Полумесяца; и медицинские сводки, представленные соответствующими медицинскими 
властями. О некоторых случаях, упомянутых в докладе, также говорилось в 
соответствующем подразделе, посвященном информации, полученной из израильской 
печати и печатных средств информации, издаваемых на оккупируемых территориях на 
арабском языке (см. приложение 111 (только на английском языке), пункты 199-220).

Ü )  Коллективньге наказания, включая разрушение жилых домов

Информация, представленная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

44. Как указывалось ранее, во время пребывания делегации Специального комитета в 
Аммане ей был представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных 
территорий Организации освобождения Палестины, касашцийся положения гражданского 
населения в оккупированных территориях в 1985 году и в первом квартале 1986 года.
В документе делаются ссылки на сообщения, опубликованные в местной печати в связи с 
неоднократными случаями введения комендантских часов в ряде городов и лагерей 
беженцев на оккупированных территориях. В нем содержится хронологический перечень 
случаев разрушения и закрытия жилых домов и магазинов на Западном берегу и в 
секторе Газа в 1985 году. В нем также содержится информация о многочисленных
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случаях разрушения и закрытия жилых домов в первом квартале 1986 года под 
различными предлогами, например, в тех случаях, когда дома находились во владении 
подозреваемых или владельцами не было получено разрешение на строительство. В 
докладе также представлены копии различных служащих доказательством документов, 
таких, как удостоверения, подтверждающие факт закрытия, подготовленные 
Международным Красным Крестом.

45. Что касается разрушения жилых домов на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа, то 
делегации Специального комитета во время ее пребывания в Аммане Отделом по вопросам 
оккупированных территорий Организации освобождения Палестины был также представлен 
всеобъемлющий перечень, в котором с разбивкой по районам было перечислено в целом 
1 366 домов, расположенных на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа и разрушенных 
оккупационными властями в период 1967-1985 годов. В перечне были упомянуты 
следующие районы: сектор Газа (694 дома), район Рамаллаха (74 дома), район
Иерусалима (24 дома), район Наблуса (160 домов), район Хеврона (206 домов), район 
Бейт-Лахма (89 домов), район Тулькарма (24 дома), район Дканина (56 домов), район 
Калькильи (24 дома) и район Эрихи (16 домов).

46. В представленной информации указаны имена пострадавших, названия городов 
(деревень или лагерей беженцев), где имели место разрушения, год разрушения, а 
также число комнат в каждом доме.

iii) Высылка и депортация 

Информация, представленная правительством Иордании

47. Во время визита делегации Специального комитета в Амман ей был представлен 
подготовленный иорданским министерством по делам оккупированных территорий 
меморандум, касающийся высылки и депортации гражданского населения из 
оккупированных территорий. В мемораадуме указывается, что политика высылки, 
проводимая израильскими властями с 1967 года, противоречит положениям четвертой 
Женевской конвенции. Всеобщей декларации прав человека и решениям №фнбергского 
трибунала. В документе подчеркивается произвольньш характер высыпки, а также 
озпечается бесцеремонная и бесчеловечная форма применения процедуры высылки в 
отношении соответствующих лиц. В меморандуме также указывается, что в период с 
1967 года по февраль 1986 года израильские власти выслали 2 061 человека, причем 34 
из них были высланы в период с 1985 года по февраль 1986 года, что представляет 
собой самое большое количество со времени 1972 года. Наконец, в меморандуме 
говорится о некоторых случаях высылки, имевших место в период с 1985 года по начало 
1986 года, большинство из которых перечислено в соответствующем подразделе, 
посвященном сообщениям израильской печати и печатных изданий на арабском языке, 
публикуемых в оккупированных территориях (см. пункты 285-298 вше).

Информация, представленная Отделом по вопросад оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

48. Как указывалось вьапе, во время пребывания делегахщи Специального комитета в 
Аммане ей был представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных 
территорий Организации освобождения Падестины, касающийся положения гражданского 
населения в оккупированных территориях в 1985 году и в первом квартале 1986 года.
В этом документе также содержится информация о проводимой израильскими властями 
политике высылки. В другом документе, озаглавленном "Лица, высланные с Западного 
берега из сектора Газа" и охватываюоцш период 1967-1985 годов, указывалось:

/...



Хотя, согласно оценкам, было выслано в общей сложности 1 600 человек, нам 
удалось установить лишь 1 067 случаев высылки, которые имели место в следующих 
районах:

Район Число высланных лиц

Хеврон 175
Дженин 66
Наблус 171
Тулькарм 19
Калькилья 12
Эриха 14
Рамаллах 107
Иерусалим 62
Бейт-Лахм 75
Сектор Газа 366

49. В этом документе представлен перечень высланных лиц с указанием их имен, 
соответствующих районов, даты высылки и профессии пострадавших.

iv) Экономические аспекты

Информация, представленная Отделом по вотоосам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

50. Во время пребывания делегации Специального комитета в Аммане ей был 
представлен доклад, подготовленный отделом по вопросам оккупировгшных территорий 
Организгщии освобождения Палестины и касающийся положения в связи с безработицей в 
этих территориях. В документе гшализируются факторы, ведущие к экономическому 
кризису в территориях, в частности факторы, касающиеся проблемы безработицы. В 
докладе указывалось, что начиная с 1967 года "было конфисковгшо более 52 процентов 
сельскохозяйственных угодий на Згшадаом берегу в дополнение к районам, которые 
косвенно контролируются израильскими властями и в которых запрещена сельскохозяй­
ственная деятельность и строительство” . Кроме того, 42 процента всей территории 
сектора Газа находятся под непосредственным контролем израильских властей.

51. Были также отмечены разхшчнью факторы, мешающие росту промьшшенного сектора и 
таким образом не позволякхцие местньвч промышленным предприятиям использовать рабочую 
силу, имеющуюся на рынке труда. В докладе подчеркивается такой фактор, как 
зависимость территорий от экономики Изргшля, а также отмечаются происходящие в 
связи с этим глубокие изменения в социальной и демографической структурах. В нем 
представлены таблицы, характеризуювще нынешнее положение в области рабочей силы на 
оккупированных территориях и раскрывающие систему эксплуатации палестинцев. Кроме 
того, в докладе отмечается, что нынешний экономический кризис, который уже на 
протяжении нескольких лет переживает экономика Израиля, серьезно повлиял на 
положение населения оккупировгшных территорий, причем особенно серьезно пострадал 
рабочий класс. Еще одним элементом, оказываю1Цим воздействие на положение в области 
занятости в оккупированных территориях и определенном в докладе, является политика 
коллективных произвольных увольнений, проводимая израильскими учреждениями, включая 
организгщию Гастадрут. При поощрении и поддержке израильских правящих кругов эти 
учреждения применяют концепцию противопоставления "труда евреев" "труду арабов".
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52. В докладе указывается, что 3 декабря 1984 года ”Аль-Иттихад" (газета, 
издаваемая в Хайфе) опубликовала заявление министра труда и социальных дел Моше 
Могаба, в котором министр изложил план увольнения десятков тысяч арабских рабочих и 
замещения их рабочими-евреями; цель такого плана состоит в том, чтобы возложить на 
плечи палестинцев бремя отрицательных последствий широко распространенной 
безработицы, создающей серьезную проблему для израильского общества.

53. В докладе далее указывается, что согласно сообщению журнала "Ас-Саура" от 
21 февраля 1985 года, израильские власти вменили в обязанность арабским рабочим 
иметь разрешение на въезд в Израиль на работу и ограничили период их нахождения в 
Израиле лишь дневным временем. Израильским судам, действующим в сотрудничестве с 
бюро по найму, были предоставлены полномочия осуществлять политику, в соответствии 
с которой арабским рабочим разрешается пересекать "зеленую линию" лишь при наличии 
всех разрешений. Положения о вщдаче разрешений были введены для того, чтобы еще 
больше ограничить возможности арабов в области занятости и таким образом повысить 
среди них уровень безработицы. Свидетельством этого является отказ бюро по найму 
вьщавать разрешения на том основании, что заявления о вцдаче разрешений уже были 
отклонены военными властями. Кроме того, власти без каких-либо причин отказывались 
возобновлять имевшиеся у палестинских рабочих разрешения. Представитель 
организации Гастадрут заявил, что число уволенных рабочих превысило
10 ООО человек. Он также заявил, что этим рабочим не будут предоставляться 
какие-либо пособия по безработице, несмотря на то, что в некоторых случаях из их 
зарплаты удерживалось до 50 процентов в качестве соответствуюоца; выплат. В докладе 
говорится о ряде случаев произвольных увольнений арабских рабочих без какой-либо 
компенсации.

Ь) Информация о мерах, затрагиваюошх основшле свободы

1) Свобода передвижений

Информация, переданная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий Организации 
освобождения Палестины

54. Как уже упоминалось. Специальному комитету в ходе его визита в Амман был 
представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккушфованных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины, касающийся положения гражданского населения на 
оккупированных территориях в течение 1985 года и первого квартала 1986 года.

55. Этот документ содержит ссылки на опубликованные в местной прессе в течение 
данного периода сообщения о случаях ограничения свободы выбора места жительства и 
свободы передвижений в отношении отдельных лиц или групп палестинских граядцан. 
Некоторые из упомянутых в этом документе случаев были включены в соответствуюорш 
подраздел, касахящйся сообщений, появляющихся в выходящих на оккупированных 
территориях изданиях на израильском и арабском языках (см. пункт 275 
приложения 111, имеется только на английском языке).

56. В ходе его пребывания в Аммане Специальному комитету был также представлен 
всеобъемлющий доклад относительно домашних арестов, который ему был направлен 
Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий Организации освобождения Палестины и 
в котором речь шла о лицах, находящихся под домашним арестом в течение периода 
1980-1985 годов. В этом докладе перечисляются 186 лиц, которые содержались под 
домашним арестом в течение различных промежутков времени. В перечне упоминаются
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соответствующий psdioH, срок действия приказа о помещении под домашний арест, дата 
его выпуска и профессия жертвы ограничительной меры и другие относящиеся к делу 
замечания.

Ü )  Свобода образования

Информация, представленная Отделом образования и высшей шкоды Организации 
освобождения Палестины

57. В ходе его пребывания в Аммане Специальному комитету были представлены ряд 
докладов и статистических данных, подготовленных Отделом образования и высшей школы 
Организации освобождения Палестины и касающихся положения в области образования на 
оккупированных территориях. Ввиду большого количества полученной информации было 
трудно полностью отразить ее в настоящем докладе. Информация, которая приводится 
ниже, является таким образом кратким резкте, составленным на основе полученных 
документов, в котором в общих чертах излагаются основные факты и проблемы в области 
образования на оккупированных территориях.

58. Полученная информация свидетельствует о том, что общая ситуация в области 
образования на оккупированных территориях ухудшилась по причине различных факторов, 
таких как вмешательство в процесс составления учебных программ и учебников, запрет 
на распространение ряда книг, задержка распределения учебников в начале каждого 
учебного года, цензура в библиотеках, нехватка школьных зданий и оборудования, 
частое закрытие учебшдх заведений под предлогом проведения мер безопасности и 
отмена занятий. Приводятся многочисленные примеры подобных трудностей, в том числе 
описание несоответствия требованиям школьных заданий на Западном берегу и 
хронологические перечни случаев отмены занятий в связи с закрытием университетов в 
Бир-Зейте, Эль-Наджахе, Ви^екме, Газе и Хевроне, а также целого ряда школ.

59. Отмечается также тот факт, что осуществление военных приказов представляет 
собой серьезное посягательство на академические свободы в учебных учреждениях, что 
является грубым нарушением соответствующих положений Всеобщей декларации прав 
человека, устава Организации Объединенных Наций в области образования, науки и 
культуры (ШЕСКО) и резолюций и решений Генеральной Ассамблеи Организации 
Объединенных Наций и Генеральной ко1#еренции Исполнительного совета ШЕСКО. 
Положения военных приказов 34, 65, 854 и 938, опубликованных израильскими силами 
обороны и применяемых ими в отношении образования, культуры, свободы выбора места 
жительства и передвижений, разрешения на преподавание, цитируются в качестве 
примеров ограничений права на свободу образования на оккупированных территориях.

60. При описании положения школ на Западном берегу в течение 1984/85 учебного года 
в одном из сообщений вцделяются следующие основные проблемы:

1. Дисциплина.
2. Прекращение учебы (ради устройства на работу).
3. Технически ограниченное и неэффективное руководство учебным процессом и 
профессиональное ориентирование.
4. Уровень компетенции среди преподавательского состава.
5. Нехватка технических средств: лабораторий, библиотек и учебных пособий.
6. Недостаточность общего материального обеспечения и обслуживания: 
спортивные площадки, мебель, школьные здания, залы и удобные просторные и 
хорошо освещенные классные комнаты.
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7. Отсутствие безопасных и стабильных условий для работы преподавательского 
состава.
8. Материальные трудности, вызванные ограниченньии доходами, резким ростом 
цен, постоянным удорожанием стоимости жизни и обесцениванием денег.
9. Профессиональная неудовлетворенность; учитель работает без энтузиазма, 
проявляет мало интереса и любви к своей работе и его не касается, что 
происходит вокруг него; подобное недовольство, которое проникло в учебный 
процесс, порой бывает связано с различньми недостатками.

В этом докладе приводятся различные статистические данные о количестве школ и 
численности учащихся.

61. В отношении положения учителей в докладе говорится, что от них часто требуют 
сотрудаичать с оккупационными властями и что они могут быть подвергнуты таким 
действиям, как перевод в другую школу, удаленную от их места зкительства, 
произвольное увольнение и арест.

62. В нем также указывается:

Плохие условия работы и жизни преподавателей государственных школ на Западном 
берегу объясняются различньош действиями, такими как увольнение, неоправданные 
переводы, ранний уход на пенсию, ограничение свободы выбора места жительства, 
вычеты из заработной платы сунн, причитающихся за дай забастовок, задержка 
служебного продвижения и выплаты надбавок к заработной плате, репрессивные 
меры против семей и повестки с предписанием явиться в канцелярию военного 
губернатора,

63. Отмечается, что число произвольно уволенных учителей постоянно растет и 
увеличилсь с 8 учителей в 1980 году до 29 в 1984 году. Хронологический перечень 
учителей, уволенных в течение 1985/86 учебного года, прилагается совместно со 
списком фамилий учителей, чьи дома подверглись обыску.

64. В число документов включен список учителей, арестованных в 1985 году и в 
начале 1986 года.

65. В отношении ситуации в области образования в секторе Газа отмечается:

Прямая ответственность за Управление по вопросам образования в Газе 
возложена на офицера, ведающего вопросами образования в канцелярии военного 
губернатора сектора, который получает приказы от вышестоящих сионистских 
учреждений в оккупированной Палестине.

Этот офящер наделен полномочиями издавать приказы и инструкции военного 
характера: он обладает властью закрывать школы и чийить им препятствия в
выполнении их функций и заключать в тюрьму, отстранять, увольнять или 
исключать учеников, учителей и персонал воспитателей школ, который обвиняется 
в оказании сопротивления оккупационным властям. Наши народные образовательные 
учреждения ежедневно подвергаются таким произвольньм действиям.

Еще более безобразно обстоят дела в отношении учебных планов. Например, 
оккупационные власти запретили изучение многих материалов по вопросам учения 
ислама, арабского языка, истории, географнш и содаологии.
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В секторе Газа обучение зависит от финансирования из различных 
источников, включая Ближневосточное агентство Организации Объеданенных Наций 
для поноци палестинским беженцам и организации работ (БАПОР), в школах 
которого обучается больше учеников, чем в государственных и частных школах 
вместе взятых.

Тен не менее БАПОР грозится свернуть свою деятельность и закрыть ряд 
своих центров. Плата за обучение, которую вносят учащ 1еся в учебных 
заведениях, контролируемых сионистскими оккупационньми властями, является 
вторым источником фяшансирования. Третий источник - это "система частного 
образования”, которая основывается на сборах и средствах от платы за обучение, 
взимаемых входящими в нее заведениями.

Это предисловие ясно показывает, что материальные условия в учебных 
заведениях в оккупированном секторе Газа являются ужасными и затрудняют 
учебный процесс. Не хватает зданий, лабораторий и учебного оборудования. 
Классные комнаты переполнены, и школы работают без перерыва, в утреннюю и 
вечернюю смены. Такое положение дел влияет на заработную плату и на 
психологическое и экономическое состояние учителей и наносит вред самому 
процессу обучения.

66. В отношении положения в области образования в секторе Газа приводятся также 
различные статистические даинные.

67. Положение в области высшего образования на оккупированных территориях детально 
изложено в документе, в котором говорится следующее:

Различные махинации и меры, к которьвч прибегают сионистские оккупационные 
власти с целью затормозить процесс образования на Западном берегу и в секторе 
Газа, вызвали реакцию со стороны населения оккупированного Западного берега, 
которая свидетельствует о росте интереса к университетскому образованию.

Эта тенденция привела к открытию ряда университетских учреяздений, которые 
стремятся принять как можно большее число студентов и помочь им овладеть новьм 
оружием: знанием. Вот почему высшее образование представляет интерес для
населения и учебных заведений наших оккупированных территорий, а также 
пробудило интерес всего арабского мира и; в частности. Совместного 
иордано-пгшестинского комитета и Генерального секретариата Ассоциации арабских 
университетов.

Но поскольку в рамках оккупированной родины не существует нахиюнальной 
власти, то учебные учреждения и заведения пытаются сами наладить связи между 
различными университетами. Эти попытки способствовали проведению ряда 
конф»ерен1Ц|й, результатом которых явилось учреждение в 1977 году Совета по 
вопросам высшего образования, который взял на себя ответственность за 
координацию университетской деятельности, совершенствование уровня 
образования, создание новых учреждений и обеспечение финансовой поддержки,
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орггшизацию курсов по обучению и повьшению квалификации преподавательского 
состава. Через свой исполнительный комитет Совет добился успеха в деле 
обеспечения материальной и моральной основы своего существования.

■е
кроме того, необходимо отметить, что Совет по вопросам высшего 

образования многократно подвергался произвольным действиям со стороны 
оккупационных властей, которью установили для его членов ограничения в 
отношении свободы выбора места жительства. Эти меры можно кратко свести к 
следующим:

1. Объявление военных приказов и внесение поправок в существующие правила в 
нарушение права и международаой практики.
2. Отказ в вщдаче разрешения на проживание учителям, если они отказываются 
подписать политический документ о непризнании ООП.
3. Установление ограничений в отношении свободы выбора места жительства или 
арест преподавателей и студентов.
4. Прекращение проектов расширения университетской территории.
5. Обложение очень высокой таможенной пошлиной учебных пособий и 
лабораторного оборудования, которые обычно такой пошлиной не облагались до 
1967 года,
6. Запрещение многочисленных материалов и периодических изданий; это 
запрещение затрагивает более 5 ООО материалов по различньн предметам.
7. Ограничение срока действия разрешения на работу одним годом, который 
может быть продлен с разрешения военного губернатора; этим объясняется 
неустойчивость положения в университетах.
8. Закрытие университетов по военному приказу; в соответствии с этими 
мераш! преподавательскому составу и студентам запрещается доступ в 
университеты.

68. В этом доклеите приводятся различные данные, касающиеся ресурсов 
университетов:

Университеты Западного берега и сектора Газа 4»1нансируются Совместным 
иордано-палестинским комитетом, и руководители этих университетских учреждений 
пытаются на индивидуальной основе получать средства и дополнительные субсидии 
от находящихся в изгнании палестинцев, арабских и других стран и международных 
организа1Ц1Й. Органы, которые обеспечивают фяшансовую помощь, выплачивают 
также 100 динаров на студента путем взносов в плату за университетское 
обучение (эти 100 динаров на студента были выплачены только в 1983 году), в 
дополнение к ограниченному количеству освобождений от уплаты за зачисление, 
которые предоставлялись университетами на оккупированной территории в 
последующие годы.

В документе также содержится информация, касающаяся контроля за деятельностью 
университетов и численности обучающихся в них студентов (11 454 человек - на 
Западном берегу и 5 620 человек - в Газе), а также подробная информгщия об 
организации и учебных планах различных университетов на оккупированных 
территориях. В документе приводятся фамилии профессоров, изгнанных из университета 
в Эль-Наджахе, начиная с 1982/83 учебного года, профессоров, которым запрещено 
преподавать, которым вьщаны заграничнью паспорта и которым не разрешено проживать в
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Палестине, список профессоров, которые не смогли получить разрешение на поездку в 
Западный берег, а также список 34 профессоров, которые были изгнаны из Исламского 
университета в Газе в августе 1985 года.

69. В документе также сообщается о постоянном вмешательстве военных властей в 
университетскую жизнь на Западном берегу, свидетельством чего является применение 
военного приказа № 854 от 1980 года, который уполномочивает офящера, отвечающего за 
вопросы образования, осуществлять де-факто надзор за университетами, и израильский 
акт №  564 от 1969 года, в соответствии с которым над всеми учебными заведениями 
устанавливается израильский контроль. Отмечается тот факт, что отмена 
аннулирования иорданского закона в области образования V 16 от 1964 года и его 
замена израильским законом являются грубым нарушением Женевской конвенции 1949 года.

70. Полученная информация содержит также подробные данные о мерах репрессивного 
характера в отношении студентов. Представлен подробный список арабских студентов, 
арестованных на Западном берегу в 1985 учебном году вплоть до начала 1986 года.

71. В документах, представленных Организацией освобождения Палестины, также 
содержатся сведения о положении в области образования в школах БАПОР в 
1985/86 учебном году. Представлены сведения о количестве студентов, школ и 
преподавателей на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа. Подчеркивается, что в 
некоторых случаях израильские власти отказываются вьщавать разрешения на ввоз 
школьных учебников. Дается описание программы подготовки преподавателей и системы 
дотаций для курсов по повышению квалификации. Наконец, затрагиваются проблемы 
учреждений, находящихся в ведении БАПОР. Их суть сводится к следующему:

БАПОР пытается сократить объем услуг в области образования, 
предоставляемых детям палестинских беженцев. Это находит подтверждение в 
годовых колебаниях числа учащихся. Так, общее число учащихся в 
1982/83 учебном году составило 336 270 чел. по сравнению с соответствующим 
показателем, равным 338 386 чел. в предьщущем и 345 844 чел. в 1983/84 учебном 
году.

БАПОР проводит психологическую кампанию против преподавателей в своих 
школах. Каждай год распространяются слухи о том, что ввиду нехватки 
финансовых средств контракты со значительным числом этих преподавателей будут 
прерваны, и это отражается на их моральном состоянии и качестве преподавания.

Наблюдается постоянное сокращение числа школ БАПОР, а также численности 
учащихся в них. В 1982/83 учебном году насчитывалась 651 школа, а в 
1983/84 году - 640, т.е. на 11 школ меньше. В результате этого школы и классы 
переполнены, и это влияет на способность учавцосся концентрировать свое 
внимание на занятиях и усваивать учебный материал. Ни также отметили ветхое 
состояние зданий школ БАПОР, особенно в оккупированном секторе Газа, где в 
1985/86 учебном году в качестве крьш школ по-прежнему служили листы 
гофрированного железа. Кроме того, некоторые классные комнаты школ в 
Сирийской Арабской Республике, секторе Газа и на Западном берегу, если их не 
отремонтировать, могут прийти в полную негодность. Серьезность положения дел 
в данной области признавалась Генеральным комиссаром Агентства в его докладе 
Генеральному директору, в котором он утверждал, что данное положение является 
результатом нехватки бюджетных средств.
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В ведении Агентства находится лишь начальное и подготовительное обучение, 
вопросами же дошкольной подготовки, а также среднего и высшего образовгшия оно 
не занимается.

В сфере высшего образования БАПОР вьщеляет ряд стипендий для учашихся: 
1982/83 учебном году было вьщелено 349 стипецдий, включая 272 сохраненные и 
77 новых стипендий, в 1983/84 году было вьщелено 353 стипендии, включая 
271 сохраненную и 82 новые стипендии. Эти цифры остаются практически 
неизменными с тех пор, как перед БАПОР была впервые поставлена задача защиты 
интересов беженцев; они также свидетельствуют о том, что объем данного вида 
услуг постоянно сокращается и что он не отвечает реальным потребностям.

В классных комнатах школ БАПОР занимаются по 50 учащихся в сравнении с 
28 учаощмися в Иордании, 20 - в Соединенном Королевстве, 16 - в Швеции и 15 - 
в Кувейте.

БАПОР практикует систему посменных занятий (две-три смены ежедневно) в 
95 процентах школ, находящихся в его ведении.

«
В последние годы БАПОР, ссылаясь на нехватку средств, обращается к 

родителям учащихся с просьбой вносить плату за школьные пособия и учебники для 
своих детей.

72. Специальному комитету был также представлен доклад о положении в области 
профессионально-технической подготовки на оккупированных территориях в 
1985-1986 годах. В этом документе содержится общий обзор положения на Западном 
берегу и в секторе Газа в области профессионального обучения. В отношении 
Западного берега в этом документе перечислены различные учебные заведения по 
подготовке отраслевых кадров, а именно средние технические училища, профессионально- 
технические отделения общинных колледжей, учебные заведения профессиональной 
подготовки, находящиеся в ведении БАПОР, учебные заведения в ведении департамента 
труда военных властей, а также другие учебные заведения профессиональной 
подготовки. В этом докладе содержится подробная информация и статистические 
сведения по каждому учебному заведению, например, история создания, число учащихся 
и преподавателей, число учащихся с разбивкой по специализации, условия приема, ^
продолжительность учебы. В нем также приведены сравнительные статистические 
таблицы данных об академическом и профессиональном обучении и сведения о 
контролирующих инстанциях. На основании цифр, приведенных в таблицах, в которых 
указывается процентная доля учащихся, получивших свидетельства об окончании средней 
школы, и тех, кто в 1979-1984 годах сдавал выпускные экзамены в средних технических 
и специальных учебных заведениях, составители доклада пришли к следующим выводам:

1. Образование на Западном берегу ограничивается общин образованием, 
поскольку число учащихся учебных заведений по подготовке отраслевых кадров не 
превьтает 3 процентов от общего числа учащихся средаих учебных заведений.

2. Большинство учащихся завершают среднее образование, будучи по-прежнему не 
в состоянии содержать себя или содействовать укреплению национальной 
экономики. Более того, они накладывают финансовое бремя на своих родителей; 
некоторые из них выражают желание поступить в высшее учебное заведение или 
стать вольными слушателями, что встречается редко. В настоящее время это 
рассматривается в качестве одной из причин роста безработицы среди выпускников
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высших учебных заведений. Выпускники высших учебных заведений, которые не 
имеют навыков в области торговли или ремесленного производства, имеют очень 
мало шгшсов найти работу ввиду нехватки рабочих мест.

3. Поэтому мы считаем целесообразньн создание центров и учебных заведений 
для профессионально-технической подготовки, в которых могли бы заниматься 
выпускники.

73. В докладе далее рассматривается вопрос о подготовке специалистов в области 
сельского хозяйства на Западном берегу. В нем содержится исторический обзор 
данного вопроса и напоминание о том, что "после войны 1967 года занятия в учебных 
заведениях сельскохозяйственного профшя на Западном берегу были прекращены и 
положение в данной области во многом стало напоминать положение в других 
сферахобразования, находящихся под контролем израильских оккупационных властей". В 
докладе перечислены существующие в настоящее время учебные заведения 
сельскохозяйственного профиля и представлена подробная информация по таким 
вопросам, как история их создания, число учанрпсся, учебные дисциплины, 
общеобразовательный уровень и используемое оборудование. Касаясь 
общеобразовательного уровня одного из этих сельскохозяйственных учебных заведений, 
составители доклада констатировали:

Считается, что общеобразовательный уровень выпускников института в 
настоящее время ниже среднего. Полученных ими знаний недостаточно, чтобы 
найти работу в сельскохозяйственном секторе в качестве агротехников или 
агроинструкторов. Учебные программы по сельскоххозяйственньн дасциплинан 
недостаточно разработаны, а используемое оборудование и инструменты устарели. 
Средства обучения ограничены, как ограничены и возможности практического 
применения полученных знаний. Лаборатории для практических занятий и 
подготовки не оснащены современными инструментами, методология устарела.
Такое положение наблюдается с 1967 года. Другим фактором, обусловливающим 
недостаточно высокий общеобразовательный уровень выпускников, является прием в 
институт лиц с весьма низкими оценками, а также тех, кто не проявляет личной 
заинтересованности в учебе. Кроне того, побудительным мотивом к 
предпочтительному поступлению в университеты и другие высшие учебные заведения 
на Западном берегу и в  секторе Газа, а не в институт является совместное 
обучение в них лиц обоего пола. Поэтому абитуриентами института являются 
исключительно учгщцеся с низкими оценками.

В результате проведения в институте двух встреч с рядом инженеров 
выяснилось, что они хотят оставить работу и искать новую, с тем чтобы улучшить 
свое в настоящее время неудовлетворительное финансовое положение и обрести 
большую финансовую обеспеченность. Уже только это свидетельствует об их 
готовности работать с большей отдачей, а также о существовании препятствий, 
которые ставят на их пути власти. Все эти факторы затрудняют развитие 
института.
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74. По вопросу о подготовке сельскохозяйственных кадров на Западном берегу вьшод, 
содержавшийся в докладе, можно сформулировать следующим образом:

В целом подготовка кадров для сельского хозяйства на Западном берегу 
практически отсутствует как в сельскохозяйственном колледже Эль-Хуссейн, 
сельскохозяйственной в1Коле Эль-Аруб, так и на школьных садовых участках. Это 
объясняется отсутствием по вышеупомянутым причинам у учавщихся интереса к 
сельскохозяйственному обучению и неспособностью крестьянских хозяйств 
выполнять роль объектов практического применения знаний и центров подготовки.
В школах недостаточно широкое применение находят современные методы, 
инструменты и механизмы. Кроме того, с 1967 года в них не осуществлялось 
никаких нововведений.

75. В докладе также упоминаются профессионально-технические учебные заведения, 
находявщцеся в секторе Газа. Перечислены три инстатцш, в ведении которых находятся 
вопросы отраслевой профессиональной подготовки в секторе Газа, а именно департамент 
образования, департамент по содаальным вопросам и БАПОР, а также приводится 
информация о центрах профессиональной подготовки, находящихся в ведении этих 
инстанций. Наконец, в докладе рассматривается положение в сфере 
подготовкиспециалистов по вопросам сельского хозяйства и торговли в секторе Газа и 
приводятся статистические сведения по данному вопросу. В отношении средней 
сельскохозяйственной школы в секторе Газа составители доклада пришли к следующему 
выводу:

Вследствие высокого уровня безработицы в секторе Газа, особенно среда 
выпускников высших учебных заведений и специалистов в области сельского 
хозяйства, число учащихся в школе остается неизменньм и, как ожидается, будет 
сокращаться, а это означает, что со временем школу придется закрыть. Это 
решение является также результатом ухудшающихся экономических условий в 
секторе Газа в целом, которью особенно отражаются на положении учащихся 
сельскохозяйственных учебных заведений. Тот факт, что в настоящее время 
250 выпускников учебных заведений сельскохозяйственного профиля не могут найти 
работу, вызвал сокращение в целом интереса к сельскохозяйственным профессиям.

с) Информация о действиях поселенцев, затрагивающих гражданское население

Информация, предоставленная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организгшии освобождения Палестины

76. Как уже отмечалось, во время пребывгишя в Аммане Специальному комитету был 
представлен доклад, подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины, который касался положения гражданского 
населения оккупированных территорий в 1985 и первом квартале 1986 года. В этом 
докладе упоминаются различные методы и действия изргишьских поселенцев, 
затрагивающие гражданское население оккупировгшных территорий:

Поселенцы постоянно патрулируют палестинские города и деревни, целясь из 
оружия и стреляя в прохожих. Они закрывают магазины, уничтожают имущество, 
врываются в. дома, окружают лагеря, конфисковывают дона и землю, устанавливают 
зоны поселений и нгшадают на арабских жителей.
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Доклад содержит хронологический перечень методов, применявшихся израильскими 
поселенцами против арабов и их имущества в 1985 году. В этом документе говорится 
также о действиях израильских поселенцев, затрагивающих гражданское население, в 
первом квартале 1986 года, например, о написании антиарабских лозунгов на стенгис, 
сборищах членов расистских организаций вблизи мусульманских святых мест, нападениях 
на арабских мирных граждан, приводящих к ранам и травмам, которые в ряде случаев 
имели трагических исход, поджогах автомобилей и насильственном вторжении в дона 
гражданского населения. Эта информация, основанная на сообщениях в местной печати, 
в ряде случаев подтверждается такими серьезньаш документами, как копии подписгшных 
свидетельств, касаювщхся рассматриваемых случаев, письменные заявления, 
составленные адвокатами, копии свидетельств о смерти, фотографти сояженных 
автомобилей и разрушенных домов, а также официальные сообщения об инцидентах. 
Некоторые из этих случаев рассматриваются в соответствующем подразделе, посвященном 
сообщениям в израильской печати и изданиях на арабском языке, публикуемых на 
оккупированных территориях (см. приложение III (только на анлийском языке), 
пункты 319-344). В документе также упоминаются провокационные выступления, 
организованные поселенцами у зданий университетов, создание дорожных заторов, 
преграждающих доступ в университеты и т.д.

4. Аннексия и поселения 

(см. приложение III (только на английском языке), пункты 378-425)

а) Политика

ИнФормгщия. предоставленная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

77. Во время пребывания в Аммане Специальному комитету был представлен доклад, 
подготовленный Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий Организации 
освобождения Палестины, который касается вопроса об Иерусалиме. В этом докладе 
отмечается, что величайшую угрозу для арабского Иерусалима представляет собой 
политика создания поселений, проводимая оккупационными властями, которые за 
последние 18 лет создали 26 колоний. . В докладе далее указываются различные методы, 
используемые для обеспечения иудаизации Иерусалима, например, убийство мирных 
граждан, разрушение арабских домов, закрытие иорданских судов, контролирование 
израильскими властями вопросов образования, медицинского обслуживания и социального 
развития, иудаизация водоснабжения и энергетики, высылка вцдных граждан, поощрение 
эмиграции евреев в арабский Иерусалим, политика создания поселений. В докладе 
также упоминаются репрессивная практика и случаи осквернения святых мест мусульман 
и христиан в Иерусалиме, совершаемые оккупационньвш властями через такие 
организации, как 'Туш Эмуним”, ”Ках", "Террором на террор" или ")фкабаль эль-Бейт".
В докладе, наконец, говорится о проекте Большого Иерусалима, провозглашенном в 
1982 году в качестве последней из ряда административных, законодательных мер и мер 
в области создания поселений, осуществление которых началось еще в 1948 году и 
основные этапы которых уже были должньв4 образом отражены в предьщущих докладах 
Специального комитета. По вопросу о проекте Большого Иерусалима в докладе 
отмечается:
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Кяеупомянутый проект сводится к аннексии и иудаизащш не только арабской 
части Иерусалима и прилегающих к ней деревень, но также и городов, деревень и
лагерей, находящихся, с одной стороны, в двух районах - Раналлах и Б1ф а  - и, с 
другой стороны, в Бейт-Лахне, Бейт-Дкале и Бейт-Сахуре. В этой связи необхо­
димо отметить, что на долю вьвеупомянутых районов приходится около 8 процентов 
совокупной территории Западного берега, которая была оккупирована в 1967 году.

алвеупонянутую операцию следует рассматривать в качестве подготовки к ан­
нексии и иудаизации остальной территории Западного берега, которая включает, с 
одной стороны, два округа - Наблус и Хеврон - и, с другой стороны, сектор Газа.

Определенной даты для осуществления проекта установлено не было, 
полномочия же по управлению, строительству зданий и дорог и ведению садовых 
хозяйств, так же как и другие полномочия переданы сионистскому окружному 
комитету, с тем чтобы он ног осуществлять эти полномочия для выполнения 
основной цели обеспечения осуществления экспансионистского сионистского плана 
и оказания давления на арабских жителей этого региона, как это происходит в 
других оккупированных районах. Вышеупомянутый проект предусматривает 
распределение соответствующих земель, площадь которых составляет свыие 
446 ООО дунамов, следующим образом:

Доля в процентах Назначение

13,00 Арабские поселения

17,00 Еврейские поселения

6,50 Государственные садовые хозяйства

4,00 Дороги

59,50 Сельское хозяйство

Фактически приведенные выие статистические показатели означают сокращение 
сельскохозяйственных площадей, что приведет к дальнейшему ухудиению положения 
в области сельскохозяйственного производства на Западном берегу.

Израильский "Проект Больного Иерусалима” представляет собой осуществление 
регионального планирования в Израиле, иначе говоря, расширение Израиля. 
Предусмотренная в этом проекте сеть автодорог, проходяп(их через "зеленую 
линию”, главным образом предназначалась для достижения следующих целей:

а) усиление контроля оккупационных властей над оккупированньм арабским 
районом;
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b) лишение арабского народа Палестины возможности создания своего 
независимого национального государства на своей собственной родной территории;

c) осада палестинских городов и деревень;

d) грабеж и строгий контроль даже над отдельными палестинцами;

e) расстройство инфраструктуры палестинского производства в качестве 
предварительной меры по насильственному выселению палестинского народа с 
родных мест и его изгнанию с его собственных земель;

f) присоединение центрального района к палестинской территории, которая 
была оккупирована в 1948 году, и в то же время пренебрежение социальньми 
условиями и условиями жизни населения вышеупомянутого района.

Важное значение района Большого Иерусалима (центрального района) связано 
с тем, что он занимает промежуточное положение на Западном берегу и служит 
связуювшим звеном между северньн и юясньп районами, между частью палестинской 
территории, оккупированной в 1948 году, и долиной реки Иордан. В целом 
непосредственные цели вышеупомянутого проекта заключаются в следующем:

a) достижение превышения численности еврейского населения над арабским 
в три раза;

b ) резервирование обширных территорий для их использования в сельском 
хозяйстве в ходе будущего планирования;

c) расширение основной сети автомобильных дорог, соединяющих северный й 
южный районы, а также оккупированные части палестинской территории с долиной 
реки Иордан;

d) расширение границ Иерусалима (Большого Иерусалима).

Ь) Меры

ИнФормгшия. представленная Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины

78. Как уже упоминалось, в ходе пребывания членов Специального комитета в Аммане 
им был представлен подготовленшй Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий 
Организации освобождения Палестины доклад, касаюощийся положения гражданского 
населения на оккупированных территориях в 1985 году и в первом квартале 1986 года.
В этом докладе содержится список, в котором в хронологическом порядке перечислены 
территории на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа, отчужденные в 1985 году. 
Представленные сведения включали источник информации, дату, место, площадь 
территории в дунамах и щ>ичину отчуждения. В этом документе также отмечены 
неоднократные случаи конфискации земель в первой половине 1986 года, а также 
различные вцды деятельности, связанные с этой политикой конфискации, такие, как 
выкорчевывание фруктовых деревьев, принадлежащих гражданскому населению 
оккупированных территорий, расчистка земель под пашню, конфискадая скота и издание 
указов, согласно которым принадлежащая отдельньм лицам земля объявляется
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государственной собственностью. Содержащаяся в этом документе информация основана на сообщениях местной прессы и в ряде случаев подтверадается такими убедительными
документами, как официальные доклады, подготовленные соответствующими
муниципалитетами, заявления и показания в судах, письменные апелляции
землевладельцев, которым угрожала конфискация, или копии решений управляющих
государственной собственностью.

5. Голанские высоты

(см. приложение III (только на английском языке), пункты 426-446)

Информация, представленная правительством Си р и й с к о й Арабской Республики

79. Специальному комитету был представлен доклад министерства иностранных дел 
Сирийской Арабской Республики, касающийся положения граящансКого населения на 
Голанских высотах. Текст этого доклада приводатся ниже:

С момента оккупащш территории сирийских арабских Голанских высот в икже 
1967 года израильские оккупаадонные власти постоянно проводят и ужесточают 
свою репрессивную и экспансионистскую политику и используют все фюрмы 
расового, экономического, политического и культурного преследования и 
терроризм в отношении населения этой территории. Они прибегали к методам 
принуяздения, с целью навязать принадлежность к Израилю жителям, конфисковывали 
их земли и собственность, изгоняли их со своих земель, создавали тан 
поселения, расселяли поселенцев и предпринимали всевозможные попытки для того, 
чтобы изменить природный, географический, культурный и денографяпеский облик 
оккупированной территории и завладеть ее природаыни ресурсами, грубо и 
преднамеренно нарушая принципы международного права и Устава Организации 
Объединенных Наций, соответствующие резолкядии Генеральной Ассамблеи, Совета 
Безопасности и специализированных учреждений, а также положения Гаагских 
конвенций 1899 и 1907 годов и четвертой Женевской конвенции 1949 года о защите 
гражданского населения во время войны.

1. Израильская практика в отношении задержания и терроризма

Израиль проводил кампании терроризма и задержания в нарушение прав 
населения деревень оккупированных Голанских высот непосредственно до и после 
визита Шимона Переса в город Иадаздал-Ианс. Вкратце об этих акциях можно 
сказать следующее:

1. 26 января 1986 года оккупационные власти арестовали 11 сирийских граждан,
которых они обвинили в том, что те згшимались выпасом скота в районах, 
находящихся поблизости от их деревень и определеннных израильскими властями 
как военные зоны. Израильские власти захватили 72 головы скота, принадлежащие 
этим гражданам, перевезли их на военных автомобилях в южную часть 
оккупированной Палестины и разместили тан в загонгпс для скота. Когда 
владельцы скота попытались воспрепятствовать израильским войскам и полиции 
увезти их скот, они были избиты прикладами и полицейсшош дубинками и 
впоследствии задержгпш.
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2. 26 февргшя 1986 года в Мадящал-Шансе произошли столкновения между 
израильскими властями и сирийскими арабскими гражданами, которые протестовали 
против визита Шинона Переса. В результате этих столкновений, которые были 
показаны по телевидению, Израиль задержал 18 граждан, проживающих на Голанских 
высотах, лишь за их участие в демонстрации.

3. 14 февраля 1986 года израильские власти задержали 10 граждан за их 
участие в демонстрации по случаю четвертой годовщины знаменитой забастовки 
протеста против навязывания принадлежности к Израилю. Полиция открыла огонь 
по демонстрантам и избила их полицейскими дубинками, как это было показано по 
телевцдению.

4. 27 февраля 1986 года в дополнение к задержанным 26 февраля 1986 года было 
задержано еще 17 человек.

5. 1 марта 1986 Года было задержано еще 16 граждан, проживающих на Голанских 
высотах.

6. 3 марта 1986 года было задержано еще 11 проживающих на Голгшских высотах 
граждан за участие в демонстрации протеста против визита Иимона Переса. За 
период с 26 февраля 1986 года по 3 марта 1986 года обцее количество 
задержанных по этой причине лиц составило 47 человек.

7. 2 марта 1986 года министр образования Израиля Ицхак Навои посетил деревню 
Букаата для участия в церемонии открытия начальной школы. К его удивлению 
население подняло над школой сирийский флаг и назвало школу именем нашего 
доблестного президента Хафеза Асада. Это привело к столкновению между 
гражданами и войсками противника. После того, как Навои покинул деревню, все 
дороги между деревнями на Голанских высотах были перекрыты и были задержаны 
десятки граждан, в том числе:

Афиф Махмуд; Вахиб ас-Сейцд Ахмад; Аланудцин Махмуд Абу Зеид; Мухаммад 
Али Руба; Хейел Асаад аль-Халаби; Айман, Наби и Даниэл, сыновья Салмана 
Тахера Абу Салеха; Фахри Сулейман аль-Макт; Касим Аббас ас-Сафади;
Адель Салим Абу Дкабаль; Зияд Фуад аль-Калаани; и Насир, Мансур и Наби, 
сыновья Сацда Абу Дкабаля. В результате этого обцее число задержанных 
превысило 55 человек.

8. Согласно сообщениям издаваемой в Хайфе газеты "Аль-Иттихад", 5 марта 
1986 года судья центрального суда в Хайфе отказался освободить 18 задержанных 
жителей Голанских высот, вклочая молодежь. После этого задержаннью стали петь 
в зале суда нгщиональный гимн Сирийской Арабской Республики в знак выражения 
преданности своей родине. Чтобы заставить их замолчать, оккупационные власти 
применили против них газы. Оккупационные власти угрожали также задержанием 
женщинам и девочкам.

9. 6 нарта 1986 года центральный суд Назарета продлил срок задержания 
четырех 18-летних студентов с Голанских высот (Кандк Исмаил Абу Салех, Бади 
Сейид Ахмад, Хасан Фаиз ас-Сафади и Фажд Ареф ас-Сафади).
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10. 8 марта 1986 года израильские власти объявили о продлении, до дальнейшего 
извещения, срока задерягания 45 сирийских граждан, а также о закрытии района
Ас-Суйя к востоку от Мадщдал-Иамса, с тем чтобы лишить его жителей возможности
общения со своими родственникгши по другую сторону пограничной черты.

В тот же день командующий израильской армией в северном районе генерал 
Ури Ур объявил Голанские высоты закрытой военной зоной до дальнейшего 
извещения.

В тот же день были также арестованы пять граждан из Мадяодал-Шамса.

11. 10 марта 1986 года по телевидению Западной Германии был показан фильм об 
израильской практике на оккупированных территориях, включая Голанские высоты.
В фильме были показаны методы преследования, используемые против арабских 
граждан, включая произвольные аресты и пытки заключенных (удушение, пытки 
холодом, нанесение ударов по наиболее чувствительньк частям тела, унизительное 
обращение с людьми и их семьями).

12. Население оккупированной территории подвергается угрозам со стороны 
сотрудников налогового управления и провоцируется террористическими акциями со 
стороны израильских властей.

13. В ранние утренние часы израильские власти без предупреждения врываются в 
дома арабских граждан под предлогом обысков.

14. Арабским гражданам на оккупированных Голанских высотах не разрешают 
получать паспорта.

15. 14 марта 1986 года оккупационные властями было задержано девять арабских 
граждан из Мадждал-Шамса (Муста|фа Касим Махмуд, Низи Нуаман Абу Дкабаль, Вади 
Хасан Айюб, Бади Хасан Айюб, Хейел Фарис аш-Шааир, Юсуф Вибли аш-Шааир, Юсуф 
Фахреддин, Рафик Али Ибрагим и Фарис Али Абу Саада), а также гражданин из 
Масаады (Сулейман Хасан Ибрагим), причем всех их обвинили в том, что они 
выступали против визита Шимона Переса.

14 марта 1986 года было задержано 11 граждан из Мадждал-Иамса по 
обвинению в участии в массовой демонстрации. По израильскому радио было 
объявлено, что по тому же обвинению задержано уже 65 граждан. По сообщению 
"Радио Монте-Карло", командующий в северном районе генерал Ури Ур перешел к 
политике "железного кулака" в целях подавления сопротивления населения 
израильской политике и оккупации.

16. 18 марта 1986 года центральный суд Назарета продлил срок задержания двух 
лиц с Голанских высот (Муада ас-Сафади и Калима Хамада Увейдата) и в то же 
время освободил под залог 16 граждан после уплаты огромных сумм в размере от
1 ООО до 1 500 шекелей наличньшш и подписания личных долговых обязательств еще 
на 2 ООО шекелей. Ниже приводятся имена освобожденных под эти огромные 
залоговые суммы:

Иадкцд Ахмад аль-Кудмани 
Юсуф Сальман аль-Иакт 
Фахреддин Сулейман аль-Макт 
Даниэль Сальман Абу Салех 
Хассан Хейел Абу Дкабаль
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Дкашшь Сгшьман Абу Дкабаль 
Зейд Санд аль-Халаби 
Хамуд Махмуд ас-Сафади 
Фаиз Санд Махмуд 
Саадех Ареф ас-Сафади 

: д-р Али Абу Аввад 
Вахиб Тауфик Айюб 
Фадель Найеф Абу Салех 
Валнд Мутаиб Абу Салех 
Фавзи Хамад Махмуд 
Салама Мазияд Абу Салех

Семья задержанного Калима Увейдата безуспешно подавала жалобу в связи с тем, 
что этот человек, срок задержания которого был продлен, страдал от перелома 
плеча, а это создавало угрозу его здоровью, поскольку в тюрьме ему не было 
оказано никакой помощи.

17. 19 нарта 1986 года изргшльские власти ограничили район проживания
16 граждан из Мадждал-Мамса.

18. 20 марта 1986 года судья центрального суда Хайфы (Элиазар Бар) отклонил
жалобу группы лиц с Голанских высот, которью были задержаны 13 марта 1986 года 
и срок задержания которых был продлен муниципальным судом в Акре на 12 дней. 
Под арестом все еще находятся следующие лица: Мустафа Касим Махмуд, Рафшк Али
Ибрагим, Иззеддин Хуссейн Ибрагим, Фарис Али Абу Саада, Нази Нуаман Абу 
Дкабаль, Хуссейн Юссуф Абу Салех, Хейел Фарис аш-Шааир и Сулейман Юссуф 
Фахреддин. В тот же день изргшльские власти арестовали троих сирийских 
граждан с оккупированных Голгшских высот после того, как сотрудники 
изргшльского налогового управления провели обыск и проверку, в результате 
которых было конфисковгшо три повозки, груженные яблоками.

Согласно сообщению, один из граждан был ргшен в голову в ходе 
столкновений между населением и должностными лицами оккупгицюнных властей.

В тот же день суд Назарета постановил ограничить район проживания 
74 граждан с Голанских высот в связи с обвинением в участии в демонстрациях 
против Переса, имевших место в феврале. Согласно сообщению судебных орггшов, 
эти осужденные лица должны находиться в своих домгш с захода до восхода солнца 
и не должны покидать своих деревень без предварительного разрешения.
Сотрудники налогового ведомства посетили также холодильные хранилица для яблок 
рядом с деревней Мадщдал-Шамс, где они взломали замки и конфисковали 
2 634 яощка с яблоками общим весом порядка 53 тонн, принадлежащие гражданам, 
проживающим на Голанских высотах. Представители полицейских сил и пограничной 
охраны прибегли к силе в отношении тех, кто попытался згицитить свое 
имущество. Они также связали директора холодильного хранилища и 20-летнего 
Гассгша Ахмада ас-Саф>ади, которых они жестоко избили.

19. 21 марта 1986 года население оккупированных Голгшских высот провело в 
Мадждал-Шамсе 24-часовую забастовку и демонстрацию, в ходе которых они 
скаццировали гштиизраильские лозунги, провозглашая свою неизменную преданность 
Сирии и осуждая произвольные аресты и проводимую в отношении них политику 
притеснений. Израильские власти расширили зону своих гшнных полей.

/...
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20. 22 марта 1986 года в районе к востоку от Мадждал-Шамса была проведена
денонстраадя протеста против введенного в этом районе комецдантского часа и
против произвольных акций и арестов. Демонстранты несли транспаранты с
надписями "Голоду - да, покорности - нет” и "Лучше смерть, чем принадлежность
к Израилю”.

21. 24 нарта 1986 года центральный суд Хайфы начал процесс по делу
75 сирийских арабских граждан с оккупированных Голанских высот, которые 
обвиняются в участии в народных волнениях, прошедших по всем деревням на 
Голанских высотах в ходе последнего визита Шимона Переса (сообщение 
опубликовано в иорданской газете "Ар-Рай” от 25 марта 1986 года).

22. 25 марта 1986 года гразкдане из Масаады и Букааты провели Демонстрацию
против израильских оккупационных властей, на которой они несли сирийский флаг 
и скаццировали лозунги против оккупации. «
23. 5 апреля 1986 года инфюрмационное агентство ТАСС процитировало
опубликованное в израильской газете "Гаарец" сообщение о том, что 
12 ООО фермеров были полностью изолированы в своих деревнях, которые были 
обнесены колючей проволокой и окружены израильскими войсками, в результате 
чего фермеры были лишены продовольствия, медикаментов и медицинской помощи.

24. 8 апреля 1986 года израильские власти открыли огонь по сирийскому
гражданину Ибрагиму Хасану ас-Сафади, 19-летнему жителю Мадждал-Шамса, который 
был серьезно ранен.

25. 14 апреля 1986 года конацдующий израильской полицией в Галилее генерал
Саул Леви заявил, что полиадя не позволит сирийским арабским гражданам 
проводить демонстрации или празднования по случаю годоввцшы эвакуакции 
иностранных войск 17 апреля.

26. 17 апреля 1986 года израильские силы численностью около 10 ООО человек
окружили деревню Мадждал-Шанс, в которой они ввели комендантский час. Крупные 
силы были брошены на разгон шествий, которые были организованы населением по 
случаю празднования годовпцшы эвакуации иностранных войск. Имели место 
рукопашные столкновения (18 апреля 1986 года сцены этих столкновений с 
полицией в деревне Айн-Кунья были показаны по телевидению). Вечером 16 апреля 
1986 года были блокированы дороги между деревнями и арестовано большое число 
демонстрантов. Согласно сообщению "Радио Монте-Карло”, демонстрации сирийских 
арабских граждан на Голанских высотах были грубо и жестоко подавлены, в 
результате чего ряд граждан получили ранения, а пять человек были задержаны по 
обвинению в оскорблении оккупационных властей. 22 апреля 1986 года стали 
известны имена трех из них: Хинам Фарис Шаалан, Фархан Хейел Шаалан и Ратеб
Хейел Шаалан.

27. 2 мая 1986 года военный трибунал в Лоде приговорил 11 граждан с Голанских
высот к ткфемному заключению по обвинению в сопротивлении оккупации (агентство 
Франс пресс), несмотря на то, что кажщый из этих граждан имеет законное право 
оказывать сопротивление оккупации своей земли. Ниже щ>иводятся имена этих 
11-ти задержанных:
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1. Баиир Сулейман аль-Макт, приговорен к 27 годам лишения свободн
2. Сидки Сулейман аль-Макт, приговорен к 27 годам лишения свободы
3. Эссам Н ю ф  аль-Булис, щбиговорен к 27 годам лишения свободы
4. Хейел Хуссейн Абу Зейд, приговорен к 27 годам лишения свободы
5. Асим Махмуд аль-Булис, приговорен к 27 годам лишения свободы
6. Айман Хейел Абу Дкабаль, приговорен к 12 годам лишения свободы
7. Зияд Ареф Абу Дкабаль, приговорен к 12 годам лишения свободы
8. Эсмат Мухаммад аль-Макт, приговорен к 11 годам лишения свободы
9. Эссам Дканиль Абу Зейд, приговорен к 10 годам лишения свободы

10. Абдул Латиф Юсуф аш-Наир, приговорен к 7 годам лишения свободы
11. Хейредщш Тауфик аль-Халаби, приговорен к 4 годам лишения свободы

28. 2 июня 1986 года по израильскому радио было объявлено, что большое
количество сирийских семей были вынуждены покинуть свои дома и деревни на 
оккупированных Голанских высотах в поисках лучшей жизни. Это было вызвано 
плачевными экономическими условиями и условиями жизни, которые были созданы 
Израилем для сирийского арабского населения на Голанских высотах.

2. Действия Израиля в отношении здравоохранения и соииальных воп росо в

1. Израильские оккупадаонные власти настаивают на необходимости наличия 
израильского удостоверения личности у каждого лица, желающего воспользоваться 
услугами учреждений здравоохранения, предоставляемьвчи участникам в рамках 
программы медицинского страхования ("Купат Холим"), или получать выплаты в 
рамках национальной программы страхования ("Керен Габитуах Галеуми"), такие, 
как пенсии для престгфелых и пособия на детей. В силу такого условия 
население деревень на оккупированных Голгшских высотах лишено этих прав, 
поскольку оно отказалось от израильской принадлежности.

2. Высокая стоимость медицинского обследования и лечения превыиает 
возмозкности населения деревень на оккупированных Голанских высотах, например:

плата за пребывание в больнице составляет 50 ООО шекелей в день, что 
эквивалентно 75 долл. США (30 процентов месячного заработка рабочего);

плата за роды в родильном доме составляет 750 долл. США.

3. После введения комецдантского часа в деревнях на Голанских высотах 
больные не имеют возможности обратиться за медицинской помощью к врачам, 
поскольку для этого они должны обратиться сначала к военному врачу для 
получения разрешения о выезде за пределы деревни, а военный врач отказывает им 
в разрешении на прохождение лечения под тем предлогом, что они в нем не 
нуждаются.

4. В деревнях на Голанских высотах нет больниц. В этих деревнях существует 
лишь четыре здравпункта, которые не в состоянии удовлетворить нужДМ жителей в 
связи с нехваткой оборудования, коек и специалистов-недиков. В них нет 
гинекологов и стоматологов.

5. Врачи работают в этих здравпунктгпс только три дня в неделю по три часа в 
день, причем их функции сводятся лишь к постгшовке диагноза и вцдаче рецептов.
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6. Ни в одной из деревень на оккупированных Голанских высотах нет ни единой 
аптеки. Медикаменты закупаются в аптеках городов оккупированной Палестины.

7. На все деревни на Голанских высотах приходится линь один фармацевт, Ганди 
Кахлуни, выпускник Дамасского университета. Однако израильские власти не 
позволяют ему практиковать в качестве фармацевта, поскольку они не признают 
его диплом.
8. Медикаменты чрезвычайно дороги, и их очень трудно найти.

9. Испытывается недостаток в услугах в области здравоохранения в школах. В 
пяти деревнях в школах нет школьных врачей.

10. Население пяти деревень пользуется бесплатным обслуживанием в арабских 
благотворительных больницах на Западном берегу, таких, как благотворительная 
клиника Аль-Макассед в Иерусалиме, клиника Дауда для святых мест в Бейт-Лахме 
и клиника федерации женщин в Наблусе.

11. Израильские оккупащюнные власти не позволяют пациентам из этих пяти 
деревень проходить лечение на своей родине в Сирии.

12. Оккупационнью власти запретили создание благотворительных ассоциаций для 
поноци нуждающимся больным людям в деревнях на Голанских высотах.

13. В I960 году сирийский экспатриант Юссуф ас-Сафади оборудовал в поселке 
Мадждал-Ианс больницу на 20 коек. Однако израильские оккупационные власти 
переоборудовали это здание в штаб-квартиру для военного коменданта и его 
личного состава.

14. Руководство программой медицинского страхования ("Купат Холим") 
отказывается предоставлять автомобили скорой помощи гражданам в деревнях на 
оккупированных Голанских высотах, хотя жители израильских поселений на 
Голгшских высотах пользуются этими услугами.

15. Несмотря на то, что здоровью жителей деревень на Голанских высотгш 
угрожают наскиты, изргшльские власти не предпринимают никаких мер для борьбы с 
этим бедствием.

16. Изргшльские власти не згшимаются осушением непроточных соляных водоемов, 
которые являются причиной многих заболевгший среди населения.

17. Израильские власти отказываются поставлять недикгшенты и продовольствие, 
а во время комендантского часа препятствуют получению жителями деревень на 
Голанских высотах медапцшской и продовольственной помощи со стороны Сирии, а 
также нгщиональных организащгй и благотворительных ассоциаций Палестины.

18. Население деревень на Голанских высотах жалуется на загрязненность 
питьевой воды и на бездействие оккупгщионных властей в отношении ее очистки. 
Несмотря на то, что жители Иадждал-Иамса за свой счет пробурили колодец, 
израильские власти лгшили их возможности использовать эту воду, нгшравив ее в 
поселения на Голгшских высотах.
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19. Водоснабженческая компания "Мекарот” часто под различными предлогами на 
длительный срок, до двух месяцев, перекрывает подачу воды в деревни на 
Голшских высотах.

20. Израильские власти не оказывают медицинских услуг задержанным и 
заключенным на оккупированных Голанских высотах.

3. Практика Израиля, касающаяся образования

1. Вмешательство в учебные планы в целях ликвидащш их сирийского арабского 
характера и замены их израильскими учебными планами.

2. 4 апреля 1986 года жители оккупированньк деревень на Голанских высотах 
предприняли попытку получить разрешение на пересечение линии границы, с тем 
чтобы их дети могли обучаться в сирийских университетах, поскольку израильские 
власти препятствуют таким поездкам, преследуюоцш цель получения образования. 
Кроме того, власти не только не открывают больницы и школы, но и произвольно 
увольняют преподавателей. В настоящее время число уволенных таким образом 
преподавателей составляет 170 человек.

3. Отказ в трудоустройстве выпускников университета с Голанских высот, 
несмотря на существующую потребность в их услугах для преподавания в школах.

4. Отказ в назиачении квалифицированных школьных преподавателей и назначение 
некомпетентных лиц на преподавательские должности.

5. Отказ в вцдаче паспортов (пропусков) учащимся из деревень, расположенных 
на оккупированных сирийских Голанских высотах, которые изъявили желание 
обучаться в университетах за пределами оккупированной Палестины, при 
отсутствии письменного свидетельства о приеме, вьщаваеного университетами, в 
которых они будут обучаться. Тем самым преследуется цель воспрепятствовать их 
поступлению в университеты соадалистических государств, которые, хотя и готовы 
принять их, как правило, не направляют письменного свидетельства о приеме 
каждому студенту, - об этом сообщается в устной форме соответствующим 
организациям и органам.

4. Практика Израиля, касающаяся сельскохозяйственных 
ВОПРОСОВ и конфискации земли

1. Конфискация сельскохозяйственных земель, которые впоследствии 
превращаются в минные поля и отводятся под военные зоны: в номере выходящей в 
Иерусалиме газеты *'Аш-Иааб" от 29 января 1986 года сообщалось, что Салим Асад 
Милхем Абу Аввад, молодой человек, проживающий на Голанских высотах, был 
ранен, когда под трактором, которым он управлял, работая вблизи своей деревни 
Буката, разорвалась мина, в результате чего, учитывг^я серьезный характер этих 
ранений, врачи ампутировали ему ногу.

2. 11 нарта 1986 года агентство "4>psuic пресс” сообщило, что рад 
представителей сирийских арабских граждан на Голанских высотах провели 
пресс-конференадю в оккупированном Иерусалиме, на которой они заявили, что 
являются сирийскими арабами. Один из них, Салман Фахредцин, сказал:
”Ны - сирийцы, и мы хотели подчеркнуть этот факт в ходе провокационного визита 
Иинона Переса в Надждал-Ианс".
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Хайель Абу Дкабал сказал, что за период с 1967 года израильские власти 
конфтсковали 350 гектаров земли, принадлежавшей сирийским арабским деревням на
Голанских высотах. Эти земли были объявлены военными зонами и переданы 
7 ООО сионистским поселенцам. Вражеские власти осуществляли также контроль за 
основными водными ресурсами на Голанских высотах.

3. 12 апреля 1986 года израильские оккупационные власти блокировали район
Эль-Кати, простирающийся от юго-западной части города Мадщдал-Шамс до моста 
Суад к северу от города Иецада, в рамках подготовки к его экспроприации. В 
этом районе находится более 1 ООО дунамов плодородной сельскохозяйственной 
земли.

4. 22 апреля 1986 года Израиль блокировал район площадью 150 Дунамов в
окрестностях Эль-Балан вблизи Иадщдал-Шамса, огородив его колючей проволокой, 
и запретил населению вход в этот район.

Очевидцами, которые недавно покинули оккупированные Голанские высоты и 
могут дать показания в Специальном комитете по расследованию затрагивающих 
права человека действий Израиля в отношении населения оккупированных 
территорий, являются следуюдае лица:

1. Д-р Ихсан Кудхмгши, проживающий в Сирийской Арабской Республике.
2. Г-н Набил Махмуд, проживающий в Сирийской Арабской Республ1ке.
3. Г-н Ахмад Али эль-Кудхмани, в настоящее время проживающий в

Советском Союзе, где он проходит курс лечения травмы глаз, 
причиненной в результате побоев, нанесенных служащими израильских 
оккупационных сил. Он является одним из лцдеров Национального 
движения на Голанских высотах.

ИнФормаиия. предоставленная Израильской лигой прав человека и гражданских прав

80. Доклад от 15 мая 1986 года о положении на Голанских высотах был представлен 
Специальному комитету Израильской лигой прав человека и гражданских прав. В 
докладе сообщалось о ряде недавних инцидентов, таких, как инциденты, вызванные ^
посещением премьер-министром Ниноном Пересом Иадждал-41анса 25 февраля 1986 года или Щ  
празднованием 17 апреля 1986 года дня независимости Сирии.

81. В докладе было также отмечено ухудшение экономического положения на Голанских 
высотах. В нем подчеркиваются негативные последствия финансовой политики для 
гражданского населения.

За период с февраля прошлого года органы, занимакощиеся сбором подоходного 
налога, при содействии полищш и пограничных подразделений также усилили 
гонения на жителей.

Органы по сбору подоходного налога установили для фермеров самые высокие 
ставки налогов. Вследствие широко распространенной в деревнях на Голанских 
высотах безработицы тяжелое положение бедных сеней еще более ухудшилось.
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82. В докладе сообщалось об ограничениях в отношении жителей деревень, которым 
згшрецалось обрабатывать землю или осуществлять выпас своего скота.

Дясамил Наиф Мари из Мецады рассказал историю в духе Кафки. Сотрудники 
управления природных заповедников прошлым летом конфисковали его отару овец на 
пастбище и продали ее. Через несколько дней ему удалось обнаружить свою отару 
в Петах-Тикве, но около 40 овец не хватало. Он выкупил свою отару у лица, у 
которого она находилась, и доставил ее домой. В пути в результате отсутствия 
надлежащего ухода пало еще 40 животных. Разумеется, поиски и транспортировка 
стоили ему немалых денег в дополнение к сунне, которую он вынужден был 
заплатить за свою собственную отару. При содействии одного из членов кнессета 
Джамилу Наифу Мари удалось встретиться с руководством управления природньвш 
заповедниками, которое после обсуждения согласилось, что конфискгщия отары 
была неоправданной. Руководство вернуло ему деньги, полученнью от продажи его 
отары человеку в Петах-Тикве. Совершенно очевццно,
что хозяину стада был нанесен ущерб. Он потерял около 80 животных, оплатил 
расходы, связанные с розыском отары и ее транспортировкой, не говоря о 
страдании и горе, причиненных ему в результате этого происшествия.

83. В докладе приводились также примеры практики, к которой прибегают 
оккупационные власти в качестве меры коллективного наказания:

В тот день, когда делегация Израильской лиги прав человека и гражданских 
прав посетила Голанские высоты, жители Мадждал-Ианса беседовали с беженцами из 
деревень Заура, Айн-4«т и Баниас, которые были разрушены израильской армией 
после оккупации. Эти разговоры ведутся при поноци громких выкриков (это место 
называется "районом крика") и жестов лицами, находящимися по разнью стороны 
полосы на разделенных долиной холмах - своего рода огороженной ничейной 
земли. Эти громкие разговоры между жителями, находящимися по разные стороны 
полосы в результате трагического разделения, навязанного им вследствие 
продолжающейся 19 лет оккупации, прерываются время от времени оккупахдионньми 
властями в качестве меры коллективной мести и наказания.

84. В заключительной части доклада приводится неполный список жителей 
оккупированных Голанских высот, которью находятся под арестом, с указанием возраста 
задержанных.

V. вывода

85. Настоявдий доклад подготовлен в соответствии с мандатом Специального комитета, 
возобновленным Генеральной Ассамблеей в ее резолкящи 40/161 D от 16 декабря
1985 года.

86. В главе II содержится описание организащш работы Специального комитета в 
период с 30 августа 1985 года - даты утверждения его последнего доклада 
(А/40/702). На основании главы II можно судить о том, что правительство Израиля 
продолжало отказываться от сотрудничества со Специальным комитетом. С другой 
стороны, со Специальным комитетом сотрудничали правительства Египта, Иордании и 
Сирийской Арабской Республики, а также Организация освобождения Палестины. В 
главе III излагается мандат Специального комитета, сформулированный в предьздуцие 
годы. Сюда относится расширение нацдата Специального комитета и включение в него 
расследования заявлений об "эксплуатации и разграблении ресурсов оккупированных
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территорий”, "разграблении археологического и культурного наследия оккупированных 
территорий” и "вмешательстве в свободу отправления религиозных культов в святых
местах оккупированных территорий” согласно положениям резолкяц<и 3005 (XXVII)
Генеральной Ассамблеи от 15 декабря 1972 года.

87. В главе IV (см. также приложение 111 (только на английском языке) содержится 
резюме устных показаний и письменной информащш, полученной Специальным комитетом. 
Спеадальный комитет, не имея возможности посетить оккупированные территории, провел 
серию слушаний в Нью-Йорке в декабре 1985 года и в Аммане в апреле и мае 1986 года, 
в ходе которых были заслушгшы показания лиц, знакомых по личному опыту с положением 
в области прав человека на оккупированных территориях. Вместе с тем Специальный 
комитет с сожалением отмечает, что в силу финансовых ограничений ему не удалось 
провести слушания в Каире и Дамаске в порцдке осуществления своего мандата. 
Специальный комитет следил за положением на оккупированных территориях на 
ежедневной основе путем изучения сообщений, появляющихся в израильской и 
палестинской печати. Специальный комитет изучил ряд сообщений и докладов, 
полученных им от правительств, организаций и отдельных лиц на оккупированных 
территориях за рассматриваемый в настоящем докладе период. В некоторых докладах 
впервые были приведены интереснью детали, касающиеся образования и культурной жизни 
гражданского населения в условиях оккупации.

88. Выводы, содержащиеся в настоящем разделе, сфорг^лированы на основе инфюрмации, 
изложенной в главе IV, и информации, воспроизведенной в приложениях к докладу. 
Однако в этой связи следует учитывать, что объем полученной и изученной Спеадальньв! 
комитетом инфюрмации не позволяет отразить ее полностью в настоящем докладе; 
Специальный комитет предрфинял попытку включить в доклад полученнью им образцы 
достоверной информации в целях создания полного представления о реальном положении 
дел в области прав человека на оккупированных территориях за рассматриваемый в 
докладе период.

89. Глава IV подразделена на три части. В разделе IV.А (включенном в 
приложение ill ниже (только на английском языке) содержатся полученнью Специальным 
комитетом резюме или устнью показания, иллюстрирующие положение на оккупированных 
территориях в области муниципальных проблем, отправления правосудия, обращения с 
гражданскими и задержанными лицами. В разделе IV.В (включенном в приложение 111 
ниже (только на английском языке) приводится изученная Специальным комитетом 
информация, почерпнутая из израильской печати и изданий, выходящих на арабском 
языке на оккупированных территориях. В разделе IV.С рассматривается инфюрмация, 
предоставленная правительствами Иордании и Сирийской Арабской Республики, 
Организацией освобождения Палестины и другими организациями.

90. На основе имеющихся в его распоряжении свцдетельских показаний и информации 
Специальный комитет сделал вывод о том, что проводимая правительством Израиля 
политика на оккупированных территориях продолжает, как и в прошлом, опираться на 
принцип, согласно которому территории, оккупированные Израилем в 1967 году, 
являются частью Государства Израиль. Этот тезис лежит в основе политики аннексии и 
создания поселений на оккупированных территориях, которая представляет собой 
вопиющее нарушение международных обязательств Израиля как государства - участника 
четвертой Женевской конвенции о защите гражданского населения во время войны
(см. приложение 1 ниже). Как известно, четвертая Женевская конвенадя 
предусматривает, что военную оккупахцоо следует рассматривать как временное, 
фактическое положение, не дающее какого бы то ни было права оккупирующей державе на
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посягательство на территориальную целостность оккупированных территорий. В 
настоящем докладе приводятся различные примеры этой политики, в частности, 
изложенные в пунктах 378-383 приложения III ниже (только на английском языке), 
такие, как утверждение финансовым комитетом кнессета бюджета в размере 
приблизительно 3,5 млн. долл. США для создания поселений на оккупированных 
территориях, о чем сообщалось в номере газеты ’Таарец" от 31 декабря 1985 года, а 
также заявление министра энергетики и инфраструктуры Моне Махала о том, что "долина 
реки Иордан останется частью Государства Израиль в любом будущем соглашении с 
Иорданией", опубликованное в номере газеты "Гаарец" от 15 января 1986 года. В этой 
связи следует также указать на заявления, касающиеся переговоров о "самоуправлении" 
и "кондоминиуме" в секторе Газа, о которых говорится в пунктах 78, 79 и 84 
приложения III ниже (только на английском языке).

91. Такой курс ведет к эскалации насилия и осуществлению "политики железного 
кулака", отличающейся введением новых мер безопасности на оккупированных 
территориях и усилением напряженности в отношениях между израильскими силами 
обороны и гражданским населением, что в некоторых случаях вызывает жалобы и 
забастовки последнего. Одним из наиболее показательных примеров является положение 
арабов - владельцев магазинов в здании Хадасса в Хевроне, которые, как отмечается в 
пункте 211 приложения III ниже (только на английском языке), испытывают постоянный 
нажим со стороны властей. Информация и свидетельские показания, изученные 
Специальньт комитетом, указывают на различные формы гонений, которые в ряде случаев 
приводили к серьезным травмам или гибели мирных граждан на оккупированных 
территориях, а также на распространение такой практики репрессалий и коллективного 
наказания, как снос или опечатывание домов, принадлежащих подозреваемыч.
Информадая, которой располагает Специальный комитет, ясно указывает на то, что 
главные аргументы, представленные израильскими властями в оправдание сноса и 
опечатывания домов якобы по причинам "безопасности", лишены основания. Например, в 
приведенном в пункте 242 приложения III ниже (только на английском языке) случае 
сноса трех домов в деревне Бурка в апреле 1986 года, в результате чего 11 человек, 
помимо подозреваемых, остались без крова, ни один из подозреваемых к моменту сноса 
донов не был осужден. Поэтому Комитет с сожалением отмечает незаконный характер 
продобных действий, которые представляют собой коллективное и внесудебное 
наказание. К другим репрессивным мерам относится дальнейшее распространение 
домашних арестов и запретов на выезд из города, создающих серьезные препятствия для 
осуществления права на свободное передвижение, а также значительное увеличение 
числа случаев изгнания и депортации. Специальный комитет обращает особое внимание 
на незаконный характер процедуры депортации, применяемой военньки властями, которая 
не дает депортируемым возможности ознакомиться с предъявляемыми им обвинениями, 
что, по-видимому, вызвано не законньти соображениями безопасности, а чисто 
политическими факторами. Право на свободу В1фажения также ущемляется рядом мер, 
принятых оккупадаонныни властями. Специальный комитет отметил, что ряд газет был 
подвергнут цензуре и закрыт, а свобода передвижения палестинских журналистов 
подвергалась ограничению. Свобода получения образования также ограничивается 
различньми путями. В связи с этим Специальному комитету, помимо иной информации и 
свидетельских показаний, был предоставлен ряд документов и данных, подготовленных 
Отделом образования и высшей школы ()рганизации освобождения Палестины, которые, как 
указано в пунктах 57-75 въяве, наглядно свидетельствуют об ухудшении системы 
образования на оккушфованных территориях, вызванном такими факторами, как 
изменение учебников и программ, недостаток учебных материалов и школьных помещений, 
перегруженность классов, нехватка преподавателей и т.д. Полученная инфюрмация
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говорит о различных нарушениях права на свободное получение образования, в тон 
числе о произвольном увольнении или депортации школьных и университетских
преподавателей, кампаниях репрессий и арестов педагогов и студентов, закрытии школ
и университетов.

92. Охватываемый настоящим докладом период характеризуется также значительным 
ростом числа арестов и приказов об административном задержания. Многим палестинцам 
из числа гражданского населения, вклочая несовершеннолетних, военньии судами 
выносятся приговоры, основанные на соображениях безопасности. В то же время к 
членам еврейских нелегальных организаций и к другим израильтянам, обвиняемы* а 
убийстве или грубом обращении с арабским гражданским населением, власти относятся с 
относительной мягкостью. Характерньм примером такого положения является 
помилование Авраама Шалома и трех сотрудников общей службы безопасности, замешанных
. в деле об убийстве в 1984 году двух захвативших самолет арабов.

93. В докладе содержится информация о политике правительства Израиля, якобы 
предусматривающей возвращение муниципальной власти на оккупированных территориях 
местньм лцдеран. Эта политика должна рассматриваться в общем контексте 
исторического развития этих мунифшалитетов, советы которых, избранные на законном 
основании, в большинстве случаев были распущены и заменены сотрудниками израильской 
гражданской администрации. Призыв правительства Израиля к назначению новых мэров 
из числа арабов был воспринят гражданским населением.с подозрением относительно 
истинных мотивов, лежащих за этим шагом, и, после того как был убит назначенный мэр 
Наблуса Зафер эль-Иасри, пока не привел к каким-либо значительным сдвигам. Этот 
вопрос затрагивается в пунктах 2-4 и 85-102 приложения III ниже (только на 
английском языке).

94. В докладе Специального комитета содержится также информация, предоставленная 
ему бывшими заключенными, которые утверждают, что обраш.ение с задержанньвш 
по-прежнему противоречит соответствующим положениям Женевской конвенции. Наиболее 
тревожным является то обстоятельство, что задержанные несовершеннолетние лица 
подвергаются унизительному обращению в лагерях заклочения. Другими проблемами 
являются перегруженность камер, грубое физическое обхождение и психологическое 
давление, а также отсутствие необходимого медицинского обслуживания; подобные 
тяжелые условия постоянно вызывают голодовки.

95. В течение рассматриваемого периода правительство Израиля проводило свою 
политику аннексии с такой же решимостью, как и в предыдущие годы, стремясь к 
созданию и раснирению израильских поселений на оккугофованных территориях. 
Осуществление проекта Больного Иерусалима, направленного на аннексию и иудаизацию 
территории, составляющей 8 процентов общей оккупированной площади Западного берега, 
выделение кнессетом значительных средств на расширение поселений, открытие новых 
поселений, незаконная экспроприа1р1я и захват арабских земель, что приводит к 
широкому распространению на Западном берегу, как отмечается в пункте 387 
приложения III ниже (только на английском языке), незаконных земельных сделок, - 
все это подтверждает то значение, которое израильские власти прцдают осуществлению 
этой политики, являющейся, как уже отмечалось, вопиющим нарушением четвертой 
Женевской конвенции.
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96. По мнению Специального комитета, общая картина, составленная на основе свидетельских показаний и информации, которые изучены им за период, охватываемый
настоящим докладом, говорит о дальнейаем ухудиении положения гражданского населения
в плане осуществления им своих основных прав человека и основных свобод. Положения
четвертой Женевской конвенции, которая является основньи инструментом гуманитарного
права, применяемого и к данньвс оккупированньв! территориям, по-прежнему не
соблюдаются. Постоянно проводимая политика аннексии, акты репрессий и
преследований ложатся асе более тяжельв! бро«енем на гражданское население. С
другой стороны, произвольное изгнание палестинцев расвщряет риды сотен тысяч тех,
кто по-прежнему находится вне оккупированных территорий и лишен права возвращения
на св<ж родину.

97. Специальный комитет еще раз подчеркивает ответственность международного 
сообщества за исправление этого положения; он призывает соответствующие стороны 
стремиться к предотвращению его дальнейшего ухудшения и принять меры по обеспечению 
эффективной защиты основных прав граяздаиского населения на оккупированных 
территориях.

VI. УТВВРХДВНИВ ДОКЛАДА

98. Настоящий доклад был утвержден и подписан Специальньн комитетом 10 сентября 
1986 года в соответствии с правилом 20 своих правил процедуры.
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Н. ВЦДЖВВАРДАНВ (1ри Ланка) (Председатель)

А. СЕН (Сенегал)

Д. ИОВАНИЧ (Югославия)
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Примечания

1/ ОФиииальные отчеты Генеральной Ассамблеи, пватдать пятая сессия, 
пункт 101 повестки дня, документы А/8089; А/8389 и Согг.1 и 2; A/8389/Add.l и
Add.l/COrr.l и 2; А/8828; А/9148 и Add.l; А/9817; А/10272; А/31/218;
А/32/284; А/33/356; А/34/631; А/35/425; А/36/579; А/37/485; А/38/409;
А/39/591 и А/40/702.

2/ ОДишиальные отчеты Генеральной Ассамблеи, двадиать пятая сессия. 
Приложения, пункт 101 повестки дня, документ А/8237; там же. двадцать яестая 
сессия. Приложения, пункт 40 повестки дня, документ А/8630; там же. двадцать 
седьмая сессия. Приложения, пункт 42 повестки дая, документ А/8950; там же.
явапиать восьмая сессия. Прил<икения. пункт 45 повестки дня, документ А/9374; там
же. двапцать певятая сессия. Приложения, пункт 40 повестки дня, документ А/9872; 
там же. тридцатая сессия. Приложения, пункт 52 повестки дня, документ А/10461; там 
же. тридцать первая сессия. Приложения, пункт 55 повестки дня, документ А/31/399; 
там же. тридцать вторая сессия, приложения, пункт 57 повестки дня, 
документ А/32/407; там же. тридцать третья сессия. Приложения, пункт 55 повестки 
дня, документ А/33/439; там же. тридцать четвертая сессия. Приложения, пункт 51 
повестки дня, документ А/34/691 и Add.l; там же. тридцать пятая сессия.
Приложения, пункт 57 повестки дня, документ А/35/674; там же. тридцать шестая 
сессия. Приложения, пункт 64 повестки дня, документ A/36/632/Add.l; там же. 
тридцать седьмая сессия. Приложения, пункт 61 повестки дня, документ А/37/698; там 
же. тридцать восьмая сессия. Приложения, пункт 69 повестки дня, документ А/38/718; 
там же. тридцать девятая сессия. Приложения, пункт 71 повестки дня, 
документ А/39/712; и там же. сороковая сессия. Приложения, пункт 75 повестки дня, 
документ А/40/890.

3/ Официальные отчеты Генеральной Ассамблеи, двадцать пятая сессия. 
Приложения, пункт 101 повестки дня, документ А/8089, приложение III.

4/ United Haticxis Treaty Series, vol. 75, Mo. 973, p. 287.

5/ Ibid.. Mo. 972, p. 135.

6/ Ibid.. vol. 249, Mo. 3511, p. 215.

7/ Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, The Hague Conventions and
Declarations of 1899 and 1907 (New York, Oxford University Press, 1915).

8/ Резолкщия 2200 A (XXI) Генеральной Ассамблеи.

/...



ПРИШЯСЕНИВ I

Статьи Женевской конвенфм о защите гразвдаиского населения 
во время войны от 12 августа 1949 года

1. Что-касается аннексии оккупированной территории, то в статье 47 говорится:

"Покровительствуемые лица, которые находятся на оккупированной 
территории, не будут ни в коем случае и никаким образом лишены преимуществ 
настоящей конвенции ни в силу какого-либо изменения, происшедшего в 
установлениях, действующих на данной территории. Или в управлении этой 
территорией вследствие ее оккупации, ни в силу согзюшения, закпоченного меящу 
властями оккупированной территории и оккупирующей Державы, ни в силу аннексии 
оккупирующей Державой всей или части оккупированной территории".

2. Что касается перемещения израильских поселенцев на оккугафованные территории, 
то в статье 49 говорится следующее:

"Воспрещаются по каким бы то ни было мотивам угон, а также депортчфование 
покровительствуемых лиц из оккупированной территории на территорию 
оккупирующей Державы или на территорию любого другого Государства независимо 
от того, оккупированы они или нет.

Однако оккупирующая Держава сможет произвести полную или частичную 
эвакуацию какого-либо определенного оккупированного района, если этого требует 
безопасность населения или особо веские соображения военного характера. При 
таких эвакуациях покровительствуемые лица могут быть перемещены только в глубь 
оккупированной территории, за исключением случаев, когда это практически 
невозможно. Эвакуированное в таком порядке население будет возвращено обратно 
в свои дома немедленно после того, как боевые операции в этом районе будут 
закончены.

Оккупирующая держава, приступая к этим перемещениям или эвакуациям, 
должна, в пределах возможности, обеспечить покровительствуемым лицам 
надлежащие помещения; эти перемещения должны производиться в 
удовлетворительных условиях с точки зрения безопасности, гигиены, здоровья и 
питания. Члены одной и той же семьи не будут разлучены.

Как только ЭТИ перемещения или эвакуация будут осуществлены, о них должно 
быть сообщено Державе-Покровительнице.

Оккупирующая Держава не сможет задерживать покровительствуемых лиц в районе, 
особенно подвергающемся опасностям войны, если этого не требует безопасность 
населения или особо веские соображения военного характера.

Оккупирующая Держава не сможет депортировать или перемещать часть своего 
собственного граящанского населения на оккушфованную ею территорию".

3. Что касается поведения израильских поселенцев на оккупированных территориях, в 
частности актов насилия против личности и имущества гражданского населения, то в 
статье 29 говорится следующее:
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"Находящаяся в конфликте сторона, во власти которой находятся покровительствуемые лица, ответственна за обращение своих представителей с
покровительствуемьвш лицами, причем это не снимает личной ответственности с 
этих представителей”.

4. Что касается таких мер коллективного наказания, как произвольное введение 
комендантского часа, снос домов и другие виды репрессалий, то в статьях 33 и 53 
говорится следующее:

Статья 33

"Ни одно покровительствуемое лицо не может быть наказано за 
правонаружение, совераеннре не им лично. Коллективные наказания так же, как и 
всякие меры запугивания или террора, запрещены.

Ограбление воспрещается.

Репрессалии в отношении покровительствуемых лиц и их имущества 
воспрещаются”.

Статья 53

"Всякое уничтожение оккупирующей державой движимого или недвижимого 
имущества, являющегося ицдивндуальной или коллективной собственностью частных 
лиц (или Государства, общин, либо общественных или кооперативных организаций), 
которое не является абсолютно необходаньк для военных операций, воспрещается”.

5. Что касается обращения с заключенньми, то в статьях 64 и 76 говорится 
следующее:

Статья 64

"Уголовное законодательство оккупированной территории остается в силе, за 
исключением случаев, когда оно может быть отменено или приостановлено 
оккупирующей Державой, если это законодательство представляет собой угрозу 
безопасности оккупирующей Державы или препятствует применению настоящей 
конвенции. С учетом упомянутого соображения и необходимости обеспечить 
эффективное отправление правосудия, судебнью органы оккупированной территории 
будут продолжать исполнять свои ф>ункции при всех правонарушениях, 
предусмотренных этим законодательством.

Оккупирующая Держава тем не менее может подчинить население 
оккупированной территории действию постановлений, существенно необходамых для 
выполнения ее обязательств согласно настоящей конвенции, поддержания 
нормального управления территории и обеспечения безопасности оккупирующей 
Державы, личного состава и имущества оккупационных войск или администрации, а 
также используемых &о объектов и коммуникационных линий”.
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Статья 76

"Обвиняемые покровительствуемые лица будут содержаться в заключении в 
оккупированной стране и, в случае осуждения, они должны там же отбывать свое 
наказание. Они будут, если это возможно, отделены от остальных заключенных, 
причем для них должен быть установлен санитарный и пищевой режим, достаточный 
для поддержания их здоровья в хоронен состоянии и, по меньней мере, 
соответствующий режиму тх>ремных учрезвдений оккупированной страны.

Они будут получать медицинскую помощь, необходимую по состоянию их 
здоровья.

Им будет равным образом разрешено пользоваться духовной поддержкой, 
которая могла бы им потребоваться.

Женщины будут заклочаться в отдельные помещения и находиться под 
непосредственньм наблюдением женщин.

Будет приниматься во внимание специальный режим, предусмотренный для 
несоверненнолетних.

Заклоченные покровительствуемые лица долкны иметь право на посещение их 
делегатами Державы-Покровительницы и Международного Комитета Красного Креста 
согласно статье 143.

Кроме того, они будут иметь право получать не менее одной посылки помощи 
в месяц".

6. Помимо этих статей Спедаальный комитет обращает внимание на статью 146 
четвертой Женевской конвенции, в которой предусматривается ввод в действие 
законодательства об уголовном наказании лиц, совершивних серьезные нарушения данной 
Конвенции. Акты серьезных нарушений перечислены в статье 147.

В статье 146 говорится:

"Высокие Договаривающиеся Стороны берут на себя обязательство ввести в 
действие законодательство, необходимое для обеспечения эффективных уголовных 
наказаний для лиц, совершивних или приказавних совершить те или иные серьезные 
нарунения настоящей конвенции, указанные в следующей статье.

Кащдая Высокая Договаривающаяся Сторона обязуется разыскивать лиц, 
обвиняемых в том, что они совершили или приказали совершить то или иное из 
упомянутых серьезных нарушений, и, каково бы ни было их гражданство, предавать 
их своему суду. Она сможет также, если она этого пожелает, передавать их в 
соответствии с положениями своего законодательства для суда другой 
заинтересованной Высокой Договаривающейся Стороне, в том случае, если эта 
Договаривающаяся Сторона имеет доказательства, дающие основание для обвинения 
этих лиц.

Каждая Высокая Договаривающаяся Сторона примет меры, необходимые для 
пресечения всех иных действий, противоречащих положениям настоящей конвенции, 
помимо серьезных нарушений, перечисленных в следующей статье.
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При всех обстоятельствах обвиняемые лица будут пользоваться гарантиями 
надлехацей судебной процедуры и правом на зациту, которые не должны быть менее 
благоприятными, чем те, которые предусмотрены в статье 105 и последующих 
статьях Женевской конвенции от 12 августа 1949 года об обращении с 
военнопленными''.

В статье 147 говорится:

”К серьезным наружениян, упонянутьн в предцдущей статье, относятся 
нарунения, связанные с тем или иньм из указанных ниже действий, в тех случаях, 
когда »ти действия направлены против лиц или имущества, на которые 
распространяется покровительство настоящей конвенции: преднамеренное
убийство, пытки и бесчеловечное обращение, включая биологические эксперименты, 
преднамеренное причинение тяжелых страданий или серьезного увечья, нанесение 
ущерба здоровью, незаконное депортирование, перемещение и арест 
покровительствуемого лица, принуждение покровительствуемого лица служить в 
вооруженных силах неприятельской Державы или лишение его права на 
беспристрастное и нормальное судопроизводство, предусмотренное настоящей 
конвенцией, взятие заложников, незаконное, произвольное и проводимое в большом 
масштабе разрушение и присвоение имущества, не вызываемые военной 
необходимостью".
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ПРИЛОЖЕНИЕ II

Список документов, представленных Организацией 
освобождения Палестины

Документы, представленные Отделом по вопросам оккупированных территорий

1. Израильская практика на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа в 1985 году

2. Израильская практика на Западном берегу и в секторе Газа в первом квартале
1986 года:

A. Приговоры, вынесенные палестинским гражданам

B. Оккупированная родина: административные задержания, комендантский час,
запрет на передвижения, домашние аресты, снос и опечатывание домов

C. Оккупированная родина: деятельность израильских поселенцев, политика,
затрагиваххцая образование, рабочих и профсоюзы

D. Оккупированная родина: конфискация земли
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A. Oral evidence

1. As has been the practice of the Special Coinniittee, hearings were conducted in 
the course of which the Special Committee received information from persons having 
first-hand experience of the situation in the occupied territories. The records of 
the testimonies received by the Special Committee are contained in documents 
A/AC.145/RT.441 and 445 to 453. The following paragraphs contain a selection of 
excerpts of these testimonies that the Special Committee considered illustrative of 
several aspects of the situation of human rights in the occupied territories.
Where these aspects correspond to excerpts reproduced in the part dealing with
written information an appropriate cross reference is made. They are subdivided
according to the subject-matter, as follows;

1. General situation;

2. Information concerning the administration of justice;

3. Treatment of civilians, including fundamental freedoms;

4. Treatment of detainees.

1. General situation 

(see paras. 85-102 below and sect. IV.C, paras. 37-39 above)

Policy of returning municipalities to local leaders

2. .Some witnesses referred to the question of municipal councils.
Dr. Azmi As Shweibi, who had been elected in 1976 to the municipal council of El
Bireh and held this position until 1982, when the council was disbanded by order of
the Israeli Minister of Defence, replied to a question on the profound aspirations
of the Arab population in the occupied territories regarding the municipalities 
issue as follows:

"Generally speaking, the Arab population in these areas, the taxpayers, 
prefer to be represented by the duly-elected mayors, councils and mayors.
Most of these municipal councils were democratically elected in 1976 by the
population itself. But in response to pressure from the settlers, and due to
the fact that the Israeli authorities were not sympathetic to the political 
aspirations of the population, the Arab population which had expressed itself 
clearly, its preference for municipal elections, for elected mayors, the 
Israeli authorities preferred to do away with these municipal councils. The
municipal councils were asked by Peres - who at that time was Minister of
Defence - to accept a kind of civil or civilian administration which would be 
under the authority of the occupation officials in place. When we refused, 
the Israeli authorities started to get rid of the municipal councils, and this 
was started in 1980, against Mohammed Milhero of Halhul and Kawasroe of Hebron. 
And in addition, I believe, they bombed the cars of Bassam Shaka'a and 
Karim Khalaf and Ibrahim Tawil, the mayors of Nablus, Ramallah and El Bireh.
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Following this, the municipal councils were disbanded immediately. The 
civilian population in El Bireh, which is what I am talking about, prefer that 
the members of the municipal council be directly elected by them. The Israeli 
authorities informed us - and I personally was informed - that there would be 
no elections for municipal councils in the West Bank because any elections 
would bring to power people who would not accept the occupation policies of 
the authorities. This is simply a confirmation of the desire of the people in 
the occupied territories to uphold their right of self-determination, their 
right to a State and their right to a free life. No agent of the Israeli 
occupation authorities dould possibly succeed in any of these elections. What 
happened in El Bireh was that, under pressure from the authorities, the 
civilian population accepted a choice - not elections but a choice - of people 
to represent them from two lists, one headed by A-Tarifi and the other by 
Walid Hamad - not Ibrahim A-Tawil. As far as the other municipalities are 
concerned, the people would not accept the Israeli-imposed nominees to 
represent them." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

3. On the same subject. Dr. Shweibi had stated earlier:

"The object of controlling these municipalities in the main Arab cities 
of the West Bank is to plan the infrastructure of these towns and cities in 
such a way as to limit considerably the land given to Arabs to construct or to 
live on, while considerably expanding the land provided for the Israelis.
This could not have happened in the presence of Arab-elected municipal 
councils. The Israelis completely reject the question of election to 
municipal councils for these cities, and what the Israeli authorities are 
trying to do now is substitute for the Israeli military officers, who are in 
charge of these municipalities, agents who would be, let us say, open to 
applying Israeli policy in these cities. In El Bireh, the military commander, 
Josef al Kukhbar, who is known as "Maurice", has been appointed administrator 
of this municipal council. What the Israeli officers are now doing is to 
mismanage and spend the budget of these municipal councils and spoil their 
organization and finance and the administrative framework to such an extent 
that, even if the Arabs were to be elected eventually to these municipal 
councils, they would have a difficult time in setting them up correctly 
again." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

4. Another witness. Dr. Mohamed A. Saker, the expelled President of the Islamic 
University of Gaza, referring to the fact that the autonomy issue had been raised 
with him several times by the Israeli authorities, said:

"... They tried to sell the idea of autonomy to me. What is meant by 
'autonomy' in the Israeli mind? Autonomy means leaving things as they are but 
to persuade Arabs to play the game for the Israelis. Land will not be the 
responsibility of the 'autonomy' authorities, nor water, nor police, etc. 
'Autonomy' is just an Arab face covering Israeli policy, no more, no less.
The Arabs would not be allowed to take any serious decision in the actual 
affairs of the State." (A/AC.145/RT.453)

/...
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2. Information concerning the administration of justice 

(see paras. 111-193 below and sect. IV.C, paras. 40-42 above)

5. Several witnesses described various aspects of the constraints hindering the
administration of justice in the occupied territories. One particularly 
preoccupying problem mentioned was the practice of arresting and detaining minors.

6. Mr. Ali Abu Hilal stated in the course of his testimony:

"On the imprisonment of children or adolescents, in 1984 - and I'm 
talking about the area that I know, Abu Dis - there was imprisonment of 
children who were in the preparatory stage, aged between 10 and 15. They were 
imprisoned in a military camp called A1 Fara'a, which is near my village of
Abu Dis, near Nablus. One of the boys is called Ziyad Jafal, another 
Khalil Maksen, and a third Taysir Jafal. All of them are in the preparatory 
stage of education." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

7. The absence of juvenile courts was mentioned, in her testimony, by a lawyer 
practising in the occupied territories:

"There is no juvenile court. The judge who passes sentence on a man of 
40 does the same thing for a boy of 12. I attended the sentencing of two 
children, one was 14 and one was 15 years old, from Dheisheh camp in 
Bethlehem. The charge was that they threw fire bombs at Meir Kahane when he 
tried to break into the camp. The Israeli authorities did not arrest 
Meir Kahane, they arrested the two boys. The two bombs did not cause any 
damage. The younger boy was sentenced to four years and the elder boy to four 
and a half years. They are serving their sentences how in A1 Fara'a prison." 
(A/AC.145/RT.449)

8. The same witness referred to the various difficulties that the Arab lawyers 
confronted in the exercise of their profession in the occupied territories;

"Because I am a lawyer I shall speak on the situation of Arab lawyers in 
those territories occupied in 1967. They are subjected to provocations and 
annoyances in their work by the occupying military authorities. For instance, 
they are prevented from meeting their clients, namely, Palestinian detainees 
in Israeli prisons. The lawyers are bodily searched outside the Israeli 
prisons and prior to entering courtrooms. They are obliged to raise their 
hands as they are being searched, and their briefcases are also searched and 
papers thrown about, and there are also attempts to read the papers and files 
they are carrying. Arab lawyers are forced to remain for hours in the courts 
of the prisons, frequently without being given permission to meet their 
clients, the Palestinian detainees, even when a date had been set by the 
general prison administration.
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"Another matter which is of concern to the lawyers is Military Order 1164 
issued by the military authorities to prevent them from exercising their basic 
right to set up a commitee of Arab lawyers. ... In the occupied Arab 
territories there are 200 practising lawyers, and they work without any legal 
framework. They have no professional association or syndicate. So the 
lawyers met and set up a committee and raised the matter before the High Court 
of Justice in Jerusalem in order to have a licence to set up their own 
organization. This case was several times postponed, and it was during this 
period of postponement that the Military Order 1164 was issued which provided 
that the administrative officers of that committee be appointed. In other 
words, instead of having elections, which is the legitimate right of lawyers 
in setting up their own organization, the civil administration officer would 
appoint that committee. The lawyers rejected that provision, insisting on 
their right to hold elections for their legitimate representatives.

"Lawyers in Israel have their professional association which defends 
them, like any lawyers' syndicate anywhere in the world, but we do not have 
such a legal framework for our profession. We have no right to present a 
defence before an Israeli court in Jerusalem, but Israelis can practise in the 
West bank and in any Israeli court. Some Arab lawyers have asked for the same 
treatment as the Israeli lawyers within Israel, but that request was refused." 
(A/AC.145/RT.449)

9. In reply to a question concerning the illegal enforcement by the occupying 
Power of the British Emergency Regulations of 1945, the witness stated:

"I know that the civilian population and the organizations representing 
them in the occupied territories have objected to them. Statements by lawyers 
before Israeli military courts have rejected these regulations and have asked 
for their deletion. Amongst the legal statements made by the lawyers before
the Israeli courts has been the request for these regulations to be deleted
because they are null and void." (A/AC.145/RT.449)

10. Mr. Wilhelm Joseph, a United States attorney, member of a delegation of
American lawyers who spent one week in Israel in November 1985 to investigate the
deportation order issued against four Palestinian leaders, referred to the 
discrimination in the administration of justice:

"We understand that when a Palestinian in the West Bank is charged with a 
violation - and this is also documented in the annual report on human rights 
which is presented by the United States Trade Department to the Senate and 
House Committees on Foreign Relations, that is, when a Palestinian is alleged 
to have committed an offence in the West Bank - the military authorities may 
choose whether that person is tried in a military court or a regular criminal 
court. Of course, if you are tried in a criminal court you are afforded all 
the usual protections of due process: evidence against you, the charges
against you and the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses. However, if they 
choose to prosecute you in military proceedings you are not afforded these

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 8

protections. On the other hand, any Israeli citizen who commits the same 
offence in those territories can only be tried in a criminal court and in fact 
has the choice of being tried in a criminal court nearest his or her home, or 
one near the scene of the alleged incident. For example, if such a citizen 
is a resident of Tel Aviv, he may elect to be tried in a criminal court in 
Tel Aviv even though the offence may have been committed in the West Bank." 
(A/AC.145/RT.441)

3. Treatment of civilians, including fundamental freedoms

(see paras. 199-344 below and sect. IV.C, paras. 43-76 above)

(a) General information

(i) Harassment of civilians

11. Several witnesses gave an account of the daily harassment suffered by the 
civilian population. Hereunder are a few relevant excerpts from their testimonies:

"In a nutshell, this is a picture of the very long ordeal, the suffering 
of my people, the suffering which we still undergo every day under 
occupation. This suffering takes diverse forms and I have lived through them 
during the seven months which I spent in freedom. There are daily exactions 
in the street by the armed forces, by the police force. For example, we live 
in a very conservative, very traditional way in the southern part of 
Palestine, and the Israeli soldiers provoke our women. When the Palestinian 
men try to defend their dignity they are constantly set upon by the Israeli 
forces. Palestinian citizens are constantly being harassed. They knew the 
names of the peole who had been freed; they knew my name, and they set little 
traps for us. They tried to kidnap us, they even set ambushes. I informed 
the police. Of course, I had to go to the police station to complain, so they 
got to know me. I did not have the right to drive a car and so I used a 
bicycle. The frontier guards in their car, they knew me personally, and they 
tried to knock me over. Once they threw a sort of fake Molotov cocktail, an 
empty beer bottle, at me to frighten me and to intimidate me."
(Hassan Mohammed Al-Ammoudi - A/AC.145/RT.448)

"Now I shall tell you what I have seen of the practices of the occupation 
authorities against the population in the occupied territories during the 
seven months I spent there. The 'iron fist' policy was announced by the
responsible Israeli authorities, in September 1985 the forces of the
occupation provoked the population in Gaza, in particular, in 
Palestine Square. Unfortunately I was there. The occupation forces forced 
some of the civilian population to climb upon tables like these ones here in 
the middle of the Square and made some of them dance. They told some of the 
young people to hit the old men. Some of the young people obeyed this order.
Those who did not were beaten and kicked until they fainted, and I saw them.
Another occurrence to which I was witness was when some soldiers in
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Unity Street on 11 November 1985 stopped cars, ordered the people out of the 
cars and started to beat them, for no reason, just like that."
(Jallal Hafez Aziza - A/AC.145/RT.448)

"I should now like to say a few words about some aspects of oppression 
that we see practised daily against us by the Israeli military authorities.
For instance, two weeks ago two young men were walking on the road between 
Jerusalem and Ramallah near Al 'Amari camp when an Israeli military patrol 
passed. One of the Israeli soldiers fired at the two young men. One was 
killed immediately and the other was wounded. The soldiers prevented a 
doctor, who lived nearby, from reaching the two young men in order to treat 
the wounded one. The man who died was Naser Ferukh." (A lawyer practising in 
the occupied territories - A/AC.145/RT.449)

"After I left prison I lived three and one half months in the occupied 
territories. I had already seen these things in prison, but also in camps, in 
villages and in towns I saw in practice the policies of the Zionist soldiers 
against the Palestinian people, the children, the women, old people, young 
people, the way in which they forcibly entered houses by night and by day 
without any pretext whatsoever, without any reason whatsoever; arbitrary 
arrest of a number of members of the same family, to such an extent that a 
mother, whose three children had been taken away, said to the police, 'Since 
you have taken my three children, why not put me in jail?'." (Mahmud Amdan 
Altarore - A/AC.145/RT.449/Add.1)

(ii) Collective punishment, including demolition of houses

12. In the course of its hearings, the Special Committee heard various accounts of 
the general atmosphere of repression illustrated by the practice of collective 
punishment against the civilian population in the occupied territories.

13. A former detainee, Mr. Mohammed Mahmud Hanini, described the problems that 
affected his family while he was detained:

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): They blew up the house.

"The CHAIRMAN; Whose house?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): My family's.

"Mr. SENE (Senegal) (interpretation from French): Could you tell us
where this was?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): In the village of Beit Dajan
in the Nablus area.

"Mr. SENE (Senegal) (interpretation from French): Have you made any
claim for indemnity?

/...
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"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): Would the same people who
blew up our house pay compensation for it?

"Mr. SENE (Senegal) (interpretation from French): And what happened to
the land where the house was?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): At the time they would not
allow us to rebuild the house, but later on we did." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

14. Mr. Hassan Abd Jawad referred to the situation in Dheisheh refugee camp:

"... Often there was collective punishment of the inhabitants of the 
camp. There were 13,000 people in that camp in an area of 1 sq. km. near 
Bethlehem. The authorities imposed about 24 curfews per year on us. Last 
year, about 19 entrances leading to the main road were closed and now all we 
have is one single entry, a back entrance which leads to a mountain road and 
which forces the inhabitants to cover three kilometres in order to reach 
Bethlehem. The gateways are closed with barbed wire, with cement and with 
barrels being placed across them. Of course, all these operations have 
complicated the lives of the inhabitants, and in particular have lengthened 
the time necessary for people wishing to go out of the camp, in order to go to 
Bethlehem, including sick people who wish to see a doctor in Bethlehem, 
especially as in this camp there are no basic or primary health care services 
available. There is a social centre at the camp, there was a youth centre, 
but what is most important is that this camp has always been the victim of 
repression. The houses are always invaded by the occupation authorities, they 
force their way in and the inhabitants are compelled to go to the UNRWA school 
at night as a refuge. Sometimes more than 3,000 people between 12 and 75 
years of age had to take refuge in the school. They were usually males, and 
this was done on rainy nights." (A/AC.145/RT.447)

15. Another witness, Mr. Zaki Abu Steita, referred to the practices of house 
demolitions and collective home arrest, stated:

"... The daily practices which I have personally witnessed in Gaza are 
arrests, confiscation of land, demolition of houses under the pretext of 
constructing new roads. They demolished several houses in order to construct 
a road 150 ro wide. Of course, those who lived in those houses were homeless 
afterwards. Also among Israeli practices! is collective punishment. They 
would force people to stay in their homes for 24 hours consecutively, allowing 
them to go out for one hour per day." (A/AC.145/RT.452)

(iii) Expulsion and deportation

16. The Special Committee heard several statements on the practice of deportation 
and expulsion of Palestinians from the occupied territories. In the course of the 
hearings on this subject, many witnesses stressed the illegal nature of the 
deportation procedure and referred to the fact that it was a military process and 
that the intended deportees were not given the opportunity to see the allegations 
presented against them.

/...
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17. Mr. Wilhelm Joseph stated in that connection:

"On the question of the process, we are told that the intended deportee 
first learns of his intended deportation when the knock comes. He or she then 
has 48 hours in which to find a lawyer and file objections with a military- 
advisory committee comprising three members, one of which has to have - I 
think he said - a legal connection or law connection. He didn't specify if 
this person had to be a lawyer, in fact, but we understand that one may be a 
lawyer and two would have to be lawyers. These are military men. You file 
objection to deportation because you still don't have any evidence against you 
or any charges. Then that advisory committee can either affirm the 
deportation orders or reverse them. If they are in fact affirmed, the 
defendant through his lawyer may appeal to the Israeli High Court, which 
examines whatever evidence is presented to them in camera. The attorneys have 
no idea what is being presented to the Court and the Court in its turn may 
affirm or revoke these orders." (A/AC.145/RT.441)

18. Another witness, Mr. Bahget Mustafa Geiussy, said:

"... On 28 August 1985 I was again arrested. I was handed a deportation 
order issued by the commander in chief, Amnon Shahak. I was asked to sign my 
deportation order, which I refused to do because I could not accept to be 
deported. Later on, my case was put to a military appeals committee. I 
appeared for 14 hours before that committee to no avail. At the end, through 
my lawyers. Lea Tsemel and Felicia Langer, I submitted a petition to the High 
Court in Jerusalem. I was present during five sittings of the court but the 
court endorsed the recommendation of the military committee." (A/AC.145/RT.445)

19. Dr. Azmi As Shweibi described the conditions prevailing ,at the military
committee hearings:

"On 27 October 1985, the commander of the region, Amnon Shahak, ordered 
the deportation of three persons, myself included, from the occupied 
territories. He based his decision on British emergency regulations which 
date back to 1945. We were given the right to present our point of view in 
front of a consultative military committee, which presents its opinion to the 
Minister of Defence and to the commander of the central region. Tlie members 
of the consultative military committee are appointed by the commander of the 
region himself; it is composed of military men, and at these committee 
hearings we were not given the right to see the allegations presented before 
the committee. Foreign lawyers were prevented from participating in the 
hearing or defending us before the committee. The hearings were carried out 
in very inhuman conditions, sometimes extending until past midnight, and even 
some of the members of the committee, the three military men, fell asleep 
during these long hearings. Although the committee recommended a review of my 
particular deportation, nevertheless the commander of the central region 
refused that recommendation, because the committee is merely consultative and 
it has no right to take decisions. We appealed to the Israeli High Court of 
Justice and asked the Court to provide us with a copy of the articles or the 
material which was used in the allegations against us. But the Court
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refused. The Minister of Defence sent letters to the Court and presented his 
case in front of the Court, and said that the situation in this region is 
particularly dangerous and therefore he urged the Court to speed up our 
deportation. The Court forbade various'lawyers from different parts of the 
world, internationally known, to come and defend us or even to meet us. The 
Court also refused the adjudication of international law in this sense, that 
people in occupied territories should not be deported from the territory held 
by the occupation regime. My medical condition was also not taken into 
consideration, although I was being treated by an Israeli doctor at Hadasseh, 
who presented his report about the dangerous situation of my health, but the 
Israeli High court of Justice refused and said that they were not mandated to 
consider my health situation. In view of these events, we withdrew our appeal 
from the Israeli Court on the basis that there would be no just sentence 
passed against us. We refused to go on with this case because we considered 
that the deportation law was a racist law, practised purely against the Arab 
population - it is not practised against the Jewish population - and as such, 
there was no question of the case being judged fairly before that Court, 
because the law which was applied was a racist one. We were held in prison 
for 100 days before they deported us." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

20. Other testimonies were given to the Special Committee by Mr. Ali Abu Hilal and 
Zaki Abu Steita who were also deported under similar conditions. In the same 
connection, Mr. Mahmud Dei'is, asked why he was deported, stated:

"... I and my lawyers asked this question of the military court, the 
fictitious court, which was set up by the commander in chief of the West 
Bank. The request as stated by the lawyers was: would the members of the
military court please sentence the accused on any charge and if, according to 
their laws, they should pass a sentence of one year against him, then we ask 
you to sentence him to 10 years. The answer of the military prosecutor was 
that they had a secret file which neither the accused nor his lawyer is 
allowed to study, and in that file there were sufficient justifications for 
deporting the accused. My lawyer and I repeated the same request - my lawyers 
were Ali Khuzman and Lea Tsemel - and we asked that a representative of the 
Red Cross or any legal or humanitarian international organization attend the 
sittings of the court as an observer: but this, too, was rejected. The
military court then immediately ratified the deportation order of the military 
commander and the sitting came to an end." (A/AC.145/RT.447)

21. Another witness, Mr. Adnan Mohammed Bliedi, replied to questions concerning 
his deportation:

"The CHAIRMAN: Can you also tell us about your deportation, how it came
about?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): Well, on 14 September 1985 I
was told to go to the Tulkarm centre. There I was informed of my deportation 
in the morning. On 15 September I was deported to the East Bank.

"The CHAIRMAN: Did you appeal against your deportation order?
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"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): We had no possibility of
appealing. I was informed on the 14th and deported on the 15th.

"The CHAIRMAN; You didn't make any appeal at all to the military 
committee?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): I did not meet the military
committee; it was the civilian administration that received me.

"The CHAIRMAN: Was the deportation order made by the military commander?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): Yes, it was the military
commander, but on behalf of an officer of the civilian administration.

"The CHAIRMAN; They did not give you 48 hours in which to appeal?

"The WITNESS (interpretation from Arabic): No, I was not given 48
hours." (A/AC.145/RT.447)

22. The difficult physical conditions of the actual expulsion were also described 
by a number of witnesses:

"A few days before we were deported, my colleagues and I were separated 
and put in single cells in the prison. We were handcuffed and leg shackled as
well as having bands covering our eyes so that we couldn't see anything.
During the deportation we were taken like that and put in the back of an army 
truck. We asked the officers in charge to be allowed to see our wives and 
children before being deported. The judges in the High Court had asked that 
we be allowed to see our families before deporation, but this permission was 
not granted. We also asked that a Red Cross representative should come to see 
us, to see the conditions in which we were being deported, to see if this was 
appropriate for the health of the prisoners, since our deportation should be 
carried out in humane circumstances and conditions. While we were in the army 
truck we were told that we would be deported to the South of Lebanon, but 
knowing from the topography of the road that we were going down, rather than 
up, we knew that we were going to the South of Jordan rather than the South of 
Lebanon. The deportation began at 8 a.m. on 31 January in the morning, and we
reached Wadi Araba, which is in the desert area of Jordan, near Aqaba, at the
end of the day. The bandages were removed from our eyes and a military doctor 
carried out a sort of routine examination, listening to heartbeats. We were 
asked to follow a road between barbed wire on both sides. We were told to 
proceed forward in a straight line, because the whole area was mined. We were 
picked up at the end of that road by the Jordanian army, and they brought us
to Amman." (Dr. Azmi As Shweibi - A/AC.145/RT.446)

"... We were moved to Hebron in the south of the West Bank, and the next
morning we were sent to Wadi Araba in Jordan: we were deported, in fact.
During that period we were refused permission to meet with a representative of 
the Red Cross or to meet with any member of our families. The process of 
deportation itself was very tiring: it lasted from the middle of Friday,
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30 January 1986 to the evening of 31 January 1986, over 24 hours, in fact.
This is briefly a summary of the Israeli practices against roe personally."
(Mr. Ali Abu Hilal - A/AC.145/RT.446)

23. The political motives lying behind the policy of deportation, which has 
recently been reactivated on a large scale were analysed by some witnesses.
Mr. Joseph stated in that connection:

"The Israeli authorities also sought to justify this extreme and cruel 
form of punishment on the-grounds that acts of violence were on the increase 
in the occupied territories. But they have not charged any of these men with 
being either directly or indirectly linked to any acts of violence. All of 
these men are the principal breadwinners in their families. One is in fact 
responsible for the upkeep not only of his wife and two children but also his
aged father and mother and his cousin and her children. We believe that his
and the other expulsions constitute another component of the Israeli 
Government's policy of 'collective punishment', other manifestations of which 
we witnessed in the West Bank in Gaza and which we will be prepared to share
with you during the question and answer period.

"... I want to say, and firmly say, that there is unequivocally 
widespread and official discrimination practised by the Israeli authorities 
against Palestinians in the West Bank and Gaza. I believe that none of these 
forms of discrimination is necessary or justified. You should note that this 
view is also shared by a significant segment of the Israeli community, 
including members of the Knesset with whom we spoke, and other proninent 
individuals." (A/AC.145/RT.441)

Mr. Mike Smith, a New York City attorney vrtio participated in the <xie-week 
fact-finding trip of the delegation of American lawyers to Israel, also stated:

"Well, what did they do wrong? That was the question that we asked all 
the Israeli officials that we had the opportunity to meet and we finally were 
able to meet Renato Janack who was the man responsible for prosecuting these 
deportations and he told us, very succinctly and forthrightly and frankly, 
what these men did wrong. He said that they were advocating pre-state 
formations. ... All these people are popular political and cultural leaders 
and I suppose that if and v4»en a Palestinain state were organized they would 
be figures in the Government, and seeing that they are popular leaders now, 
the charge in a very perverse way does make sense, that they are part of a 
pre-state formation. Put a different way, these are simply leaders of the 
Palestinian people and that was what we concluded was their crime. We were 
told at first that they were arrested in response to a number of random 
killings of civilians that occurred late in the summer. But vAien we pressed 
the various officials - and this goes from the Minister of Justice on the 
West Bank down to the three colonels we met with who are attached to the army 
- they said, 'Well, we can't exactly prove that they did this, we can only say 
that these acts of violence occurred and they profited by it.' So we asked 
them, 'Well, how is it that they profited by these acts of violence since they 
are now getting deported?' They had no answer for us on that, so we concluded
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that charging them generally with acts of violence was just a red herring, it
was a smokescreen, that it wasn't in fact true, and that if they had one shred
of evidence that these men were in any,way connected with any act of violence 
they should have criminally tried them." (A/AC.145/RT.441)

24. Mr. Griussy said in the course of his testimony:

"... my deportation had a political purpose, and I was not deported for 
any crime against law and order. The measures taken by the Israeli 
authorities against me were part and parcel of the general policy aiming at 
emptying the land and evacuating its inhabitants. The basic problem is not 
the measures applied but it lies in the occupation of our land."
(A/AC.145/RT.445)

25. Another witness, Mr. Jallal Hafez Aziz, stated:

"The main reason for the deportations is that the Israeli occupation 
authorities feel that any militant, any person who is attached to his 
nationhood, is a danger to it. They are aware, for instance, of the
activities that I carried out before my first imprisonment. Had they not been
forced to release me, they would never have done so. The policy of
deportation of the Israeli authorities is intended to get rid of those people
who are strongly nationalistic, who adhere to their nationhood. As the 
intelligence officer told us, 'If you are outside the occupied territories 
then we are in safety, then we have no problems.' And during this fictitious 
trial prior to our deportation, they told us, 'We don't want to imprison you 
because you carry out your activities in prison, and we don't want you outside 
of the prison walls because you constitute a danger. Therefore we shall just 
get rid of you completely and thus get rid of your danger and people like 
you.' That is the real reason." (A/AC.145/RT.448)

(iv) Economic aspects

26. Some witnesses described the interference of the occupying authorities in 
various aspects of the economic life. Replying to a question on eventual signs of 
improvement of living conditions of the Arabs in the occupied territories, Mr. Ali 
Abu Hilal stated:

"With regard to what Shimon Peres said about improving the living 
conditions of the Arabs in the occupied territories, there is nothing new in 
this. A year ago he said exactly the same thing. He said they would open the 
door to United States and European financial assistance to the Arab population 
in order to ameliorate the conditions of the Arabs in the West Bank. So far 
nothing has materialized.

"As a matter of fact, things are getting worse because Israel has started 
to apply firmly 1945 laws regarding city arrest and deportations - this is the 
law which is applied on deportations - while simultaneously there is the 
economic and financial crisis in Israel, and the people who suffer most from 
this crisis are the Arabs. In addition, last year newspapers were closed in
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the West Bank and action was taken against freedom of expression, university 
faculties were closed.

"So how can we believe what Peres has said now as an intention of
positive action? There has also been the expropriation of Palestinian land.
There were great expectations indeed that Shimon Peres would try to alleviate 
the conditions of the Arab population, especially since his policy is more 
flexible than that of the Likud; as a matter of fact the policy which is 
implemented by Shimon Peres is more rigid than was expected, and this is 
something that the ordinary man in the street can feel. It is exemplified in 
the 'iron fist' policy, in the expropriation of land and in the severe 
economic conditions suffered by the ordinary people." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

27. Another witness. Dr. Azmi As Shweibi, referred to the role of the Israeli 
authorities in hampering development projects in the occupied territories:

"The Israeli authorities have not only blocked the development plans of 
the UNDP but they have also put a stop to assistance projects being carried
out by American churches in some villages and towns in these areas, projects
aimed mainly at laying down a road network, providing drinking water, services 
of that kind to the population. The Israeli authorities have now asked that 
any assistance provided by these American churches or any other benevolent 
societies be given to the Israeli authorities for dispensation as they 
choose. Even the Arab assistance, provided by Arab countries, Jordan, for 
instance, the Israelis have declared that it should be put in a special fund 
which is administered and dispensed by the Israeli military authorities 
according to their own wishes."

28. Mr. Walid Nazzal, a former agricultural worker, referred in the course of his 
testimony to the difference of status between Arab and Israeli workers. This 
discriminatory aspect was also outlined by another witness, Mr. Ali Abu Hilal, who 
stated:

"... There are certain economic measures, provocative measures, taken 
against the workers at their places of work. For example, there is the great 
difference between the salaries given to Arab workers and Israeli workers in 
the same work place. The average Arab salary ranges between 30 and 
40 per cent of the salary given to an Israeli worker. At the same time, with 
regard to tax, the cut-off point in the salary of an Arab worker is exactly 
the same as that of an Israeli worker. The Arab worker never has health 
insurance or family insurance or other benefits enjoyed by the Israeli 
worker. The Arab worker is also given what is called 'black' work or 'cruel' 
work, in other words, work which the Israeli worker refuses to carry out. One 
of the factors in Israel is the increasing unemployment, and the Arab workers 
have the lion's share so far as unemployment is concerned." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

29. Dr. Saker, former President of the Islamic University of Gaza, described 
measures affecting agriculture and industry in Gaza and the West Bank:
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"Agriculture, for instance, in Gaza is being destroyed. We have citrus 
fruit production; citrus fruit is a vital item in our economy. We are not 
allowed to sell these on the Israeli market or on foreign markets. If they 
give permission, it is only to export a few, and permission will come late, so 
our agriculture is being destroyed. Our industry is also under stress. 
Taxation is so high, very high taxation on production, and income tax, etc.
We are being made dependent on the Israeli economy. We supply the cheap 
labour force. Perhaps 80,000 workers from Gaza go daily to Israel. Their 
salary is almost one fourth of that of an Israeli worker. We are not 
permitted to import from 'foreign countries. It is very difficult to import, 
say, from Britain, from Switzerland, etc. We have to import from the Israeli 
market. Our imports last year almost reached $800 million from Israel. We 
import 90 per cent of our requirements from Israel, so we are very important 
for them as a market for their products. In the same way, we cannot export 
our items to them. Gaza tomatoes are not allowed to go to the Israeli 
market. In spite of all that, we are better producers and cheaper producers 
in certain lines. Our economy is a ghetto economy, a closed economy, in order 
to absorb their own products and supply them with certain materials.

"Israel is short of water: now Israel is getting between 500 to
800 million cubic metres per year from our own water reservoir, our reserve, 
from Gaza and the West Bank. It is being drained from our reserves and piped 
to Israeli settlements and Israeli industries. In practice, they are getting 
hold of all our basic resources." (A/AC.145/RT.453)

(b) Information on measures affecting certain fundamental freedoms

(i) Freedom of movement

30. The Special Committee heard several statements on the limitations affecting 
the right to freedom of movement. Mr. Joseph mentioned the particularly 
objectionable use of pass books:

"... A Palestinian must have a pass book on him at all tiroes. That pass 
book restricts their freedom of movement. For example, they are not allowed 
to be in Israel, even though they may work there during the day, after 
midnight. Workers in the West Bank can be caught in Jerusalem after 
midnight. We were having dinner one evening with a lawyer in this case in 
Jerusalem and he said, *I have to run. It's close to midnight. If I'm caught 
I could face any degree of punishment'.".(A/AC.145/RT.441)

31. Another witness, journalist Hassan Abd Jawad, stated;

"... To go from Jordan to the West Bank you need*a special permit from 
the military governor which costs JD 33. That is the cost of the permit; 
there is also the return fare per person. So Palestinian families in the West 
Bank in roost cases cannot come here more than once a year, or perhaps once 
every two years because this is a very expensive trip. Moreover, there are 
searches morning, noon and night in the north and south of the West Bank and 
including Gaza. All these searches limit the freedom of people to move about 
and prevent them from going to work and carrying out their daily activities."
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32. Former detainees who had been released in May 1985 as the result of an 
exchange of prisoners referred to the restrictions that were imposed on their 
movements ;

"In May 1985 I was released with a large number of my friends in an 
exchange of prisoners between the PLO and the Israeli authorities, under the 
umbrella of the Red Cross. I was released in the occupied territories, and 
the Israeli authorities placed me under town arrest in Ramallah. I had to 
report to the police station twice a day, once in the morning and once in the 
afternoon. I was under house arrest from 6 p.m. to 7 a.m. I was not allowed 
to leave the city of Ramallah. The Israeli authorities informed me that my 
presence in the occupied territories was temporary, and that following that 
they would deport me." (Adnan Ghanem - A/AC.145/RT.445)

"... I went to the headquarters of the military commander of the region 
and he told me that I had a permit for 20 days but under town arrest. I have 
a copy of the order in Hebrew. Under this order, I was not allowed to drive a 
car, I was not to meet members of the press, I could not leave Hebron, I had 
to prove my presence twice a day, at eight o'clock in the morning and at
two o'clock in the afternoon at the police station. Therefore this town
arrest is a sort of burden on somebody who has just been released from prison 
and who wants to live a normal life. But this is what they insisted upon.
The conditions of this town arrest were very difficult: I was not allowed to 
leave Hebron, but I had family in other places, places I wanted to visit, but 
I was not allowed to. All this was forbidden." (Bader Darwish Kawasme - 
A/AC.145/RT.450)

33. Another witness, Dr. Azmi As Shweibi stated:

"... I was placed under house arrest or city arrest from 1980 until I
was deported. I was told to report to the police station every day and sign a
register to say that I had passed by. I was of course prevented from 
travelling outside the country, and I was placed under what is called 
administrative detention seven times; I would be released for a couple of 
months and then I would be called again and put in prison for another few 
months, and then released, and so on. There was no charge as regards security 
made against me.

"The city arrest was renewed every six months without any particular 
action being taken. It was just renewed every six months. At one time I was 
sick, in Hadasseh hospital where I stayed for six months, and during that 
period the time of renewal came and it was renewed automatically again, 
routinely. In 1983 I was ill and asked to be sent to hospital in Jerusalem, 
which is only 15 km away from El Bireh, my home town, but I was not given 
permission to go to the hospital in Jerusalem because I was under city arrest 
in El Bireh." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 19

34. In the same context, Mr. Ali Abu Hilal mentioned restrictions imposed on 
relatives of deported Palestinians:

"As a result of our deportations, there is a sort of snowballing, 
automatic deportation of our families‘as well. As far as my family is 
concerned, up to now my wife has been refused permission by the 
Israeli authorities to come and visit me here in Jordan. They have said to 
her, 'If you leave the West Bank you will never be permitted to return 
again'." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

(ii) Freedom of expression

35. A number of witnesses appearing before the Special Committee mentioned the 
various restrictions curtailing the right to freedom of expression. The problems 
confronting the Arab press, faced with severe Israeli censorship and restrictions, 
were evoked by the journalist Hassan Abd Jawad in the course of his testimony:

"Concerning journalism in the occupied territories, and speaking now in 
my capacity as journalist, I should like to say that Israeli censorship every 
day tries to prevent Arab newspapers from printing news. The censorship 
imposed upon us is quite severe. Even obituaries and congratulations must be 
submitted to the military censor every day beforehand. Likewise, newspapers 
do not have the right freely to publish notices of the civil administration of 
the occupied territories. Newspapers are very often prevented from appearing 
by the occupation authorities. The newspapers A-Shir'a and Al Garb had their 
licences revoked, and Asha'b and Al-Fajr and other newspapers a number of 
times were prevented from bringing out an edition. A number of press offices 
arid press agencies have been shut down, like my own agency, which was raided a 
number of times by the occupation authorities. Many papers and magazines have 
been expropriated, and journalists placed under house arrest in camps, 
villages or towns. ... Very often the occupying authorities confiscate the 
newspapers and prevent them from appearing and reaching their readers. 
Naturally, costs become higher, papers become more expensive, and you can 
easily imagine the damage vdiich the owners suffer and all who work in the 
press and the various papers.

"An Arab from the West Bank cannot work in a foreign press agency.

"There is no newspaper in the West Bank nor in the Gaza Strip, apart from 
Al Bashir which was closed in 1980. That newspaper was published, one issue 
came out, when Karim Khalaf returned after being treated abroad."
(A/AC.145/RT.447)

36. Another witness, Mr. Ali Abu Hilal, referred to the particularly negative 
attitude of the Israeli settler movement toward the Arab press:
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"... They have threatened some Arab newspapers which printed some facts 
about people who were in prison, or something like that. They have threatened 
scmie people, they went into the streets and demonstrated against the Arabs. 
They have asked the Israeli Government to increase its firm stand against the 
Arab population." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

37. The attorney Mr. Mike Smith referred to the problem of censorship of books and 
also cited other restrictions limiting the right to freedom of expression relating 
in particular to all kind of nationalist Palestinian aspirations:

"... We learned that there is a list of censored books in the West Bank.
It used to be a list of 3,000 censored books; it has now shrunk to 300. It is
illegal to have any of these books. We do have that list. Sir. If you would 
like it we can make it available to you. We heard an amusing anecdote from 
Israel Shahah regarding the censorship of things. As you know, it is illegal
in Israel to display any manifestation of sympathy or support for
Palestininans, including using the colours of the Palestinian national flag, 
red, white, black and green. If those colours are displayed by anybody 
together, that's a crime. Mr. Shahak told us the story of a Palestinian who, 
along with his friends, was able to build a new house and to celebrate the 
construction of the house, they ordered a cake and they frosted the cake with 
the four colours. Well, the soldiers heard of this and they came over. They 
arrested the man and they confiscated the criminal cake and the man - and I 
have documentation of this which I will share with you - the man did 
six months in prison for baking that cake." (A/AC.145/RT.441)

(iii) Freedom of association

38. Some witnesses drew the attention of the Special Committee to obstacles 
limiting trade union rights. Mr. Walid Nazzal stated:

"Groups of 40 members could apply to the officer in charge in order to 
set up a trade union. Within 40 days of the submission of this request the 
officer in charge was bound to give an answer, whether he allowed the setting 
up of this trade union or not. But when we came to set up this trade union of 
which I was President, after 40 days from the time we submitted an 
application, we had not received an answer, so this trade union has been 
functioning ever since without being legally or officially recognized by the 
authorities. It could be closed at any time and all its property confiscated, 
and the responsible officers of that trade union could be arrested at any 
time. Its President was arrested and deported. I Should have preferred to be 
imprisoned rather than deported. There are at least 1,000 members of that 
trade union. There were other trade unions in the region which had obtained a 
licence before the Israeli occupation. They were closed by the Israeli 
authorities and up to now they have not been recognized and they have not been 
able to resume their activities. We have tried constantly to set up trade 
unions in each village, representing the workers in the village, but the 
intelligence service constantly interferes and places obstacles in the way, 
although there is no justification for this repression. Workers wanted to set 
up trade unions to defend their interests, and nothing more." (A/AC.145/RT.446)
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39. Another witness. Hr. Ali Abu Hilal, stated:

"I shall now refer to the actions of the Israeli occupation authorities 
against the trade union movement and against the trade unions themselves. 
Amongst these practices are the fact that since 1979 the Israeli authorities 
have refused to issue licences for the setting up of new trade unions. New 
trade unions are threatened with closure. They are warned that their 
headquarters will be blown up, their premises will be searched, documents 
pertaining to the trade union would be seized. The leaders of the tjcade 
unions themselves are threatened with apprehension and imprisonment over a 
period of time, in order completely to restrict their activities. I have a 
great deal of proof of these things.

"In July 1985 there was a Military Order to prohibit workers from meeting 
in Jerusalem, and some 60 trade unions were supposed to participate in this 
meeting. On the day of the conference they surrounded the hall where the 
meeting was supposed to take place. Some of the workers were told not to 
enter the hall, and some of them were imprisoned. One of the people who was 
imprisoned was a trade unionist from Jerusalem called Ismail Tabanja, and 
there were others. Many of the international federations of trade unions 
denounced and condemned this action of Israel, and amongst them the American 
Peace Council which sent a message to the Israeli Government asking it to 
release those trade unionists who had been imprisoned and to permit the 
convening of the conference.

"As a result of all this pressure, the Israeli Government actually 
released the trade unionists three days after this event and we were able to 
hold our conference." (A/AC.145/RT.446)

(iv) Freedom of education

40. Several witnesses provided the Special Committee with information on problems 
and restrictions affecting the right to freedom of education. Mr. Jihad Karashouli 
and Mr. Mohammed Heneidi, respectively Director General and Deputy Director General 
for the Occupied Territories in respect of Education, Palestine Liberation 
Organization, provided the Special Committee with a detailed account of the 
difficulties that educational institutions, teachers and students were facing in 
the occupied territories. They also submitted to the Special Committee a number of 
documents and statistics on the situation of education in the occupied territories, 
the contents which are reflected in section IV, С below. In the course of their 
testimony, Mr. Karashouli and Mr. Heneidi explained the background of the 
establishment of educational institutions in the occupied territories:

"What the Palestinians have done in the occupied territories is to set up 
universities: Bir Zeit, Al-Najah, Jerusalem University, Hebron University,
the Islamic University in Gaza and a polytechnic institute in Hebron. This is 
to provide opportunities for secondary school leavers to join the universities 
and to continue their higher education process." (Mr. Jihad Karashouli - 
A/AC.145/RT.452)
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"How did these universities come into being and how are they playing 
their present role? Inside, in the occupied areas, as well as outside in the 
Arab world as a whole, education is regarded as a part of religion.

"Any money put into education from Zakkar - which is the God-assigned tax 
on the rich, which is considered in religion as a share of the poor in what 
the rich own - comes from the petroleum-producing countries and other 
countries, and actually contributed to the wellbeing of those universities, 
and it ran into millions. How it happened to reach inside, this is something 
which is related to the -means and methods to overcome the confiscations of the 
Israelis. The people inside and outside have been co-operating in order to
get that money into the area and make it fruitful in terms of education. As a
result of that money, those institutions came into being. That takes care of
the premises." (Mr. Mohamed Heneidi - A/AC.145/RT.452)

41. They further referred to efforts made by the occupying authorities to modify
curricula in accordance with their own interest;

"... There is a very wicked approach by the Israelis, weakening the 
infrastructure of preparatory, secondary and university education, which is a 
prime objective of the Israeli authorities." (Mr. Mohamed Heneidi - 
A/AC.145/RT.452)

"... The occupation authorities have changed the curriculum, they have 
deleted some things and particularly such subjects as history, geography and 
science, but mainly agricultural studies, because the occupation authorities 
consider these as a dire threat and menace to them, educating students in 
agricultural matters. What they have done is to void the agricultural 
curriculum of its basic content. They have taken away a number of important 
topics, and agricultural education in the schools is now extremely 
lightweight. They would rather not allow faculties of agriculture to be set 
up in the universities: they make difficulties over the laboratories and the
equipment which is needed for those faculties, because once a student is 
involved in this kind of education and in the kind of job that he will do, he 
will become a person who cultivates the land and thus will become more 
attached to it, and this is something that they don't want, so they cause 
problems with the laboratories and with the equipment, to the extent that 
students are no longer eager to enter the faculties of agriculture in the 
universities. Al-Najah wanted to set up ,a faculty of agriculture but 
permission was refused by the occupation authorities, so it had to be done in 
a roundabout way." (Mr. Jihad Karashouli - A/AC.145/RT.452)

42. The problem of the interference in curricula was also mentioned by another 
witness, Mr. Mahmud De'is, a school teacher:

"... If we deal with the school curriculum, we find, for instance, that 
the basic topic relating to the Palestinian question has been removed; the 
history of Palestine and its relationship with the other Arab States 
throughout history, and all other elements relevant to the characteristics of 
the Palestine State have been removed. Within the context of teaching
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geography, Palestine has always been considered part of the Arab nation; 
whereas at the present time it is being claimed to be part of the State of 
Israel and cut off from what is called the Arab nation." (A/AC.145/RT.447)

43. Mr. Heneidi gave a detailed account of daily problems such as the lack of 
adequate equipment or the difficult situation of teachers and students:

"... Many schools, simply through wear and tear, are dangerous, but the 
pupils have nowhere else to go. If the people of the village want to build a 
new school they have to get a licence. And who gives that licence? Of 
course, the Israeli authorities. And that licence for educational purposes 
is delayed, and delayed, and delayed until the people are cheesed off and 
forget about it, and it is never issued. In a few cases, tvx> or three, the 
licence has been issued, but the Israeli authorities never paid a single 
cent. The schools were built, but just for the purposes of the mass media, to 
take jAiotographs and videotapes, to indicate the interest of the Israelis in 
the education of the Arabs.

"With regard to laboratories and attracting students to science courses, 
to the love of science and experimentation, which are commonplace in any 
school in any country, in the occupied territories the laboratories receive a 
decreasing amount of finance for breakages and damage rather than any kind of 
increase. In many of the schools the laboratories are closed, and the 
facilities are no longer available to teachers to help in giving their courses.

"Apart from the school building, there is the teacher himself. They get 
in touch with him. Either he roust be co-operative with the occupation 
authorities and be an ’eye' for them on any security matter, or he is 
transferred away from his home to another school. In this case, since the 
salary he is drawing is minimal, that will cost him extra for food and 
shelter, and that will make his economic situation more miserable. It will 
cause him anxiety, and that will devastate and kill the education process, 
whether in the learning or the teaching stage. Or he may be deported: if he
is active, he is against the security laws - away with him. Or he may be 
expelled from the school. If so, he joins the thousands of unemployed and, 
although a teacher and a qualified, educated young roan, in a very limited 
occupied area under Israeli authority he will have to do any menial work to 
earn something to gain his daily bread. Or he may be put in jail. If he is 
one of those put in jail, then God knows when and in what state he will come 
out. Many of them come out physically handicapped, maybe a hand or a leg.

"The military authorities are in command in the West Bank and in the 
Gaza Strip, and it is they who issue the orders and rules to be followed by 
the population. Every professor in the university was requested - if he
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wanted to stay - to sign a statement that he considered the PLO a terrorist 
organization and promised not to co-operate with it. That was an order. Of 
course, this resulted in 24 professors leaving their courses because they 
refused to sign this statement. Many sucrh orders exist.

"And for the student it is no better. They are children: usually they
leave high school at about 17, they have had about six years there. First of 
all they are confronted with the checkpoints that are set up everywhere to 
check demonstrations and anything that might release the pressure for the 
student. They feel it, they live it, they want to express it, but that
expression is taboo. They cannot do it. It is inculcated in every school
everywhere else in the world, that self-expression, but there it is not, it is 
taboo. If they demonstrate, the authorities are around, checkpoints are 
established, and every passer-by - whether teacher or student or child - is 
subjected to a severe search which is intended to humiliate the person 
concerned. A boy of 10 or 12 may be expelled from his school and only
accepted in a school far away. That is more difficult for him and he may not
go, or his parents' financial situation may not permit him to do so.

"... There are limitations of movement: many students are restricted to
their village or to their home, and may not leave it on certain occasions. We 
collect this information from people who come from there." (A/AC.145/RT.452)

44. Other witnesses also referred to the problems faced by teachers and students 
in the occupied territories. Dr. Mohamad Mahmud Asrur, former professor at the 
Islamic University of Gaza, stated:

”... On 1 December 1980, the Islamic University of Gaza advertized for a 
professor of geology. I applied, and received a permit to teach there, 
renewable each year. I therefore resigned from Kuwait University and my 
residence permit there was withdrawn. I went to Gaza hoping that I would be 
able to rejoin my family, since my mother was there, one of my brothers and 
other relatives, under the provision for 'family reunion', and since I am from 
Gaza. I remained in Gaza until 1 August 1985 and my permit was renewed each 
year without difficulty, although I could not have a driver's licence and I 
was not entitled to sickness insurance or other benefits normally provided.
At the end of five years, my permit was revoked.

”... I am an academic and I continued my work in the Faculty of Science. 
Therefore there was no reason whatsoever to deprive roe of my permit after 
five years.
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"The reason given for revoking ny permit was a dispute which had arisen
between the university authorities and the Israeli authorities, a dispute over
finance. The Islamic University is supported financially by the joint 
committee in Amman, but the Israelis wanted those funds to be put into an 
Israeli bank so that they could benefit from the interest. Sometimes our 
salaries were withheld for three or four months, sometimes as long as seven
months; teachers were left without pay." (A/AC.145/RT.453)

45. Mr. Mahmud De'is, a teacher, stated:

"... There is the imprisonment of students. If a student is 
imprisoned he is prevented from returning to any school in which he was 
previously enrolled. So he is deprived of getting an education. 
Appointment and assignment of teachers is completely controlled by the 
officer in charge of education and training. He has the final word on 
the appointment or dismissal of a teacher and this directly affects the 
education procedure: the students will pass three or four months with
one teacher, then he is kicked out of school or removed to another place, 
and a new teacher is brought in." (A/AC.145/RT.447)

46. A student from Al-Najah University, Mr. Geiussy, mentioned the problems 
created by the promulgation of Military Order No. 854:

"As a matter of policy the Israeli authorities interfere with the 
activities in universities and schools, whether the students are activists or 
not. It was part of the policy of the Israeli authorities. For instance, an 
Israeli office^ is in charge of the education programme, and this applies to 
primary and secondary schools as well as to universities and other high 
schools. There is a very well known law issued by the Israeli authorities. 
Military Order 854, which allows the authorities to interfere in the internal 
life of universities and other educational institutions, either through 
changing the curriculum or through dismissing professors. This even applies 
to students. While I was in prison, I was prevented from continuing my 
university studies. There is plenty of evidence to illustrate this. The 
university was closed more than once, and many obstacles were put in the way 
of students entering the university. Students were told to present their 
university cards in order to be admitted. This shows how much the Israeli 
authorities want to interfere in the life of students. There is also the 
demographic aspect: in Al Najah university, for instance, they need new
buildings, but the authorities forbid any new construction so that the 
university cannot expand." (A/AC.145/RT.445)

47. Another Al Najah University student, Mr. Amin Ramwi Makbul, described the 
treatment of Palestinian students by the Israeli authorities:

"... Each student was asked to show his or her university card as well 
as his Israeli identity card. Of course, this took a great deal of time 
because there were some 4,000 students and teachers, and this delayed 
classes. We refused to do this, and we would gather before the barriers set 
up by the Israeli forces and we would try to get into the university despite
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these barriers. Shots were fired at the students, and tear gas was thrown to 
disperse the students who were then forced to go back home. Among the events 
that I personally witnessed were attempts by the forces to enter the 
university, and this happened on several occasions." (A/AC.145/RT.448)

48. Another witness, Mr. Mahmud Pennoun, referring to the period when he was a 
student at Bethlehem University, gave a detailed and elaborated description of life
at that University. Hereunder are excerpts from his testimony;

"The students' movement at Bethlehem University fully understands the
laws of the occupying authorities. The movement is aware of what human rights 
are about. It is aware of the need for legal expression of our views, and we 
do not overstep the bounds; we don't provoke the occupying authorities except 
in very rare cases when they started by provoking us. As for the rest of our 
activities, they are totally normal cultural, academic, humanitarian 
activities and one can on no account say that we provoked the authorities. We 
are of the view that the occupying authorities are holding the sword of 
Damocles over our heads, and at any time they can close the university and 
prevent us from going to classes. They sometimes declare the university to be 
'a military area', access to which is restricted to just a few people. When
they want to prevent a student from continuing his studies at the university,
they take a decision to this effect, saying that the university is a 'military 
region' and that the student in question may not enter the university. When 
they want to prevent students from studying without closing down the 
university, a military officer decides that the area of the university is a 
military area and is therefore closed. When the university administration 
tries to find out vrtiether or not the university is closed, they are told, 'No, 
the university is not closed, everything is quite normal, the university is
open'. But it is clear that, since it is a military area, it is closed and no
one may enter. The situation may last for hours, sometimes for days on end. 
Sometimes they threaten the university administration and demand that the 
administration itself close down the university, the underlying threat being
that if you do not close the university we shall force our way in.

"... Once, when we had a book exhibition, they came in the night before 
the opening of the exhibition and confiscated many books. They couldn't even
say that these were banned books. Those who came in and did this were
ordinary soldiers, and many of them did npt know Arabic, so how could they 
seize a book and say that it was banned when they didn't even know what it was 
about? They confiscated paintings, even when the paintings were imported from 
Europe and had no special link with the Palestinian cause. They confiscated 
religious books, cultural works, but there were no specific criteria governing 
the confiscation. They did, however, have serious repercussions for the 
cultural level of the students. This destroyed our exhibition, quite apart 
from the fact that they entered the university by force: they had no right to
do so, they had no permission to do so. They came in during the night, they 
destroyed the exhibits: we had costumes, books, they destroyed these and they
prevented students from meeting in the daytime." (A/AC.145/RT.450)
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49. Dr. №)hanied Saker, former President of the Islamic University of Gaza, 
provided a very detailed account of the evolution of that University. He also 
submitted a number of documents to the Special Committee, the contents of which 
have been reflected in section IV.C above. In the course of his testimony.
Dr. Saker stressed that in spite of his continuous efforts to keep the atmosphere 
at the university strictly academic and remote from political agitation and 
disturbances, he could not prevent the occupying authorities fr<xn interfering:

"... We built almost 40 classrooms, but before we had finished the 
classrooms, the Israeli authorities summoned me and said, 'What are you 
doing?'. I said, 'What am I doing?'. He said, 'You are putting up buildings 
without permission'. I said, 'We don't need permission, because this is the 
land of the University and, secondly, these are not permanent buildings and, 
thirdly, any university, within its compass, can do anything within reasonable 
limits'. He said, 'No, you should stop'. Well, we stopped. I told them, 'I 
am doing that because we shall have full-day education next semester'. They 
said, 'No, we will not allow you to have such a type of education'. I shook 
myself, because after all the hours and hours I had spent with them, I thought 
they had agreed, i told them, 'This Is in your interests because you can 
control the students, because instead of being in the street all morning and 
only coming to us In the afternoon, they will be with us from 8 o'clock in the 
morning'. They said, 'No, we shall not permit you to have full-day 
education', wall, I realized at that time that the Israelis are not 
interested in real education, they would like us to have only mediocre 
universities without real education." (A/AC.145/RT.453) '

50. Dr. Saker also referred to the unjustified nature of the expulsion measures he 
and a number of his colleagues had been the victims of:

"... There was a recent statement by Mr. Itzhak Rabin, the 
Defence Minister, a few days ago - I can give it to you - when one Knesset 
member asked why the President of the Islamic University of Gaza was not 
permitted to come back, because he is wanted by his own people and by his own 
University. Mr. Rabin replied that when Mr. Saker was President of the 
University a lot of agitation took place, and demonstrations - which is false, 
actually. That happened before I went there. This is Israeli policy, 
destroying our institutions. I play the game differently, actually. 'And 
since he went out the University has been so quiet and peaceful. We shall not 
permit him to come back because the Israeli authorities are very much afraid 
that there will be agitation and demonstrations.' Unfortunately, the whole 
Government is afraid of having one single academic go to Gaza. If I have done 
anything wrong, let them put me in jail. They are not being serious about 
this.

"Last year they expelled 35 staff members from the University. We sent 
to various institutions, to UNESCO, and so on, for help, and finally Israel 
permitted roost of them to go back. There are still eight people outside." 
(A/AC.145/RT.453)
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51. In this connection. Dr. Saker submitted copies of documents and correspondence 
relating to this collective expulsion to the Special Committee at its 453rd 
meeting, held in Amman on 1 May 1986.

(c) Information on settlers' activities affecting the civilian population

52. Some witnesses drew the attention of the Special Committee to the harassment 
of civilians by the Israeli settlers. Mr. Ali Abu Hilal said in the course of his 
testimony:

"... We have noted the particularly rigid attitude in some settlers, in 
some Israelis, such as the Kach movement of Kahane. He has pressed the
Israeli Government to expel the Arab people from Israel and he has ^
concentratéd especially on two villages in Galilee, Taibeh and Tera, and he |Ц 
demands that the Israeli Government adopt a sort of racist, fascist, anti-Arab
trend in Israel, in its actions against the Arab populations."
(A/AC.145/RT.446)

53. Another witness, Mr. Mahmud Fennoun, referred to the situation in the village 
he lived in, Al Nahalin:

"... From the outset the settlers have been provoking the inhabitants and 
now the village is like a virtual prison. The settlers, of course, have the 
support of the occupation authorities. They are accompanied by soldiers when 
they go to uproot the trees. They take out olive trees, poplars, all trees 
that are cultivated. They destroy the crops. When they find children they 
beat them, and chase them. If they come across sheiAierds they beat them as 
well and prevent them from taking care of their animals in peace. These are 
daily harassments, and all the complaints addressed to the authorities and to 
the settlers themselves have remained futile." (A/AC.145/RT.450)

4. Treatment of detainees 

(see paras. 345-377 below)

54. In the course of its hearings the Special Committee heard extensive evidence 
on the treatment of detainees in the occupied territories. Many witnesses who had 
been imprisoned for various periods, often exceeding 10 years, and had experienced 
severe conditions in several detention centres and prisons (such as Sarafand, 
Tulkarm, Ramla, Jenin, Jericho, Kfar Yona, Ashkelon, Beer Sheba, Jneid, Nablus,
Al Fara'a etc.) informed the Special Committee about the harsh treatment they had 
been subjected to.

55. Most testimonies denounced the overcrowding of cells, the various forms of 
ill-treatment such as physical violence, psychological intimidation and humiliating 
practices, solitary confinement etc. The lack of sanitary facilities and adequate 
health services, malnutrition and inadequate clothing were also mentioned and 
illustrated in the course of the hearings.
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56. One particular aspect mentioned by some witnesses was the problem of detained 
minors. Mr* Bader Darwish Kawasroe, a released prisoner, described in the course of 
his testimony, the humiliating practices and sexual harassment that 14- and 
15-year-old detainees were submitted to in Al Fara'a prison.

57. The testimonies also referred to the withholding of educational, cultural and 
information material, to the censorship of private correspondence* to the denial of 
the right to receive visits and to the deprivation of the right to praçtice 
religion in common.

58. According to a number of witnesses such conditions of detention often gave 
rise to hunger strikes aiming at the amelioration of the treatment of prisoners.
It was stated in this connection that the attempts at forced feeding of hunger 
strikers had in some cases led to the death of prisoners.

59. These testimonies may be found in documents A/AC.145/RT.441
(Mr. Wilhelm Joseph and Mr. Mike Smith); A/AC.145/RT.445 (Mr. Adnan Ghanem,
Mr. Mohammed Ahmad Beyrut and Mr. Bahget Mustafa Geiussy); A/AC.145/RT.446 
(Mr. Azmi As Shweibi, Mr. Walid Nazzal and Mr. Mohammed Mahmud Hanini)*,
A/AC.145/RT.447 (Mr. Ahid Daoud Radad and Mr. Adnan Mohammed Bliebi);
A/AC.145/RT.448 (Mr. Hassan Mohammed Al-Aromoudi, Mr. Jallah Hafez Aziza and 
Mr. Amin Ramzi Makbul); A/AC.145/RT.449 (a lawyer practicing in the occupied 
territories); A/AC.145/RT.449/Add.1 (Mr. Mahmud Amdan Altame); A/AC.145/RT.450 
(Mr. Mahmud Ibrahim Fennoun and Mr. Badar Darwish Kawasme) and A/AC.145/RT.452 
(Mr. Zaki Mohammad Abu Steita).

B. Information gathered from the Israeli and the Arab language 
press published in the occupied territories

1. General situation

(see paras. 2 to 4 above, and sect. IV.C, paras 37-39 above)

(a) General policy developments

60. On 11 August 1985, Mr. Shmuel Goren, the Co-ordinator of Activities in the 
territories, said in a radio interview that Israeli civilians entering densely 
populated Arab localities should be advised to be armed and accompanied. Mr.
Goren, who was interviewed after a Kiryat-Arba settler had been stabbed in the old 
market in Hebron, said that the authorities could not prevent attacks on Jews who 
walked alone and unarmed through places such as the old market in Hebron. An aide 
to Goren later reportedly said that people going to an Arab market or travelling a 
remote road in the Gaza Strip at night roust take some "minimal" precautions. "We 
are not saying everyone should take an armoured vehicle along but something should 
be done. Personal security in the centre of Hebron is different from Tel Aviv," he 
said. (Jerusalem Post, 12 August 1985)

61. It was reported that on 31 August 1985 eight Israeli political activists were 
arrested during a demonstration in Ramallah by a group calling itself "Jews Against
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Occupation". Reportedly, the group's demonstration was in protest, against the 
recently revived "iron fist policy". One Arab bystander and three Israelis were 
wounded as soldiers broke up the demonstration. Gideon Spiro, a spokesman for the 
group reportedly stated that the demonstration was planned to protest the recent 
harsh Israeli measures against the Palestinian population of the occupied 
territories. These measures included the administrative detention of more than 40 
Palestinians and planned deportation of three others. (Al-Fajr, 6 September 1985)

62. On 4 September 1985, the inner cabinet reportedly decided that the military 
government in the West Bank should be empowered to suppress any institutions or 
organizations seen as serving 'as agencies of PLO. It also agreed that roads in the 
West Bank should be widened to hamper petrol-borob and stone throwing, wherever the 
security authorities found this measure to be essential. The inner cabinet 
rejected, by a vote of five to one, several operational proposals by the Industry 
Minister, Mr. Ariel Sharon, to stamp out terrorist activity in the territories. 
These proposals included the construction of a new road through the Casbah area of 
Old Hebron to facilitate movement between Kiryat Arba and the Hadassa building, a 
proposal to permit Jewish residence in all properties owned or purchased by Jews in 
Hebron, and a request to shorten and simplify deportation procedures. A security 
source later declared that "nothing will change in the methods and steps we use to 
combat terror in the areas as a result of the inner cabinet meeting. We shall 
continue our existing practice of administrative detentions and deportation 
wherever this is required and we shall maintain a heavy hand". (Ha'aretz,
Jerusalem Post, 5 September 1985)

63. On 9 September 1985, it was reported that, as from the previous weekend new 
security arrangements were operative in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip, 
principally consisting of a stepped up presence of regular Israel Defence Forces 
(IDF) units in the area, sudden searches, combing of areas, setting up road blocks, 
checking of passing cars not only at road blocks and stepped up patrols in town 
centres. In the same context, a military source was quoted as saying that 
"instructions have been issued to prevent all demonstrations by Jews, Arabs, (j|
rightists or leftists. All measures will be taken to disperse any demonstration 
immediately - including the use of rubber bullets, tear gas and water hoses. The 
army will try to avoid using excessive force, but if there are signs it is losing 
control, it will use all measures against anyone who demonstrates". However, the 
army source maintained this was not an "iron-fist" policy because it did not call 
for collective punishment. Following instructions from the Defence Minister,
Mr. Rabin, the troops who were deployed in the region were reportedly instructed to 
stop passers-by, demand their identification papers and search them. People were 
ordered to stand against walls as soldiers frisked them for knives, scissors and 
other objects which could be used for terrorist attacks. The troops were also 
instructed to be on the lookout for settler patrols. In that context, the Cabinet 
Secretary, Mr. Yosef Beilin, on 8 September 1985, declared that the settlers, who 
had been issued weapons by the appropriate authorities, were fully entitled to 
patrol their own localities and protect their settlements and to carry arms while 
travelling on the roads, but they must not try and usurp the functions of the 
security authorities in Arab localities. (See also paras. 319-344 below).
(Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot, 8 September 1985; Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
Yediot Aharonot, 9 September 1985)
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64. On 11 September 1985, during a press conference in Jerusalem, the Israeli 
League of Human and Civil Rights urged for an immediate reversal of the recent 
government measures concerning administrative detention, deportation of 
Palestinians and curfews in the occupied territories. The League also condemned 
the encouragement given by the Israeli Government to settlers. Advocate 
Felicia Langer said that 70 Palestinians were presently detained under 
administrative orders without any charge filed against them except for "their being 
Palestinians Mr. Jacob Shai, a member of "There is a limit" Movement, who 
was arrested three times for refusing to serve in Lebanon, said that the Movement 
would encourage its members to refuse to serve in the occupied territories.
(Al-Tali *ah, 12 September 1985)

65. On 19 September 1985 it was reported that the Central Region Commander,
Aluf (Major-General) Amnon Shahak had argued in a petition submitted to the High 
Court of Justice the previous day that "operative military reasons" outweighed 
other considerations for the establishment of a court of appeals to review 
decisions by the military courts in the West Bank. Aluf Shahak's statement, 
submitted by the State Attorney's office, came in advance of a hearing on
22 September 1985 on a petition by Jerusalem advocate Darwish Nasser, who won an 
interim injunction ordering the State to show cause why it should not establish an 
appeals instance in the military courts system in the territories. Under military 
regulations operative in the territories since 1967 only the officer commanding the 
area is entitled to review the decisions of the military courts. (Jerusalem Post, 
19 September 1985)

66. On 2 October 1985, a senior defence source charged with maintaining security 
in the West Bank said that soldiers on duty in that region were "quicker on the 
trigger" recently, and that this had resulted in some innocent civilians being 
shot. He said that "this is what happens where people are nervous". Their 
instinct to shoot is "natural" and consequently more people were injured. The 
source said that the army investigated all incidents in which soldiers had opened 
fire. In all cases in which civilians were hurt the soldiers were found to have 
acted in accordance with standing orders. Many of the injured people were mentally 
ill and their behaviour had aroused the soldiers' suspicions. In some cases, 
however, soldiers fired into the air and at car wheels without justification. They 
were tried and punished, he said. (Jerusalem Post, 3 October 1985)

67. On 15 October 1985, a senior IDF officer told a group of journalists on tour 
in the Gaza Strip that since January 1985, 58 terrorist acts were carried out in 
the region. In the previous six weeks alone there were four attempted murders of 
Israeli civilians in Gaza. The senior officer revealed that, in addition to Fatah 
and Popular Front cells operating against Israel, groups of youths aged 14 to 18 
whose nick-name was Shabiba, were engaged in what he described as "unplanned 
terrorist activity", using improvised material such as petrol bombs and improvised 
charges. Referring to allegations of ill treatment of Arab civilians by IDF 
soldiers, the officer said that no cases of irregularity had been found, and no one 
had come to complain about such cases. (Ha'aretz, 16 October 1985)

68. On 21 October 1985, speaking at a Knesset debate on current security problems, 
the Defense Minister, Mr. Rabin said that, in the framework of the preventive
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activities in the territories 88 alleged inciters had been detained under an 
administrative detention order and three others had been expelled abroad. Several 
newspapers were closed as well as one university, which was shut down temporarily. 
As a result of these activities no political figures had been invited to the 
end-of-year ceremony of one of the universities and no inciting speeches had been 
pronounced. The civil administration also barred the entrance to the region to 
students and lecturers from abroad known as inciters. Mr. Rabin said that since 
April 1984 the General Security Service had uncovered over 300 terrorist cells 
responsible for over 350 various acts. The Defense Minister said that in the 
struggle against such activities the use of "environmental punishment" should be 
avoided, since most of the population was not involved in terrorist activity, and 
such punishment could increase the number of those engaged in such activity. 
(Ha’aretz, 22 October 1985)

69. The Islamic Trust Authorities (Waof) in the West Bank reportedly ordered 
various mosque Imams (preachers) to stop mixing politics and religion. The order 
No. 8-5-8/8172 called on preachers to "not politicize religion" and to discuss only 
religious topics in their Friday sermons. The order directly followed a similar 
statement by the Jordanian Waqf made about 10 days earlier. (Al-Fajr,
29 November 1985)

70. On 12 January 1986, the Co-ordinator of Activities in the territories,
Shmuel Goren, said in a press conference in Tel Aviv that since the lifting of 
restrictions on the introduction of funds from the Arab States over the bridges 
with Jordan, more than $1 million a day was being brought in. The authorities were 
reportedly encouraging the municipalities, the universities and other organizations 
to bring in funds. Goren pointed out that negotiations were under way to expand 
the telephone network in the West Bank. Restrictions on direct dialling and telex 
communications had been almost eliminated and contact could be made from the 
territories with anywhere in the world. Some $3 million had been invested to 
provide electricity to Nablus - some two thirds of which was sold by the Israel 
Electric Corporation. Some 30 villages in the surrounding area had asked to be 
linked up with the supply. Referring to the security situation in the territories, 
Goren said that following an increase in the use of home-made bombs, pharmacists in 
the Gaza Strip had recently been assembled by security authorities and warned to be 
careful about selling materials that could be used to make explosives. Goren added 
that, following the réintroduction of measures such as administrative arrests
(96 persons were being held at present) and expulsions (four persons had been 
expelled by the time the report was published), there had been far fewer 
disturbances. (Jerusalem Post, 13 January 1986)

71. On 20 January 1986, a group of Israeli Knesset members met in an East 
Jerusalem hotel with a group of some 20 West Bank public figures, some of whom 
described as "close to the PLO". Among the Palestinian participants were the 
former mayor of Hebron, Dr. Hamzi el-Natshe, Professor Medin Ruhana of the Al-Najah 
university, Redwan Abu-Ayesh, chairman of the "Arab Journalists' Association in the 
West Bank, the lawyer Jonathan Kuttab from Ramallah, Dr. Ahmed Taibeh,
Ibrahim el-Karim, director of the Palestinian Press Bureau and Professor Maudeh, 
one of the leading West Bank intellectuals. Lawyer Jonathan Kuttab said at the 
meeting that since August 1985 the IDF carried out 130 arrests in the territories,
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expelled 40 residents to Jordan and demolished 30 houses. According to Kuttab, 
since August 1985 the attitude of the security authorities toward the West Bank 
residents has "worsened radically". Knesset member Shulamit Aloni promised to look 
into the matter. According to the press report the heads of the Palestinian group 
proposed to the Israeli Knesset members to arrange a meeting between them and the 
PLO chairman Yasser Arafat, but the Knesset members declined the offer, saying the 
time was not yet ripe for such a meeting. (Ha’aretz, 22 January 1986)

72. On 29 January 1986, Meron Benvenisti, director of the West Bank Data Base 
project, presented a report on West Bank developments in 1984-1985. Benvenisti 
noted that the rate of population growth in the territories had increased in the 
period under consideration because of a drop in net emigration to about 3,000 
people annually, combined with a high and growing rate of natural increase. By the 
end of 1984 the population of the West Bank was 787,000 - 32 per cent more than in 
1967. In the economic sector, Benvenisti noted a continuing decline in Palestinian 
agriculture and a stagnation in industry. Of a work force of 154,000 in 1984, 
about one third were working in Israel and the remainder in the West Bank or 
abroad. Dependence on sources of income outside the territories had significantly 
increased. By April 1985, Israeli authorities had gained control over 52 per cent 
of the land in the West Bank. Of this, 1.7 million dunams, or 41 per cent of the 
total, were under direct Israeli control, while the use of another 11 per cent, or 
about 500,000 dunams was "severely restricted". The pace of Jewish settlement had 
slowed down. In 1984-1985 the number of settlers had grown by 9,400, to reach 
52,000 - about 6,000 less than the previous year's growth. Benvenisti pointed out 
that the Israeli occupation had been economically beneficial to Israel, providing a 
protected market for local goods and a pool of cheap labour. In addition, Israel 
collected some $50'million annually in value-added tax (VAT) on Israeli goods sold 
in the territories and from the duties paid on imports passing through Israeli 
ports. Government enforcement policies in the territories were harsher under the 
national unity government. Strong-arm tactics, such as deportation, the demolition 
and sealing of houses and administrative detention, had proliferated. According to 
Benvenisti, the national unity government had no clear-cut ideology towards the 
West Bank, and the continuation of past trends manifested "the bankruptcy of 
pragmatism". (Al-Tali'ah, 9 January 1986, Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
30 January 1986) Referring to this report, the New York Times was reported as 
stating that the revenues from taxes levied on Arab residents - about 
$US 700 million - exceeded what the Israeli authorities spend in the West Bank and 
the Gaza Strip.

73. It was reported that the Israeli Defence Minister, Mr. Yitzhak Rabin described 
the town restriction procedures as limiting activities of those who were dangerous 
persons to the security. He reportedly claimed that the Israeli security 
authorities used these measures against those activists when they escalated their 
activities to a level that the authorities could not accept. According to
Mr. Rabin, 23 persons from the West Bank, six from the Gaza Strip and 42 from the 
Galilee and the Triangle had been subjected to town restriction orders since 
10 February 1986. (Al-Fajr, 28 February 1986)
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74. On 5 March 1986, the Knesset defeated a bill proposed by Knesset member 
Geula Cohen (Tehiya) to apply Israeli law to "Judea, Samaria and the Gaza 
District". Only four coalition members, of the Likud and religious parties, joined 
the Tehiya party in voting for the bill. The Prime Minister, Mr. Peres said before 
the vote that Israel had three basic goals; to maintain a sovereign, democratic 
state with a Jewish character, not to subject Israel's territorial achievement to a 
demographic danger; and to strive for peace. The Israeli policy rested on 
acceptance of the Camp David accords, Mr. Peres said. (Jerusalem Post,
6 March 1986)

75. On 13 March 1986, a military source, briefing reporters in Nablus, said that 
Under a policy initiated by the Central Region Commander, Ehud Barak, IDF troops 
were keeping a low profile during patrols of West Bank towns, and that soldiers had 
been ordered to avoid interfering in events in the cities unless there was a threat 
to security and public order. The source held the briefing at the wake of 
incidents in which two residents of the Balata refugee camp were killed by IDF 
soldiers. (See table of incidents following para. 453 below.) The source said 
these incidents did not signal a toughening of security policy in the territories, 
and denied Palestinian claims that the IDF had become "trigger-happy".
(Jerusalem Post, 14 March 1986)

76. On 26 March 1986, military sources revealed that over the past year there had
been an increase by 80 per cent in the number of "serious acts of terrorism" in
Samaria, including shooting, throwing of petrol bombs, planting of explosive 
charges and stabbing. In the Judea and Binyamin area there had been an 11 per cent 
drop in the number of such incidents. In the West Bank as a whole there had been 
an increase of over 30 per cent in the number of serious terrorist acts. With 
regard to other incidents affecting public order, such as stone throwing, waving 
Palestinian flags, tyre burning and slogan painting, there had been a 34 per cent
drop over the past year in the West Bank. (Ha'aretz, 27 March 1986)

77. On 2 April 1986, Shmuel Goren, the Co-ordinator of Activities in the
territories said that Israel would approve offers by private and (jjl
government-supported United States agencies to fund $600 million in projects in the
West Bank over the next few years. The projects would reportedly include
vocational training programmes, construction of factories and housing, health
programmes and water and sewerage development schemes. Mr. Goren, who recently
visited the United States to discuss the proposed aid, said Israel would only
accept offers that did not conflict with the country's economic and security
interests and that did not go to industries that competed with Israeli
manufacturers. Goren stressed that the dozens of projects under discussion with
the United States agencies di^ not form an overall economic development plan for
the territories. (Jerusalem Post, 3 April 1986)

78. On 8 April 1986, the Prime Minister, Mr. Shimon Peres, addressing the Labour 
Party's national convention in Jerusalem, affirmed that Israel recognized the 
Palestinians "as a nation" and said Israel was ready for both interim arrangements 
and a permanent settlement in the West Bank. Addressing the residents of the 
territories, Mr. Peres said that Israel would make an effort to create interim 
conditions for an interim arrangement, and he added that it would be prepared to

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 35

grant them additional self-rule. He suggested that the Gaza Strip could be granted 
such a self-rule as a first step. On 13 April 1986, it was reported that Mr. Peres 
had elaborated a secret plan under which a joint Egyptian-Israeli "condominiuro" 
would be set up in the Gaza Strip and would be responsible for defence and police 
activities in the region. The plan was reportedly discussed in Washington between 
Mr. Peres and United States Secretary of State George Shultz. The latter 
reportedly approved the plan. On 21 April 1986, Defense Minister,
Mr. Yitzhak Rabin met with Palestinian civil servants in the Gaza Strip and told 
them that Israel's intention was to turn over люге positions and administrative 
functions to officials from Gaza, within the framework of the military government 
and the civil administration. Mr. Rabin rejected the idea of autonomy in the Gaza 
Strip. (Ha'aretz, 13 April 1986; Jerusalem Post, 9 and 22 April 1986)

79. On 14 April 1986, Israeli and Palestinian representatives met in Hebron to 
discuss mutual recognition between the two peoples and self-determination for the 
Palestinians. Some 200 participants attended the meeting, including Knesset 
members from Labour and left-wing parties, as well as Palestinian public figures 
such as Hanna Seniora, the editor of Al-Fajr, who called for mutual 
Palestinian-Israeli recognition on the basis of equal rights, and
Mustafa Abdel Nabi Natshe, the deposed mayor of Hebron. The meeting coincided with 
the convention of the Tehiya party, held in Kiryat Arba. The meeting was approved 
by Mr. Rabin. It was also reported from the Defence Minister's office that the 
policy concerning the holding of meetings and rallies in the territories was being 
changed into a more liberal one, and that decision on holding meetings would be 
taken on the merits of each request. (Ha'aretz, 10, 15 April 1986; Jerusalem Post, 
13, 15 April 1986)

80. On 22 April 1986, it was reported that the Defence Minister Mr. Rabin had 
banned demonstrations and meetings planned by Gush Emunim and Peace Now in Hebron 
during the Passover holiday. Gush Emunim was refused its request to hold a 
ceremony in Hebron marking the eighteenth anniversary of Jewish settlement in the 
town. Peace Now had planned a tour of the town on the same day to counter the Gush 
Emunim ceremony. On 25 April 1986, it was reported that after meeting with six 
Gush Emunim and Kiryat Arba leaders, including rabbi Moshe Levinger and freed 
Jewish terrorist Ze'ev Friedman, Mr. Rabin finally approved the settlers' plan to 
hold what was described as "spring tours" around Hebron and a fund-raising dinner 
at the Jewish restaurant outside the Patriarch' cave with the Vice Premier
Mr. Shamir as guest speaker. Another rally planned in front of the cave was 
banned. On 27 April 1986, it was reported that stepped up military, border guards 
and regular police units were being deployed in Hebron to protect the thousands of 
people expected to take part in the "tours" organized by Gush Erounim. (See also 
paras. 319-324 below). (Ha'aretz, 25 April 1986; Jerusalem Post, 22, 25 and 
27 April 1986)

81. On 22 April 1986, senior military sources at the IDF Central Command said they 
believed at least four armed terror groups were operating in the West Bank and the 
Jerusalem area. The sources said that since January there had been a drop in the 
number of attacks in the territories, as compared with the four previous months. 
There were 67 incidents of shooting, planting explosive devices and throwing hand 
grenades and petrol bombs, as against 104 from August to December 1985. There were
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also fewer stone throwing incidents, probably due to the influence of the Al-Faar'a 
detention camp, through which over 2,000 youths reportedly passed in 1985. At 
present, the camp inmates included 33 students of the Hebron polytechnic school who 
attacked the security authorities and raised a Palestinian flag earlier in the 
week. According to the sources, most of the serious attacks in the territories 
were perpetrated by followers of George Habash, Nayef Hawatmeh and, to a lesser 
extent, Ahmed Jibril. (Jerusalem Post, 23 April 1986)

82. On 25 and 26 May 1986, a new report on the situation in the Gaza Strip was
published by the West Bank Data Base Project, headed by Meron Benvenisti.
According to the report, the population of the Gaza Strip, which at present stood 
at 525,000 (40 per cent of all the Palestinian population of the territories),
could reach 850,000 to 900,000 by the end of the century. A third of the Gaza
Strip lands had already been declared state land or confiscated for Jewish 
settlement. Health conditions in the region were described as catastrophic. 
According to the report Gaza workers employed in Israel (some 45,000 or 50 per cent 
of the local working population) paid, in addition to local taxes, income tax and 
national insurance in Israel. The area's economy was becoming increasingly 
dependent on Israel, but at the same time its per capita gross national product 
remained one fifth of Israel's. Schools in the Gaza Strip were overcrowded and 
were deteriorating physically. There were 18 Jewish settlements in the Gaza Strip, 
with a population of 2,150, occupying 22,250 dunams of land. The location of most 
of the settlements in the south of the Strip, near its water sources, effectively 
gave the settlements a large degree of control over Gaza's water resources. In 
some cases the settlements physically impinged on Arab towns and refugee camps, 
blocking their expansion. The town of Khan Yunis was "virtually enveloped" by 
settlements. On 27 May 1986, the civil administration convened a press conference 
in Gaza with the participation of Palestinian and Israeli doctors in an attempt to 
refute some of the criticism contained in the report. On 1 June 1986, the deputy 
co-ordinator of activities in the territories A/M Colonel Freddy Zach commented on 
the report by Dr. Meron Benvenisti's West Bank Data Base Project. Speaking on 
Israel Radio A/M Zach denied that a third of the Gaza Strip had been declared state 
land and was allocated solely to Jewish settlement. He said state land had also 
been used to settle 10,000 refugee families outside the camps, as well as for 
industrial and municipal projects. Unemployment in Gaza was only 2 per cent and 
new industrial parks had been created in the region, A/M Zach said. He also denied 
that $3.5 million a year in tax revenues from the Gaza Strip exceeded the 
government budget for services there. Tax revenues accounted for only two thirds 
of what the Government spent in the region, he said, while the remaining third came 
from Israeli taxpayers. In a related development it was reported on 5 June 1986 
that a branch of the Palestine Bank would be opened shortly in Khan Yunis.
(Ha'aretz, 25 May, 1 and 5 June 1986; Jerusalem Post, 25, 26, 28 May 1986 and
1 June 1986; Ma'ariv, 28 May 1986)

83. On 10 June 1986 a spokesperson for the Association for Civil Rights in Israel, 
Professor Ruth Gavison, said that in the past year there had been a "drastic 
increase" in what she described as administrative punishments. She noted that at 
present there were about 50 people in administrative detention, compared with 126
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earlier in the year. Other administrative punishments included expulsions and 
demolition and sealing up of houses of terror suspects. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 
11 June 1986)

84. On 27 June 1986, it was reported that, according to the East Jerusalem weekly 
Al Biadar as-Siassi, senior officials from Israel, Egypt, Jordan and the United 
States were holding contacts aimed at returning the Gaza Strip to Egyptian 
administration in accordance with a plan elaborated by, Rashad A-Shawa, former 
mayor of Gaza. According to the report the Israeli officials expressed willingness 
to withdraw from Gaza and from large areas of the West Bank, in the framework of an 
overall political settlement. As a first step Israel reportedly proposed to 
A-Shawa the establishment of self-rule in the Gaza Strip. In another development, 
it was reported that Defence Minister Rabin had proposed to Jordan to hold 
elections to the Jordanian parliament in the West Bank. (Ha'aretz, 27 June 1986)

(b) Policy of returning municipalities to local leaders

(i) General policy

85. On 25 October 1985, it was reported that immediately upon his return to Israel 
Prime Minister Mr. Peres would undertake a series of unilateral steps to improve 
the quality of life of the inhabitants of the West Bank and the Gaza Strip. The 
first and most significant step would reportedly be the appointment of Palestinian 
mayors to towns such as Nablus and Hebron, where Israeli officials at present hold 
the post of mayor. It was reported on 27 October 1985 that according to officials 
dealing with that subject, it was possible to introduce changes in the 
administrative structure of the West Bank "within weeks", should the political r 
echelon so instruct, with a view to increasing Jordan's influence in the region. 
According to the officials "the infrastructure has already been prepared over the 
past year, far from the spot-lights, towards any change in the structure of the 
civilian and municipal administration in the West Bank". (Yediot Aharonot,
25 October 1985; Ha'aretz, 27 October 1985)

86. On 14 November 1985, it was reported that the head of the West Bank civil 
administration, A/M (Colonel) Efraim Sneh, had declared at a press conference the 
previous day: "Our policy has always been to return the municipalities to local 
leaders. This is the first time that a serious proposal is being made by the 
Chamber of Commerce of Nablus and its president, Zafer el-Masri. The two submitted 
their offer last week. I met with Zafer el-Masri yesterday and I expect that a 
decision will be taken shortly". He added that similar activity was also taking 
place regarding Ramallah, El-Bireh and Hebron, but that no proposal, similar to 
el-Masri's in Nablus, had been submitted to the civil administration. On
26 November 1985, A/M Sneh convened el-Masri and the members of the Chamber of 
Commerce to his office and told them that the Israeli authorities had granted their 
request to manage the administration of the Nablus municipality. A/M Sneh later 
told reporters that the appointment had no political significance, but he 
acknowledged that the decision had been taken with the approval of the Prime 
Minister and the Defence Minister. (Ha'aretz, 13, 14, 17 and 27 November 1985; 
Jerusalem Post, 13 November 1985; Ma'ariv, 27 November 1985)
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87. On 10 February 1986, the Prime Minister Mr. Shimon Peres, speaking before the 
Knesset Foreign Affairs and Defence Committee, said he was not proposing to the 
Palestinians in the territories a unilateral autonomy, since such a plan required a 
Jordanian-Palestinian support, but that he was in favour of an "expanded self 
rule". He said Arab mayors should be appointed in Ramallah, El-Bireh and Hebron; 
local residents should run the various civilian departments and a vast development 
plan should be undertaken. He added that he was not in favour of removing the IDF 
from the territories. On 13 February 1986, Mr. Peres, speaking on the Israeli 
Television Arabic programme, further elaborated his plan for "home rule" to the 
territories. He said Israel was ready to increase the powers given to the Arab 
mayors in the municipal field. Israel was also ready to let local residents be in 
charge of education, agriculture and trade, and it approved of creating more 
industrial plants in the territories, stepping up investment, both from inside and 
outside the territories, and developing water resources. Israel reduced the number 
of banned books and gave more freedom of expression to universities and newspapers, 
Mr. Peres said. (Ha'aretz, 11 and 14 February 1986)

88. On 25 February 1986, the Defence Minister Mr. Yitzhak Rabin met with 30 public
figures from the West Bank and explained to them that the Israeli policy did not 
aim at imposing on them unilateral autonomy, but at transferring powers and tasks 
to local residents without prejudicing the overall framework of the Israeli 
administration. (Ha'aretz, 26 February 1986)

89. On 4 March 1986, it was reported that officials in the Prime Minister's office 
were elaborating a detailed plan for the application of self rule in the Gaza 
Strip. Under that plan it was reportedly proposed to reduce to minimum the number 
of Israeli officials running the civil administration of the region; to re-appoint 
Rashad A-Shawa as mayor of Gaza and one of his sons as his deputy and to approve
the construction of a citrus-processing plant. (Ha'aretz, 4 March 1986)

90. On 5 March 1986, the Defence Minister Mr. Yitzhak Rabin, speaking on Israel 
radio, said that if the Arabs in the territories did not take responsibility for 
their municipal affairs, then the civil administration would continue running the 
municipalities. (Jerusalem Post, 6 March 1986)

91. On 3 August 1986, the Prime Minister Mr. Shimon Peres met at his office with 
25 mayors and businessmen from the territories. The Palestinian participants were 
described as "moderates". The Prime Minister reportedly proposed to his visitors 
that Palestinian mayors be appointed in all Arab towns in the territories, that the 
powers of Arab municipalities be expanded and that discussions be held on 
development in such areas as industry, health, education and banking. But Israel 
did not intend to impose its proposals for the territories, Mr. Peres said. He 
also promised that in the future all the taxes levied in the West Bank and the Gaza 
Strip would be invested only in those areas. (Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv,
4 August 1986)

(ii) Measures

92. On 13 November 1985, it was reported that the president of the Nablus Chamber 
of Commerce, Zafer el-Masri, had proposed to the West Bank civil administration
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that the Chamber of Commerce take over the management of the Nablus municipality. 
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 13 November 1985)

93. On 22 November 1985, it was reported that members of Bir Zeit's municipal 
council had nominated a new mayor and asked the authorities to recognize him. This 
reportedly came after nearly three years of refusing to co-operate with the Israeli 
civil administration in the West Bank. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 22 November 1985)

94. On 1 December 1985, it was reported that contacts were under way between the 
civil administration in the Gaza district and the chambers of commerce of Gaza and 
Khan Yunis with a view to appointing local residents as mayors in Gaza and in 
Rafah. The two municipalities are at present run by officials appointed by the 
civil administration and the Ministry of the Interior. (Ma'ariv, 1 December 1985)

95. On 19 December 1985, Zafer el-Masri was appointed as mayor of Nablus, 
replacing a civil administration officer who headed the municipality since 1982.
(Ha'aretz, 20 December 1985)

96. On 6 January 1986, it was reported that the former mayor of Hebron,
Mustafa Natshe, had said in an interview that he was ready to resume the post of
mayor. (Jerusalem Post, 6 January 1986)

97. On 13 February 1986, it was reported that a list of seven people, headed by 
Jamil A-Tarifi, had been submitted to the civil administration as candidates for 
the post of mayor of El-Bireh. (Ha'aretz, 13 February 1986)

98. On 19 February 1986, it was reported that the battle for the mayoralty of 
Ramallah had begun as two local candidates started rallying supports Nadim Zarou 
and Khalil Moussa Khalil. In a related development, it was,reported on
25 February 1986 that in Hebron, the head of the local chamber of commerce and son 
of the late mayor Sheikh Mohammed Ali Jabari, Rashed al-Jabari, had submitted his 
candidature for mayor to the civil administration. (Jerusalem Post, 19 and 
25 February 1986)

99. On 2 March 1986, the appointed mayor of Nablus, Zafer el-Masri, was shot dead 
by two unidentified persons as he stepped out of the town's municipality building. 
Prime Minister Shimon Peres said at a cabinet meeting that the assassination would 
not deter the Israeli Government from proposing to the inhabitants of the 
territories "that they manage their own affairs". The Defence Minister
Mr. Yitzhak Rabin approved the appointment of Hafez Tukan, who was el-Masri's
deputy, as new mayor of Nablus. (See also table of incidents following para. 453
below). (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 3 March 1986)

100. On 3 March 1986, following the assassination of the mayor of Nablus, two 
prominent pro-Jordanians mentioned as possible candidates for the post of mayor in 
Ramallah and El-Bireh, Nadim Zaro and Walid Mustafa Hamad, announced that they were 
withdrawing their candidacies. A group of persons who had asked to form a new 
municipal council in El-Bireh, including Walid and Sabir Suleiman a-Tawil, also 
announced that they were withdrawing their list so as not to widen the divisions of
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opinion which could "drive a wedge into the national unity". (Ha'aretz,
5 March 1986; Jerusalem Post, 4-5 March 1986)

101. On 15 July 1986, it was reported that Shelomo Amar had been officially 
appointed as mayor of Ramallah'and that he would continue to occupy his other post 
as staff officer for internal affairs in the civil administration. (Ha'aretz,
11 July 1986; Jerusalem Post, 13 July 1986; Yediot Aharonot, 15 July 1986)

102. On 29 July 1986, senior sources in the West Bank civil administration 
confirmed that a number of Palestinians in the area had recently proposed their 
candidature for mayoral posts in West Bank towns that were currently administered 
by IDF officers. The head of the civil administration, Ephraim Sneh, was 
reportedly examining the possibility of their appointment. (Jerusalem Post,
30 July 1986)

(c) Jewish Underground

103. On 28 August 1985, the office of the State Attorney appealed to the Supreme 
Court to stiffen the sentences handed down earlier by the Jerusalem District Court 
to five members of the "Jewish underground". The five, Barak Nir, Haim Ben-David, 
Yitzhak Novick, Hagai Segal and Nathan Nathanson, were sentenced on 22 July 1985 to 
terms of up to seven years. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 29 August 1985)

104. On 18 September 1985, the Jerusalem magistrates' court sentenced Shimon Barda, 
a member of the "Lifta gang", to eight years' imprisonment. The two other members 
of the gang, Yehuda Limai and Uzi mahsia Ha'elyon, were found mentally incompetent 
and were placed in an institution. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 19 September 1985)

105. On- 26 September 1985, the Supreme Court reduced the prison sentence of
Gilad Peli, one of the members of the Jewish underground, from 10 years to four and
a half. The court said it was responding favourably to Peli's appeal because he
had expressed remorse, had co-operated with his interrogators from the beginning, 
had made a full confession and had not taken part in any of the armed attacks 
mounted by the underground, peli had been convicted of membership in a terrorist 
organization, conspiracy to commit a crime, illegal transport and possession of 
weapons and causing damage to IDF property. The charges against him stemmed from 
the conspiracy to blow up the Dome of the Rock. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
27 September 1985)

106. On 9 December 1985, it was reported that two members of the Jewish underground 
had been released from prison after the President of the State, Haim Herzog, 
reduced their sentences by five months. The two are Dan Be'eri and Yosef Zuria, 
who were each sentenced to three years imprisonment for their involvement in the 
conspiracy to blow up the mosques on the Temple Mount in Jerusalem. (Ha'aretz, 
Jerusalem Post, 9 December 1985)

107. On 2 February 1986, it was reported that a'group of persons acting "to enhance 
the position of Israel in the Temple Mount area" had decided to set up an "action 
staff to enhance Israel's rule in the Temple Mount by legal means". (Ha'aretz,
2 February 1986)
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108. On 13 February 1986, President Haim Herzog granted clemency to two members of 
the Jewish Underground, Boaz and Yaacov Heinemann, reportedly on the grounds that 
the two had expressed sincere regret for their actions and because they had 
personal problems. Yaacov Heinemann was to be freed in July, after having been 
sentenced to 40 months imprisonment for causing grievous bodily harm in the attack
on the West Bank mayors, conspiracy to commit a crime in the plot to blow up the
Temple Mount, participation in a terrorist organization and other charges.
Boaz Heinemann, his nephèw, received a three-year prison term for conspiracy in the 
Temple Mount plot, attempted manslaughter in the raid on the Islamic University in 
Hebron, attempted murder in the planting of bombs on Arab buses and membership in a 
terrorist organization. He was to be released in April. On 16 February 1986, it 
was reported that President Herzog was expected to grant clemency shortly to two 
other convicted members of the Jewish underground: Yeshua Ben-Shushan, who was
sentenced to a four and a half year imprisonment, and Gilad Peli, who was also
sentenced to a four and a half year term. (Ha'aretz, Jersualem Post,
16 February 1986; Ma'ariv, 14 February 1986)

109. On 9 April 1986, it was reported that the President of the State, Haim Herzog, 
had decided to reduce the prison term of Ben-Zion Haneman, one of the convicted 
members of the Jewish underground, by changing six months of effective imprisonment 
into a suspended term. Haneman had been sentenced to 45 months imprisonment. He 
was the sixth member of the Jewish underground to be granted amnesty by 
President Herzog. (Ha'aretz, 9 April 1986)

110. On 5 June 1986 the Jerusalem district court sentenced R/S (Major) Aharon Gila 
to 15 months in prison and Seren (Captain) Shelomo Leviatan to 3 months for 
indirectly causing sapper Suliman Hirbawi to lose his sight when a bomb planted by 
members of the Jewish underground in the garage doorway of El-Bireh mayor 
Ibrahim Tawil exploded in his face. The incident occurred in June 1980. The two 
officers had reportedly known about the explosive device planted at the garage door 
and failed to warn the border guard sapper about it. (Jerusalem Post, 6 June 1986)

2. Information concerning arrests, trials and sentences 

(see paras. 5-10 above and sect. IV.C, paras. 40-42 above)

(a) Palestinians

111. On 1 August 1985, it was reported that Ziyad Abu Eain, who had been convicted 
of killing three Israelis in a bomb attack in Tiberias five years earlier, was 
subsequently extradited from the United States and was released in the prisoner 
exchange between Israel and Ahmad Jibril's organization, was on 31 July 1985 placed 
under a six-month administrative detention order. According to security officials, 
Abu Eain had committed security offences and violated the terms of his release. On 
8 August 1985, it was reported that Abu Eain had gone on hunger strike at the 
Hebron jail to press his demand to be put on trial. After being held without 
charge or trial, for three months under a renewable six-month detention order,
Mr. Abu Eain, was reportedly scheduled to appear before a military court on 
25 November 1985. Mr. Abu Eain was officially charged with incitement. The
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Ramallah military court held the first hearing of the case of Mr. Abu Eain. 
Reportedly, Mr. Abu Eain was to face the charges of having given a lecture during a 
PLO meeting held in Beytuneya, only a few weeks after he was released in May 1985. 
He was also accused of planning, together with four other persons, to hijack a bus 
belonging to the Egged Company. On 22 July 1986 Mr. Abu Eain was sentenced at the 
Ramallah military court to three years imprisonment. (Ha'aretz, 1 August 1985*, 
Jerusalem Post, 1, 2 August 1985; Yediot Aharonot, 2, 8 August and 23 July 1985; 
Al-Fajr, 1 November and 20 December 1985)

112. On 7 August 1985, it was reported that four leaders of student factions at the 
Al-Najah University in Nablus had been placed under administrative detention by the 
military authorities. In a statement released by the IDF spokesman on
6 August 1985 the army alleged that the university had "been under the control of 
the so-called students' organizations, which have virtually taken over the 
university as a front for the terrorist organizations". (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
7 August 1985)

113. It was reported that an Israeli military court in Ramallah remanded Dheisheh 
resident Tawfiq Mana'a, 17, to another 30 days in detention. Mana'a was arrested 
for the fourteenth time in early August and had yet to be formally charged.
(Al-Fajr, 23 August 1985)

114. On 29 August 1985, three Palestinian residents were held for deportation
and 15 others were put under administrative detention orders on alleged accusation 
of incitement. After the use of this type of punishment was revived three weeks 
earlier, the total number of town arrestees reached 20. (Al-Fajr, 30 August 1985)

115. On 1 September 1985, it was reported that by that date 36 residents of the 
territories were being held under administrative detention orders.
(Jerusalem Post, 1 September 1985)

116. On 3 September 1985, it was reported that the military court in Lod had 
sentenced Adly Ramadan Najar, of Jabaliya, to 30 years imprisonment for a series of 
"terrorist acts" carried out, together with three others, between January and 
March 1985. (Ha'aretz, 3 September 1985)

117. On 12 September 1985, the military court in Gaza passed a life sentence on 
Ibrahim Jaber al-Rakab, aged 27, from the Khan Yunis area. He was convicted of 
participation in three murders and three murder .attempts in the Gaza Strip in the 
second half of 1984. (Ma'ariv, 13 September 1985)

118. On 13 September 1985, it was reported that, following the administrative 
arrest the previous day of 7 Inhabitants of Hebron, Nablus, Bethlehem and Ramallah, 
the number of administrative detainees in the West Bank, arrested in the previous 
fortnight, reached 70 - a record number (since June 1967) of administrative 
detainees to be held in such a short period. (Ha'aretz, 13 September 1985)

119. Two brothers from Jabalya refugee camp in the Gaza Strip were reportedly 
sentenced to 25 years imprisonment by an Israeli military court in Lod on security 
charges. Abd el-Hadi al-Najjar, 25 years old, and Abdel-Hai al-Najjar, 23, were
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both convicted of planting three bombs in Israeli towns and membership in a 
Palestinian organization. On 27 February 1986, it was reported that a military 
appeals court in lod had reduced their prison sentences to 18 years in prison. 
(Al-Fajr, 27 September 1985; Ha'aretz, 27 February 1986)

120. On 1 October 1985, as part of the "iron fist" policy in the West Bank and Gaza 
Strip, the military court in Nablus endorsed the decision of the Israeli Commander 
for the Central District to put 21 West Bank residents under administrative 
detention for six months. (Al Tali'ah, 3 October 1985)

121. An Israeli military court in Nablus reportedly sentenced Husan Wa'el Imran,
16 years of age, of Nablus, to three months in jail, 16 months suspended sentence 
and a fine of IS 300,000 (approximately $200) on security charges. The court also

11̂  sentenced Nuh Mohammed Asi, 17 years of age, Nablus area, to a fine of IS 100,000 
(approximately $66) on charges of painting anti-Israeli graffiti and wearing a 
shirt with the colours of the Palestinian flag. (Al-Fajr, 11 October 1985)

122. On 17 October 1985, the Tel Aviv district court passed prison sentences on 
four Gaza Strip youths convicted of plotting to attack the United States Embassy in 
Tel Aviv with a hand-grenade in December 1984. The leader of the group,
Adil Sa'aduni, aged 21, was sentenced to 7 years imprisonment; his "deputy",
Tawfik Darwish, aged 20, was sentenced to 5 years, and two 17-year-olds involved in 
the plot received 3 years and 30 months, respectively. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 
18 October 1985)

123. Three youths from Jabaliya refugee camp were reportedly sentenced to various 
prison terms by an Israeli military court in Gaza on security charges. The three 
aged 17 to 19, received one and a half to two years with a similar suspended 
sentence on charges of membership in a Palestinian organization, providing services 
and painting graffiti. (Al-Fajr, 18 October 1985)

^  124. An Israeli military court in Nalbus reportedly sentenced Ahmad Salah Hassan,
H i aged 16, of al-Fara'a village in the Jenin district, to five years in prison and 

three years suspended sentence on charges of throwing a petrol bomb at the 
detention centre in the village. (Al-Fajr, 1 November 1985)

125. On 5 November 1985, it was reported that the military court in Gaza had passed 
suspended sentences on 16 Gaza Strip women on charges of disturbing the order and 
unauthorized gathering. (Ha'aretz, 5 November 1985)

126. Israeli military authorities detained Ramallah unionist Bashir al-Sheikh, 
treasurer of the General Union for Health and Medical Services in the West Bank.
He was detained for six months under administrative detention order. (Al-Fajr,
8 November 1985)

127. An Israeli military court reportedly upheld administration detention orders 
against three residents of the West Bank. The three - Khalil Ashour, a student at 
Al-Najah university, Kamal Hameid, a student at Bethlehem university, and Jerusalem
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unionist Hussein al-Faqha' - were jailed for six months without trial after
military authorities alleged they were "security risks". (Al-Fajr,
15 November 1985)

128. On 22 November 1985, it was reported that a military court in Lod had imposed 
life imprisonment sentences on Aroar Ganimat and Ziad Mohammed Ganimat, aged 23, 
from Surif. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 22 November 1985)

129. The Israeli Magistrates Court in Beer Sheba reportedly sentenced a young
bedouin woman to three months in jail on charges of burning an Israeli flag.
Maha Abu Rukeik, aged 18, was charged with removing the flag from a top of the 
police station in Rabat and setting it on fire. (Al-Fajr, 22 November 1985)

130. Thirteen-year-old Ayman Abu Arab was reportedly to be tried in an Israeli 
military court on the basis of a confession he said he never made. Ayman and 24 
other teenagers from the Ramallah, El-Bireh area, were arrested in mid-October 1985 
and being held in Ramallah prison. The teenagers, all aged 13 to 14, were pupils 
at UNRWA and public schools in the area and were charged with throwing stones and 
Molotov cocktails at Israeli settlers and soldiers. (Al-Fa1r, 29 November 1985)

131. On 2 December 1985, a military court in Ramallah convicted a 16-year-old boy 
of throwing stones at an IDF patrol and sentenced him to nine months in prison and 
nine months suspended term. (Jerusalem Post, 3 December 1985)

132. On 2 December 1985, a military court in Ramallah sentenced three local
residents to life imprisonment for killing a reserve soldier, Aharon Avidar, in
Ramallah in February 1985. The three are Rafa Nasser, aged 24, Mohammed Nasser, 
aged 30, and Rifat Ali, aged 20. They were also convicted of killing a Ramallah 
man whom they suspected of collaborating with the Israeli authorities, of throwing 
grenades at IDF vehicles and planting bombs, and of belonging to the Popular Front 
for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP). (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 3 December 1985)

133. On 4 December 1985 security personnel detained Yunes Rajeb Salem Rajub from 
the village of Dura, in the Hebron district, on suspicion of hostile terrorist 
activity. He was notified that he would be expelled. (Ha'aretz, 5 December 1985)

134. Two youths from the village of Barkat, Nablus district, were sentenced by the 
military court to five months imprisonment and six months suspended sentence on 
charges of stoning a military patrol. Three other youths, aged 15, 14 and 13, were 
reportedly remanded in custody for allegedly throwing incendiary bottles at Israeli
cars. (Al-Fajr, 12 December 1985)

135. The Israeli military police allegedly arrested a number of Druze and Arab 
youth from the occupied territories for refusing to serve in the Israeli army. 
(Al-Fajr, 13 December 1985)

136. An Israeli military court in Lod sentenced Mrs. Khawlah Musa Samini of 
Jerusalem to one year in prison and another year suspended term on charges of 
membership of a Palestinian organization. Khawlah is the mother of five children. 
(Al-Fajr, 13 December 1985)

/...
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137. On 27 December 1985, it was reported that the military court in Gaza had 
imposed a life sentence on Mohammed Odeh Abu-Samara, aged 43, from Deir el-Balah. 
Several days earlier, the military court in Gaza imposed a life sentence on
Jaber Ibrahim Washah, leader of the military branch of the PFLP in Gaza. (Ma'ariv, 
27 December 1985)

138. On 2 January 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced Talal Abu Safieh, 
aged 17, from Shate refugee camp to five years in prison and five years suspended 
sentence. Jihad Siam, also aged 17, was sentenced to four years in prison and four 
years suspended. They were both charged with Molotov cocktail attacks on Israeli 
military vehicles. (Al-Fair, 10 January 1986)

139. On 6 January 1986, the military court in Gaza imposed heavy sentences on four 
Gaza Strip residents convicted of attempting to kill Jews in the region.
Said Aifna, aged 23, was sentenced to 28 years imprisonment and 
Yusuf Mohammed Abi Armana, aged 26, was sentenced to 22 years for stabbing an 
Israeli citizen, Moshe Fitusi, and injuring him in the neck and back. Nahid Kadah, 
aged 25, was sentenced to 25 years imprisonment for shooting and wounding an 
Israeli truck driver, Meir Ohana, in Khan Yunis several months earlier. A Gaza 
Strip resident convicted of setting fire to a bus in the Jabaliya refugee camp was 
sentenced to 22 years imprisonment. Five other men, convicted of a series of 
attacks in the Tel Aviv area in recent months and of hijacking an Israeli bus that 
was carrying Arabs in the Gaza Strip, were sentenced to prison terms ranging from 
14 to 22 years. In another development it was reported that the Jerusalem district 
court on 6 January 1986 had sentenced Majdi Hassan Ismail Badah, aged 27, from 
Gaza, to four and a half years effective imprisonment and three years suspended ‘ 
sentence. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 7 January 1986)

140. On 6 January 1986, Israeli military courts in the West Bank and Gaza passed 
sentences up to 15 years on a number of Arab residents who were convicted of 
resistance to the Israeli occupation. (Al-Fajr, 10 January 1986)

141. On 9 January 1986 the military court in Ramallah imposed a life sentence on 
Hani Radawi Said, aged 21, of Hebron, who was convicted of stabbing to death an 
Israeli reserve soldier, Avraham Sorek. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 10 January 1986)

142. On 10 January 1986, the Israeli military court in Nablus reportedly sentenced 
Yasser Tayem Zboun, aged 15, and Hazem Ramadan, aged 14, both from the town of Beit 
Sahur near Bethlehem, to two months imprisonment and six months suspended term.
They were also fined IS 350 each. The two youths had been detained in December on 
charges of throwing stones at Israeli cars. (Al-Fair, 17 January 1986)

143. On 13 January 1986, it was reported that Jibril Rajub, from the village of 
Dura in the Hebron district, who was released in May 1985 in the prisoner exchange 
with Ahmad Jibril's organization, was rearrested the previous week when the 
security authorities uncovered a Fatah-affiliated hostile group in the Hebron 
area. (Ma'ariv, 13 January 1986)
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144. On 13 January 1986, the Israeli military court in Ramallah convicted two 
Palestinian children from Al-Ama'ri refugee camp near Ramallah of throwing stones 
and Molotov cocktails at Israeli military patrols. Muhammad al-Baba, aged 13, was 
sentenced to three and a half months imprisonment and a similiar period as a 
suspended term. He was charged with throwing stones at Israeli cars and blocking 
the main road with stones. Amjad Musleh, aged 13, was also sentenced to three 
months on charges of throwing Molotov cocktails at Israeli troops. (Al- Fajr,
17 January 1986)

145. A total of 140 Palestinian residents from various parts of the occupied 
territories had reportedly been placed under administrative detention orders since 
they were reintroduced several months ago. Of those some 30 have been released 
after Israeli authorities agreed to reduce the orders from six to three months. 
(Al-Fajr, 24 January 1986)

146. On 26 January 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced engineer
Said Mahmoud Abdallah Ibrahim, aged 30, from Beit Hanoun village, to 18 years 
imprisonment. The court charged him with membership in Fatah, preparing explosive 
charges, throwing bombs at an Israeli factory and a military car as well as 
planning to prepare a car-borob to put in Israel. (Al-Fajr, 31 January 1986)

147. On 29 January 1986, the military court in Lod passed prison sentences on 
Bethlehem residents who had planted a bomb in a Jerusalem supermarket in the summer 
of 1985. The sentences ranged from 4 to 23 years imprisonment. (Ha‘aretz,
30 January 1986)

148. On 4 February 1986, the Israeli Military Court in Ramallah reportedly 
sentenced Jamal Hamdan, 14 years of age, from al-Ama'ari refugee camp near 
Ramallah, to one year imprisonment on charges of hurling a Molotov cocktail at an 
Israeli vehicle. Advocate Jawad Boulus, who followed the case, stated that the 
delay in issuing a charge sheet against the boy resulted in delaying his trial and 
allowed the Israeli judge to give him one year. Advocate Boulus explained that 
according to the law, a person younger than 14 years cannot be sentenced to more 
than six months. The boy was brought to trial two weeks after his fourteenth 
birthday. (Al-Fajr, 7 February 1986)

149. It was reported that the Israeli army "has targeted Balata camp, east of 
Nablus, for a campaign of arrests and military harassment reminiscent of last 
year's Dheisheh raids", according to Balata residents. Residents had compiled a 
list of 338 youths, including 10 females, who had been arrested since the beginning 
of that campaign early in November 1985. About 90 people have been released. Most 
of these detainees were allegedly under 20 years of age and some were as young as 
12 or 13 years old. They were being held in Al Fara'a detention centre as well as 
Jenin, Hebron and Nablus prisons. (Al-Fajr, 14 February 1986» Jerusalem Post,
Ma 'ariv, 25 February 1986)

150. On 16 February 1986, it was reported that the Jerusalem District court had 
sentenced four Arab youths - three minors aged 16 to 18, and Barak Abu Sneina, 
aged 19, all of them from East Jerusalem, to prison terms ranging from three to six 
years. (Yediot Aharonot, 16 February 1986)

/• • •
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151. It was reported that residents of Jericho had been subjected to a campaign of 
arrests. They included about 20 youths aged between 12 and 15, all of them held at 
Al Fara'a detention centre. According to Israeli "security" sources, the campaign 
was launched because of increased protest against the "iron fist" policy and 
occupation. (Al-Tali'ah, 27 February 1986)

152. On 12 March 1986, the weekly magazine "Zu-Haderekh" published a list of dozens 
of youths from the Balata refugee camp who were under detention. (Zu-Haderekh,
12 March 1986)

153. On 12 March 1986, it was reported that security forces had arrested over the 
past few days some 20 youths from the East Jerusalem neighbourhoods of Abu-Tor and 
Shufat on suspicion of plotting to carry out terrorist acts. (Ha'aretz,

P  12 March 1986)

154. On 21 March 1986, it was reported that the military court in Gaza had passed a 
life imprisonment sentence on Hafez Hiraz, aged 31, a Fatah member from Gaza, who 
was convicted of shooting and killing Menahero Dadon, aged 24, from Netivot. 
(Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 21 March 1986)

155. On 23 March 1986 an IDF spokesman announced that the security forces had 
lately uncovered several terrorist cells. Dozens of suspects aged 18 to 20 were 
arrested in the Jerusalem and Ramallah areas. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
24 March 1986)

156. On 30 March 1986, it was reported that two West Bank students, Hatem Abu Bakr 
and Khalil Mussa Ashour, head of the student association at Al-Najah University in 
Nablus, had been placed under administrative detention for six months on suspicion 
of terrorist activity. Security forces reportedly carried out "many arrests" over 
the past week in the Bir Zeit University. On 15 April 1986, a military court in 
Nablus confirmed a six-month administrative detention order against Khalil Ashour.

^  At the same hearing, at the Central Prison for the West Bank, the court reduced the
Я Р  six-month administrative detention periods of three other detainees by two months.

They are Jamal Idris, head of the Bir Zeit University student council, his 
predecessor Nayef Suweitat and Jamal Habash of Kabatiya. Bir Zeit University 
student Ahmed a-Dik had his six-month term reduced by one month. (Ha'aretz, 
Jerusalem Post, 30 March 1986; Jerusalem Post, 17 April 1986)

157. On 10 April 1986, the Ramallah military court imposed a fine of NIS 15,000 
(approximately $10,000) on a faculty member of the Bir Zeit University, Associate 
Professor Amin Farhan Abu Lail, aged 43, for providing services to the Fatah. The 
court said Abu bail's publishing company, "Dar al-Kalaro", was a liaison office for 
Fatah and provided work for Bir Zeit graduates who belonged to the group. Abu Lail 
was also given a three-month sentence but was released immediately, since he had 
been in jail since his arrest in January. (Jerusalem Post, 11 April 1986)

158. On 2 May 1986, it was reported that a cell affiliated to the Abu-Mussa faction 
in the Fatah had been uncovered. On 6 May 1986, it was reported that in the 
framework of the uncovering of the cell 20 men from East Jerusalem and surrounding 
villages had been arrested the previous week. The 20 cell members were remanded
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for 15 days by the Jerusalem magistrates' court. On 7 May 1986, it was reported 
that police and security services investigators had arrested the previous day, five 
more suspected members of the cell. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot, 2, 
6 May 1986)

159. On 6 May 1986, it was reported that the military court in Nablus had passed a 
20-years prison sentence on Ahmed Tawfik Abdallah Haj Mahmud, aged 21, from the 
village of Jaloud, near Nablus, for stabbing an IDF soldier on 14 December 1985 in 
Nablus. (Ha'aretz, Yediot Aharonot, 5 May 1986)

160. On 6 May 1986, it was reported that a charge sheet had been filed against 
Jamil al-Zimati, aged 45, from the Jabaliya refugee camp in the Gaza Strip. He was 
reportedly accused of stabbing an Israeli civilian, Naim Cohen, in East Jerusalem 
at the beginning of March 1986. (Ha'aretz, 6 May 1986)

161. On 7 May 1986, it was reported that Ramadan Muhammad Abdallah al Awad, 
aged 18, from Shu'fat was sentenced to 12 years imprisonment for the murder in 
April 1985 of the Israeli cab driver David Caspi. Three others had been sentenced 
to life terms in the same case two months earlier. The trial of al Awad was 
separated from that of the others since he was a minor at the time the murder was 
perpetrated. (Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot, 7 May 1986)

162. On 23 May 1986, it was reported that the military court in Lod had passed a 
life sentence on Muhammad Ahmed Tous, aged 31, from Jaba. He was convicted of 
being the leader of a terrorist cell whose members had murdered two Israeli couples 
and another Israeli civilian. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 23 May 1986)

163. On 29 May 1986, it was reported that the Nazareth District court had passed 
prison sentences on two residents of Arrabuneh, near Jenin, who were convicted of 
the murder of Lea Elmakais and Yosef Eliahu, both teachers from Afula, in
July 1985. A 17-year-old accomplice from the same village was sentenced to seven 
years imprisonment in November 1985 for his part in the case. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem 
Post, 29 May 1986)

164. On 1 June 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced Marwan Abdel Rahim 
Shahwan, aged 19, from Khan Yunis, to a six-month suspended term and fined him 
NIS 300 (approximately $200) for "making the victory sign" during a hearing at the 
military court in Gaza. (Al-Fair, 6 June 1986)

165. On 1 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced Ayman Kamhawi, aged 17, 
and Amwar Hamman, aged 15, from Nablus, to six months suspended term and fined them 
NIS 300 (approximately $200) for stoning an Israeli military vehicle.
Muhammad Ziad from Kalkilya was sentenced to five months imprisonment and was fined 
NIS 900 (approximately $600) for unspecified political offences. (Al-Fa1r,
6 June 1986)

166. On 3 June 1986, the military court in Ramallah sentenced Hatem Abdel Kadar 
Ajmieh, aged 22, and Khamis Dokandi, aged 17, from Ein Sultan refugee camp in 
Jericho, to two years imprisonment and three years suspended term on charges of 
throwing fire bombs at a tank carrier in Jericho. Jamal Anwar Tawil, aged 21, from
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El Bireh, was sentenced to five years imprisonment and a four-year suspended term 
on charges of membership in Fatah, recruiting others, throwing fire bombs at 
Israeli vehicles and sending threat letters to alleged collaborators.
Faisal Hamdan, aged 23, from Dura al Qara' in Ramallah district, was sentenced to 
five years, including 27 months of suspended term, on charges of membership in the 
Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine (DFLP) and receiving military 
training. (Al-Fajr, 6 June 1986)

167. On 3 June 1986, the military court in Lod sentenced Maher Bashir, aged 24, 
from Jabal al-Mukaber in Jerusalem, to seven months in jail and a two-year 
suspended term on charges of membership in Fatah. (Al-Fajr, 6 June 1986)

168. On 4 June 1986, the military court in Ramallah sentenced six youths from the 
Ramallah district to various prison terms and suspended terms on charges of 
membership in Fatah and preparing a booby-trapped vehicle. The court also remanded 
Haytham Hamouri from Jerusalem to 25 days to complete the process of
interrogation, (Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

169. On 4 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced Samir Barakat from the 
Bir Zeit University to one year in jail on charges of possessing a grenade.
Muhammad Farouki, aged 29, and Muhammad Awajneh, aged 30, from Jericho, were 
sentenced to 15 months in jail and 33 months suspended term on charges of 
membership in Fatah and of receiving military training. (Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

170. On 5 June 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced Ali Abu Haieh, aged 35,
from Khan Yunis, to life imprisonment on charges of membership in a local terror
organization and of throwing two grenades and attempting to kill an alleged 
collaborator in Gaza. (Ma'ariv, 8 June 1986» Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

171. On 11 June 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced Muhammad Hassan from
Gaza to five years in jail and a three-year suspended term on charges of possessing
three grenades. (Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

172. On 11 June 1986, it was reported that two terrorist groups responsible for 29 
attacks in northern Israel and at Israeli settlements in the West Bank had been 
arrested over the past few days. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot,
11 June 1986)

173. On 12 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced,Jihad Raja from 
Tulkarem refugee camp to 10 years in jail on charges of throwing firebombs at 
Israeli targets. (Al-Fajr, 20 June 1986)

174. On 15 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced Mamhoud Ibrahim Shalah
from Jalazun refugee camp to four and a half months imprisonment and a similar
suspended term, and fined him NIS 650 (approximately $410) on charges of stoning 
Israeli military vehicles. The miliary court in Gaza sentenced
Sufian Abu Naseirah, from Bani Suheila in Khan Yunis, to one and a half years in 
jail and two and a half years suspended on charges of membership in an illegal 
organization. (Al-Fajr, 20 June 1986)
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175. On 16 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced Kamel Abu Samri, 
aged 14, from Tulkarem refugee camp, to 10 months in jail and 14 months suspended, 
and fined him NIS 1,000 (approximately $660) on political charges. (Al-Fajr,
20 June 1986)

176. On 17 June 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced Adel As'ad Tawfiq, 
aged 19, from Jenin refugee camp, to 10 years in jail and 2 years suspended term on 
charges of membership in Fatah, recruiting others and throwing firebombs at the 
military headquarters in Jenin. Mahmoud Ibrahim Qaraqa, aged 17, was sentenced to 
two years in jail and a similar suspended term on charges of preparing firebombs 
and participating in demonstrations. Four other youths from Kalkilya, Jinsafut, 
Zeita and Nur Shams refugee camps were sentenced to prison terms ranging from six 
months to five years and to fines from NIS 500 to NIS 5,000 (approximately $170 to 
$1,700), on charges of membership in an illegal organization, possession of weapons 
and throwing firebombs. (Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

177. On 18 June 1986, it was reported that a terrorist group had been uncovered in 
Jerusalem, whose members had attempted, without success, to kill Israeli civilians, 
tourists and soldiers. (Ma’ariv, 18 June 1986)

178. On 18 June 1986, the military court in Gaza sentenced Adel Ahmad Abu Ghalieh 
and Muhammad Awad, from Bani Suheila in Khan Yunis, to life imprisonment on charges 
of killing two Khan Yunis residents and co-operating with others in killing an 
Israeli officer. The two were reported to be members of "Force 17", the PLO elite 
unit. Walid Muhammad Naim from Beit-Hanun was sentenced to nine years in jail and 
six years suspended term on charges of membership in Fatah and throwing a grenade. 
(Ha'aretz, 19 June 1986; Al-Fajr, 17 June 1986)

179. On 3 July 1986, it was reported that six Gaza Strip residents accused of 
planting explosive charges in Israel in 1985 had been arrested by the security 
forces. They were named as Ahmed Hajani, aged 26; Ibrahim Barud, aged 24;
Jamal Said Shninu, aged 26; Fawzi Yunes Nasratallah, aged 23; Bassam Nasser, 
aged 24 and Fathi Ali Nasser, aged 23. (Maariv, 3 July 1986)

180. On 10 July 1986, it was reported that 11 cell members from the Shufat refugee 
camp were charged at the military court in Lod with carrying out sabotage acts and 
attacks against Israel and people they suspected of collaboration with the Israeli 
authorities. (Ma'ariv, 10 July 1986)

181. On 14 July 1986, three residents of Anabta were convicted at the military 
court in Nablus of the murder of a local resident in 1983 and of firing shots at a 
bus and a private car. Said'Duaba, aged 24, and Khaled Omar, aged 23, were 
sentenced to life imprisonment. Tarek Mimri, aged 25, was sentenced to 25 years 
imprisonment. (Ma'ariv, 15 July 1986)

182. On 1 August 1986, two students were reportedly released from jail.
Jibril Bakri, member of the student council of the Hebron University, was released 
after seven months imprisonment without trial. Khalil Ashour, former chairman of 
the Al-Najah student council, was released after six months administrative 
detention. (Al-Fajr, 8 August 1986)
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183. On 3 August 1986, it was reported that three roembers of one family had been 
arrested and a charge sheet was being filed against them with the Lod military 
court. They were Nabila Fahed Badawi Rishek, aged 25, her sister In'am, aged 35, 
and their brother Daoud, aged 22. They were charged with setting fire to the car 
of a Silwan resident, Youssef al-Azawi. Security forces also recently arrested 
Muhammad Moussa Sa'id Dayed, aged 20, from Jerusalem, on suspicion of membership in 
Fatah. (Ma'ariv, 3 August 1986)

184. On 3 August 1986, it was reported that Abdallah Abu-Jaber and Muhammad Attouri 
had been arrested on suspicion of involvement in the murder attempt on the Mukhtar
of Bidiya, whom they suspected of collaboration with Israel.
(Ma'ariv, 3 August 1986)

185. On 4 August 1986, the Defence Minister issued six-month administrative 
detention orders against three West Bank residents suspected of attempting to
organize subversive activity in the West Bank. They were named as
Hamis Tawfik A-Kishek, aged 30, from the Al-Fara'a refugee camp;
Muhammad Ali Muhammad Faraj, aged 19, from the Dheisheh refugee camp, and 
Ibrahim Ali Abdallah Abu Zahra, aged 37, from Yatta. According to one report a 
fourth man, Ali Muhammad Dakhlallah, aged 23, from Ta'amreh village near Bethlehem, 
was also put under administrative detention. (Ha'aretz, 6 August 1986; Al-Fajr,
8 August 1986)

186. On 5 August 1986, the trial was opened at the Lod military court of six 
alleged terrorists from Gaza charged with planting explosive charges in Israel and 
causing injuries to five civilians. In another trial held at the same court, 
Ramadan Salman Id Matirat, aged 20, from Dura, was sentenced to 22 years 
imprisonment. Another roan, Omar Salim Abu-Kadhar, aged 24 was sentenced to
five years imprisonment. (Ma'ariv, 6 August 1986)

187. On 7 August 1986, Munir Karak, from Jerusalem, was arrested on charges of 
selling the map of Palestine at Damascus Gate in Jerusalem. (Al-Fajr,
14 August 1986)

188. On 10 August 1986, the military court in Nablus sentenced
Daher Abdullah Tayeh, from Beita, near Nablus, to one year imprisonment and two 
years suspended term. (Al-Fajr, 14 August 1986)

189. On 10 August 1986, the Gaza military court sentenced Ayman Jardali, aged 16, 
to one year imprisonment and three years suspended term on charges of membership in 
an illegal organization and offering services to its members. (Al-Fajr,
14 August 1986)

190. On 17 August 1986, six-month administrative detention orders were issued 
against three Gaza Strip residents: Faris Hasouneh, Eroad Bakir and
Suleiman Abu Amer. (Al-Fajr, 22 August 1986)

191. On 24 August 1986, it was reported that the security forces had uncovered a 
cell from Deir Abu Mash'al, whose members were suspected of several terrorist 
acts. (Ha'aretz, 24 August 1986)
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192. On 26 August 1986, it was reported that the security forces had detained four 
boys aged 14 to 16, from the village of Hizma on suspicion of stabbing two Israeli 
hikers several days earlier at Wadi Kelt. The two Israelis were slightly wounded. 
The four youths were named as Sadek Ahmed Odeh, aged 14, Suleiman Khatib, aged 14, 
Ahmed Salem Kassem, aged 16 and lyad Salameh, aged 15. The four were reportedly 
members of a locally organized cell and had no connection to any terror 
organization. (Ha*aretz, 26 August 1986)

193. On 28 August 1986, three West Bank residents were to appear before the IDF 
judge advocate-general on suspicion of having perpetrated the 1984 kidnapping and 
murder of IDF soldier Akiva Shealtiel. They were named as Abdullah Abu Ja'abar, 
Muhammad Attouri and Ahmad Bulham, and were from Zawiyeh, in the West Bank, and 
Kafr Kassem, in Israel. They were also suspected of other terrorist acts including 
a shooting attack at an Egged bus at the Yakir junction, near Ariel, and a grenade 
attack in Nablus earlier in the year. (Jerusalem Post, 28 August 1986)

(b) Israelis

194. On 29 August 1985, the Supreme Court ruled that Alan Goodman, who in 
April 1982 had killed one Arab guard and wounded two others on the Temple Mount, 
would serve his jail terms concurrently, thereby reducing by up to 20 years the 
time he would spend in prison. Goodman was convicted in 1983 of murder and four 
counts of attempted murder and sentenced to life imprisonment and two 20-year jail 
terms, only one of them to run concurrently with the life term. Goodman appealed 
against his conviction and the severity of the sentence. The court rejected the 
appeal against the conviction but decided that all the terms would run concurrently 
since the crimes he committed were not isolated but the result of a continuous 
action. (Jerusalem Post, 30 August 1985)

195. On 2 October 1985, Yosef Harnoi, a settler from Eilon Moreh, was convicted by 
the Tel Aviv district court of manslaughter in the killing of eight-year-old 
Aisha al-Bahsh of Nablus in November 1983. He was also found guilty of causing the 
girl's sister grievous bodily harm. Harnoi, charged with murder, had argued that 
he suffered from epilepsy and that he had a fit just before the shooting. The 
court rejected that argument, but it did not convict him of murder, finding that he 
had not intended to kill the girl. On 11 October 1985, it was reported that Harnoi 
had been sentenced to 10 years imprisonment and a five-month suspended sentence, 
and Pinhas Mahrabi was sentenced to five months imprisonment. On 13 October 1985, 
it was reported that Harnoi had been set free on 11 October 1985 for a month-long 
leave to prepare his son for his Bar Miztva (age of 13 - when Jewish boys assume 
religious obligations). On 21 October 1985, it was reported that the Supreme Court 
had cancelled the one-month leave granted to Harnoi by the Tel Aviv district court 
after the State had appealed against that decision. (Jerusalem Post, 3, 11, 13 and 
21 October 1985» Ha'aretz, 11 and 21, October 1985)

196. On 12 January 1986, a charge sheet was presented to the Jerusalem magistrate's 
court against an Israeli policeman, Tibor Frank, on two counts of attacking and 
injuring Arab residents of the territories. Tibor Frank was reportedly charged 
with illegal detention and assault. (Ha'aretz, 13 January 1986)
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197. On 24 March 1986, it was reported that the judge-advocate of the Central 
Region Coroinand had ordered that an officer (a lieutenant) and several soldiers 
should be put on disciplinary trial, following allegations of ill treatment of
civilians in the Hebron area. It was alleged that following the killing of an IDF
soldier in the Kasbah area, in September 1985, IDF soldiers ill treated the 
civilian population of the area. The allegations led to an inquiry by the 
Investigating Military Police, which had completed the inquiry file and handed it 
to the judge-advocate of. the Central Region Command. The latter ruled that a 
disciplinary trial be held against the military personnel involved in the alleged 
ill treatment incidents. (Ma'ariv, 24 March 1986)

The affair of the killing of the two hijackers in the Gaza Strip in April 1984 and
its aftermath

198. On 14 April 1984, IDF forces seized control of a civilian bus that had been 
hijacked by four Arabs. Two of the hijackers were killed in the course of the 
operation. The other two were taken away from the bus alive. It was later 
reported that they had died.

On 26 April, the Defence Minister Mr. Moshe Arens appointed a commission of inquiry 
headed by Aluf (Major General) (reserve) Meir Zorea to investigate the affair.

On 28 May, the Commission determined that the two hijackers who had been taken away 
from the bus alive died as a result of fractures of the skull caused by beating.
It recommended that a further investigation be carried out.

On 15 June, the Attorney-General appointed a commission of inquiry headed by State 
Attorney Yona Blattman. In August 1985, the Blattroan commission reached the 
conclusion that no instruction had been given to kill the two hijackers. The 
commission determined that five General Security Service (GSS) men, three border 
guards and two soldiers had resorted to violence against the two hijackers and that 
T/A (Brigadier General) Yitzhak Mordekhai, Chief Infantry and Paratroop Officer, 
had beaten the two hijackers with his pistol butt after they had been captured.
The Judge Advocate General decided to put T/A Mordekhai on trial.

On 18 August 1985, Aluf (Major General) (reserve) Haim Nadel acquitted T/A 
Mordekhai and determined that when he had handed the two hijackers to the GSS they 
were still alive. Three GSS agents who also stood trial on charges stemming from 
the same incident were also acquitted.

In December 1985, three senior GSS officials, Reuven Hazak, Rafi Malka and Peleg 
Raddai, protested to the head of the GSS against what they claimed was "perversion 
of the inquiry". They approached the Prime Minister Mr. Peres but he dismissed 
their allegations as an attempt to get rid of the head of the GSS and have him 
replaced by Hazak. After the three approached the Prime Minister they were 
discharged from the service and then decided to appeal to the Attorney General 
Yitzhak Zamir.

On 18 May 1986, it was reported that senior ministers had instructed Mr. Zamir to 
stop the investigation against a senior official.
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On 25 May, the United States television network ABC uncovered the identity of the 
senior official; the head of the GSS Avraham Shalom. According to the report he 
was suspected of lying to the commission of inquiry and inducing other witnesses to 
perjury.

On 28 May, the Attorney General demanded that Avraham Shalom be suspended as head 
of the GSS during the course of the investigation.

On 1 June, it was reported that Mr. Zamir, who had announced his intention to 
resign four months earlier, had been replaced as Attorney General by Tel Aviv 
district court judge Yosef Harish. The new Attorney General announced he would 
have to study the case before taking any decision.

On 25 June, it was announced that Avraham Shalom and three GSS officials involved 
in the case had asked for and were granted pardon by the president of the State 
Haim Herzog. Avraham Shalom resigned as head of the GSS.

(Yediot Aharonot, 26 June 1986)

3. Treatment of civilians, including fundamental freedoms

(see paras. 11-53 above and sect. IV.C, 
paras. 43-76 above)

(a) General developments

(i) Harassment of civilians

199. On 29 July 1985, two Arab youths from the town of Toubas, near Jenin, were 
found dead and charred remnants of their bodies scattered near the settlement of 
Elon Moreh in the Nablus region. (Al-Fajr, 2 August 1985)

200. It was reported that the army reserve units on duty in Ramallah had harassed 
Palestinian children and destroyed their kites claiming that the kites exhibited 
the four colours of the Palestinian flag. The soldiers also stopped several 
passers-by in the downtown area and forced them to wipe off political graffiti. 
(Al-Fajr, 30 August 1985)

201. On 26 August 1985, Israeli soldiers reportedly shot and wounded a Qalqilya 
resident after he walked away from soldiers who were harassing him. (Al-Fajr,
30 August 1985)

202. In a press conference held on 1 September 1985 at Soroka Hospital in
Beer Sheba, Dr. Yair Shapira, the hospital director, said that local Jewish youths 
from Dalet neighbourhood attacked a group of Arab male nurses and a doctor near 
their dormitories in the hospital vicinity the night of 30 August 1985. Some of 
the employees were injured. (Al-Fajr, 6 September 1985)

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 55

203. The West Bank Military Commander reportedly ordered the closure of six shops 
in Jenin for three days after a stone throwing incident against a government 
office. Part of the road was also closed until the evening. In the same context 
45 shops were allegedly sealed off with wax in the old "Iskafia Market" in Hebron 
after the incident concerning the house occupied at al-Qasaba district by Israeli 
settlers. The 45 shops reportedly provide income for 450 people. (Al-Tali'ah,
19 September 1985; Al-Fajr, 20 September 1985)

204. On 19 September 1985, it was reported that Gaza Strip residents had been
complaining over the past few days against what they alleged was "harsh and
unbearable" conduct by IDF soldiers in Gaza. Allegations regarding harassment of 
civilians by regular IDF soldiers included various forms of humiliation forced by 
the soldiers on the civilians under the pretext of checking ID cards. Ramallah 
residents also alleged that regular IDF soldiers were harassing and ill treating 
the local populations persons were being forced to stand against a wall with their 
arms raised above their head for a long time, during security checks. West Bank 
residents also alleged that investigators' attitude following arrest had become 
much harsher and they often resorted to intimidation, and sometimes to violence. 
Security forces were reported to have reacted to these allegations, which had been 
registered over the preceding fortnight. (Ha'aretz, 19 September 1985)

205. On 20 September 1985, it was reported that the Investigating Military Police
had set up a special investigating team, as of 19 September 1985, to look into
dozens of complaints by residents of Hebron alleging ill-treatment and harassment 
by soldiers over the past few days. Dozens of complaints about violent and harsh 
treatment by soldiers, towards women, elderly people and youths - mostly alleging 
beating - reached the police and the civil administration. (Ha'aretz,
20 September 1985)

206. On 22 September 1985, it was reported that seven soldiers had been dismissed 
from an IDF company ccxnmanders course after it appeared they had ill-treated Gaza 
residents. In a related development it was reported that Advocate Felicia Langer 
had filed a complaint with the head of the West Bank civil administration about the 
"shameful conduct by IDF soldiers against local residents". On 26 September 1985, 
dozens of Gaza Strip lawyers held a strike to protest over the alleged 
ill-treatment of the civilian population by IDF soldiers. The strike was general 
and trials were postponed. (Ha'aretz, 22 and 27 September 1985)

207. On 16 October 1985, it was reported that an Al-Fajr editor.
Hassan Abdel Halim Fakia, from Bidu, had been missing for almost two weeks. He was 
reportedly last seen on 2 October 1985 when he left his office to go to Hebron 
where he was collecting material on fraudulent land sales. His colleagues said on 
15 October 1985 they thought his disappearance might be connected to that story. A 
Jerusalem police spokesman said an enquiry had been opened into the disappearance. 
(Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 16 October 1985; Jerusalem Post, 22 October 1985)

208. On 23 October 1985, it was reported that tension prevailed in Ramallah and
El Bireh following the explosion of a bomb near a house in the area of Mount Tawil 
(El Bireh - on the road to the settlement), which killed a 15-year old boy (see 
table of incidents following para. 453 below) and seriously mutilated another. The
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dead boy was ordered to be buried the same night of the incident and only 10 
elderly of his relatives were authorized to attend the funeral. (Al-Tali'ah,
24 October; Al-Fajr, 25 October 1985)

209. A Palestinian youth was allegedly assaulted by Israeli soldiers in Gaza 
because he wore a T-shirt with the following sentence written on it; "I love 
Palestine". The soldiers tore the T-shirt and drove the youth to the police 
station. (Al Tali'ah, 7 November 1985)

210. Israeli forces uprooted some 500 olive trees in the village of Ubaidiya in the 
Bethlehem area alleging that the trees were planted on "military land". An Israeli 
military advisory board had allowed the landowners to cultivate their land a short 
while earlier. (Al-Fajr, 13 December 1985)

211. On 30 January 1986, the Jerusalem Post published a report about the situation 
of Arab shopowners whose businesses were located below the newly-built sections of 
Hadassa house - the centre of Jewish settler activity in the heart of Hebron. 
According to Mustafa Natche, the town's deposed mayor, who accompanied a group of 
members of the Knesset from the Citizens Rights Movement to the place, a large 
number of people depended on the shops for their livelihood. The authorities had 
decided they could not legally evict the owners, who had lived there for almost
50 years, so they were allegedly trying to overcome the legal obstacle by putting 
pressure on the shopowners. On 5 February 1986, three Hebron residents owning 
shops in the basement of the Hadassa building in Hebron appealed to the High Court 
of Justice to order the IDF to remove a fence erected recently in front of their 
shops, withdraw the troops stationed there and cease pressing them to sell their 
shops.- On 13 March 1986, the High Court of Justice considered the petition 
submitted by the shopowners. In its response to the petition, the State Attorney's 
Office said that the shops were a "real danger" to the lives and security of the 
Jewish tenants on the upper three floors. Arguing that the military commander of 
the West Bank was acting within his authority in ordering the adoption of the 
security measures, the deposition asked the court to reject the shopowners' 
petition. On 20 April 1986, it was reported that the IDF judge advocate general 
had ordered the suspension of a military police investigation into alleged criminal 
offences and abuses by soldiers and their canroanders against the local population 
in Hebron and in particular shopowners at the Hadassa building. The judge advocate 
general said he had found no evidence of improper behaviour by the soldiers, and 
said they had acted according to instructions. On 29 May 1986, some 40 members of 
an "Arab-Jewish group for non-violence, fraternity and peace" went shopping in the 
three fenced-off shops situated at the ground floor of the Hadassa building in 
Hebron. The operation was held in sympathy with the shopkeepers. Security forces 
did not interfere with the solidarity visit, but told the group members to refrain 
from distribution of leaflets or any other form of demonstration. Heavy 
reinforcements of troops and police patrolled around the area for fear that the 
operation may lead to disorders. On 18 June 1986, during a tour of the Hadassa 
house area by three High Court justices. Central Region Commander Aluf (Brigadier 
General) Ehud Barak said that the army intended to replace the high barbed-wire 
fence blocking passage to three Arab shops in the building with a lower barrier 
that would leave a wider path. The High Court justices dealing with the complaint 
visited the area to inspect the situation. One judge suggested at the tour that
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policemen replace the soldiers to improve the atmosphere, but Aluf Barak explained 
this was not possible since the site had become a symbol in Hebron and was 
therefore a target for terrorists. Explosives could be smuggled into the shops to 
blow up the entire building, he said. The justices also examined the complaint of 
14 shopowners whose shops were demolished in 1980 following a terrorist attack in 
which six settlers were killed. The building from which the attackers fired was 
razed and the owners have been denied permission to rebuild it. Aluf Barak told 
the judges that rebuilding the shops would pose a security risk for the settlers 
because it could again become a base for an attack. (Jerusalem Post, 30*January,
6 February and 19 June 1986; Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 13 March, 20 April and 
30 May 1986)

212. On 22 January 1986, the weekly magazine of the Israeli communist party
"Zu Haderekh" had published a report on a case of a refusal by the authorities to 
approve a family reunion in the territories. On 30 January 1986, the High Court of 
Justice had issued an order nisi against the military commander of the Gaza Strip, 
ordering him to show cause within 45 days why he should not authorize a woman from
Amman to join her husband, Hijazi Saad, from Gaza, and settle in the region. On
14 February 1986, it was reported that the deputy commander of the Gaza Strip, 
Rav-Seren (Major) Yosef Avraharo, said in an affidavit to the High Court of Justice 
that, in 1985, 2,937 requests for family reunion had been filed in the West Bank, 
and that only 10 had been granted. In the Gaza Strip, 171 requests had been filed
and only 45 were granted. The affidavit was submitted in response to an
application by two Gaza Strip residents whose requests to be authorized to bring 
their wives to the region were rejected. "Israel has no interest to allow any 
resident of the territories who wishes to marry abroad, to bring his wife here.
The decision on who may enter and settle in Judea, Samaria and Gaza, is a matter 
for decision by the authorities, and the residents cannot impose their private 
opinion on the authorities"; the military authorities nevertheless allowed the 
departure of local residents to be united with their families abroad, the affidavit 
stated. On 10 June 1986, it was reported that the civil administration in the West 
Bank had granted 109 requests for family reunion by West Bank residents whose 
family members in Jordan would now be able to join them. The requests were granted 
on the occasion of the Id el-Fitr holiday. In another development it was reported 
that the High Court of Justice had upheld, on 10 June 1986, a decision by the 
military authorities to refuse a family reunion request for three couples 
consisting of resident husbands and wives living abroad. The names of the three 
wives were reported as Raja Arabeya, Najah Sawafiri and Suad Shahin. (Zu Haderekh, 
22 January 1986; Ha'aretz, 31 January and 14 February 1986; Ma'ariv, 10 June 1986; 
Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

213. On 15 February 1986, it was reported that Israeli troops shot and killed a 
Gaza resident as he walked in the street. According to the report, he was the 
second person to be shot by Israeli soldiers in a week. Sha'ban Saleh Al-Aqlaq, 
aged 30, a father of six children, was shot shortly after being stopped by an army 
patrol in Gaza. Israeli military sources claimed that the man was shot after he 
refused to obey army orders to stop for an ID check. (Al-Fajr, 21 February 1986)

214. On 18 March 1986, it was reported that the Jerusalem District court had 
ordered the Defence Ministry to pay NIS 110,000 (approximately $73,000)
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compensation to the family of a West Bank resident who was killed by an IDF soldier 
during manoeuvres. (Jerusalem Post, 18 March 1986)

215. On 28 May 1986, military sources reported that the chief of staff,
Rav-Aluf Moshe Levy, had given an instruction to improve the life conditions of 
inhabitants of the Balata refugee camp, near Nablus. The civil administration in 
the West Bank was instructed to widen roads in the camp and to set up public 
facilities, kindergardens and parks. Similar measures had been taken in the 
Dheisheh refugee camp, near Bethlehem, and reportedly resulted in a decline in the 
level of hostile activity. The same sources reported that from the beginning of 
April until 25 May 1986 only 28 hostile terrorist acts were reported in the West 
Bank, a figure considered as very low in comparison with previous years.
(Ha'aretz, 29 May 1986)

216. On 10 June 1986, it was reported that Siham Barguti, the wife of Abu Hilal, a 
West Bank resident who was expelled to Jordan at the beginning of 1986, was told 
she could go to Jordan to visit her husband provided that she stayed away for three 
years at least. Her lawyer. Advocate Abd Assali, asked the legal adviser of the 
West Bank military government for an explanation but received none. Siham Barguti 
served a prison sentence in the years 1982 to 1984 after being convicted of 
membership and activity in a terror organization. Her husband Abu Hilal was a 
prominent trade-union activist who was accused of subversive activity and deported 
to Jordan. (Ha'aretz, 16 June 1986)

217. On 19 June 1986, 1,000 olive trees were uprooted by State Lands Administration 
agents in the West Bank village of Midya, close to the Green line. The operation 
gave rise to violent demonstration and clashes between villagers and security 
personnel. A policeman and a State Land Administration warden were injured by 
stones. A 21-year-old village woman was detained. The village was placed under 
curfew and the road leading to it was closed off. Midya is one of several West 
Bank villages adjacent to former no-man's-lands that in 1967 were declared state 
land. According to the State Land Administration, the uprooted trees had been 
planted on the Israeli side of the Green line and the purpose of the operation was 
to prevent the takeover of state land by unauthorized tree planting. A similar 
operation had been carried out earlier in the year in the village of Katana, and 
other West Bank villages near the Green line were reportedly targeted for similar 
operations. The Midya villagers claimed that the trees had been planted on West 
Bank land. "We planted on our side, the Jewish National Fund planted on the other 
side. Now they have taken this as well. Why did they wait so long if it was 
theirs?" Other villagers said the destruction of the olive groves had destroyed 
their major source of livelihood and that some might now have to leave the 
village. On 24 June 1986, the High Court of Justice issued an interim injunction 
prohibiting the Minister of Agriculture, the State Land Administration and the 
Defence Minister from demolishing houses or uprooting trees in Midya. The 
injunction was given at the request of eight villagers who applied to the High 
Court, and it would remain in force pending a final decision on the application.
On 26 June 1986, members of the Civil Rights Association and left-wing activists 
went to Midya to express sympathy with the villagers. The latter showed their 
visitors uprooted trees that were much older than four or five years, as claimed by
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the Land Administration. They also showed maps and documents proving that the 
lands where trees had been uprooted were not state-owned but belonged to them. 
(Ha'aretz, 20-25 June 1986; Jerusalem Post, 20 June 1986)

218. On 29 June 1986, it was reported that troops in Hebron had, since 6 June 1986, 
following the stabbing of an Israeli citizen in the Casbah area, confiscated and 
destroyed some 60 identity cards of Hebron residents during security checks carried 
out at the entrances to the Casbah and near the Hadassa building. The holders of 
the destroyed ID cards had to go to the Interior Ministry offices to apply for new
cards, losing several working days and having to pay NIS 20 (approximately $15).
An IDF spokesman explained that the IDF policy during routine controls was to 
confiscate ID cards that were "in a poor shape and where details such as a
photograph or a name could be changed. These cards were confiscated by the troops,
marked with an X, and their owners were given an application letter for a new 
card. IDF troops did not destroy cards in a good shape". But according to Arab 
residents their cards were in a perfect shape and had nevertheless been destroyed 
by troops. Following an investigation by Yediot Aharonot the affair reached the 
high echelons of the military authorities in the region and the practice of 
destruction of ID cards has reportedly been stopped. (Yediot Aharonot,
29 June 1986)

219. On 1 August 1986, members of the Gaza Strip Medical Assistance Committee held 
a press conference in Jerusalem in which they reported about alleged harassment and 
detentions without reason by the security forces in the Gaza Strip. The press 
conference was sponsored by the Alternative Information Center of Jerusalem. At 
the press conference, participants alleged that on 18 July 1986, the Israeli '■ 
military governor of Jabaliya refugee camp, accompanied by a number of soldiers, 
raided the house where Committee members were treating residents. The military 
ordered the six doctors who were there to stop working and summoned them for 
interrogation. The doctors were told by the military governor that their work was 
illegal and that medical assistance should not be given voluntarily without a 
special permit. (Ha'aretz, 1 August 1986; Al-Fajr, 8 August 1986)

220. On 5 August 1986, female ex-prisoner, Nimeh al-Helu, from the Jabaliya refugee 
camp in Gaza, held a press conference in East Jerusalem in which she alleged to be 
the victim of Israeli harassment. She said her house in Jabaliya was the target of 
several surprise raids. On one occasion 100 armed soldiers came to search the 
house and confiscated magazines and other written material. She also received 
continuous summonses from the Israeli military governor in Gaza. On 3 August 1986, 
al-Helu was brought before a military court in Gaza and charged with possessing 
"inciting materials". The court session was postponed until the prosecutor could 
prepare the case against her. (Al-Fajr, 8 August 1986)

(ii) Collective punishment, including demolition of houses

221. On 1 August 1985, it was reported that following the murder in Nablus of an 
Israeli civilian, Albert Bukhris, on 30 July 1985, three stores had been shut by 
order of the military governor of the area where the attack took place. An 
adjacent alley through which the attacker apparently made his escape was also 
sealed with concrete blocks. (Jerusalem Post, 1 August 1985)
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222. On 13 August 1985, Israeli authorities demolished an Arab house in Isawiyya, 
east of Jerusalem, alleging that it was illegally built. Reportedly that was the 
fourth house demolished in the area on the same grounds. (Al-Tali *ah, 15 August; 
Al-Fajr, 16 August 1985)

223. On 22 August 1985, the Israeli army demolished two houses and sealed a third 
in the town of Anabta in the Tulkarem district. According to an army spokesman, 
the three houses belonged to members of an armed Palestinian cell who were recently 
detained for anti-Israeli attacks. (Al-Tali'ah, Al-Fajr; 30 August 1985)

224. Following the killing of an Israeli citizen in Tulkarem and the wounding of 
another one in Jenin, both towns were placed under curfew, roadblocks were set up 
on major roads in the area and residents of the region, including Nablus, were 
barred from crossing the Jordan bridges. (Jerusalem Post, 25 August 1985)

225. On 30 August 1985, it was reported that expulsion orders had been issued 
against three men described as "terrorist leaders": Amin Ramzi Makbul from Nablus 
area, Walid Ahmad Nazal from Kabatiya in the Jenin area and Bahjat Mustafa Jayussi 
from Tulkarem. (Ma'ariv, 30 August 1985)

226. On 11 September 1985, the curfew imposed nine days earlier on the Casbah area 
of Hebron was lifted. Before the lifting of the curfew security forces sealed two 
of the entrances to the Casbah, one in the direction of the Patriarchs' Cave and 
the other, to the Romano house. (Yediot Aharonot, 12 September 1985)

227. On 8 October 1985, security forces demolished the homes of five members of a 
gang allegedly responsible for the murder of five Israelis and the wounding of 18 
others over the previous 17 months. Three of the houses that were demolished were 
in the village of Surif, north of Hebron. The village was placed under curfew 
during the bulldozing operation. All the houses were reportedly empty and the 
demolitions were carried out without any incident. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
9 October 1985)

228. It was reported that Israeli troops had sealed off the main entrance to Balata 
refugee camp near Nablus after residents staged a demonstration to protest Israel's 
air raid on the PLO headquarters in Tunis. Three residents of the camp were said 
to be among those killed in the attack. (Al-Fajr, 11 October 1985)

229. Israeli bulldozers reportedly razed 16 Arab residences in Bayarit Anan, west 
of Gaza, claiming that they were built without a licence. The owners, however, 
affirmed that they had obtained a licence to build their houses from Jabaliya local 
council. (Al-Fajr, 25 October 1985)

230. On 28 October 1985, it was reported that in the framework of the new measures 
carried out in the West Bank in recent months, large forces of IDF, border-guards 
and police on 25 October 1985 during the night'surrounded the village of Yatta, in 
southern Mount Hebron. They imposed a curfew and carried out house-to-house 
searches during 60 hours from Friday, 25 October 1985, at 2 a.m. until Sunday,
27 October 1985, at 2 p.m. In the course of the operation two houses were 
demolished by the IDF. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 28 October 1985)
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231. On 5 November 1985, the security forces sealed off the houses of two suspected 
terrorists in Shu'fat, north of Jerusalem. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
6 November 1985)

232. On 6 November 1985, the security forces sealed off two houses belonging to a 
member of a terrorist group, located in A^Ram, near Qalqiliya, and in Hebron. Two 
other houses belonging to two members of the same group had already been sealed off
previously. (Ha'aretz, 7 November 1985)

233. On 17 November 1985, the security forces destroyed the home of an alleged
member of the terrorist cell that had operated in the southern West Bank for
several months before being uncovered on 4 October 1985. On 19 November 1985, the 
security forces had sealed three houses in the village of Si'ir, several hours 
after the demolition of the house in Jaba. The reason given for the sealing of the 
houses was that their occupants had fired at civilian and military vehicles. 
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 18 November 1985; Jerusalem Post, 19 November 1985)

234. On 23 November 1985, security forces conducted house-to-house searches in 
Balata refugee camp near Nablus and came up with an IDF gun and a number of hand 
grenades. During the operation the camp was placed under a total curfew and 
telephone links were cut off. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 24 November 1985)

235. On 26 November 1985, security forces sealed two homes and parts of two other 
houses in the Askar refugee camp outside Nablus. The houses belonged to local 
residents accused of firebombing a police station. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
Ma'ariv, 28 November 1985) '

236. On 20 December 1985, the occupation authorities reportedly sealed off two 
rooms in the houses of two youths in Jenin. The youths were allegedly involved in 
throwing an incendiary bottle at the military command headquarters in the town few 
months earlier. (Al Tali'ah, 27 December 1985)

237. On 27 December 1985, at dawn, security forces sealed six houses in the 
Bethlehem area belonging to members of a local cell believed to be responsible for 
the murder of two local residents suspected of collaboration with the Israeli 
authorities. In a related development, it was reported that East Jerusalem circles 
were complaining of the "iron fist" policy allegedly adopted by the authorities 
since the Defence Minister Mr. Yitzhak Rabin took office. According to these 
circles, in addition to the sealing of six houses, the security authorities carried 
out over the past week a thorough search at Azhar University in Gaza where inciting 
material was allegedly found, but no weapons or sabotage materials. It was also 
reported that a former chairman of the Bir Zeit University student council.
Naif a-Sweitat from Jenin, was detained under an administrative order. According 
to the same sources 15 inhabitants of the territories were detained in recent weeks 
under an administrative order. They included Dr. Munzer a-Sharif, a Ramallah 
physician considered as one of the Fatah central figures in the region, and 
Adnan Mansur, who was released from jail in the prisoners exchange with 
Ahmad Jibril's organization. Another security prisoner, Khaled Tantash, who was 
released in the same exchange, was allegedly expelled to Jordan. Over 90 suspects
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were reportedly held at present in administrative detention, the highest figure in 
over 10 years. (Ha'aretz. Ma'ariv, 29 December 1985)

238. The Israeli military authorities reportedly ordered shut for two months the 
al-Birah youth institution, a local youth club. The order, which was signed by the 
Israeli army commander of the central region, was justified by "security reasons". 
(Al-Fajr, 31 January 1986)

239. On 18 February 1986, it was reported that the Police Minister,
Mr. Haim Bar-Lev, had asked the Attorney-General, Mr. Yitzhak Zamir, to seek legal 
means to demolish the homes of suspects being held for the murder of Avraham 
Bayazi, the chief intelligence officer in the police station of Jerusalem's old 
city. (Jerusalem Post, 18 February 1986)

240. On 6 March 1986, the security authorities sealed a house and three rooms 
belonging to four residents in the Tulkarem area who had allegedly thrown petrol 
bombs at Israeli vehicles, in November 1984. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
7 March 1986)

241. On 16 March 1986, the security forces demolished the apartment of
Abbas Ahmed Suleiman, aged 29, from the village of Beit Ur A-Tahta, suspected of 
stabbing the Israeli cab driver Avraham Levi. (Ha'aretz, 17 March 1986)

242. On 15 April 1986, the security forces demolished the homes of three residents
of Buirka, near Nablus, who had confessed to the killing of a tourist guide near 
Sebastia in October 1985. The High Court of Justice had earlier rejected a 
petition filed by Advocate Felicia Langer, arguing that the demolition order was 
contrary to the international law and constituted collective punishment.
(Ha'aretz, 16 April 1986)

243. On 7 May 1986, the High Court of Justice issued an interim injunction 
forbidding the security authorities from demolishing the home of a detainee. The 
injunction was issued at the request of a detainee's father, Salem Abdallah Arabni, 
a worker from Beit-Hanina, Jerusalem. In his application Arabni claimed that 15
persons were living in his house and that the demolition of the house or its
sealing or confiscation would cause an irreparable damage and would seriously 
prejudice the 15 persons living in the house. He said his son was innocent as long 
as he was not convicted and that the family members were innocent and should not be 
subjected to a collective punishment, in another development, it was reported on
8 May 1986 that the Central Region Commander, Major General Ehud Barak, said in an 
affidavit to the High Court of Justice that the army intended to demolish two 
houses where the families of the suspected murderers of the soldier David Manos 
lived unless the High Court opposed that measure. Major General Barak was replying 
to an application filed by the suspects' relatives. On 29 May 1986, the security 
forces reportedly dynamited the two houses following the rejection of the 
application by the High Court of Justice. On 2 June 1986, the High Court of 
Justice issued an interim injunction prohibiting the Defence Minister from ordering 
the demolition of three houses in the Ram suburb of Jerusalem. The houses belonged 
to three families whose sons had been accused of placing a road-side bomb near a 
military camp north of Jerusalem. The device went off 15 metres in front of a car
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driven by two officers. The three families had applied to the High Court 
requesting that the security authorities be prevented from destroying or sealing 
their houses. According to the petitioners the security authorities had recently 
embarked on a policy of demolishing suspects' houses even in cases where no damage 
was caused by their alleged offences. (Ha'aretz, 8, 30 May 1986» Jerusalem Post,
8 May 1986> Ma'ariv, 30 May 1986j Ha'aretz, 3 June 1986)

244. On 17 June 1986, two houses were demolished in Gaza on the pretext they were
located too close to a military camp. (Al-Fajr, 20 June 1986)

245. On 9 July 1986, the families of the two hijackers killed in April 1984 after 
being overpowered and detained by security personnel (in the No. 300 bus hijack 
affair) appealed to the governor of Gaza to be authorized to rebuild their houses, 
which were demolished immediately after the hijacking. The families' lawyer. 
Advocate Felicia Langer, said in the appeal that after it was ascertained that the 
two hijackers were murdered after being detained, their families considered the 
demolition of their houses as a continuation of their harassment, for no guilt.
The families later reportedly registered a complaint with the police and asked for 
an investigation into the role of the political echelon in the killing of their 
sons. (Ha'aretz, 10 July 1986*, Jerusalem Post, 13 July 1986)

246. On 14 and 15 July 1986, the military government in Hebron placed iron gates at 
the entrances to the town's Casbah area. Iron gates were also placed at a site in 
the Casbah near which two reserve soldiers had been stabbed one year earlier. At
the time an entrance was sealed off with a wall; the iron gates have now replaced
that wall. (Ha'aretz, 15 and 16 July 1986) -,

247. On 8 August 1986, Supreme Court Justice Gabriel Bach issued an interim 
injunction prohibiting the demolition or sealing of houses belonging to five 
residents of the Kalandiya refugee camp who had been arrested on suspicion of 
throwing hand grenades on a bus and other offences, including membership in Fatah. 
Three families from Jericho also obtained an interim injunction against the 
demolition or sealing of their houses. Their sons were arrested at the beginning 
of August 1986 on suspicion of membership in Fatah, throwing hand grenades and 
possession of arms. (Ha'aretz, 10 August 1986; Al-Fajr, 14 August 1986)

248. On 13 August 1986, the IDF took down the last of three barriers it had erected 
years earlier to seal off main roads into the Dheisheh refugee camp following 
attacks on vehicles on the adjacent Jerusalem-Bethlehero road. The measure was 
taken following the recent period of calm at the camp. A military source noted 
that several infrastructure improvements had been made at the camp recently and 
that the number of family-reunion permits involving local residents had increased. 
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 14 August 1986)

249. During the last week of August 1986, there were almost daily reports of 
sealing of rooms belonging to persons arrested on suspicion of involvement in 
terrorist acts. The following cases were reported:
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(a) On 21 August, security forces sealed rooms in houses in Hussan, near 
Bethlehem, belonging to Redwan and Yasser Hamamreh and Ednan Shawsheh (Ha*aretz,
22 August 1986)>

(b) On 23 August, security forces demolished the house of a member of a 
suspected terrorist group in the village of Deir Abu-Mash'al in southwestern 
Samaria (Ha'aretz, 24 August 1986)t

(c) On 24 August, security forces sealed two rooms in the Hebron area that 
belonged to Abd el-Any Sultan and to Wahil Mussa Sa'adeh (Ha*aretz, 25 August 1986);

(d) On 25 August, security forces sealed three rooms in the territories, 
including one belonging to Pawaz Bahtan, from the village of A-Ram, on the 
Jerusalem-Ramallah road (Ha'aretz, 26 August 1986)t

(e) On 26 August, security forces sealed two rooms in Hizroa, near Anatot.
They belonged to Suleiman Saïd lyad al-Khatib and to Ahmad Salem Suleiman 
al-Khatib. The two suspects were aged, respectively, 14 and 16. Also on
26 August 1986, the High Court of Justice issued an interim injunction against the 
demolition of the home of Muhammad Abu-Harizat, from Deir Abu-Mash'al (Ha'aretz, 
Jerusalem Post, 27 August 1986);

(f) On 27 August, security forces sealed a room in East Jerusalem belonging 
to Ala a-Din Bazayan, the blind ringleader of a group charged with the murders in 
April 1986 of a British tourist and an Israeli businesswoman (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem 
Post, 28 August 1986)»

(g) On 28 August, security forces sealed two rooms in Shu'fat, in northern 
Jerusalem, in the house of Nabil Awad Dib'i, aged 16 (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
29 August 1986);

(iii) Expulsion and deportation

250. On 6 August 1985, it was reported that nine Palestinians, released in the 
prisoner exchange and who remained in the West Bank, would be expelled from the 
area later in the month. The nine belonged to a group of 31 released prisoners who 
had no ID cards of the West Bank or the Gaza Strip. On 9 August, it was reported 
that 22 released prisoners were found to be non-residents and were thus being 
forced to leave. (Ha'aretz, 6 August 1985; Jerusalem Post, 11 August 1985)

251. On 9 August 1985, it was reported that Khalil Abu Zayad, who was detained the 
previous day on the basis of an expulsion order against him issued by the Central 
Region Commander, would appeal the order before a military review board. The 
decision to revive expulsion of residents of th'e territories, which had been 
abandoned five years earlier, was reportedly taken at the highest levels in the 
Government and the defence establishment. Abu Zayad was placed under a six-month 
town-arrest order and, as a result, "the security forces have decided that the 
measures taken against him to date do not prevent his activities and he should be 
deported". On 12 August, it was reported that the military review board, which 
considered Khalil Abu Zayad's appeal against his expulsion on 11 August 1985,
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reconiniended that the Central Region Coniniander reconsider his decision to order his 
expulsion. After a day of hearings in the Ramallah military court, the tribunal 
found that "in spite of the legal and justified reason for issuing the expulsion 
order, and although the evidence we have heard links the petitioner to the Fatah 
organization, there is nothing to link him directly with terrorist attacks". On 
15 August, it was reported that the Central Region Commander and the IDF Commander 
in the West Bank had reached the conclusion that they could not reconsider their 
decision to deport Abu Zayad, despite the recommendation by the military review 
board. On 27 August, it was reported that an agreement had been reached between 
Abu Zayad and the military authorities. Under the agreement the expulsion order 
against him would be cancelled, and he would leave the country voluntarily for a 
period of three years, during which he undertook not to take part in any activity 
against the security of the State. After three years he would submit a request to 
return? the military authorities would consider the request and would try to 
respond favourably if Abu Zayad had met the terms of the agreement. With the 
cancellation of the expulsion order, Abu Zayad*s appeal to the High Court of 
Justice has also been withdrawn. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv?
9 August 1985? Jerusalem Post, 12 August 1985? Ha“aretz, 14 August 1985? Ha’aretz, 
Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot? 27 August 1985)

252. On 10 September 1985, Central Region Commander, Aluf (Brigadier) Aronon Shahak, 
appeared before the High Court of Justice to reply to petitions submitted by three 
West Bank residents against their expulsion orders, issued three weeks earlier. On 
2 October, the three West Bank residents were deported to Jordan after the High 
Court of Justice had upheld the expulsion orders. It was revealed that they were 
Amin Ramazi Dawish-Makboul of Nablus, Walid Ahmad Mahmoud Nazal, of the Jenin area, 
and Bahajat Mustafa Hassan al-Biyada Jayousi from the Tulkarem district.
(Jerusalem Post, 11 September, 3 October 1985)

253. On 12 September 1985, the High Court of Justice upheld military deportation 
orders against 11 of the 1,150 detainees released in May in exchange for three 
Israeli soldiers held by Ahmad Jibril's group. The court ruled that the 11 men had 
infiltrated into the area following the June 1967 war. On 15 September, in the 
early morning hours, the 11 men together with seven other released prisoners were 
deported to Jordan at a remote border-crossing. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
13 September, 18 September 1985)

254. On 2 October 1985, it was reported that the High Court of Justice had rejected 
the petition of three West Bank residents against whom an expulsion order was 
issued to transfer their petition against the expulsion order to a five-justice 
panel. The three were identified as Walid Nazal from Kabatiya (Jenin area) ,
Amin Makbul from Nablus and Bahjat Jayussi from the village of Jayus in Tulkarem 
area. (Ha'aretz, Ma'ariv, 2 October 1985)

255. On 3 November 1985, the High Court of Justice ordered the military advisory 
board in the West Bank to stay its discussion of an appeal by three West Bank 
residents against expulsion orders. The three were Ali Mahmoud Hilal from Abu Dis, 
Dr. Azmi As Shweibi from El Bireh and Hassan Mahmoud Fararjeh from Dheisheh, 
against whom deportation orders were issued for alleged engagement in hostile 
activity. The court ordered the stay pending its decision on a petition by the
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three men against the working of the advisory board. The court ordered the 
security authorities not to expel the three until the case had been decided, and 
also to stay the expulsion of a fourth roan, Zaki Mahmoud Abu Steita from Jabaliya 
in the Gaza Strip, against whom a deportation order had also been issued. In their 
petition to the High Court, the West Bank men complained that the advisory board 
refused to let their lawyer see the classified evidence of their alleged hostile 
activities. The fourth applicant, of the Gaza Strip, claimed in his petition that 
the information on the basis of which the expulsion order against him was issued 
was incorrect and did not justify his expulsion. On 13 November, the High Court of 
Justice stayed the expulsion of the three men pending the results of their 
application to the court, in his petition Hilal claimed that he was being expelled 
for his activities in a West Bank labour union. He denied that he did anything 
illegal. Pararjeh argued he was a journalist and that the activities for which he 
was being expelled were carried out within the framework of his job. Dr. Shweibi 
said he was suffering from a rare lung disease and asked that the expulsion order 
against him be cancelled on humanitarian grounds. On 27 November,
Aluf (Major-General) Amnon Shahak told the High Court of Justice in his response to 
the petition by Hilal and Fararjeh against their expulsion that the two were senior 
members of terror organizations and their expulsion was necessary to eradicate 
terrorism in the territories. On 30 January 1986, the three West Bank residents 
against whom expulsion orders had been issued annulled their application to the 
High Court of Justice against the expulsion and were reportedly about to be 
expelled shortly. The three applicants, who could make a statement, argued that 
their expulsion was politically motivated and said that the court could not reach a 
just decision as long as they were denied access to the confidential material on 
the basis of which it was decided to expel them and make their comments on that 
material. The judges decided to cancel the application and cancelled the interim 
injunction suspending the expulsion of the three applicants until the end of the 
legal proceedings. On 2 February, it was reported that the security authorities 
had, on 31 January, expelled Dr. Shweibi, Hilal and Fararjeh. Their attorney, 
Felicia Langer, complained that the prison authorities' promise to let them see 
their families before the deportation had not been honoured. The three were taken 
from the central prison at Juneid to a point in southern Israel and were ordered to 
cross the border to Jordan. (Ha'aretz, 4 and 14 November 1985; Jerusalem Post, 4, 
8, 12, 14 and 28 November 1985 and 2 February 1986; Ha'aretz, Yediot Aharonot,
31 January 1986)

256. Four visiting lawyers from Greece, Spain, the Federal Republic of Germany and 
France reportedly condemned the Israeli use of the British Emergency Regulations of 
1945 to suppress Palestinians in the occupied territories. The four arrived in 
Jerusalem to investigate and report on Israeli plans to deport four Palestinians 
for their political activities.- In a press conference held at the Israeli 
Government Press Office in West Jerusalem on 14 November 1985, the laywers said 
that they tried to meet with Israeli Defence Minister Mr. Yitzhak Rabin to urge him 
to stop the deportations, but were not successful. They also learned that the 
Israelis based their allegations on "secret evidence". (Al-Fajr, 15 November 1985)

257. On 29 November 1985, Hamis Hussein Hassan Nasrallah, who was released in the 
prisoner exchange with Ahmad Jibril's organization, was expelled to Jordan. He was 
one of the group of 18 whom the Israeli authorities said were not residents of the
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territories. He had petitioned to the High Court of Justice against his expulsion 
but his petition was rejected. (Ha'aretz, 1 December 1985)

258. On 9 December 1985, it was reported that the two West Bank residents jailed 
the previous week pending their expulsion, Yunes Rajub and Mahmud Dis, had 
announced that they would not appeal the deportation so as not to take part in a 
"show" staged to give the expulsions "a semblance of legality". The two were due
to be expelled to Jordan on 9 December. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 9 December 1985)

259. On 26 January 1986, it was reported that the military government had served 
expulsion orders on four Arabs who were reportedly suspected of hostile activity on 
behalf of the PFLP. The four were named as Mahmoud Fa'anoun, aged 38, of Nahalin, 
near Bethlehem; Adnan Anem, aged 42, who lived in Jordan before infiltrating to 
Israel; and Hafez Hashem Aziza and Hassan Mohammed el-Amudi, both from Gaza. The 
lawyer for the four men, Ms. Lea Tsemel, said she would appeal the orders. On
29 January 1986, Aziza and el-Aroudi appeared before a military appeal committee 
composed of senior officers and announced they had no faith in the committee and 
would not appeal the expulsion. It was announced that their expulsion to Jordan 
was imminent. The two West Bank residents have not yet appeared before the 
appeal Committee. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 26 January 1986; Ha'aretz,
30 January 1986; Ma'ariv, 31 January 1986)

260. On 5 February 1986, three West Bank residents, allegedly affiliated with 
George Habash's PFLP, were expelled to Jordan. They were identified as
Mahmoud Fa'anoun, Hassan Mohammed Ahmad el-Amudi and Jalal Hafez Hashem Aziza. The 
three had in the past served prison sentences for security offences. Military 
sources pointed out that since August 1985, 12 convicted terrorists had been 
expelled from Israel to Jordan. Most of them were West Bank residents and the rest 
were from the Gaza Strip. A senior member of the International Red Cross 
delegation in Israel, Jean Jacques Fresard, reportedly sharply criticized the 
government for the deportation of the three, which he described as "completely 
illegal", since it violated article 49 of the Fourth Geneva Convention. A military 
government spokesperson said that the deportations were based on the Emergency 
Regulations of 1945, which permitted the deportation of people believed to have 
endangered security. She pointed out that the High Court of Justice had approved 
the validity of the regulations in such cases. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
6 February 1986)

261. On February 1986, Israeli authorities deported Mr. Ahmed Billo, aged 69, from 
Beit Fajjar village near Bethlehem, after he completed his 16-year prison sentence 
on political charges. Billo, who has a family of 11, was reportedly given the 
option to be deported in 1976 in exchange of forfeiting his residency, but he 
refused, insisting on completing his prison sentence in the hope of staying with 
his family. He completed his prison term in January 1986, but instead of releasing 
him the Israel authorities reportedly decided to deport him. (Al-Tali'ah,
6 February; Al-Fajr, 14 February 1986)

262. On 10 February 1986, the High Court of Justice authorized the security 
authorities to expel from Israel Ahad Mahmud Radad, who was released in the 
prisoner exchange with Ahmad Jibril's organization. (Ha'aretz, 11 February 1986)
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263. On 22 June 1986, the High Court of Justice determined that Zaki Abu-Steita, 
who was released from jail in the framework of the prisoner exchange agreement with 
Ahmad Jibril's organization, could be expelled from the country. Abu-Steita 
applied to the High Court several months earlier after the military authorities 
decided to expel him for alleged hostile activity. He argued in his application 
that the authorities had no right to expel him since such a move contradicted the 
terms of the prisoner exchange agreement. On 22 June, Abu-Steita announced that he 
was withdrawing his application for "personal motives", and he was immediately 
declared as liable for expulsion. In a related development, it was reported on
26 June that the security authorities had notified the Red Cross representatives in 
Israel of their intention to deport shortly three more released prisoners of the 
exchange agreement: Muhammad Hussein Abu-Saadi from Khan Yunis, Ahmed Hassan
Mahana from the village of Krara, near Khan Yunis, and Yussef Abd el-Hamid from 
Kalandiya refugee camp. Since the prisoner exchange agreement was reached, 26 
released prisoners were deported and 21 were rearrested. (Ha'aretz, 26 June 1986? 
Yediot Aharonot, 23 June 1986)

(iv) Economic aspects

264. It was reported that in early July 1985 the municipality of Jerusalem had cut 
off the water supply from a number of houses in Isawiyya village east of the city 
on the grounds that residents had not paid their municipality tax. (Al-Fajr,
2 August 1985)

265. Customs officers reportedly raided the shoe shop of Mr. Sa'di Nayef al-Sa'di
in Gaza and requested him to pay IS 8 million as income tax. The shop was closed
when the owner declared he could not afford to pay such a heavy tax. (Al-Fajr,
30 August 1985)

266. It was reported that the Bank of Palestine planned to file suit in the Israeli 
High Court against Israeli Gaza military authorities. The suit was in protest of a 
recent 50 per cent increase in income tax levied on Gaza's "troubled business 
community". (Al-Fajr, 29 November 1985)

267. Shopowners and craftsmen reportedly staged a one-day sit-in at the offices of 
the Chamber of Commerce in Jerusalem to protest against raids carried out by 
Israeli tax and customs officials. They asked the Chamber to intervene in order to 
put an end to the practices. According to the shopowners, Israeli tax authorities 
imposed exhorbitant taxes on them, exceeding in some cases IS 20 million 
(approximately $13,000). In a related development it was reported that customs 
officials launched a new tax campaign on Nablus quarry owners who were asked for 
the first time to pay 300 dinars for each load. It was also reported that the tax
department has levied a 600 dinar income tax on quarry owners and intended to
deduct it from their salaries. (Al-Tali'ah, 12 December 1985)

268. Income tax officials reportedly closed down five shops in the Bethlehem area 
on the grounds that owners had not settled the interest on income tax. In a 
related development, it was reported that income tax officials launched a campaign 
against Arab traders in the city of Qalqilya. According to the shopowners such a 
sum represented the whole of their capital which made it impossible for them to
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pay. It was also reported that income tax officials ordered the confiscation for 
20 days of a car owned by a villager of Hebron district. The car contained 
second-hand clothes worth less than IS 100,000 (approximately $65). (Al-Tali'ah,
6 February 1986)

269. On 19 March 1986, the co-ordinator of activities in the territories,
Shmuel Goren, told Israeli correspondents in Washington that the civil 
administration in the territories would allow investments "worth $1 billion and 
more" in public and private enterprises in the territories. The civil, 
administration allowed residents to bring in unlimited sums of money and its origin 
"was not being examined with a microscope". Unlike the situation one year earlier, 
when the amount of money allowed into the territories was restricted and its origin 
scrupulously examined. Mr. Goren said Israel would approve any enterprise, 
providing it did not harm Israel's economic interests, but he did not elaborate on 
the nature of such interests. Mr. Goren met with United States businessmen to whom 
he presented a long list of projects in the territories. He invited them to take 
part in financing those projects. Mr. Goren added that United Nations bodies had 
been invited to set up offices in the West Bank and that the United Nations 
Development Fund had for the first time opened such a representation. He said 
United Nations agencies were sending $50 to $70 million to the territories.
(Ma'ariv, 20 March 1986)

270. On 17 April 1986, the Jerusalem Post reported the publication of a report on 
economic developments in the territories from 1983 to mid-1985 by Dan Zakai of the 
Bank of Israel. According to the report the territories were at present entering a 
period of relative recession and increased unemployment, due to the drop in oil 
prices, leading to, a reduction in foreign Arab demand for products from the 
territories. Exports from the territories reportedly dropped by 5 per cent during 
the years covered by the report after having risen by a similar percentage in the 
previous two years. The economic slow-down was aggravated by accelerated 
population growth. The population of the territories, which grew by 2.9 per cent 
per year during the period studied, at present stood at about 1.3 million. At the 
same time, falling demand for workers in Jordan and the oil States resulted in a 
drop in emigration from the region. (Jerusalem Post, 17 April 1986)

271. On 22 April 1986, a survey was published by the civil administration in the 
West Bank on living standards in the region. The survey found that living 
standards had risen significantly in the region: 22 per cent of the city dwellers 
in the West Bank owned private cars, compared to only 6 per cent 10 years earlier. 
The comparable figures for villagers were 2 per cent at present and 1 per cent a 
decade earlier. Thirty-three per cent of the town dwellers owned colour television 
sets, 94 per cent had refrigerators, 75 per cent owned washing machines and
63 per cent of the total population in the West Bank owned solar heaters.
(Jerusalem Post, 22 April 1986)

272. On 16 April 1986, the Labour and Social Affairs Minister, Mr. Moshe Katzav, 
revealed that some 40,000 West Bankers and 20,000 Gaza Strip residents were 
employed in Israel illegally, in an unorganized way and without any social benefits. 
(Ha'aretz, 17 April 1986)
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273. On 11 June 1986, the Israeli authorities approved the establishment of a 
chamber of industry in the West Bank. It would serve as a recognized union of 
factory owners, allowing them to co-ordinate their activities with the Israeli 
authorities. (Al-Fajr, 13 June 1986)

274. On 19 August 1986, bailiffs accompanied by dozens of policemen raided the 
offices of the East Jerusalem Electric Company. The raid was carried out on the 
last day of the Muslim holiday of Id al-Adha. The raid was reportedly carried out 
by a court order after the Jerusalem District court had issued on 31 July 1986 an 
attachment order for the funds of the company, which owed NIS 20 million 
(approximately $13 million) to the Israel Electric Corporation. Company safes were 
reportedly forced open during the raid but no money was found therein. Documents 
and checks were found and taken away. On 20 August, the company workers held a 
strike and several East Jerusalem businesses closed down in protest over the raid. 
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 20, 21 and 22 August 1986)

(b) Information on measures affecting certain fundamental freedoms

(i) Freedom of movement

275. The following table shows a sample of reports containing information on 
measures affecting the freedom of movement of civilians in the occupied 
territories. The following abbreviations of the names of newspapers are used in 
the table;

AF
AT
H
JP
M
YA

Al-Fajr 
Al-Tali'ah 
Ha'aretz 
Jerusalem Post 
Ma'ariv
Yediot Aharonot

Date
Subject(s) of 
restriction Place Type of restriction Source

Unionist Mahmud 
Zeyadeh

Hebron House arrest order 
renewed for six 
months - for the 
tenth consecutive 
time

AT,
1 Aug. 1985

Unionist Walid Nazel Qabatiya House arrest order 
renewed for six 
months - for the 
tenth consecutive 
time

AT,
1 Aug. 1985

Young men under 36 Nablus Travel ban 
maintained

AT,
5 Sept. 1985
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Date
Subject(s) of 
restriction Place Type of restriction Source

Zahira Karoal, 
treasurer of Wbmen's 
Work Committee in 
the occupied 
territories

Town restriction 
order, effective 
since 1980, 
extended for 
another six months

AP,
6 Sept, 1985

Unionist George 
Hazboun

Bethlehem Lifting of town 
restriction order 
effective during 
two preceding years

AF,
13 Sept. 1985

Gaza Strip residents Forbidden from 
crossing Allenby 
Bridge to Jordan

AT,
19 Sept. 1985

Dr. Thabet Ahmed 
Thabet, head of West 
Bank Dentists Union

Tulkarm Six-month town
restriction order

AT,
3 Oct. 1985 
AF,
4 Oct. 1985

60-year-old woman Khan Yunis Denial of authori­
zation to travel 
to Jordan for 
medical care

AT,
21 NOV. 1985

First two 
weeks of 
Nov. 1985

15 Dec. 85

Residents of 
villages in Jenin 
area

13 West Bank and 
Gaza Strip notables, 
including incumbent 
and deposed mayors 
of all major West 
Bank and Gaza 
Strip towns

Arrabeh, 
Qabatiya 
Bir al-Basha, 
Jenin camp

Travel ban

Travel ban

AF,
22 NOV. 1985

JP,
15 Dec. 1985 
M,
16 Dec. 1985

Town residents Deir-al-
Balah

Travel ban AF,
13 Dec. 1985
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Date
Subject(s) of 
restriction Place Type of restriction Source

16 Dec. 85 Town residents Tulkarm 
and refugee 
camps of 
Shweibeh, 
Kufr al-Dik, 
Burqin and 
Danabeh

Travel ban AF f
20 Dec. 1985

19 Jan. 86 Yusef Ju'beh, Al
Quds correspondent 
and bookstore owner

El Bireh Confinement to city AT,
limits for six 23 Jan. 1986
months AF,

24 Jan. 1986

Muhammade Subhi Rafah
al-Humsi, released 
political prisoner

19 March 86 Mustafa Natche, Hebron
deposed mayor

Town restriction 
order

Rejection of 
request to attend 
conference in Saudi 
Arabia

AF,
25 Jan. 1986

H, JP,
20 March 1986

Hussein Abu-Ajamieh

Nayef Abu-Aisheh

Dheisheh
refugee
camp

Bethlehem

Town restriction 
order for six 
months. Obligation 
to report daily to 
the Bethlehem police

Town restriction 
order for six 
months

H,
22 July 1986

H,
22 July 1986

Adnan Barham and 
Azat Kumsiyeh

Beit Sahur Town restriction 
order for six 
months. Interdic­
tion to leave the 
city. Obligation 
to report weekly 
to the Bethlehem 
police

H,
22 July 1986
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Date
Subject(s) of 
restriction Place Type of restriction Source

27 July 86 Nabil Jafara, 
student at
Bethlehem University

Abu Dis

27 July 86 Majed al-Labadi Abu Dis

27 July 86 Hamdi Freij, 
journalist at 
Al-Mithaa

27 July 86 Yousef Ju'beh, 
journalist

Dheisheh
refugee
camp

El-Bireh

27 July 86 Abdellatif Abu-Bakr, Jenin 
pharmacist

27 July 86 Hani A-Nassar, 
shopkeeper

27 July 86 Walid Talalweh and 
Mussadaq Tanuri

27 July 86 Wahid Hamdallah, 
mayor of Anabta

Jenin

Villages
near
Jenin

Anabta

Tovm restriction 
order (second time) 
for six months. 
Obligation to 
report weekly to 
the Bethlehem 
police

Town restriction 
order (fourth time) 
for six months. 
Obligation to 
report weekly to 
the Bethlehem 
Dolice

H,
27 July 1986 
JP,
■28 July 1986

H,
27 July 1986 
JP,
28 July 1986

Town restriction H,
order for six 27 July 1986
months. Obligation JP, 
to report daily to 28 July 1986 
the Bethlehem police

Town restriction 
order for six 
months

Town restriction 
order for six 
months

Town restriction 
order for six 
months

Town restriction 
order for six 
months

Town restriction 
order extended for 
another six months

H,
27 July 
JPf
28 July 

H,
27 July 
JP,
28 July 

H,
27 July 
JP,
28 July 

H,
27 July 
JP,
28 July 

H,
27 July 
JP,
28 July

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986
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Date
Subject(s) of 
restriction Place Type of restriction Source

7 Aug. 86 Shehadeh Minawi, 
head of General 
Federation of Labour 
Unions in the West 
Bank

Nablus Town restriction 
order for six 
months. Obligation 
to report daily to 
Nablus police

JP,
7 Aug. 1986

Adnan Kilani,
West Bank unionist

Ya 'abad Town restriction 
order for six 
months

AF,
14 Aug. 1986

Amal Wahdan,
West Bank unionist

El Bireh Town restriction 
order for six. 
months

AP,
14 Aug. 1986

Nimr Abd A1-Rahman 
Edwan

Qalqiliya Town restriction 
order for six 
months

AF,
22 Aug. 1986

(ii) Freedom of worship

276. On 4 December 1985, the Israeli military court in Gaza reportedly sentenced 
the Imam of A1 Katjba mosque to one-and-a-half years in prison and two-and-a-half 
years suspended term on charges of incitement during a religious speech made for 
the celebration of 27 Ramadan in April 1985. (Al-Tali*ah, 5 December 1985)

277. It was reported that the Israeli military court in Gaza had sentenced 
Sheikh Muhammad Abu Jamé, from Khan Yunis, to six months imprisonment and 
two-and-a-half years suspended sentence. He was reportedly charged and convicted 
of "incitement". The charge sheet said that the Sheikh had used his job as a 
mosque preacher to incite against the Israelis. (Al-Fajr, 17 January 1986)

278. On 3 February 1986, it was reported that East Jerusalem was shut dovm in 
another day of. protest against Israel's attempt to turn Al-Aqsa mosque into a 
synagogue. The strike reportedly coincided with a call by the Morocco-based 
Jerusalem Committee for a 30-minute work stoppage in all Muslim nations in protest 
against Israeli measures against Muslim holy sites in the occupied territories.
The general strike in East Jerusalem was the third of its kind since mid-January 
when Israel's Knesset members and other hardline Israelis attempted to hold 
"defiant" prayers on the mosque compound. The first two strikes were accompanied 
by demonstrations. The first strike occurred when the Israelis for the first time 
attempted to pray on the premises. The second occurred a week later when the 
Israeli parliamentarians returned for another "defiant" visit to the mosque area. 
(Al-Fair, 7 February 1986)
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279. The Israeli weekly Koteret Rashit reported in one of its February issues that 
Jewish settlers of Kiryat Arba and Hebron were still trying to take over Al-Ibrahiro 
mosque in Hebron. (Al-Fajt, 14 February 1986)

280. It was repotted that residents of Abu Ghosh village in Jerusalem were told not 
to call for prayers through loudspeakers at dawn. The Israeli authorities 
reportedly claimed that the prayer calls caused disturbance to the Jewish residents 
at settlements. (Al-Fajr, 21 February 1986)

(iii) Freedom of expression

281. On 2 August 1985, it was reported that the printing plant of the East 
Jerusalem newspaper Asha *b had been ordered closed for three days by the military 
censor. The newspaper had published, in defiance of a military censor's order, two 
articles on the death of two Nablus residents whose bodies were found in a car near 
Nablus after they had disappeared the previous week. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post;
2 August 1985)

282. On 13 September 1985, it was reported that the Al-Manar press agency in East 
Jerusalem was ordered closed for six months by the Central Region Commander. The 
agency was allegedly linked with the "Democratic Front". (Ha'aretz,
13 September 1985)

283. On 15 September 1985 it was reported that the Interior Ministry intended to 
close the East Jerusalem newspaper a-Darb, for its alleged sui^rt of the 
Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine. On 29 September, it was reported 
that.a closure order had been handed down by Rafi Levy on 27 September. No reason 
was cited in the closure order. The Association for Civil Rights in Israel 
reportedly condemned the closure, calling it a "blow against the freedom of 
expression". On 15 October, the Supreme Court ordered the state attorney to 
explain within 10 days why a-Darb should be closed. (Jerusalem Post, 15,
29 September 1985, 2, 11 and 16 October 1985; Yediot Aharonot, 15 September 1985;
Ma'ariv, 29 September 1985)

284. The New York-based committee to protect journalists expressed to Mr. Peres its 
concern over recent measures against members of the Palestinian press in the 
occupied territories. In the letter the Committee said "we have the impression 
that (these measures) are condoned by the highest level of the Israeli 
(tovernment." The measures included vandalism at Al-Fajr Arabic daily on
8 July 1985, requiring Palestinian newspapers to publish military advertisements, 
the three-day closure of Al Sha'ab Arabic daily on 1 August 1985 and the 
restrictions on Palestinian journalists. The letter also listed six journalists as 
being under town restrictions or having their movements restricted in one way or 
another. (Al-Fajr, 6 September 1985)

285. On 17 October 1985, the security authorities closed for 14 days the West Bank 
weekly magazine Al-Biadar As-Siasi, for alleged censorship violations. (Ha'aretz, 
Ma'ariv, 18 October 1985)
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286. On 29 November 1985, it was reported that the IDF had, the previous day, 
prevented East Jerusalem newspapers from reaching the West Bank. The newspapers 
affected by that measure were Al-Fajr, Al Quds, A 'shab and Al-Mithag. (Jerusalem 
Post, 29 November 1985)

287. On 7 March 1986, it was reported that a new weekly newspaper, a-Nahar, was 
being published in East Jerusalem as from that day. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
7 March 1986)

288. On 30 March 1986, it was reported that the civil administration in the West 
Bank had convened the newspaper distributers in the West Bank towns and ordered 
them not to distribute newspapers on Land Day, due on 30 March 1986, unless they 
were given a special authorization by the civil administration. (Ha'aretz,
30 March 1986)

289. On 19 June 1986, the civil administration banned distribution of the East 
Jerusalem newspaper Al-Fajr in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip for the following 
three days. The order cited "recurrent violations of censorship and endangering 
public safety" as reasons for the measure. Several days earlier the newspaper 
published an article quoted from the Hebrew daily Hadashot without submitting it to 
the censor. The article carried a report by Agence France Presse that the
"Force 17" terror organization was claiming responsibility for an army bus accident
in the Jordan Valley. (Ha'aretz, 22 June 1986? Jerusalem Post, 20 June 1986)

290. On 3 July 1986, the civil administration banned the distribution of two East 
Jerusalem newspapers, Al-Fajr and Al-Mithaq, in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip. 
The distribution of two others, Al-Quds and A 'shab, was delayed by several hours. 
Sources in the civil administration said the reason for the bapning and delay of 
distribution was the newspapers' failure to submit material to the censor.
(Ha'aretz, 4 July 1986)

291. On 7 July 1986, it was reported that an Interior Ministry official,
Raphael Levy, had notified the East Jerusalem newspaper Al-Mithaq and the magazine 
Al-Ahd, that he was considering their closure because they were "directed and 
operated" by the PFLP of George Habash. Representatives of the publications were 
ordered to appear the following week at Levy's office to answer the charges. On 
10 July, it was reported that the editor of Al-Mithaq, Mahmoud al-Khatib, had met 
with the heads of the journalists' association in Jerusalem and explained that his 
newspaper did not call for the destruction of Israel and that it had no contacts or 
links with any hostile organization. On 13 July, the Association of Israel
Journalists in Jerusalem urged the Interior Ministry not to close down Al-Mithaq
and Al-Ahd. On 15 July, Israeli and Palestinian journalists made separate appeals 
to the Interior Ministry against the closure of the two newspapers. At a press 
conference held in Jerusalem the editor of Al-Mithaq and the head of the Arab 
Journalists' Association, Radwan Abu-Ayash, accused Israel of trying to undermine 
the Palestinian press for political reasons. Al-Mithaq lawyer, Ellas Khoury, 
challenged the Government to produce evidence to back up its charges. The Interior 
Ministry deputy director-general and spokesman, Yitzhak Agassi, said the ministry's 
position remained unchanged? "The ministry would not have taken this step if it 
were not convinced that the paper was funded and directed by George Habash's
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organization", he said. On 12 August, the Interior Ministry official in charge of 
the Jerusalem district, Rafael Levy, closed Al-Mithaq and Al-Ahd. The closure 
order was based on the 1945 Emergency Regulations. On 13 August, the two 
publications applied to the High Court of Justice against the closure order. On
14 August, the High Court of Justice issued an order nisi asking the Interior 
Ministry officials to show cause within five days why they should not refrain from 
closing the two publications. At the High Court, Interior Ministry official 
Rafael Levy agreed to postpone the closure order for the following 10 days in 
exchange for the petitioner's promise not to insist on an interim order.- Supreme 
Court Deputy President Miriam Ben Porat criticized at the hearing the "hasty, 
ill-conceived" manner in which the two publications were closed. On 20 August, the 
High Court of Justice examined a file prepared by the General Security Service, 
designed to prove that the two publications were financed by the PFLP. A request 
by Advocate Elias Khoury, counsel for the publications, to be allowed to examine 
the file, was rejected by the three judges. On 24 August, it was reported that the 
High Court of Justice had determined that Al-Mithaq and Al-Ahd should be closed, 
after it was proved that the PFLP was financing and controlling both publications. 
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 7, 10, 13, 14 and 16 July 1986-, Ha'aretz, 13, 14, 15, 21 
and 24 August 1986; Jerusalem Post, 13 and 15 August 1986; Yediot Aharonot,
15 August 1986)

292. On 10 July 1986, the civil administration in the West Bank, for the third time 
in two weeks, delayed the distribution of four East Jerusalem newspapers in the 
West Bank and the Gaza Strip for alleged failure to submit material to the
censorship. East Jerusalem journalists on 10 July protested what they described as
the "new Israeli policy of oppression against the Palestinians' freedom of 
expression". On 14'July, it was reported that East Jerusalem journalists had been 
complaining about an alleged "heavy-handed attitude" by the censorship. (Ha'aretz, 
11 and 14 July 1986)

293. On 17 July 1986, it was reported that all the journalists who had taken part
in a meeting with notables from the territories, following the meeting on
26 May 1986 in East Jerusalem between the notables and the British Prime Minister 
Mrs. Thatcher, were summoned to the police for questioning. This followed reports 
that following the meeting with Mrs. Thatcher the notables, including Hana Seniora, 
Faiz Abu-Rahma, Rashad A-Shawa, Mustafa Natshe and Zair ar-Rais, had made 
declarations to the journalists that were clearly identical with the PLO and its 
objectives. (Yediot Aharonot, 17 July 1986)

294. On 9 August 1986, Central Region Commander Aluf (Major General) Ehud Barak 
issued a 24-hour closure order for the East Jerusalem theatre Al-Hakawati.
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 10 August 1986)

295. On 11 August 1986, the spokesman of Al-Najah University, Saeb Erakat, and 
political science lecturer Abdel Sattar Kassem were called into the Nablus police 
headquarters and charged with incitement on the basis of materials seized during an 
IDF search at the University on 3 June 1986. Erakat said that the material 
included university public relations bulletins, student council publications and 
articles on the university from local and foreign press. Erakat added that the
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lecturer Kassem had been charged in connection with his book The Prison Experience 
about the life in prison of Palestinians. Both men were released on bail of 
NIS 1,000 (approximately $660) each. (Jerusalem Post, 12 August 1986)

296. On 21 August 1986, the East Jerusalem Al Mawqef press and the Arab Council for 
Public Affairs were closed for three months by order of Central Region Commander 
Aluf Barak, following the seizure at the press of leaflets signed by Fatah.
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 22 August 1986)

(iv) Freedom of education 

Al-Najah University

297. On 2 August 1985, the civil administration ordered the closure for two months 
of Al-Najah University in Nablus. The closure reportedly followed the murder the 
previous week of an Israeli civilian in the town and the discovery on campus of 
material the military authorities termed as "likely to incite". It was reported 
that 32 students at Al-Najah University in Nablus had been affected by harsh 
Israeli measures, including imprisonment, possible deportation and town restriction 
orders. On 3 October 1985, Al-Najah University was re-opened. (Ha'aretz,
3 August 1985; Jerusalem Post, 4 August 1985; Al-Fajr, 4 and 11 October 1985)

298. On 17 December 1985, the security authorities closed Al-Najah University for 
one day. (Ha'aretz, 18 and 19 December 1985)

299. On 1 January 1986, the administration of the Al-Najah University reportedly 
decided to close the University until the end of the week for fear of disturbances 
linked with "Fatah day", which occurred that day. On 8 January, the University was 
again closed for one day by order of the security authorities in order to prevent 
Fatah supporters from holding a rally. (Ha'aretz, 2 and 9 January 1986)

300. On 7 May 1986, it was reported that security forces had placed roadblocks on 
access roads to the University over the previous couple of days, thus preventing 
classes from being held. The purpose of the roadblocks was to bar entry to people 
who did not hold student cards. (Ha'aretz, 7 May 1986)

301. On 4 June 1986, during the night, security forces raided the University and 
confiscated a large quantity of material described as propaganda material of 
nationalist character, including flags and pamphlets calling for an armed struggle 
against the occupation. Over 20 students were arrested on suspicion of preparation 
and distribution of inciting material. On the morning following the operation the 
army set up roadblocks at the. entrances to the campus and allowed access only to 
holders of student's cards and faculty members. A University spokesman.
Dr. Said Erakat, said the soldiers behaved brutally in the campus, broke furniture 
and beat two students. He also said that many students were prevented from 
entering the campus although they were holders of student's cards. (Ha'aretz,
5 June 1986)

302. On 28 July 1986, the IDF set up roadblocks at the access roads to the 
University and only holders of student cards were allowed to enter. On 30 July,
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roadblocks were again placed near the University banning entry to all students and 
faculty members. Military sources said the move was taken to prevent efforts to 
enlist students in hostile organizations during registration for the coming 
academic year. (Ha'aretz, 29 July 1986? Jerusalem Post, 31 July 1986)

Islamic University of Gaza

303. It was reported that 34 faculty and administration members at the Islamic 
University of Gaza, including its president, Mr. Mohammed Saker, were forced to 
leave the country a week earlier after the Israeli military authorities made 
renewal of their work and stay permits conditional on University acceptance of 
military interference in the university affairs. The permits in question were not 
renewed as the University refused to accept the conditions stipulated by the 
authorities. Israeli authorities reportedly agreed in September to allow 16 out of 
34 teachers at the University who were deported in July 1985 to return to the Gaza 
Strip. (Al-Fajr, 9 August and 6 September 1985)

304. On 27 December 1985, it was reported that occupation soldiers and border 
guards had cordonned off and raided the University. (Al-Tali'ah, 3 January 1986)

Hebron University

305. Seven lecturers at Hebron University were reportedly notified that their 
contract would not be renewed for the next academic year. No reasons were given 
for the decision. Two of these lecturers were allegedly removed from their posts 
six months earlier after they had attempted to organize a union. They were later 
reinstated under the pressure of national institutions in the occupied 
territories. (Al-Tali'ah, 15 August 1985)

306. It was reported that students had stepped up actions of protest during the 
week of 19 to 26 September 1985 following the dismissal of seven teachers by the 
Hebron University Board. Three teachers went on an unlimited hunger strike on 
18 September 1985 to protest the measure. They reportedly indicated that their 
dismissal was due to an attempt in November 1984 to organize a union to defend 
teachers' rights. (Al-Tali'ah, 26 September 1985)

307. On 14 July 1986, the head of the students' council at the University,
Mahmud Sakussa, was arrested following an anti-Jordanian demonstration held on
12 July 1986 in the campus. (Ha'aretz, 15 July 1986)

308. On 28 July 1986, the IDF set up roadblocks at the access roads to the
University and only holders of student cards were allowed to enter. (Ha'aretz,
29 July 1986)

Bethlehem University

309. Three Bethlehem University students were recently informed by the military 
authorities that they could not enter the university campus for six months. They 
were allegedly charged with inciting other students to nationalistic expression. 
(Al-Tali'ah, 15 August; Al-Fajr, 16 August 1985)
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310. On 30 October 1985, it was reported that Israeli occupation forces launched a 
repression campaign against students of Bethlehem University, using tear-gas to 
disperse a large number of students who were protesting the deportation orders and 
other repression measures carried out by the Israeli authorities in the occupied 
territories. As a result, students were stopped at checkpoints placed by the army 
at the entrances of Bethlehem University and banned from entering the campus. 
(Al-Tali *ah, 7 November 1985; Al-Fajr, 8 November 1985)

Bir Zeit University

311. On 30 October 1985, it was reported that Bir Zeit University students held a 
demonstration during which they set fire to tyres and erected stone-barricades on 
the road to the University and stoned Israeli cars. (Al-Tali * ah, 7 November 1985; 
Al-Fajr, 8 November 1985)

312. On 2 August 1986, security forces set up roadblocks at the entrance to 
Bir Zeit University, preventing students from entering the campus. (Al-Fajr, 
8 August 1986)

Other educational institutions

313. In the period between August 1985 and April 1986, the following teachers were 
notified by the Israeli authorities of their decision to dismiss them from their 
job without being provided any specific reason for such measure:
Iman Ihsan al Taher from Ramallah Teachers' Government College,
Antisar al-Sheikh Qassem, Mahmud Odeh from Dheisheh refugee camp, Amira Adawi from 
Kufur Malek in the Ramallah area and nine teachers from the Bethlehem area.
(Al-Tali'ah, 22 August 1985; Al-Fajr, 16, 23 August, 13 September 1985, 14 February 
and 25 April 1986)

314. It was reported that Israeli military authorities had distributed a memorandum 
to the headmasters of West Bank governmental schools. The memorandum ordered them 
to cancel the registration of new non-resident pupils of the 1985-1986 academic Щ
year. The headmasters were also ordered to forbid others to register next year.
(Al-Fajr, 11 October 1985)

315. The Israeli authorities had reportedly ordered a blind youth to leave 
Bethlehem where he attended school and to return to his home town in the Gaza 
Strip. The blind student had lived eight years in Beit Al-Rajaa Institute for the 
Blind in Bethlehem. According to the report, that measure would prevent the youth 
from sitting for his final-year examination. (Al-Tali'ah, 24 October 1985)

316. On 18 January 1986, the Israeli authorities reportedly prevented all students 
of the Al-Aqsa Islamic School from entering classrooms on the grounds of avoiding a 
clash between students and the members of Какй movement who were present in the 
premises of Al-Aqsa that day. (Al-Tali'ah, 23 January 1986)

317. On 17 April 1986, the Central Region Commander, Aluf (Major General) 
Ehud Barak issued an order closing for 14 days the Hebron Polytechnic school 
following violent riots there. (Ha'aretz, 17 April 1986)
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318. On 20 April 1986, the Israeli authorities reportedly decided to close down 
indefinitely two preparatory schools in the Jalazun refugee camp near Ramallah 
following stone-throwing incidents there. (Al-Fajr, 25 April 1986)

(c) Information on settlers* activities affecting the civilian population

319. On 15 August 1985, four members of Knesset of the right-wing Tehiya party, 
Geula Cohen, Yuval Ne’eman, Eliezer Waldman and Gershon Shafat, reportedly entered 
the flat in the Casbah area of Hebron that had earlier been occupied by'nine Kiryat 
Arba settlers. The members of Knesset were accompanied by a group of settlers.
The area was later declared a closed military area and the IDF evicted the 
settlers, but not the members of Knesset, who reportedly remained in the flat and 
were allowed to bring in food, chairs and mattresses. On 18 August, the inner 
cabinet decided not to permit Jews to inhabit the house in the Hebron Casbah where 
six members of Knesset were in their fourth day of a sit-in. On 19 August,
Rabbi Moshe Levinger, accompanied by eight settlers, blocked the entrance to the 
Casbah, protesting that closing the area to Jews only "constituted racism". On 
20 August, at dawn, the IDF evicted without incident the Knesset members who were 
holding a sit-in in a flat in the Casbah area of Hebron. (Ha’aretz, Jerusalem 
Post, 16 and 18 August 1985; Jerusalem Post, 19 and 20 August 1985; Yediot 
Aharonot, 20 August 1985; Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 21 August 1985)

320. On 4 September 1985, it was reported that, following the murder of a reservist 
and the wounding of another in the Hebron market, settlers in the town attempted to 
expand the Jewish presence in Tel Rumeida. The attempt was foiled by the security 
forces. The settlers of the Hebron Jewish quarter also cut open a passage from the 
"Abraham the Patriarch" area near the wholesale vegetable market into the Casbah. 
After they had cut open the passage they were evicted from the area, but the 
passage remained open. In a consultation between the heads of the Jewish councils 
in the West Bank and Gaza, the heads of Kiryat Arba and the Hebron settlers it was 
decided to set up the headquarters of the Jewish Councils in the territories in the 
Jewish quarter of Hebron until the Government took a decision with regard to the 
deteriorating security in the region. On 5 September, it was reported that the 
army had sealed the passage. The settlers later complained they were being placed 
in a ghetto. When the army lifted the curfew in the Casbah to allow residents to 
buy supplies the settlers intervened in an attempt not to allow a resumption of 
normal life only 24 hours after the murder of the reservist. Fifteen settlers, 
including Rabbi Levinger, entered the Casbah and clashes were reported with the 
security forces. Several settlers attempted to re-occupy the house in the Casbah 
in front of which the reservist was murdered, but they were forcibly evicted by a 
border guard. According to one report, Hebron settlers attacked two houses of 
released prisoners on the night of 4 September. (Ha'aretz, 4 September 1985;
Ha * aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 5 September 1985)

321. On 6 September 1985, it was reported that armed groups of Gush Emunin settlers 
had held "presence-demonstrations" in the streets of Ramallah and Nablus the 
previous day. Settler sources described the armed patrols as "helping to step up 
security" in the region and said that the settlers intended to continue holding 
such patrols in the following days. Military sources said that "patrolling the 
streets in West Bank towns with legally held weapons is not an offence, and
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therefore there is no reason to act against the settlers". On 8 September, the 
Defence Minister Mr. Yitzhak Rabin said at the weekly cabinet meeting that the 
Government would not permit armed settlers to patrol through Arab areas in the West 
Bank, but West Bank and Gaza Strip settlers said that despite the army and border 
police clampdown on the region, they had continued their armed patrols in major 
Arab towns. One of the organizers of these patrols in Hebron told the Jerusalem 
Post that settlers in groups of 6 to 10 men patrolled Tulkarem, Nablus and Jenin 
and were outside the Damascus Gate in Jerusalem. The settlers were armed with 
pistols. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot, 6, 8 and 9 September 1985)

322. On 7 September 1985, during the night, unidentified persons believed to be 
Kiryat-Arba and Hebron settlers tried to set fire to a house in Dura belonging to 
Mahmud Mohammad Atrash, whom they suspected of being a released prisoner. It later 
turned out that the man was a released prisoner's relative and that the released 
prisoner, Azmi Atrash, did not live in that house. Material damage was caused. 
Settlers also smashed windows in a house in the Balata refugee camp near Nablus 
belonging to a released prisoner. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot,
9 September 1985)

323. On 8 September 1985, after midnight, Hebron settlers led by
Rabbi Moshe Levinger occupied a house in the Casbah area bordering on the Jewish 
quarter. The settlers were forcibly evicted from the house by border guards. Four 
settlers were detained. (Ha'aretz, 9 September 1985)

324. On 12 September 1985, it was reported that following the suspension of the 
armed settlers' patrols in Arab towns, due to widespread criticism, the settlers 
adopted a different method. On 11 September, a group of settler women with little 
children or prams walked through Hebron "to demonstrate Jewish presence". The 
women were unarmed, but were accompanied by soldiers. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
12 and 13 September 1985)

325. On 27 September 1985, dozens of Kiryat Arba settlers, including "Kach" 
members, reportedly rioted and caused extensive damage in Halhul following an 
attack on an Egged bus in the area. An Israeli television crew that arrived on the 
scene to film the rioting was attacked by the settlers. In the rioting windows and 
windshields were smashed, including the windows of the local mosque. Settlers were 
also reported to fire shots in the air and to set fire to several shops.
(Ha'aretz, 29 September 1985; Jerusalem Post, 4 October 1985)

326. On 2 October 1985, it was reported that settler leaders in the West Bank had 
been given permission by the Defence Minister Mr. Rabin to hold a religious 
ceremony near Joseph's Tomb in Nablus, provided that no political speeches were 
held, that the number of participants be very small and that they should not remain 
in the site over night. It was also reported that the settlers intended, on the 
same occasion, to occupy several houses in Nablus that they had purchased from 
Arabs over the past two years. (Ha'aretz, 2 October 1985)

327. A number of Arab drivers operating in al-Arqoub village near Bethlehem 
reported that settlers from Hadar Bitar settlement established on Husan village 
land had begun to harass the Arab drivers by crowding them off the road, which was 
narrow and dangerous. (Al-Fajr, 15 November 1985)
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328. On 17 November 1985, it was reported that Knesset member Matti Peled 
(Progressive List for Peace) had requested that the Knesset hold an emergency 
session to discuss revelations that West Bank settlers were holding large 
quantities of weapons over which the IDF and the security bodies had no control. 
According to the military correspondent of Ha'aretz, Zeev Schief, the Central 
Region Command had attempted to control the individual weapons held by the 
settlers, but its efforts were of no avail. Mr. Peled said that "that stupefying 
revelation should not go unheeded ... today (the settlers) disobey the army and 
tomorrow they will hold arms against the Government", he said. (Ha'aretz,
17 November 1985)

329. A group of anti-occupation Israelis were allegedly attacked by armed settlers 
while in Dheisheh refugee camp. (Al-Fajr, 29 November 1985)

330. On 14 December 1985, the eighth day of the Jewish holiday of Hanukka, settlers 
in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip carried out a co-ordinated "candle-lighting 
operation" at Joseph's Tomb in Nablus, the ancient Jewish synagogue in Jericho, the
Patriarchs' Cave in Hebron and the ancient Jewish synagogue in Gaza. Settler
spokesmen said the operation was designed to symbolize the link between those parts 
of the land of Israel and the return to the sources and the roots. The IDF 
authorities reportedly did not interfere with the candle-lighting. (Ha'aretz,
15 December 1985)

331. On 19 January 1986, Israeli settlers from Ne'ot Adumiro settlement allegedly 
uprooted 130 olive trees belonging to Hamdan Jaafreh of al-Sawahreh al-Sharqiyeh 
village. They also reportedly obliged him, under the threat of the gun, to remove 
the barbed wire surrounding his land. The landowner filed a complaint at the 
Bethlehem police station against the settlers action. The landowner said that he 
received clearance to plant his land from the Israeli authorities before he started 
planting. (Al-Tali'ah, 23 January 1986, Al-Fajr, 31 January 1986)

332. According to Al-Fajr, settlers of Arya'el and Yakeer had intensified their 
harassment against Arab residents of Deir Hareth and Istya. Settlers allegedly use
weapons to threaten them, they also detain them and set fire in their fields.
(Al-Fajr, 21 February 1986, Al-Tali'ah, 27 February 1986)

333. On 26 March 1986, it was reported that several Kiryat Arba settlers on
24 March^ 1986, after midnight, entered the Patriarchs' Cave in Hebron, knocked down 
wooden partitions between a synagogue and a mosque and desecrated Muslim prayer 
rugs by treading them while wearing shoes. They reportedly attacked soldiers and 
policemen who tried to evict them. Three settlers were finally arrested while 
others reportedly eluded the police. The three were released on bail later in the 
day. On 26 March 1986 Jewish settlers in Hebron held a noisy carnival procession 
in the centre of the town. (Ha'aretz, 27 March 1986; Jerusalem Post, 26 March 1986)

334. On 3 April 1986, it was reported that representatives of the Hebron Jewish 
settlers had requested the authorities to extend the validity of the order 
authorizing them to pray on Friday nights in a room situated in the Muslim section 
of the Patriarchs' Cave. The room, known as "Isaac's Tent", was reportedly used by 
Muslim worshippers as a mosque. (Ha'aretz, 3 April 1986)

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 84

335. On 10 April 1986, it was reported that the Gaza district council of Jewish 
settlements had decided to step up their struggle against the resettlement of 8,000 
refugees from "Canada camp" in Sinai to Tel-Sultan^ which is adjacent to the Jewish 
settlement of Rafiah-Yam. On 14 April, it was reported that the Tel-Sultan area 
had been declared closed military area following a rally held by Gaza district 
settlers on a hill overlooking the site to protest against the planned resettlement 
of refugees there. (Ha'aretz, 10, 11, 14 and 15 April 1986; Jerusalem Post,
16 April 1986)

336. On 13 April 1986, Kiryat Arba settlers reportedly warned residents of Hebron 
not to attend a Peace Now meeting due to be held in the town the next day. Settler 
sources said they would use all possible means to prevent the meeting from taking 
place. On 14 April, some 100 settlers set up road blocks on roads leading to 
Hebron in an attempt at preventing the participants in the Peace Now meeting from 
reaching the town. On 15 April, police detained several settlers, most of them 
from Kiryat Arba, who had reportedly rioted after the Peace Now meeting was over. 
(Ha'aretz, 14, 15, 16 and 17 April 1986; Jerusalem Post, 14 and 15 April 1986)

337. On 22 April 1986, it was reported that, in reaction to a decision by the 
Defence Minister Mr. Rabin not to approve the holding of a rally on 27 April 1986 
to commemorate the eighteenth anniversary of Jewish settlement in Hebron, the 
Gush Emunim secretariat announced that if it could not have the decision cancelled 
by political means, the rally would be held even without a permission. The rally 
was planned to be held outside the Patriarch's Cave, with the participation of the 
Foreign Minister Mr. Yitzhak Shamir, but Mr. Rabin decided not to authorize the 
Gush Emunim rally and a counter-rally planned by Peace Now. On 28 April, it was 
reported that over 10,000 people had answered the Gush Emunim call to visit Hebron 
in a show of support for the settler movement. Gush Emunim organized the "tours" 
of Hebron following the Defence Minister's refusal to allow it to hold a rally in 
the town. A settler armed with a submachine-gun led a group of visitors to sites 
which, he said, proved that Jews had lived in the town in the past. (Ha'aretz,
22 April 1986; Jerusalem Post, 28 April 1986)

338. On 7 May 1986, during the late evening hours, some 100 settlers from Gaza 
Strip settlements set up tents on the site of the resettlement of Palestinian 
refugees from "Canada camp" to Tel-Sultan. The Council of Jewish settlements in 
the territories announced that the purpose of that settlement was to protest 
against the intended resettlement of Arab refugees in the area. The council called 
for an immediate extension of the Israeli law to the Gaza Strip. The IDF 
reportedly did not prevent the settlers from reaching the site. On 9 May, it was 
reported that during the night reinforced IDF troops had evacuated the settlers 
from the Tel-Sultan site. The evacuation operation was carried out without using 
force and the settlers were taken to the Rafah police station, where criminal files 
were opened against 32 of them, for illegally entering into a closed area.
(Ha'aretz, 8 and 9 May 1986)

339. On 12 May 1986, it was reported that the security authorities had authorized 
the march planned by Gush Emunim to be held on Independence Day to commemorate the 
tenth anniversary of Jewish settlement in Samaria. The authorization was given on 
condition that the participants in the march undertook not to alight from their
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vehicles inside the tovm of Nablus and not to gather in large groups near Joseph’s 
Tomb and near Tel-Balata, close to the Balata refugee camp. In addition to the 
march and visits the settlers were organizing a festive assembly in Eilon Moreh.
On 15 May, it was reported that thousands of supporters had taken part in the 
Gush Erounim organized events. The tours and visits in the Nablus area gave rise to 
serious incidents in which several people were injured (see table of incidents). 
(Ha'aretz, 12 May 1986; Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 15 May 1986)

340. On 2 June 1986, the Jerusalem police refused to allow Gush Emunim to hold a 
nocturnal march around the Temple Mount to mark Jerusalem Day on 5 June 1986. On
4 June, it was reported that the police authorized Gush Emunim to hold its march 
around the Temple Mount on condition that certain modifications in the itinerary 
were accepted. It was also agreed that at the end of the march a rally would be 
held at the northern area of the Mount of Olives. A Gush Emunim spokesperson, 
Daniela Weiss, told the Ha'aretz correspondent that her movement would hold "study 
tours" in Jewish sites in the Muslim quarter of the Old City. "We shall explain to 
the visitors that the name 'Muslim Quarter' is only provisional", she said, adding 
that Gush Emunim intended to mark Jerusalem Day yearly with similar operations. On
5 June, it was reported that the Jerusalem police had barred Gush Emunim from 
marching through the Muslim quarter. The Gush Emunim march coincided with Muslim 
prayers marking the last Friday of the Ramadan. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 3, 4 
and 5 June 1986)

341. On 12 June 1986, a group of unauthorized settlers reportedly took over an 
empty structure overlooking Nablus. Spokesmen for the squatters said they moved in 
after the Defence Ministry refused them permission to spend the night of the Jewish 
holiday of Shavu'ot at Joseph's TOrob. On 16 June, IDF troops evicted four
Gush Emunim squatters from the slopes of Mount Gerizim where they had put up 
tents. Military sources said the settlers packed their gear and left without 
incident after being ordered to evacuate the area. (Ha'aretz, 17 June 1986; 
Jerusalem Post, 15 and 17 June 1986)

342. On 1 July 1986, it was reported that the Hebron police had arrested for 
questioning several settlers, some of whom were activists of the Kach movement from 
Hebron and Kiryat Arba on suspicion of having set fire, several days earlier, to an 
Arab resident’s car and having attempted to set fire to his home. The Hebron 
police reportedly continued its investigation. No suspects had so far been 
detained, although several Kach activists had been questioned. (Ha'aretz, 1 and
2 July 1986)

343. On 7 August 1986, a group of Kiryat Arba settlers allegedly attacked 
Abdul Rahim Jaber, aged 95. A large stone one settler allegedly hurled at him 
struck his head and passersby rushed him to a hospital in Hebron. (Al-Fajr,
14 August 1986)

344. On 7 August 1986, it was reported that some 200 Gush Emunim members who wanted 
to pray at the ancient synagogue in Jericho were prevented from reaching the site 
by IDF troops. Following the attempt the area was declared a closed military 
zone. On 8 August, it was reported that members of the Tehiya settlement group and 
Gush Emunim, accompanied by Knesset member Geula Cohen and Rabbi Moshe Levinger,
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had succeeded in getting through IDF roadblocks and reaching the vicinity of the 
Jericho synagogue. On 8 August, members of the Gush Emunim Jericho settlement 
group, led by Rabbi Moshe Levinger of Kiryat Arba, reportedly held prayers in the 
synagogue. An army spokesman said the group had camped out at the army roadblocks 
near the synagogue the previous night and was allowed into the synagogue the 
following day. (Ha*aretz, Jerusalem Post, 7 and 8 August 1986; Jerusalem Post,
10 August 1986)

4. Treatment of detainees 

(see paras. 54-59 above)

345. Forty Palestinian prisoners, including 10 teenagers, detained in the Russian 
Compound at Jerusalem, reportedly decided to continue a hunger strike started on 
21 July 1985 to protest poor living conditions in the prison. (Al-Tali'ah,
2 August 1985)

346. On 6 August 1985, it was reported that lawyer Lea Tsemel had filed a complaint 
with the head of the General Security Service and with the legal adviser of the 
West Bank civil administration, alleging that her client Khaled Mahmud Daleisha, a 
31-year-old engineer from El-Bireh, had been tortured and beaten during his 
interrogation. (Ha'aretz, 6 August 1985)

347. The Jneid prison administration at Nablus reportedly opened a special section 
to house about 70 youths from different parts of the West Bank who were detained 
under administrative orders. (Al-Tali'ah, 12 September 1985)

348. It was reported that Palestinian women imprisoned at Neve Tertza on political 
charges were demanding separate quarters from criminal prisoners. (Al-Fajr,
13 September 1985)

349. On 26 September 1985, it was reported in the weekly Zu-Haderekh that the 
situation in the Ashkelon prison was extremely tense. According to the report on
11 September 1985, following the inmates' refusal to be counted while standing up, 
the prison authority allegedly set border guards at the inmates. The guards 
allegedly carried out "vindictive searches", confiscated objects from the inmates, 
beat them, used tear gas and denied the inmates food and water. Inmates who were 
injured from the beatings received medical treatment only two days later. Some 400 
security prisoners from the territories were held in the Ashkelon gaol, according 
to the report, in conditions of extreme overcrowding. (Zu-Haderekh,
26 September 1985)

350. On 15 October 1985 it was reported that, according to advocates Felicia Langer 
and Lea Tsemel, 46 administrative detainees had gone on hunger strike four days 
earlier at the Nablus prison, to protest against the transfer of some of them to 
Beersheba prison. On 17 October 1985 dozens of women, mothers, sisters and wives 
of administrative detainees reportedly held a sit-in strike at the Red Cross
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offices at East Jerusalem, in protest against alleged ill-treatment and harsh 
prison conditions of the detainees. (Ha'aretz, 15 October 1985; Zu-Haderekh,
23 October 1985)

351. On 21 October 1985, Police Minister Haim Bar-Lev said after visiting the Gaza 
prison that the severe overcrowding in the prisons "forces us to consider releasing 
prisoners who are not leaders and who were not convicted of bloody crimes, who had 
already served most of their prison terms, so that more space is available for 
other prisoners". Police sources said that the release of security prisoners could 
be carried out gradually, after the security authorities confirmed that the 
released prisoners would not be a security risk. According to one report the 
density in Gaza prison was 1.8 square metres per prisoner, as compared to between 
2.8 and 3.5 metres in Israeli prisons. There was insufficient room for beds in all 
the cells and, as a result, many slept on mattresses on the floor. In one instance 
60 to 80 detainees were arrested one night and were kept in a cell so small there 
was only standing room for them. Some cells reportedly lacked showers and 
toilets. In the case of security prisoners who refused to go out to work prisoners 
were locked in their cells for more than 21 hours a day. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem 
Post, 22 October 1985)

352. On 5 November 1985, lawyer Jawad Boulos visited the section for juveniles in 
the Russian Compound, Jerusalem, where he met two boys - 14 and 12 and a half years 
old - who had been allegedly tortured during interrogation without confessing to 
any of the charges against them: demonstrating and manufacturing and throwing an
incendiary bottle. (Al-Tali'ah, 7 November 1985)

353. On 10 November 1985, it was reported that 80 out of 90 administrative 
detainees from the territories had recently been transferred from prisons in the 
West Bank to the detention ward in the Beersheba prison. Mr. Shimon Malka, 
spokesman for the Prisons Service, said that the reason for the transfer was to try 
and improve the detainees' conditions and to overcome the problem of overcrowding. 
In a reply to a question as to whether the transfer was a violation of the Geneva 
Convention, Mr. Malka said that the Central Region Commander had enacted emergency 
regulations in the territories and, therefore, holding the detainees inside the 
boundaries of the State of Israel constituted no violation of the Geneva 
Convention. On 27 November 1985 the High Court of Justice reportedly ordered the 
military commanders of the West Bank and the Gaza Strip, and the prisons 
commissioner, to show cause within 30 days vrtiy they should not return 60 
administrative detainees held at the Beersheba prison to prisons in the 
territories, in their petition the detainees argued that since they were residents 
of an occupied territory, Israel, the occupying Power, was barred from transferring 
them to its own territory. (Ha'aretz, 10 November 1985; Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 
28 November 1985)

354. On 18 November 1985, lawyer Jawad Boulos was reported as saying that no reason 
had been provided for the confinement of administrative detainee Samir Sbeihat in 
isolation. Sbeihat, a former student council head at Bir Zeit University, had been 
held in isolation for nearly one month. (Al-Fair, 22 November 1985)
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355. It was reported that living conditions for Palestinian political detainees in 
Nafha prison, in the Negev desert, were extremely harsh. Prison authorities had 
reportedly stepped up provocative measures against inmates in Nafha and confiscated 
books in their possession. (Al-Tali'ah, 21 November 1985; Al-Fajr,
22 November 1985)

356. On 10 December 1985, it was reported that hundreds of security prisoners in 
the central prison at Nablus (Jneid) and in the Jenin prison were on a partial 
hunger strike over the previous week. On 11 December 1985 it was reported that 
some 1,500 security prisoners in Ashkelon gaol and in several West Bank gaols had 
been on a hunger strike the previous day, and that for some of them it was the 
sixth day without food. The existence of the hunger strike was confirmed on
10 December 1985 by a senior Red Cross official. According to one report the 
prisoners were protesting against an "iron-fist policy" allegedly introduced by the 
wardens following the release of 1,150 prisoners in May 1985. Their main 
complaints concerned humiliating practices they were submitted to, physical 
violence, overcrowded cells, bad living and health conditions, as well as the 
denial of the right to receive visits from their lawyers. The Prisons Commissioner 
told the lawyers that he would not give in on any demands concerning security 
arrangements, but that he was willing immediately to improve the quality of food 
and raise sanitation standards if the strike ended. On 13 December 1985 it was 
reported that the prisoners had suspended their strike the previous night. 
(Ha'aretz, 10 December 1985; Jerusalem Post, 11, 12 and 13 December 1985)

357. Palestinian detainees at Al-Fara'a detention centre reportedly launched a 
warning strike to be followed by an open hunger strike if their demands were not 
met. Their four major complaints concerned malnutrition, ill-treatment, lack of 
medical care and the detention of children in the same premises as adults. 
(Al-Ittihad, 20 December 1985)

358. On 25 December 1985, two security prisoners, Abu Khaled Sami Mussa and 
Azat Mahmud Zaki, both 19, were strangled to death in their cell in the Gaza 
central prison. On 30 December 1985 it was reported that two security prisoners 
serving life sentences had confessed to the murder. The two victims were 
reportedly suspected of collaboration with the authorities. Prisons Service 
Commissioner Rafi Suissa appointed a committee to inquire into the killing. 
(Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 27 December 1985; Ha'aretz, 30 December 1985)

359. It was reported that prisoner Jibril Rajub from the village of Dura, Hebron 
district, has ended the opened hunger strike he started 40 days earlier after the 
prison authorities agreed to his demands. The demands included the permission to 
meet his lawyer and an end to intensive interrogation as well as physical and 
psychological torture. (Al-Tali'ah, 2 January 1986, see also A/AC.145/R.336, 
para. 21)

360. On 19 January 1986, Palestinian prisoners,held in Al-Fara'a detention camp 
went on a one-day hunger strike to protest against malnutrition and lack of medical 
care. (Al-Tali'ah, 23 January 1986)
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361. On 28 January 1986, it was reported that the IDF had decided to transfer, 
within one month, some 500 security prisoners from prisons in Israel to a military 
prison. The decision was reportedly taken due to the severe overcrowding in the 
civilian prisons. According to the report, with 8,200 criminals and security 
prisoners held in the civilian prisons, the overcrowding reached an unprecedented 
point, and the transfer of 500 security prisoners would alleviate the 
overcrowding. (Ha'aretz, 28 January 1986)

362. On 4 February 1986, the police commander in charge of the West Bank south of 
Shilo described prison conditions in his district. He said, at a meeting 
summarizing the Judea police activities in 1985, that detention cells in his 
district were not fit for human occupation. He said that the cells were designed 
for 36 detainees but, on average, 87 people were detained in them.
(Jerusalem Post, 5 February 1986)

363. On 5 February 1986, the weekly magazine Zu-Haderekh reported several cases of 
alleged ill-treatment of Arab detainees. Hussam Abdul Rahman Othman from the 
Balata refugee camp, Ahmed Zaki al-Ariri from Jenin and Ayad Yusef Mahmud Salameh 
from Bidia complained, through Adv. Felicia Langer, of being badly beaten by their 
interrogators in Nablus and Jenin gaols. (Zu-Haderekh, 5 February 1986)

364. On 23 February 1986, a prisoner in Jenin prison, Walid Greifat, aged 25, from 
the Nur a-Shams refugee camp, was beaten and strangled to death in his cell by 
inmates who suspected him of collaboration. The prisoner was serving a one-year 
term for hostile terrorist activity. (Ha'aretz, 24 February 1986)

365. On 23 February 1986, a lawyer delegation from Gaza reportedly visited Kfar 
Yona prison and met prisoners there. Kfar Yona prisoners reportedly went on strike 
for two days in protest against the "unbearable crowdedness in gaol”. Eighty-seven 
Palestinian political prisoners were transferred to Kfar Yona prison after the 
Israeli authorities reconverted it to a prison for political as well as criminal 
detainees. (Al-Fajr, 28 February 1986)

366. On 24 February 1986, it was reported that a group called Centre for 
Alternative Information and lawyers dealing with defending accused West Bank and 
Gaza residents, had prepared and published a report on the use of torture during 
interrogation of security detainees in the territories. According to the report 
there was a significant drop in the number of complaints of torture during 
interrogation in the years 1977-1984, but in the past year their number has again 
risen considerably. Adv. Lea Tsemel said in a press conference at Jerusalem that 
most of the complaints came from detainees who denied the charges against them.
The report contained detailed complaints of 27 detainees. Most of the complaints 
concerned General Security Service interrogators. The situation in Gaza was, 
according to the report, worse than in the West Bank. (Ha'aretz, 24 February 1986)

367. On 28 February 1986, it was reported that following an application by seven 
Arab prisoners, the High Court of Justice ordered the director of the central 
prison of the West Bank, in Nablus, to improve conditions in the prison by creating 
employment for inmates and providing tables, so that inmates should not eat on the 
floor. After the three Supreme Court judges had visited and examined the detention
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conditions, they rejected the application. They nevertheless realized that the 
cells were overcrowded and that prisoners had to eat on the floor, since there were 
no tables in the cells. (Ha'aretz, Yediot Aharonot, 28 February 1986)

368. On 30 March 1986, it was reported that a student at the Al-Najah University 
had petitioned the High Court of Justice, asking it to order the military commander 
in the West Bank to stop torturing him. The petitioner, Hamza Ahmed Hussein 
Abu-Hafisa, from the village of lllar, in the Tulkarem area, said he was arrested 
on 17 March 1986 and held in the Jenin prison. He alleged that, during the first 
two days of his detention, he had been tortured. (Ha'aretz, 30 March 1986)

369. On 21 April 1986, it was reported that the High Court of Justice would hear, 
in a three-Justice bench, a petition by two Al-Najah University students who 
alleged that they had been tortured during their interrogation by General Security 
Service (GSS) agents. The applicants asked the High Court to instruct the 
authorities to rafrain from torturing them and to release them from detention. 
(Ha'aretz, 21 April 1986)

370. On 23 April 1986, political prisoners in Hebron gaol reportedly suspended 
their hunger strike, which had lasted for eight days, after some of their demands 
were met. The prisoners' demands were principally aimed at putting an end to 
alleged brutality by prison guards and to collective punishment, and at improving 
detention conditions. (Al-Fajr, 25 April 1986)

371. On 7 May 1986, it was reported that a police staff sergeant-major from the
Samaria sub-district had been charged in the police disciplinary court in 
Petah-Tikva with beating a prisoner with electric cords to force him to confess to 
a murder. (Jerusalem Post, 7 May 1986)

372. On 13 June 1986 it was reported that Samir Murad Ba'ba', 35, from Tulkarem,
detained in Jenin prison pending trial on charges of membership in PFLP, was 
complaining of torture and being denied family visits. (Al-Fair, 13 June 1986)

373. On 20 June 1986, Palestinian female prisoners in Neve Tirtza prison 
demonstrated, by shouting and destroying furniture following a scuffle between them 
and Israeli criminal female prisoners. A Palestinian detainee,
Ilham Muhammad al-Qutub, was beaten by Israeli prisoners, and was later put in 
solitary confinement. The Palestinian prisoners also demonstrated against the 
transfer of five of them to solitary confinement in Abu-Kabir prison in Tel Aviv. 
Following the violent demonstration the prisoners were sprayed with tear gas, and 
were later made to sleep the night in the tear-gassed room. The next day the 
Palestinian female prisoners at Neve Tirtza went on a two-day hunger strike. 
(Ha'aretz, Ma'ariv, Yediot Aharonot, 24 June 1986; Ma'ariv, 25 June 1986;
Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

374. On 26 June 1986, it was reported that Adv. Walid al-Fahoum, head of the legal 
department of the Prisoners' Friends Committee, had submitted a report on prison 
conditions in Jneid and Kfar Yona gaols. According to the report Palestinian 
prisoners in both prisons were severely beaten and tear-gassed in mid-June 1986. 
Several of the prisoners' leaders were put in solitary confinement. At the source 
of the unrest were prisoners' protests against overcrowding, bad conditions and
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transfers of prisoners to other prisons. Prisoners in Kfar Yona also protested 
against the administration's refusal to allow them to pray together on the Al-Adha
Muslim holiday, and to allow inmates in various sections to visit each other on the
holiday occasion. (Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

375. On 27 June 1986, it was reported that Palestinian political detainees in
Beersheba prison had sent a letter to the local press the previous week, alleging 
that they were attacked in their cells by Israeli soldiers. They were allegedly 
tear-gassed, clubbed and beaten harshly. Many were locked in solitary confinement 
and the personal belongings of others were destroyed or confiscated. The attacks
reportedly followed protest actions by the prisoners in order to c^stain improved
conditions. (Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

376. On 3 August 1986, the High Court of Justice decided that Prisons Service 
officials were authorized to hold an inmate in solitary confinement "in order to 
ensure that individual's safety", even though he may be prepared to take his
chances in a general prison wing. The decision came in response to a petition
filed by a West Bank Arab at Nablus prison. The State argued that the prisoner, 
who had co-operated with authorities in the past, would be harmed by terror 
organizations operating within the prison, and should therefore be kept apart.
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 4 August 1986)

377. On 21 August 1986, representatives of prisoners' families from the Hebron jail 
demonstrated outside the Red Cross offices at Jerusalem to protest against the 
conditions prevailing in that prison and in sympathy with the inmates who were 
reportedly on hunger strike since 18 August 1986. The prisoners were striking in 
protest over several recent measures taken by the prison authorities: holding 
security prisoners together with criminal prisoners in the new wing opened in the 
Hebron jail; use of violence and torture against the inmates,, bad food, 
confiscation of a special delivery of candy to the inmates on the occasion of the 
Id al-Adha holiday and shortening visiting time from 30 to 10 minutes. A spokesman 
for the Prisons Service denied that there was a hunger strike at Hebron jail and 
said he was not aware of the problems mentioned by the prisoners' families. 
According to one report the prisoners were also protesting against the lack of 
drinking water. Hot water for bathing was non-existent, prisoners were denied any 
medical treatment and were also subject to arbitrary attacks by the guards and 
frequent attacks with tear gas in their cells. They were also allegedly denied the 
right to pray together and to meet together for congratulations on the feast. 
(Ha'aretz, 21 August 1986; Al-Fajr, 22 August 1986)

5. Annexation and settlements 

(see sect. IV.C, paras. 77 and 78 above)

(a) Policy

378. On 25 November 1985, it was reported that Meron Benvenisti said at a press 
conference that most of the Jewish settlements in the West Bank were too weak to 
sustain themselves, and that if the Government stopped supporting them they would 
collapse. According to the West Bank Data Base Project, the number of settlers in
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the West Bank increased by 10,000 over the past year and at present reached
52,000. The increase was mostly in settlements close to Tel Aviv or Jerusalem. 
Three-quarters of the settlers lived within 20 kms of Jerusalem, or within a 
40-minute drive from the Tel Aviv area. Benvenisti said that the 52 settlements 
established by Gush Emunim, with a population of some 10,000 settlers, stagnated 
over the past year. Benvenisti found that the Government was spending large 
amounts on keeping the settlements going. According to Benvenisti, if the present 
rate of settlement should continue, the forecast of 100,000 Jewish settlers in the 
West Bank by the end of the decade should remain unaltered. On 27 November 1985, 
it was reported that the Gush Emunim rejected Dr. Benvenisti's findings as 
"distorted and erroneous". There were at present 62,000 Jewish settlers in the 
West Bank, and not 52,000, and the potential for more settlers was not weakening. 
The decline in construction was similar to the one felt in other parts of the 
country, and 19 new settlements were established recently in tough locations, 
peopled by "ideologically motivated" groups, numbering some 150 families. These 
settlements are: Beit-Hagai, Maaleh-Levona, Eli, Yitzhar, Peduel, Nahliel, Sanur,
Rafiah-Yam and Netzarim. (Ha*aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 25 November 1985;
Ha 'aretz, 27 ISJOvember 1985)

379. On 30 December 1985, the Knesset Finance Committee approved a budget of 
IS 5 billion (approximately $3.5 million) for settlement in the territories, 
following an agreement between the representatives of the Alignment and Likud and 
the Committee chairman. (Ha'aretz, 31 December 1985)

380. On 10 January 1986, it was reported that, according to a study by 
Michael Romann published earlier in the week by the West Bank Data Base Project 
headed by Dr. Meron Benvenisti, the future development area of Kiryat Arba would 
totally surround Hebron, and would be larger than the entire municipal area of 
jurisdiction of the Arab town. The process of locating state-owned lands for 
Kiryat Arba was still under way. When completed, it could reach 4,000 to
6,000 dunams, allowing for the construction of 5,000 housing units - including the 
existing flats - and for a population of 21,000. According to the study, there 
were at present 3,000 Jews in Kiryat Arba and Hebron, and some 6,000 Arabs in 
Hebron. According to the plan, all the State-owned lands within that area were 
designed for Jewish construction; access and connection roads, would reportedly be 
expropriated from their Arab owners. The Arab areas within that zone would be 
restricted for farming, open areas or future development, and urban construction 
there would be prohibited. In a related development, the Committee for the Renewal 
for Jewish Settlement in Hebron published a blue-print providing for the seizure of 
70 dunams of formerly Jewish property inside Hebron, in the sites of the wholesale 
market, bus terminal and Tel-Rumeida. Under the plan 500 flats would be built in 
that area, with a Jewish population of 3,000. At a later stage, the plan proposed 
to connect the three sites inside the old town (Hadassa House, Romano House and 
"Abraham the Patriarch" compound), by buying or. expropriating lands, and to create 
a continuous Jewish settlement similar in its dimensions to the Jewish quarter in 
the old city of Jerusalem. As a long-term plan it was proposed to connect the 
Jewish quarters with the Patriarchs' Cave through the Casbah of Hebron. (Ha'aretz, 
10 January 1986)
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381. On 14 January 1986, the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure, Moshe Shahal, 
told roeiDbers of the Jordan Valley local council that the Jordan Valley would remain 
part of the State of Israel in any future arrangement with Jordan. (Ha'aretz,
15 January 1986)

382. On 15 January 1986, the Minister of Housing and Construction, David Levy, told 
a meeting of his Herut movement, held at Maaleh-Adumim, that 13 new settlements 
would be set up in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip during 1986. Finance Minister 
Yitzhak Modai said at the meeting that the national unity government had to set up 
27 new settlements during its term of office, according to the coalition agreement. 
(Ha'aretz, 16 January 1986)

383. On 27 March 1986, the Central Bureau of Statistics released figures on changes 
Щ  in the population in the State and in the territories. The number of Jewish

settlers in the territories increased by 4,800 in 1985, bringing the total to
42,000. (Jerusalem Post, 28 March 1986)

(b) Measures

384. On 6 August 1985, the head of the Jewish Agency's Settlement Department, 
Mattityahu Drobles, said that the Migdalim settlement, south-east of Nablus, 
bordering on the Jordan Valley region, would be set up on 1 September 1985. The 
second of the six settlements that would be created, Neot-Adumim, had its 
infrastructure under construction, while the remaining four settlements, Peles, 
Assa'el, Beitar and Avney-Hefetz, were still being planned. (Ha'aretz,
7 August 1985)

385. On 6 August 1985, the secretary-general of Gush Emunim, Daniela Weiss, told 
the Jerusalem Post that Gush Emunim leaders had concluded that their movement must 
pass from the stage of spreading out over the area to the stage of strengthening 
its hold over it. Accordingly, it was decided that Eli, a small new settlement on

^  the Nablus-Ramallah road, should be turned into a full-fledged town. The expansion 
BF of Eli should be followed, according to the Gush Emunim planners, by the 

development of Eilon Moreh, Brakha and Kiryat Arba. On 2 October 1985 the 
cornerstone-laying ceremony of Eli took place. According to the report the 
Gush Emunim planned there a town of 2,000 families. Speaking at the ceremony 
Deputy Prime Minister David Levy said that 8 new settlements had been set up in the 
West Bank over the past year, and 8 more should be set up in the coming year. Some
6,000 housing units were being built at present. David Levy added that some 250 
families were expected to live in Eli initially. At present, only 12 families 
reportedly lived in the settlement. (Jerusalem Post, 8 August and 3 October 1985)

386. The Israeli Military Objection Committee at Ramallah rejected a petition by 
Mr. ftohammed al-Nabahin of Ta'amreh village against the confiscation of his 
12-dunam plot near Bethlehem. (Al-Fair, 9 August 1985)

387. On 13 August 1985, it was reported that a police investigation was under way 
into some 200 complaints by Arab landowners in the West Bank, who maintained that 
their signatures had been forged on purchase documents and their land had been sold 
without their knowledge. Some also claimed their land was taken from them through
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threats, force and extortion. Deputy state attorney. Plia Albeck, the Justice 
Ministry's expert on West Bank land, reportedly forbade - following the uncovering 
of several cases of illegally conducted land deals in the area - land sales by 
Israelis in areas unapproved for settlement, but private entrepreneurs and 
contracting companies continued to sell land, apparently with political backing 
from certain quarters (such as the Agriculture Ministry, when Ariel Sharon was 
Minister and Michael Dekel was his Deputy). it was reported that two more West 
Bank dealers were arrested in the first week of September 1985, as police continued 
to investigate land fraud on the West Bank. Thus far, 10 people had been arrested 
in connection with the case, including two Israeli lawyers - Mr. Uri Ben Yehuda and 
Mr. Sami Me'olam - and West Bank land dealer Ahmed Odeh. It was also reported that 
despite police requests, Tel Aviv District Court Judge Hamrah Sharon released three 
of the principal suspects in the case from police custody. They were suspected of 
forging signatures on land deeds. Three of them were released on IS 5 million 
(approximately $3,335) bail each after spending the previous 45 days in detention. 
On 24 October 1985, new fraudulent deals were discovered after investigation into 
fraud cases was halted by Israeli authorities. On 10 January 1986 it was reported 
that nearly two dozen Arabs from Nablus and surrounding villages were being held by 
police on suspicion of falsifying documents related to the West Bank land-fraud 
investigation. The police had reportedly questioned the suspects for 14 days but 
had not yet charged them. It was learnt that formal charges would be brought 
against only four or five of the suspects. The Arabs had complained to police and 
the Israel Lands Administration that their land was wrongly taken from them and 
that they were forced to sell their property under threats, but according to 
information in the hands of the police, the Arabs had falsified documents in order 
to show that the land sales were "fraudulent". (Jerusalem Post, 13 August 1985 and 
10 January 1986; Al-Fajr, 6 September 1985; Al-Tali'ah, 24 October 1985)

388. On 28 August 1985, it was reported that the Planning Department of the 
Jerusalem Municipality had prepared a detailed plan for the expropriation of the 
south-eastern slopes of the Temple Mount, at present owned by the Wagf. According 
to the report the plan was not submitted to the local Planning Commission, as it 
was feared that a political storm could arise, after the Wagf had learned of the 
plan and threatened to create an "international scandal". Sources in the Jerusalem 
Municipality, who admitted that such a plan did exist, argued that an expropriation 
of the area would have had no practical repercussions, since the area, which was at 
present an archaeological garden, would have remained such a garden, and only its 
ownership would have been changed. (Ha'aretz, 28 August 1985)

389. On 3 September 1985, it was reported that farmers from the villages of Sur if 
and Jaba, south of the Etzion bloc, recently complained that Kfar Etzion settlers 
had been preventing them access to an area of 2,000 dunams of farming land that 
they claimed was theirs for many generations. The farmers were allegedly told by 
the settlers that the area was State-owned. It was also reported that the 
assignment of the area would be decided only after the decision to declare it 
State-land was confirmed. (Ha'aretz, 3 September 1985)

390. On 1 October 1985, it was reported that 200 Jews lived at present in the 
Muslim Quarter of Jerusalem's Old City, both in houses bought from Arabs and houses 
that formerly belonged to Jews. (Ha'aretz, 1 October 1985)
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391. Israeli authorities reportedly confiscated vast areas of land belonging to the 
village of Yasuf in the Nablus area for the purpose of expanding the nearby Tafuah 
settlement. According to the report, 200 dunams were already confiscated in the 
village for the same purpose. (Al-Fajr, 11 October 1985)

392. A number of Jewish zealots allegedly attempted to seize Arab land in
Ras el-Arooud in Jerusalem, claiming graves existed on the 15-dunam plot. (Al-Fajr, 
25 October 1985)

393. On 5 November 1985, it was reported that the Investment Committee of the 
Ministry of Tourism had approved the construction of a hotel in the West Bank 
settlement of Kedumim. The hotel, the first in the West Bank to be approved by the 
Commission, would cost $1,000,000. (Ha'aretz, 5 November 1985)

394. Hebron's military governor reportedly notified the Muktars of Arab al-Ramadin 
near Dhahiriya of the decision to confiscate a 15,000-dunaro plot extending from 
Arab al-Ramadin to Wadi al-Khalil. The land was surveyed a week earlier.
(Al-Fajr, 8 November 1985)

395. Israeli bulldozers began working on land belonging to the village of Sur 
Baher, south of Jerusalem, following a decision to confiscate the 1,000-dunam plot. 
(Al-Fajr, 15 November 1985)

396. According to a report appearing in the Al-Quds newspaper of 15 November 1985, 
bulldozers have begun digging up a 130-dunam plot south of Nezarim settlement in 
the northern part of the Gaza Strip. (Al-Fajr, 22 November 1985)

397. On 24 November 1985, it was reported that the IDF on 22 November 1985 
prevented scrnie 40 members of the "Jericho nucleus" from settling in the Jericho 
area. The nucleus members, residents of Kiryat Arba and yeshiva students, intended 
to settle in an area where ruins of a sixth-century Jewish synagogue were 
discovered. Security sources said the nucleus members would not be authorized to 
settle in that area. The IDF stopped the nucleus members at a road-block and took 
them to a military camp several kilometres away. Ten members reportedly left the 
army camp and reached the site of the synagogue but they were forced to leave and 
two of them were arrested. On 26 November 1985, it was reported that another 
attempt to settle at the Jericho synagogue site was foiled by the army. On
8 December 1985, soldiers and border guards foiled an attempt, the third in one 
month, to establish a settlement at the ruins of an ancient Jewish synagogue north 
of Jericho. The settlers, members of a movement called the Faithful of the Land of 
Israel, stated that the attempts at settling in the area would continue.
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 24, 26 and 27 November 1985; 9 December 1985)

398. Seven farmers from ubaidiyah village in the Bethlehem area were reportedly to 
go on trial before an Israeli military court on charges of working on their land 
without permission from military authorities. They were accused of violating 
article 34 of the 1966 law of organization of cities, villages and buildings by 
opening a road blocked by authorities in preparation for establishing a new 
settlement. (Al-Fajr, 29 November 1985)
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399. On 1 December 1985, nine families of Ethiopian Jews, totalling some 
50 persons, were transferred to Maaleh-Adumim. The Housing and Absorption 
Ministries reportedly planned to settle some 40 families in Kiryat Arba.
(Ha'aretz, 2 December 1985)

400. On 2 December 1985, the inauguration was reported of a new road linking the 
Jordan Valley to the coastal plain. At the inauguration ceremony Deputy Prime 
Minister David Levy said that the road had a "political significance" and was 
therefore given a special priority - so as to remove any doubt regarding the 
future. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 3 December 1985)

401. On 19 December 1985, Gush Emunim created a fund for redeeming lands, whose 
objective is to raise contributions and funds in Israel and abroad in order to 
"redeem lands, particularly in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza district".
(Ha'aretz, 20 December 1985)

402. It was reported that an eight-dunum plot belonging to Mr. Musa Ayyad has been 
confiscated by the Israeli authorities in the village of Sharfat in the Jerusalem 
area. The land was reportedly given to the Israeli Keren Kayaimet, which started 
uprooting Mr. Ayyad's olive trees. (Al-Fajr, 20 December 1985)

403. Israeli forces reportedly seized about 2,000 square metres of land near 
Natzarin settlement (Gaza Strip). The reason given for the seizure was to expand 
the intersection. The land was owned by the al-Ashram and the Attalah families. 
(Al-Fair, 20 December 1985)

404. On 9 January 1986, Israeli military authorities reportedly confiscated 
hundreds of dunams of Sarou' village near Hebron. (Al-Fajr, 17 January 1986)

405. On 20 January 1986, Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Housing and 
Construction, David Levy, inaugurated the renovated Hadassa House at Hebron. In 
the renovation works apartments were built for 11 families, and roans were set 
aside for a synagogue and a dormitory for pupils of the yeshiva at the nearby 
Romano House. An adjacent house, called Hasson House, would also be renovated to 
accommodate five families (at present three families lived there) and a yeshiva.
The main project involved the "Jewish Courtyard", also known as the Abraham the 
Patriarch compound. According to the plan, low-rise buildings would be built that 
would blend in with the Arab structures in the area. (№ 12 February 1986, it was 
reported that 11 Jewish families from Jerusalem and Kiryat Arba would move shortly 
into new apartments prepared for them in the Hadassa building in the centre of 
Hebron. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 21 January 1986; Jerusalem Post,
12 February 1986)

406. It was reported that the Israeli authorities informed Arab landowners from the 
village of Beit Furik, near Nablus, of its decision to confiscate 4,000 dunums of 
their land. (Al-Fajr, 7 February 1986)

407. It was reported that several dozen Arab residents from the villages of Irtas 
and al-Khader, near Bethlehem, submitted an official objection to opening a road on 
their land. The road would reportedly link Jewish settlements in the Bethlehem 
area. (Al-Fajr, 14 February 1986)
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408. On 24 February 1986, the cornerstone-laying ceremony was reported of a 
permanent settlement called "Metzadot-Yehuda" in southern Mount Hebron. Housing 
Minister David Levy attended the ceremony and also inaugurated a new road crossing 
the Mount Hebron area from north to south. (Yediot Aharonot, 25 February 1986)

409. On 28 March 1986, it was reported that the Housing Ministry had granted 
$40,000 to a Gush Emunim-oriented yeshiva that had been leading the move to buy out 
Muslim owners of houses surrounding the Temple Mount. The money was reportedly 
given to the yeshiva to help it acquire flats in the Muslim quarter of the
Old City. There was no authorization in the State budget for that allocation. 
(Jerusalem Post, 28 March 1986)

410. On 31 March 1986, Housing Minister David Levy and the mayor of Jerusalem 
Teddy Kollek inaugurated the new neighbourhood of Pisgat-Zeev, located between 
Neveh Yaacov and the French Hill, in East Jerusalem. The new neighbourhood was 
planned to consist of 12,000 housing units; 400 families already lived there. A 
new tract of road, linking Neveh Yaacov and Pisgat-Zeev to the Maaleh Adumim road, 
was also inaugurated on 31 March 1986. (Ha'aretz, 1 April 1986)

411. On 27 April 1986, Housing Minister David Levy took part in a
cornerstone-laying ceremony at Neve Daniel, a new settlement in the Etzion bloc.
Mr. Levy announced that within a few weeks his ministry would begin settling dozens 
of Jewish families in the heart of Hebron. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
28 April 1986)

412. On 20 May 1986, it was reported that the Minister of Trade and Industry,
Ariel Sharon, said during a visit to the Mount Hebron area that an industrial zone
would be created in Deir Razah shortly, on a stretch of land of 600 dunams, located 
near the settlement of Adurayim. Mr. Sharon said the land was State-owned, and 
stressed the geographical and strategic importance of the site. According to local 
residents the lands were privately owned. The industrial zone would provide jobs 
for settlers in the 11 settlements located in the region. Mr. Sharon also 
announced that he intended to set up a 60-dunam site for high-technology industries 
in Porcelaine Hill, near Kiryat Arba. He said some $15 million were invested, 
during the previous year, in industry in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip.
(Ha'aretz, 20 May 1986)

413. On 25 May 1986, it was reported that three residents of the village of Artas, 
in the Etzion bloc, applied to the High Court of Justice, claiming that Jewish 
settlers in the area had set up hen-coops on lands confiscated from them for 
security purposes. The applicants were asking the High Court to instruct the 
security authorities to return the lands to their owners. (Ha'aretz, 25 May 1986)

414. On 29 May 1986, it was reported that an inauguration ceremony was held that 
day for the settlement of Kadim, in northern Samaria. Kadim had been created as a 
Nahal outpost and was now being turned into a permanent civilian settlement. 
(Ha'aretz, 29 May 1986)
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415. On 1 June 1986, the security authorities fenced with barbed wires an area of 
203 dunams near Abu-Median, south of Gaza, and another area of 116 dunams north of 
the Amer project. The land, located near the Netzarim settlement, had been 
bulldozed before being fenced. In another development it was reported that the 
military authorities had notified mukhtars of the village of Samu', near Hebron, of 
their decision to confiscate 2,500 dunams of the village's lands. The landowners 
were given 45 days to appeal the decision to the military objections committee. 
(Al-Fajr, 6 June 1986)

416. On 4 June 1986, Housing and Construction Minister David Levy participated in 
the inauguration ceremony of a new housing project with 750 flats in the settlement 
of Ginot, in Samaria. Speaking at the ceremony Mr. Levy promised that settlement 
in Samaria would continue. In a visit to several settlements in Samaria, Mr. Levy 
said that some 100 rural settlements and 10 urban settlements had been established 
over the past 10 years in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip, with a total of 15,500 
housing units. In another development it was reported on 4 June 1986 that a 
Bedouin settlement, Lagia, would be established shortly in the southern Mount 
Hebron area, with a planned population of 10,000. Another Bedouin settlement, 
Houra, should be set up in Israel. (Ha'aretz, 4 June 1986)

417. On 13 June 1986, it was reported that mukhtars of the Bani-Nairo village in the 
Hebron district had been notified the previous week of the confiscation of 950 
dunams of land in the Khalet Yaqin, Garon Batha, Om Dahab and Ш  Halseh areas, on
the pretext that the lands were State property. Landowners were given 45 days to
appeal the decision. (Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

418. On 18 June 1986, it was reported that an area of 300 dunams had been levelled
by bulldozers and confiscated in the Jenin district. The land was reportedly used
by herdsmen from the villages of Tura, Khuljan and Ya'bad to graze their sheep.
(Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986) .

419. On 20 June 1986, it was reported that residents of Ya'bad in the Jenin area 
had complained to the authorities against plans by the zoning committee to open a 
road 500 m long and 40 m wide. Large numbers of olive trees would be destroyed if 
the plan were to materialize. (Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

420. On 23 June 1986, it was reported that the High Court of Justice had issued an 
interim injunction prohibiting the authorities from confiscating a 46-dunam 
Arab-owned plot to an Israeli settlement north bf Rafah. The land was levelled in
April 1986 in preparation for the confiscation. Reports also continued about
land-levelling works in other areas in the Gaza Strip: some 102 dunams were being 
levelled near the Amer project, and 22 dunams near Netzarim. Gaza residents 
reportedly claimed they had documents proving their legal ownership of the lands. 
(Al-Fajr, 27 June 1986)

421. On 27 June 1986, it was reported that several Palestinian lawyers representing 
four Hebron area families had filed a complaint earlier in the week with Israeli 
military authorities in protest of illegal work on a 700-dunam plot that was 
reportedly designed to become an industrial complex to serve Kiryat Arba. Land 
levelling works already started on the site, giving rise to clashes between local
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residents and security personnel. The creation of the industrial complex was 
proposed on 20 May 1986 by Minister of Trade and Industry Ariel Sharon. The four 
families owning the lands, situated in an area known as Beit-Inoun, reportedly had 
documents proving their legal ownership. In another development it was reported 
that the military objections coomittee had concluded earlier in the week that the 
authorities had erred in confiscating a 400-dunam plot owned by Palestinians near
Yatta, south of Hebron. The committee advised the authorities, who declared the
land State property, to return it to its owners. It also advised the authorities 
to return 400 dunams out of a 1,000-dunam plot near Sur if, in the Hebron area, to 
its owners. (Al-Fair, 27 June 1986)

422. On 2 July 1986, it was reported that over the past week construction works had 
accelerated in the "Jewish court", in the wholesale market of Hebron. Works in the 
site were reportedly executed under the control of the staff officer in charge of 
archaeological affairs in the civil administration. A number of préfabricated 
structures that served as offices for the Association for the Renewal of Jewish 
Settlement in Hebron were removed from the site to enable the construction of an 
institute for the studies of Eretz-Israel, of the Beitar movement, which was at 
present located at Tel-Rumeida. Ihe offices of the association were transferred to 
the Hadassa building. (Ha’aretz, 2 July 1986)

423. On 10 July 1986, it was reported that residents of the village of Khader, near
Bethlehem, were angry at the decision by an appeal committee on behalf of the civil
administration to turn down their appeal against the intention to build a road 
by-passing the Nieisheh refugee camp on their lands. The Dheisheh by-pass was 
planned to link the Etzion bloc area with south Jerusalem. The civil 
administration had announced its intention to expropriate many plots of land 
belonging to Khader residents. The appeal committee, which rejected the appeal, 
explained to the villagers that they would be compensated for damages caused to
their plants and trees but not for the loss of their lands, since the expropriation
was being carried out for "public needs". The villagers were given three weeks to 
submit an alternative plan. The head of the local council said he intended to take 
the case to the High Court of Justice. (Ha’aretz, 10 July 1986)

424. On 4 August 1986, the military court at Ramallah ruled to cancel a
four-year-old decision by the military authorities to confiscate a 168-dunam plot 
south of Tulkarem, which they intended to annex to the nearby settlement of Yakir. 
The three families owning the land - Jaber, Moqbel and Rayyan - will have the land 
returned to them. (Al-Fajr, 8 August 1986}

425. On 21 August 1986, the military authorities declared an area of about 3,000 
dunams state land. The area was reportedly situated near the villages of Biddu and 
Surta, in the Tulkarem district. The authorities gave the landowners 45 days to 
contest the confiscation. The area in question had been allegedly fraudulently 
bought by Israeli real-estate companies. (Al-Fajr, 22 August 1986)
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6. Golan Heights 

(see sect. IV.C, paras. 79-84 above)

426. Fifteen university students from tne Golan Heights reportedly filed a petition 
with the Israeli High Court against the Ministry of Interior for refusing to grant 
them a laissez-passer in order to pursue their studies in a number of Eastern 
European countries. (Al-Tali*ah, 22 August 1985)

427. On 3 September 1985, it was reported that the IDF intended to issue an order 
banning Golan Heights residents from circulating at night in areas close to the 
border with the Syrian Arab Republic. (Ha'aretz, 3 September 1985)

428. On 3 October 1985, it was reported that a new town, Kidmat Zvi, was to be 
dedicated on the Golan Heights. Twenty-five families were at present living in the 
site, situated 3 km north-east of Katzrin. The town was reportedly planned for a 
total of 100 families. (Jerusalem Post, 3 October 1985)

429. On 15 October 1985, the Nazareth district court convicted Rafik Kalani, aged 
20, from Majdal Shams, of providing the Syrian Arab Republic with information on 
IDF strength in the Golan Heights. (Jerusalem Post, 16 October 1985)

430. On 12 November 1985, 10 youths, aged 16 to 20, from Majdal Shams, on the Golan 
Heights, were charged in the Lod military court with stealing land mines and 
plotting against the IDF during the previous two years. The youths denied the 
charges. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 13 November 1985)

431. It was reported that the Arab population of the Israeli-occupied Golan Heights 
called upon the United Nations to send a commission of inquiry to investigate the 
"intolerable conditions under which the Golan Arabs live". A letter dated
2 December 1985 was sent to the Secretary-General of the United Nations calling 
upon the international community to act immediately and to pass laws to help lift 
the "injustice, suppression and oppression" from which this population suffer. The 
letter reported cited some of the oppressive measures, foremost among which is the 
problem of income tax. According to some allegations, tax collectors have raided 
homes and shops, confiscating furniture and agricultural equipment. They also 
allegedly opened fire on people who refused to obey orders and imprisoned those who 
dared to ask why such measures were being taken against them. (Al-Fajr,
6 December 1985)

432. On 17 February 1986, it was reported that the police had detained, over the 
weekend, 7 Druze residents of Majdal Shams and Bukata, on the Golan, on suspicion 
of disturbing public peace. In demonstrations held to mark the fifth anniversary 
of Israeli extension of its law and administration to the Golan, hundreds of Druze 
residents waved Syrian flags, sang Syrian national songs and expressed solidarity 
with the Syrian regime. Many Syrian Druze arrived at the Syrian side of the border 
and participated in the demonstrations. On 27 February 1986, it was reported that 
police had arrested a further 18 Druze residents of Golan villages on suspicion of 
rioting and injuring policemen during Prime Minister Shimon Peres's visit to 
Majdal Shams on 25 February 1986. Several of the detainees, who were rounded up on
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the basis of police photographs taken during the riot, were reportedly minors.
They were all being detained at Acre (northern Israel). On 28 February 1986, it 
was reported that a magistrates court at Acre had extended the detention of 
18 suspects. Fourteen adults were detained for 15 days and 4 minors were detained 
for 10 days. The police reportedly intended to put the suspects on trial during 
their period of detention, on charges of participation in an illegal demonstration, 
sedition and injuring policemen. (Ha'aretz. 17 and 28 February 1986;
Jerusalem Post, 17 and 27 February 1986)

433. On 3 March 1986, 11 Druze residents of Majdal Shams were arrested on suspicion 
of rioting during the visit by Prime Minister Peres. According to the report these 
arrests brought the total number of Druze detainees following the rioting to 47, 
including some minors. On 18 March 1986, it was reported that 16 of the detainees 
had been released on bail, the previous day, by order of the district court in 
Nazareth. They were told not to leave their villages without police permission and 
not to leave their homes from the early evening hours until the morning; they were 
also prohibited from taking part in any gathering. Another two detainees were 
remanded in custody until their trial. These two were reportedly charged with 
assaulting policemen. On 28 March 1986, it was reported that the Supreme Court had 
ruled that five of the detainees who had earlier been released on bail by the 
district court in Nazareth could be remanded until the end of the legal proceedings 
against them. (Ha'aretz, 4, 18 and 28 March 1986; Jerusalem Post, 28 March 1986)

434. On 12 March 1986, it was reported that police had, over the past year, seized 
what was described as "an enormous quantity" of sabotage materials in the Druze 
villages of the Golan Heights. Most of those involved were reportedly arrested and 
would be put on trial. (Ha'aretz, 12 March 1986)

435. On 20 March 1986, income-tax authorities carried out an early morning raid on 
a fruit-packing plant in the Golan Druze village of Majdal Shams. The plant's 
owners were accused of refusing to submit reports to the income-tax authorities for 
the past six years. Ftollowing that operation a general strike was proclaimed on
21 March 1986 in the Golan Druze villages and disturbances were reported.
According to local residents the Israeli authorities embarked on a harassment 
campaign against them following the rioting in Majdal Shams during the visit by 
Prime Minister Peres. (Jerusalem Post, 21 March 1986; Yediot Aharonot,
23 March 1986)

436. On 15 April 1986, the Northern Region Commander, Aluf (Major General) Uri Or, 
issued an order banning for seven days the Golan Druze residents from reaching the 
hill close to the Syrian border, where the Druze population used to demonstrate 
together with Syrian Druze residents meeting on the other side of the border.
(Ha'aretz, 16 April 1986)

437. On 17 April 1986, over 700 policemen and border guards prevented, by their 
presence in the four Golan Druze villages, the marking and celebration of the 
Syrian independence day. Several improvised demonstrations were nevertheless held 
iniMajdal Shams and Ein Kinia, but the public order was maintained. (Ha'aretz,
18 April 1986)
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438. On 19 April 1986, a magistrate's court in Zefat, northern Israel, extended by 
12 days the detention of Fahed Safadi, aged 18, a Golan Druze suspected of having 
organized an illegal demonstration on the Syrian independence day. Three other 
youths from the Golan village of Ein Kinia were also detained for 12 days for 
participation in an illegal demonstration. (Ma'ariv, 20 April 1986)

439. Defence Minister Itzhak Rabin said on 22 April 1986 that Israel's aim now was 
to develop and build up the Golan Heights, as an answer to the loud voices and 
threats emanating from the Syrian Arab Republic. "We want to live in peace and not 
in war here", he declared. "Our way of reacting to the extremist speeches is to 
practise restraint, to build and to act, thus making clear we want peace, not war." 
(Ha'aretz, 23 April 1986)

440. On 21 May 1986, it was reported that the military court at Lod had passed 
prison sentences of 27 years on five Druze residents of Majdal Shams, convicted of 
attempting to kidnap a soldier and holding contacts with Syrian agents. Pour other 
members of the group, also from Majdal Shams, were given prison sentences ranging 
from 7 to 12 years for their part in the case. The eight youths, aged 16 to 21, 
were all holders of Israeli identity cards. In a related development-it was 
reported that the trial was under way at the Nazareth District Court of 18 Druze 
residents of the Golan Heights accused of rioting and stoning policemen during a 
visit to their villages by Prime Minister Peres, two months earlier. (Ha'aretz, 
Jerusalem Post, Ma'ariv, 21 May 1986)

441. On 22 May 1986, four bulldozers belonging to the State Lands Administration, 
protected by police and border-guard forces, ploughed up and fenced off 150 dunams 
of land located west of Majdal Shams on the Golan Heights. (Ha'aretz,
Jerusalem Post, 23 May 1986)

442. On 17 June 1986, Wasef Khater, a Golan Heights resident, was dismissed from 
his job at the Safed hospital because he refused to accept Israeli citizenship. 
(Al-Fair, 20 June 1986)

443. On 15 July 1986, three residents of the Golan Druze village of Mas'ada were 
convicted at the Nazareth district court of passing information on the IDF to the 
Syrian intelligence. Yasser Sabra, aged 21; Ziad Bathish, aged 20; and
Ma'mun Sabag, aged 19, were each sentenced to five years' imprisonment. The three 
were captured by soldiers of the South Lebanon Army ai their way back from the
Syrian Arab Republic to the Golan. (Ha'aretz, 16 July 1986)

444. On 16 July 1986, the Nazareth district court convicted 13 youths, aged 18
to 25, from Majdal Shams on the. Golan, of rioting during the visit to their village
by Prime Minister Shimon Peres in February 1986. The youths were sentenced to
prison terms ranging from three to six months. In another development, it was 
reported that two Druze residents of Mas'ada had been arrested on suspicion of 
having hoisted Syrian, flags over the sports club in their village. The two were 
named as Shaer Saber, aged 26, and Safdi Salim, aged 18. They were remanded for 
eight days for further investigation. (Ma'ariv, 17 July 1986) .
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445. On 10 August 1986, the Supreme Court rejected an appeal by 14 Golan Druze 
residents against their sentence. They had been sentenced by the Nazareth district 
court to prison terms of three and six months on charges of participation in an 
illegal demonstration. (Al-Fajr, 14 August 1986)

446. On 25 August 1986, it was reported that an announcement by the Ministry of the
Interior that the Golan Druze residents were included in the voters register for
the Knesset had provoked anger in the Golan Druze villages. At an emergency 
meeting held in Majdal Shams it was decided to send a letter to Interior Minister, 
Rabbi Yitzhak Peretz, informing him that the Golan Druze residents did not consider 
themselves to be Israeli citizens. It was also decided to petition the High Court
of Justice for an order forcing the Ministry of the Interior to cancel the
registration of the Golan Druze residents in the voters register.
(Yediot Aharonot, 25 August 1986)

7. Incidents

The Temple Mount incidents

447. On 8 January 1986, a group of two dozen Israelis, including five Knesset 
members, visited the Temple Mount area, in the old city of Jerusalem. The visit, 
described by a senior police officer as a "courtesy visit", had been arranged in 
co-ordination with the Ministry of Religious Affairs and the Muslim Wagf, in order 
to permit the Knesset Interior Committee to examine complaints of illegal Muslim 
construction in the site. Only three members of the Knesset ccmnmittee took part in 
the visit: its chairman, Dov Shilanski (Herut), Ovadia Eli and Jacques Amir - the
only Labour Party committee member to have participated. Knesset members
Geula Cohen and Yuval Neeman, who were not members of the Knesset Committee, came 
along, together with other right-wing activists such as Avi Farhan and 
Gershon Salomon - who heads a group called the Faithful of the Temple Mount, 
responsible for repeated attempts at organizing Jewish public prayers on the 
Mount. About 20 border-guards and policemen accompanied the group. After a visit 
to the Al-Aqsa mosque, which passed without incident, the group went to nearby 
underground halls known as Solomon's Stables. There, Muslim guards and Arab 
workmen prevented the group from entering the place with cameras. Knesset members 
Cohen and Shilanski who tried to force their way in were allegedly punched and 
beaten. Meanwhile hundreds of Arabs gathered around the group responding to a call 
by the muezzin, from the top of the minaret to come and defend the mosque. Police 
closed the gates to the Temple Mount to prevent more Arabs from entering, and used 
tear gas and baton charges in order to extricate the Knesset members from the 
area. One Arab youth reportedly fainted as a result of the tear gas. Knesset 
member Shilanski announced that he intended to complete the visit in the afternoon, 
but Knesset speaker Shelomo Hillel prohibited any visits by the Interior 
Committee. Police Minister Haim Bar-Lev ordered Police Inspector-General 
David Kraus personally to supervise an investigation into the disturbance, 
following the Committee members' complaints of "police negligence" and Wagf 
complaints of "provocation". Ôn 9 January 1986 Minister of Industry Ariel Sharon 
made a 20-minute visit to the Temple Mount and declared that Jews and Arabs had to 
learn to cohabit in that place. In another incident, a group of Israeli youths, 
reportedly supporters of the Tehiya Party, waved an Israeli flag and sang the
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Israeli national anthem on the Mount. Border guards evicted them and they were 
taken to a police van to be questioned. Charge sheets would be filed against them 
for disturbing the public.peace. On 14 January 1986, a group of Knesset members, 
members of the Knesset Interior Committee and others made a return visit to the 
Temple Mount. Reporters and photographers were barred from accompanying the group, 
by decision of Police Minister Haim Bar-Lev. Immediately upon entering the Temple 
Mount, Committee chairman Dov Shilanski told the Knesset members that 
Gershon Shafat - a Gush Emunim leader who took part in the visit - wished to recite 
a prayer. At the same time, Knesset member Rabbi Waldman (Tehiya) took out a book 
of psalms and read from it aloud. Knesset members Shulamit Aloni and Yossi Sarid 
(Civil Rights Movement) started shouting "this is a provocation", demanding that 
the prayers be stopped. They then decided to leave the tour, in protest against 
the prayers. Waqf officials who at the beginning refrained from intervening, at 
that point also demanded that the prayers be stopped, calling them a provocation. 
They were joined by some 150 Arabs, mostly local residents and striking Bir Zeit 
University students vrtio reportedly tried to break through the tight police cordon 
around the Knesset members. Police used tear gas to disperse them and accompanied 
the Knesset members to Solomon's Stables, where Arab youths blocked the entrance. 
The head of the Supreme Islamic Council, Sheikh Saad ed-Din al-Alami told Southern 
District Police Commander Rahamim Comfort that, due to the public prayer by the 
Knesset members he decided to prohibit the Knesset members from continuing their 
visit and entering Solomon's Stables. Comfort then warned Shilanski that, while 
the police were prepared to force the gates of the Stables open, after they were 
locked by the Waqf, such an action may result in bloodshed. Meanwhile, hundreds of 
local worshippers on the Mount chanted hostile slogans, and outside the Mount, at 
the Majlis Gate, police used force and tear gas to disperse some 150 rioters who 
wanted to force their way into the Mount. At around 11 a.m. the Knesset members 
were taken to a police post at the entrance to the Mount and, after a 25-minute 
discussion voted (by a majority of 8 votes to 3) to discontinue the visit and not 
to insist on entering Solomon's Stables. In the course of the incident 17 
demonstrators were arrested. Police later said that the Knesset members' decision 
to withdraw had prevented a riot of "disastrous proportions". A general business 
strike was held in East Jerusalem throughout the day. On 30 January 1986, it was 
reported that 14 Arabs would be put on trial following the rioting on the Temple 
Mount during the visit to the place by the Knesset Interior Committee. During the 
day of the visit 32 persons were arrested, of whom 19 were detained for further 
questioning. The 14 who would stand trial would be charged with illegal gathering, 
stone-throwing and taking part in a violent demonstration. Two Gaza Strip 
residents were also suspected of trying to snatch a weapon from a border guard. 
Meanwhile, all the suspects were released on bail. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
9, 10 and 15 January 1986; Ha'aretz, 30 January 1986)

448. On 19 January 1986, 12 Kach Party members were arrested when they tried to 
force their way through the Mugrabi Gate after Waqf authorities refused them entry 
to the Temple Mount. The group came with Istaeli flags and placards reading: "No 
place for Arabs on Jewish holy grounds". Two of the 12 were reportedly expected to 
be charged the next day with disturbing the peace and resisting arrests. The other 
10 were released after questioning. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 20 January 1986)

449. On 20 January 1986, the Director-General of the Jerusalem Municipal Council, 
Aharon Sarig, told the Knesset interior Committee that allegations of unlicensed
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construction work on the Temple Mount were unfounded. Municipal inspectors 
reported that the only works carried out on the Mount were plastering and painting 
in Solomon's Stables, and paving near the Golden Gate; such works did not require a 
building permit. Sarig said he knew of nothing to substantiate allegations that 
Che Muslims had built new prayer pulpits on the Temple Mount during the past year. 
Police Inspector-General David Kraus told the Committee that in the wake of a High 
Court ruling, the police did not permit Jewish prayer on the Temple Mount, but if 
an individual Jew wanted to pray he could do so, as long as his prayer did not take 
demonstrative form. Another speaker. Deputy Attorney-General Yoram Bar-Sela, told 
the Committee: "the laws of the State of Israel, including the Building and
Planning Law, and the Antiquities Law, are all in force on the Temple Mount". 
(Jerusalem Post, 21 January 1986)

450. On 30 January 1986, the Sephardi Chief Rabbi Mordekhai Eliyahu told a 
delegation of members of the "Temple Mount Faithful" that a synagogue should be 
built on the south-eastern or north-eastern corner of the Temple Mount, and that 
such a synagogue should be "taller than the mosques". While Knesset member
Geula Cohen praised the Chief Rabbi for his declaration, Knesset member Yossi Sarid 
tabled an urgent motion for the agenda to discuss it. (Yediot Aharonot,
31 January 1986)

451. On 14 August 1986, four Tehiya Knesset members, Geula Cohen, Yuval Neeroan, 
Rafael Eitan and Gershon Shafat, visited' the Temple Mount. They were accompanied 
by some 80 policemen. The Knesset members visited Solomon's Stables, the 
underground Crusader structure located under the Al-Aqsa mosque, which they had 
unsuccessfully attempted to visit in February 1986. The head of the Supreme Muslim 
Council, Sheikh Saad ed-Din al-Alami, said after the visit that he had agreed to it 
and that anyone who wanted to visit the site was welcome. Reacting to declarations 
on Jewish sovereignty on the Temple Mount, Sheikh al-Alami said that the site was, 
and would remain, a Muslim mosque. Earlier in the day police prevented two groups 
of "Temple Mount Faithful" members from entering the site. (Ha'aretz,
Jerusalem Post, Yediot Aharonot, 15 August 1986)

452. The Special Committee followed the situation in the occupied territories
according to the information before it, including reports of incidents appearing in
the press during the period covered by the report. In the table reproduced 
hereunder a representative cross-section of these reports is given; the list is not 
to be considered exhaustive as it is intended to reflect the frequency, location 
and type of such events. The "remarks" column is meant to assist in clarifying the
context of such reports. Certain periods are not subject to tabulation but are
reflected in a summary; this is due to the intensity of reports that would have 
taken up considerable volume to list individually.

453. The following abbrevations of the names of newspapers are used in the table:

AF Al-Fajr
AT Al-Tali'ah
H Ha'aretz
JP Jerusalem Post
M Ma'ariv
YA Yediot Aharonot



A / 4 1 / 6 8 0  

B n g l i s h  

A n n e x  I I I  

P a g e  1 0 6

(0 <u TO >0

s  и cr> TO
и

-о • 
и  *o
§ s
О . Д
и  то 
о» 4J 
fO «Н

н

»4J .
44 4J 
;4 S

•о 
и  О)
■S'S
с  и  
о  то 

о  •
<0 «О

g  2  S

<0 ТО 'Ото х:» и Ь4и то 0< то 4J S то то то то iH 
о то то то то V4
ê  § Ïх:

I то• о -и то 4J о 
М I то •Н то &

с  й  °

5 с  " g
* " g s
§"g"  ■JJ • I
Ю V  л  M

g  ё  е  .2
е  л  kt Ь|ТО >Н «Н к1

«О ТЭ '

ТО
гН .ЬС
си и ё ^

ТО *0 *оо то <-1 о •н о о
то то
N 43 • Т5
g -  § • «О) 4J ТО 
£  С  То ТО

I ю  > 
1 > « с  *Н 
i то ь

к4 -н

I g  ■D

‘ О Я :

1'ё

ю ю

J g ’ë
^ о g

JC с  о то го
5 - 1
4J *Н 
ТО >  43 

чн 44 
•D ОТО Э
•И I-. Ю •Н ТО ТО 44 ТО N

ТО ТО 

О S

^  6  
ТО -Н  
44 43

S'S
g I
то ТО 

^  с

4 -rt > ,4
> 1-1 U t

С *0 *45
•н то С О 

N O M  ТО -И чн ТО
g

•H 44 <0 
44 чН С  *0 

а  О С 
<-Ч то о  ТО 
ТО о
U 43 ТО Это *-i то> То Xi «И То ТО ТО М ТО » 44 э 

Т О О
Б ТО

•п д  с  м 
Xi «Н ТО

•и
O ' • о» с  
с  >, с  D

♦Н fb «н
43 о  то *0 из JÛ 43 ТО
44 ТО ТО ТО 
ТО *H ТО гН •

Xi Си

с  с  чч 
D то g.

С  44 О 
<  то 4=

М С ТО м 
44 4С 44 о  
С  С М ТО

S £ â . S
то и  
и  то 
То о

i l

то то оТО ы 
Си с  

ф 2
43 то о
44 ТО 44

О Ф
S5

>t и  
то ТО 44 
»  «W

Ф О 
то 43 
44 Н  >0

С  • То 
О <0 ТО 

ТО то 
то о>

5 gg
ТО м  

ч4 «О pH ТО

9  »  <Н 
С  43 Ф ‘Н  
ТО «М O '

) • Ф 
. го о  
) Ф ТО 

О» И

и
Ф <0

То 43 
ТО и  
»  ТО

гН о  Ф
ТО Ф 5  
и  43 
ТО 44 44 
М 44

C - S  ^
то 43 <0

ТО м О
9  1-4 

44 43 О 
«Ы
О  44 ТО 

44 g g
С  и  то ТО о » то «и■Û ̂  >1

■ S i

то
44
43

Н  •
ТО

8  % 
г4 T i  

•■4 
Ф ТО

О о
43

ф
то *о

а
Ф

и  то
9
О рЧ

а

<

•rt то то р4 
ф
и  *0

ф ф

а ST

•D * 
Ф р4 44 
43 -И 9

• Ф Ф 
С  43 -И ТО 44 М

•ё ё  £  

с. ё  g

ч4 М
44 М 9  
<  *0 43

1Л |Л 
00 СО
а \ о\

1Г) 1Л 
00 00 
л  о»

S’ g* 
<  <

S'
<

S’
iTO

s
о  о*
S < S'

<

? s
s  s

о
о

M g

ê a

a
44

a

g §
M i4

£  £
i I
Ф Ф

I  I

s

о  43 9 TO
44 S

л 2  6 TO 
pH 44 
<  3

Л  °TO *
с  6•H TO
Ы Ü

о  TO *H о TO M

TO 44

Й 5

ч4 TO TO *H

I Cu 
•H с  -p«c: TO M TO o

TOÎ §
44 M 
•H 43

TO
t

СП

<
S’
< I I O'

a
/ . . .



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 107

 ̂и ** *■
С Ф С

4J о  (О <0
If С  <W <0
4 Ф гН »
3 >t*rt
3 (О <0 >  <о
С (О ^  С

»  О  <0
ф

3 Ф *НВ Д +J »Н «J
Н ф
4 ю С  (О
4 iO о  irf о
> ю дн 4J ю м те
3 (О Ф

•и с  те
<1 >0 <0 (D■I О »
К Д  Ф -
О те В5 С  ;-4 •« те
о те с  со

S CU I? и
5 cZ ̂те И м g

•оф 44
и  С  9

Л S °
Си *о

ф ф 
Ф «н

и  С  те *н 44
с  Ф
Ф и

Î %>4 те 
,  О  Ф

ф *Н kl
д  Ф те е h ф

те <М >4 г4 о 
Ф Ф те V4

э ̂  Д Л
^ S S &■§с к1 ф о > 
М  44 'Г »  Д  о

о  »  о
>  Ф 44 СЫ I 
>1 >4 Ф

тете те
4J *—
с  ите те те
4J 9  Ü  *0
•Н г4 Ф« е тег-1

оо *о о Ф о
44 те г4 Д

44 44 Рч 
•О С

S 2 5  . й
О *н О ^  44•н д 9 те о
0  те о Ф те

Д  1-4 44
Ф С  <  те д
М *Н гН 44

1 о'£ ^2
44 Ю Ф) те с  О к1

) Ф «9 •< с  о
» 0-. с  Ф 44> «о те 44 о
: t4  о  *н >1к< те -ч JJ

Д  с

с

О  кч д  
•н ф _  И *9 Ю Ф С С

»  Ф те И
О  к4 9  -н  
Д  Ф ЧН д  

•9 >9 Д  *H
>4 д  к4 те те
£  2  ®  Sд д R 
Ф ф д  те 

Д  44 Д  t4  ф 
Ь  о  Д  2  >4

те ф д  ф  ^  
►4 *9 W Д

с  ••но >1
^ е й  * 
•ё ” Sте .& те С те *9 9» ' § те
т е с  Î  »
д  Ф
•Н <9 к4 Д
Ю -Н  ф с

О  Д  Ф 
9  0  'О  

д  те «и ч4
<  О  о

в  | Г  -о  -5
Ф

•н > , .Н  ф 
44 г4 »9  Д
те «о д
Д  Ф м

“ S'2'S• М Л
с  гН М  с  
т е те  О

8 .э <0 те
•9 О» гч те н м

те ф ф д  
о  д  *н те 
О *0 Ф 

м  ф  м  >  
Д О С

<  д  те *rt

Jg
Д  ф и
2 %

м <9Ф те - 
• д  д  д

и и с
i о  Ф •и 
I о  >н

S

:а -

«о '

ё?.

те 44 »9S ° 2
Ф и

со <9 те те 9
&» Z
д  к| о  те Ф 44

Дте м >9
9  ф ф

д  д  с

ф ф
: д  д  д  
J Д  Е4 О .
: о

► '9  0 -
: *9 Ф м

с  Н  44% те 9
I •!“ > С  
; Д  С  -н 
1 д  -н \ те 9
) ф >ч Ф> Ю «н с ■ 
1 те О <о 9  -и 
;  д  О  д  * »*4 те
4 >9 ы д

S “
)  Д  С4 те те ф 

д  те ф ; те » д

Ф д  Ф те те д
Ф ф •НДС 

»9  £4 -н

I Д  Д  6  
i Ï  Д  -н  фI те > 
I «о д  те

о  ф Ф
♦г» д  Э  д  
с  Д  Ф с

д  U  д  »  с
те Ф д  о  те о

д  д  O ' «н дте g  ‘Н м  '9 д
те ф м  о  с  фU S те 44 те S

S
СО

с

g

о
р4
С .

дд
S

д
фs

сг*
5

СПй



A / 4 1 / 6 8 0  

E n g l i s h  
A n n e x  I I I  
P a g e  1 08

S'
•rt

g.
*i (Q
С a

M 0
s  =о <0 -
>-1
и  Ф 
<0 и  4J Ф

o<
3  о  

Ф о  *0 ■

<u

8 .

0 0) 
è  .M >o 

ф

O' flJ Ф >4 
С-» Ф

4J 44 с  UШ 0 -H
с  Ю Ю Xi<0 4J ф IQ ф
из (Q M x : m «о
из Ф -H с
Л) 4J «и м 44 10л о и Ск

х: о  о  *о
^ со о  Ф** СМС.

с  03 ф -м ф

ё  ^
•rt О Л  JJ
«3 м &  Ь  С
Ф 4J О Ф с
М X» л  -Н

с  03 • 4J '
х ; ф _  Ф
Ф X  О а  *3 о
М э  (О с  X  ■

-н  о  <Q <0
CQ *о со

ф ф ф «  со
<-1 >D »н м л »  
W с  -Н о  *H S  <

Э (О <М Л)
«о о  44 
<Н 3  с  ф0 о <0 X

1 03 X  4J
м л» 3  ф
лз 3  X  с

f . а .
-  44 л» 4J

. о

Ф 03 ои (О 44 
•и 3 
44 fO  
44 4J ф  
О Ф С

ф -  -
>  с  Ф
о  -Н 3
сг> с

ф с  
л» «3 Ф

«о ю 
I с  ф 
I «Н с  
I 3 «rt
I Л5 I гН XJ
I о  •D

1Sя» 44
<  и* О

X 0} 
Л) Л)
•м 3

0« -и
м о0> О

03 ф лэ . 
Ф 03 с  

^  с  л» I о iH 
•н Ü  03 
X  3  IS £3
м
л» 03 с  

1-4 X  *0

Ф 3
Б с 
ф ф 
м м 
Я) ю

н

X  с  XI

Æ о  'о.
о  м >н 

X  *-4
4-> X  X  03 
л» 3

03 ф 
ф •- лз м 
М Cl 3  Ф

44 X
4J ф 03

*D о  »0 э  
ф X  л» X

ф

М X  

I

X о 

<  W о

и
• 03 •су.

С  *0 С 
•м С  *rt 
С Л» С
о  о•rt >0 'Н 
4J ф  X  
03 1-4 СО 

_ Ф л» Фо о ю §

X  X  13 44
03 44 с  о

•Н Л» Я»
>  X  03 
м * м
ф  Oi <0 ф  
03 Э  СР
Ф X  М с  
м о  ф

X  44 03 
ю л »  03 
гН М с  я»0 < Ф а
м о  Л) X 
Л) с  X  *н •
Ф  -н  03 со «о
> ,  03 -Г4 Ф
1 0J g  М

о\ л» • э
CJ о, 13 е  -г*, 

лз «Н с
<  Ф  X  X  '»4

in in 
00 00 о\ о\

ÇU а
&

& £

с

« Е  
•» ф  

03 м 
9  л»гН JC
X  ^

S

È
а
«

сь
W

Си



1Л m  
œ  œ  
9\ o^ 
i - i  PH

a s
со 0̂

in  m  
со со
C l

a a
Ф
w

Г5

«

&

Э

5  g
8 i

a a(0 то

1 1

A/41/680
English
Annex I I I  
Page 109

4 и  ça * jФ о, о то
j=  н м

I ÊH о  .
44 Ф  <M 

£• W 4J *D
< Ф  (Q
I Ü  Ü  >1 Л
i 4» *p| X l X ЧН TO-, U 44 TO M
I 0  Ф  Ф
; -rt -H
I X  G  M «Q

»D TO 
G  -н  
«  X

Э  <0 Çy 
О  Ф  С  ТО X -H

I M a  »  û; о <0 о .
: 4-i pH

>1 pH Ф  , 
.  g  pH О  X
» *H *0 Ч-1 4J
I X  Ф

X  -  0  
O' -M ■

M (0 
•ri
«0 юто M Ю

I X  'Pi MI 44 44 то 
ЮI О >> M : 44 ТО О  ' G X

TO N Ф о  I 
•rt -H  f i ,  О . •'

С Ю -p̂
> M  ф  »  

<0 pH 
S  чн a -

Н <
ТО М 

ф
о  X  ф

i  S

Н  S .

то 44

? то 9 
•и X  

м  ю  
«о pH и  
О  О  pH 

ТО ТО

ТО X  То 
. X  ?  *Н 
<0 Е-1 X

44 pH ТО
Л) X  М

Ю  X  44 ТО 
ТО >
С  О  44 *Н 
ТО 44 ТО М
а  'О
о  то *о 

м то Ф  
гн то м X
о  *0 *Н 44 
М М 44
X  о  X

§4 <0 Н  Xто тэ
> ,  > ,  ф  то 

М X
о  о  •то fi4 «

то *D М X  с

ai

с  •М то -
<  >о М X

о  I  i

ю S  с  
то о

•Н U  *н
«о  (О X

*Р|
м то >о 
то со с

X  ото то о pH то то

гН X  то
0  с1 то «о • 
ы 'О то Фто *Н ■о pH 
Ф  с  X  >1 то 3 то 
I то о  X  

00 »  S то

_  и

•о а то •
то м  >  X  S

<о X  -н  X  g
G  M чН Э
9  X  'D  X  Н
о т о  ю

Ч rfi с  *0 *Н
X  то о  Ф  ?
то м  *н с

X  то Xто *о о

то м  
pH Ю м -р* 
а  с  то 4ч о то -Н 
X  « О С  то о, гН то о о X  то X то X
X  тоX то «с о X  с 
с  X  X  то

ï i
то X  то то 

*0
с  -о «о Ф  
а  то ф Xо М  pH X  » то X 

•о с  »0 м ф ЧЧ сох

то М 4ч X  X н то 
X  то то 
о о. то O'
X  g с  •то X  *н *н то

Û  X  с  0>
ю н  м то то >, то pH
Ï  с  X  S то *н то с X «о -р̂
то с  с  то X
g  Ф  Ф  МX *0 чН X< » чН 44 то

гН *РН М то

X о  *н то
8 -  X  I то Û

и  Н  IX то
о . а  . 1
С Т О Ю '  

•н то Ф
pH то М < 
pH то а  ( 
ф Л 'Г »  :
>  с  ' 
то с  -и 
м ф 

X  >  то

то S  Ф
X  X

X  н  то«о то то ю «с о> 
то X  X  то сO' М то X чнO' <  м ю « с
к  <  а  «о о

44 Ь  то чН
то X  о то
fil  ф

Iо

•о >н то g то 
м  о  
то pH

то то

М  g
то Ф

f i
то м X

£ •Й 8
S3 н

O '
pH

O '
гН

O '
pH

O '
p H

m
00

in
00

in
00

in
00

in
00

О*

Ш

X
Ü4

£

f t

£

X
f t

£

X
f t
Ф
(0

X
f t
TO
CO

X
f t

£

X
f t

£

X
f t

£

Г*
pH

O '
pH

О
<N

04
04

O '
04 04

(O
04

«£>
04

\o
<N



A/41/680 
E n g lis h  
Annex I I I  
P a ge  110

X 0) (00 MI—( I—I Ф«0 tX-H 0X1? 
о  Ф

"  e  8 •O X 
f-8 X  О  .? с’"
Ф «О 13 
>4 Ф Ф 1 «-i ы <п э

.  §  £ 
ё - .  I

с  13
о  g

13

S I

^  ё £

X  (О С 
<  S  (О .

М fH

»  м о0 *н 44 с
W (О »

X  44 ОX ф 44 М
1 X  О  X  

Ф X  X§ с? «
X «Н (О м
п о  Ф•О Г4 »
ф ф ох м  юÏ4 •*-! и ф

44 (Q с
«  «  * 2  
г4 М М Ф
О  Ф (D
М 44 ̂  м
X  >0 0) ф
Ф г4 <  X  •
04 О  I 44 <0
,  ю м «  фЙ4 44 •-»
о  М ф Ю о
М Ф Ж М *м

С *0 Э 
М С  О  
X  ф *о 
Ф с  
о . М -rt 

*£22'8 ̂
Ф X  О- 

Ф 03 С  •
•О D  **4 ■
С  X  О  С  
Ф Ф м С « 

44 X  X  
№ • X  (О ' 
ф 9
«. X  *0 Ф I 
9  из ф X  
X  М X

g '
•rt M *Н 
Г4 • ф M 
•H X  03 Э 
>  M С  «О 

• « Э Ф

“ • g
юI 8

X

S  44 
•н О

S.
о»

9  X12 I

•н (О (О фгн ф а Ф > Ф 
Ф М X  
М ф Ф X
U) с  X" ?22 
X  О  С  С

►э

Î ,

0> <А 
М С  М О 
Ф *н О  X  
X  «О X  »  
44 М ф» 82 §■ 
»  О X  О

'1 3  <  (Q М

£ .  I  IS2 I

§ • 2  
О 4J

*0 »  9  
Ф О  X  
X  <м tt 1-1 
Ф О

I »
Ф 0) 

I 44 X
2 2  

•н 
Ф (О *

ё  м f

S “
I M >Н Ф
> Ф i -i  X  

X  О  4*
• О  а  ^
1 X  >1

’ с  
Ф *о

к CN Ф
I (О м 
i с  Ф Ф

I °  £ 2

I М 
Ф  >1 Ф

> ф X  м 
I й - н  ф 
I а  м »
I Ф  9
I ю и  О  
< «и  ф »I >0 0) 4»

X  Ф  О X
и  С  Ем «н

S  ^  * С

^ 4 4 - “  g  
ф О О  (О 

•-t и  Ф 
С и ю  Р« м 
9  С
О ф ф «О 
и  X  ф

- 2 ^ 2

M
ta
M

Ф  (0

•-I

M X  
Ф  Ф  w

*o
Ф
X

i
X

с  2 s
с
Ф 22 Ф -M 

M X

S
43

а

р«
«9

X

17»
С  Ф 

•и >о
I
7

К

2« g 
I *н

1§

I
«

U

•О

I
гН
X
X

$
>s § .
sS 11(9 0 S M

С 

1 « 
& |  

2 ”22
X

32

2
Ф
Q X

0. X

8
/ . .



й
№

I, Д g

С  •Ф с
ut

д

8
Д

8

А / 4 1 / 6 8 0  

E n q l i s h  

A n n e x  T I T  

P a g e  1 1 1

с M Ю с•iH Ф -H
Д  >  M Сс -H 9 0<0 Ü 'M -H
и с ДЭ «H w
<0 С « э
ф »  
д  д  д  

Ф Ф о  <0 ф с  44 
S  о  

•и Ф оД !Z 
ю  д

(0 9  Д  Д

•D 
' ф

д е - _ -
ф Ф (О о  I
Ю g  ж S  с

д  д  Ф 
Д  д  д  $ 
g  те W 
о  9  *Н Ф доем«9 -rt р.
Ф  те £  о  
Д  Ф 9  Ф Ь Д те а

оФ £ <9 -н
с  д

>> д  оМ Д фд те р. 
д
9  д  М •н д те 
Н  9  Д
те о  Ф>4 >

ё а

те те 

>ч л
д  *9

ф

■и g

о  д

?  »
•и д  
X  те ф те д да^те ф те • ' »9 те сою"5 ё I е §гН >Н 'да g те ю 99 Ф -нд д  ю  '

д те с сф ф
о  Ю NМ -н О О Ю 
Ю С
С  - н  Юте с ф те
ÎZ S

g  те ю < 
о  да д Ф д

•а

д  «те Ф
9  <9
О g  -Н

»  Æ
д  те 
Ф те

; г S
*9 ДФ те

« о  Ф

те те О О Э 4J те д
Ф г4те *9 те ю

£  о «  ё
те д  Я -нф Э те 
те »  д  •н те ф 
д  Ф N «9 те м те
2  & “  £  
Ф Ф С Ф СО а д 3

ф9> д те о

а

&
I •«

§ 2  
д  д  
со д

д
дI

те д

3 -

с  с  <1) 
о  10 -о

J,™ о, 
I и 10



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 112 .

i

M  о Ç  *Hо w... „ ФД Ф О Юс > с ФФ *н те с

те и
д  н  д  с  J3 „те д ф D м 9

«о 9  Д  
• О  ф дте д ф -

Ф р< >
д  *н ю те
>1 д д ю д

д  д  те Ф Ф с
д  д  4^ д Фю Ï д те д юфите 9

с  ю  >н д  д
д  Ф с  те с  те •
9  Д  -н  ф ф СП
д  те g *н > ф с

д  ю д  Ф д  *н 
те д  те -н  д  д  ю
д  те д  р4 <н
с  с  Ю о Ю «Н
Ф о с  Д  о с  9
ю g  те д  д  те д
д  ю те те д  о> >1
те с  с  с  д

ю о >t Ф *H м
ф с  -н  д  g  9  те
СП те те *н ф с  д
ф гН Д 9> ‘Н ф
м  те 9  9  те д  >
н  д  о. о с  с  *н
8 S Ï  g g 8 §

«H ю д те -H с те 
те 9  фё£§ 8

Д

8 I

а
£ ? 
I *н

д£
оСПс

•нgдё

2•гЧâ

дg

/...



A/41/680 
English 
Annex I I I  
Page 113

■o
о .

H I»  H о

X Ф Ф
<q & M
С >i«H S X0 *H «Ы 
M u О5 3x

Ф CO Ю (Q U <Q 9
»  , -ÛX X Ф
1

-H о *-i Ф 
M Ф С

» г*Ô< (О

•H Фо tH ug-5 SФ
i-
5

Ф 
X  UM » «(0 Ф

« 8 »  
о .  «Ю X » u с 44
S '" 3■о о

й “ а?

Ч
Ф  и

■I
• од «о ф
5 |

НФ 44 М М « 9 W ÜМ С Ь4
g  " 2С X С

1 *̂• м. &8ф S»X•М М 'ИSSS
§4> «с я «I
Д S *0 Г4 Ф М Ф я я Ф X М М <9 <н ф я с »4 >” =*88S1*S*g

«. I
о 6 «и Ф X я М ф я
:ftSî
?si?:9 р X Ф X Т Ф 44
« | S * 8

о» «с ф Ф 9 С П X 
•и я  X  «оО • ̂  «о .«  п.*

« X
Ь ч
ш »•и «н о

l l l h i

2

i J i :
- W W V ^

с  X  «  О

2 | â | | *
W О Я X е> • > Я Х О »| р ч .  .3. I-г-азSвсо-иэе»

я ж о я Ф 44

. 8

s •
1SsS.

h
Ф я с

-IffSI. 2 8 ^ 1

HI î î i lн : 2

8 laiH:

H | " s « a sS ë l 2 S 2 S 8 2< •-« 9 X 0«44 Я M ь l^lîS

? Н 1 |
s f ï l iЯ Xg-csas•H ф ф <и о
2 * 3 . 8

4 S I ' ;X «X F4 я g я х« >1X4 X я" *5-52а

> S «s . 2т X *х м pH

<о £ 2 о <6 •^ «X О *р4 XО > XXX Т ' Я Я Я ЯX «о «  fi *Х 0>

(ч  я  о  вm X XIX ч»

ап
СОс\

•п
S

ш «оss

S

S

А>•9

2XS.
я
Xо
?•н
hêJ

g•Ha
g•p4
S

1
g<p4
IS g

1
g«XSX5g
1

SX
5

a
я
0
g•X
1
ë

«
*g

a

t E
!i9 g •o X «H Фn »9

Яs
II
II

ФXя
s в 

« S

II
f i£

С С
IIX *x
H

I

2ЯsX
«

t

IS

2 “
8 ."Ila I
II

I

in anS Sx4 »H•
% sS«H 2anгН •H

ans;



a/41/680 
E n g l i s h  

A n n e x  I T T  

P a g e  -1 1 4

g ° a
•rt X  
iH >
•H 3  rH
>  w 0

•rH Ф > 
C M C

aa
£ - s

Ü •
Ю (0 JO TO Ü 
3  Ю Э

to TO 45 
Ф Ю >bO С 
Ü ОТО

> (О то TO 
3  X  X  

I X  X  X

'О то то
то X  соO' м то3 о 3
X Си 
то то то '
м м X

Ш (О мто то то
3  X

тото >н м
X  то то 
X  X  -«чо *3 о о

и  (О 
X  то 
с  <3 -н 
то то гЧ «о то

•н I то

то >3

ё - й ’ а
0> 43 -гЧ_ ото W 
X  Д  то 
3  >3
X  то

и

со •

X  X  то
гН 3а S с:о с2

то то со X  то X  
М <3 1-1 40 'Н

X  Ю Т О Ю
ю  <  с  гЧ X  с0 то1 >. >. 
М X  Xто то
то X  X  X то
I Ч

гН f t  Xе о
то X  

с  и  со

X  3

•-Ч X  X  то &Н 5

со (О то
-  X

то о

ю  со
X  Ф X
М X  ото о Ф
X  S  ft
•|Ч ю  со
fH с  3
•<Ч о со

Ф со то
X  Ф м
X  о  Ф

и > 
X  о
<  X

ю
то X
ст» с  
то то

rSS|то
X  ft
to и о то
м •то то то

•Н V4 
Ю X  -н 
гЧ X  ЧЧо -Н
(О 3  со•н 43 

н  то X  то рЧ то то гЧ соU -н

со 3 
с  то 
со 3  X

" а ' .2
с  ю

•н Ю «нто о 
рЧ Jtf соо о 1ч то то 
X X X  
то X  &Чft то

N то 
то X
о

ю
то е  *н о то

ю  с  
то то
40 g
м

а ?

о
с  -н о X

£  S £

1ч «Н Ü
то юft н »чо то
O ' W X
с  то •и то pH

40 X  •
(D ЕЧ со ю  
X  то то 3 М 
и  • 3
то со о  -рп 

•н 3  X  с  Ю pH 3 -М pH Xо то X X  
со г  то pH 

14 X  
&4 X  X
Q  о СП
Н  O' тЧ

то с  гН 
с  м 3  со то X  о 

с  X  со X то то о о то 3

со то то с  
3  то X  о
X  X  X  X  

I X
с  pH о  то 
то С4 X  с

гН то Ю м
•S . £ £
•н X  со 
о  о  то X  

то X  -н
• н а с  
pH со о Ю то 9 о Ф 
то со X  
и  X X  
со <  гН -Н 
М 43 i

ш m 
со со
O'  O'

-  f t  
X  -H то 1ч

«  f t  
с  Xо и

X  X

Xа £ £  £

и

S
и
£



А/41/6Я0 
Bngtisn 
Annex .in  
Pane f is

■8 I si I
S8£5

I Ï 4 2 ?w i« *0
‘.s l i ï ,
2-“ S.» S î

•H ПЗ *Р О  Д

ïH l lо м в. S «

_ —: ' • Ф д
..H.IIm îl î « b r
" “ I «Si
èi

ï «SoilSS, “ tI Sa S £ 8  &S ax

СОet

о&
I
2те

te
œev
M

s
s
I

« «ssM M 
.• •
II

I
I

8
Дa«

II
II

0

S
•*4g.
Д iêi I

£
7

I
I

I
1 1
2 S<M to 88

S8
I
S

Сте стега
2

•

I
к

S

I
к

S
•те

£5 ««



A/4X/680 
English 
Annex III 
P a ge  116

с Д Д•H «0 Дс

M  К  IQ
g  »

Ui "
88 § > tt •H M25 aД 4-iX Ю (Д Ф0 • *H

С  «Ы u a *H2S31 «8

Ф i-< Ф

*! a if

о  a  01D.»g

£3

§ “  •H «НД тете иё gu ш 
лте д

«е
соФ

д
£

д
£

д£ д£ д£

о

г
§ д

ё|

о•н

5
Р|
Ж
н

о

г

f
>1

U Ф •н о>

о%
м

Д £ £ Д£ Д£ Д£



A/41/680 
English 
Annex III 
Page 117

X  Ф О
W «H  >
«X <0 X

VC> VO 
00 «0  
or» o»

vo «o
00 CP 
9i 9»

« Я
X  X

I
я
X

a& g2
0 X •H X 
0S X

■s
X9
X

£I

9pHXЯz

X  Ф** g-
■gïя X
§s
•H я X

Фa



a/41/680 
Bnglish 
Annex I I I  
Page 118

> ь . « Ф
“  ? S« С 9c S " “sЮ CO X X
S <M с to
I ® § 0 ** ■** о «  о wisis

as
V Ф РЧ O' Ф <0 « i-t <tof-s X m «I « c« 4* >« *6 to _  с to■CS^-^SÎS|« XX M * XX « to о о 9 » « a«n
^ 44 «  <M с < X О О О

i

Я
*8
&

81 Ф X
*=8 % 9 « toi-Sto88H »

| » j l  sa­
i l -115 2 8 8 5

9 Ф X «О « & 44
Sll S8

5to
£
ОM

с
5
8
й

Л Л о V
II

s>
ïя
X  X8ï
им

I K

i | i
•г» X £« §

89
â
Xsto«

«
8S

60CDO'
Xо

г

a s

i !
8 8
8 aс X О с6 to

& î
- 8 Я XS £ £ £

Яг
2Я

Ю ЯЫ N
а §5я X
41 £  X  X  Я
Й §дto X е
m & S

яto
i

I
i l
8§
8f

Ф
ë I* 
a sя
я ФX O' я 9

VO
SX

«
X

6000O'X
6000O'X

60соO'X
6000O'X

60соO'X
6000O'X

£to
£

!
£

2
£

1
£

X0to
£

£to'
£

2
£

£to
£

«ОX O'X Огн 60ГЧ 60сч O'<ч O'ГЧ оm

X С X
° Г  8
а 8 £X X (О

X  с  Ф ÊH я Ю

1 “
££X•X X с

£ы£



A/41/680 Enol.lsh 
Annex III 
Page 119

•rt Ф 9>aS'S 2
O -  G

« >, Ф 
э м  ХЗ ' 

X i дд и ̂те 0̂ те ъ
<  V)

О те с и м• (Оте дте о Ф с ^ Ф !? а д д Ф  б д а

ы 
с '

5 ?м О г8

О Д Д С Д » о фд д Ф те юд д д Ф э

Фо о •н ф д> С (О 
8 ? .  
Ф Z те

те о н с д о < Ф д д дS sa

д те д •нес
Д  о  о д м с

оде
44 Дте fa д д а эД м д

о Ф Д 1-1д о д м д£ g
Ф м тпс о с о Л ‘Н д(Û те >ч мте а. д д с д с •н о»
*«Ч 1—1 WJё ё «•г1 *н те 
Ф •д те с те д те д те 6
а “ gф *н м те м м Ф о д те Р<
8д м тес.. 8 м те м

Ф д те те со 9» д с те • эМ Д М
с > ф те *н д д д

с
ф 2-"Д Ь Ю 

f4  Ф Д Д • 3 •D > *Г)ёЗёФ < а >ч о <н мФ те ф £4 3м о&23R >• те тею а те Ф те •н те а д д•н *н •д те с с д
8•н те д с с те р д к

ю I С Ф 3 о Д Дэ <
Й д > и

•на ю м ф д те д 3 те д о дФ э мд о ю эФ Ф да те -н те д ж 
те ю  ДI Ф те te ' те сз 00 V о ф1 Û4 Ю •-»

Ь2.

S3 S3
00 со 
Ф  Ф

Си а 
< <

su•9
Ж

ате

•н
8

£
4
I
СО

2 gте *н

• с д те Ф со
фд с те те д N

Т  те фн Ф дте д 
д  фS£S

А
мfa

Д
8£.
й £
2 с - те
g 8 ш

ДО

ёш
СО

Sтеи»

& è & S' S'



A/41/680 
English 
Annex in 
Page 120

*o я с с X ф 0 я я s. 3 m J  
§ "S'S— > »  сS f l  8

>« Я X X <  X я X s H s

с «  "  2Ф X с Ф с X о X
l i ( 2 ë

8 5  S  8С С « X Фм н я »

> яpH
•s Sи

ЙФ ФX я "2 2(2

&
VO

& s &

0.
0«
s
s

§XXXI
I

Э
XI? X8A

»

с

8

гг•ияX
8

fi!.9 Я «H

Xi я .£ c p-t eЫ Km
8l|
a § £

143
2

è

«9
CDOV

S- è I I

VO
S•Г*
Hm
I00 ê



й
s й

g

g

A/41/680 
English 
Annex I I I  
Page 121

<o a 
o i  E

■o S

“ 2 . и
ÈS

.H «
о S Ф0< X.■SSW X n 
•X 9SJg 85^1
xiSu•И X Ф
g|"Ы . Ф

X
•X Ф 9  0X0

s: S S Я О •и X X H о

sfl!^ф О V *н
" i 2 S г 
^SuSt 5 “ 3 2 ‘
m X ф tt X

i«X <X e __0 0 0 •»«
§§2jr'^'^

vo
CDo>

s- &s

a»ttOt VO«0«Ip4
I

40œo» 40
CDs
&£

0
XX

£«

ti g•X M XM о

s|X

IIФ X

1
s

Ф

H
(X Ф 
Ф X  
X  X  

Ю

ъ
X

Члс о Q*
9
U

h
1 2 S

.? о ■ию

Юя
Ш

>-( 6  я я 
ж и

S *  8 
3 8 2

2с
2

с
8
&•X
о
s

s
«

i
IIЙ2
I uas

5?£ ï£ I I



A/41/680
English
Annex III 
Page 122

« a§ g

Ю X Ю <0 M о  с  X  <0 I то тоS  м  р ЧS'S SМ >ч м  Ф I 3 Ю <*3 m •U  X  с  во  «гЧ <Й
X  <  

юто Ё
ф  -<0 X Ю 6 X  X  9  3о  о  X  м  Ф в  ю  • X  то . с  Ф  3 

то U  то g  ф
f t T O S ; .  Ïft (fl 14 X 3 Q  X  ф X  о  
H  «О JC X^  то 3 то ю  о  Xф  X  ю  ю  мс  Ф Фо  М М Ы ю
X  X  ф  X  с

££ .aS 8 с &§5
>i X  X  X  ft

о  а
3  X

' sa
I X  Ю  
I X  С 
• ТО То . X и 

ТО X  
1 ft

ф с
М Xл л

тоft U  X  то

I X  Ю ( О  4>

U  X  о
ф X  м
> Ф X

СМС,то X тоX® »
X М и • 

то X  Ф 3 X .5г- S 60
JC O ' X  М X X '
то Ф 
Ё  Ф то . 

с  м

то X
N § *  о  то
4J X  М Ф  
X  X  X  М
>4 X  ф то

ft а:е. ф
м 6  Ф X  
Ф о X  X  ' 

X  М XX X  с  X с о
ф X  X(Q с  Ю 

то Ю Ф .
то М Ф  юX O' м о
М X  U  f t

I ta н

0 -нg ю '
с *
1
X  X

>, 3ig

g
9

Ф
С
3
•о

о б
X  Xсо со

о ФX 0«85Ü5 5то

с X  X 
X  Ф то 
«  м г

5S
^ 3

с X
3  X

Ю Ф Ф X XX о то&ф 8S5 Й
•з^'Ех Ен то о

3
м

«
X X

£

&
S

>1то
S

g
3ta



Cb

g, Й5 
S

Ф Д  С 

• д Н НSS5S
н  д  д« àë8
С 6  Ф 

•н те д  д  
ц  О fa О

9

S Ï**
èa

I ,
М  G < *н

Iте

TS Д

С ̂  С •и < «н

% т•н (О те те д с U
M g  о  JI

ш *м .С мё S £ S

А/41/680 
English 
Annex I I I  
Page 123

g ? §Ы Д >1 те ф 
и  Д  pH те

те.  ̂I»о д с д
" 2
5 « '5 S

д те 
д  м  »о
° 0 -S S.Oс Д  Z 9 с
°  «  й "д те а те -н д д о  д35 ® 82
g д д Б< те

£ 2 1 § |
*8 Jс Ф   ̂ о  Ф  ” 

Dt те . м д
«218 S §д те ф с 9 Ф д а »

• ас с Ф • те а *н д д 
М  о  pH Д  9  N С Ф 9 О те je те и д д ю о с те те д Ф 

те те Н4 ф  м  ю а ю д
| ï s l 4те ю д ю 4? Ф Фте те о
* • £ 3 1 §

И ё П г
l ë J S !

. те те с д 9д те те д Е- Оте а те те

* S isl
те « о  ю  д  д  _

S I I 2 II

I s
| S
S.S

s
gД Iдд
5и 1

85Д •« >1 V М *Н ф
« 5 SД pH Д< те те

b I S Î I
î s S i J î9» не д я

l l fsis

V©
00et

S3
00es

S3
00es

S3
00es

5-
Я

О

S'
Ф
■S

1 Sд
те
44

те
00

II §
IIД Фëg II

ддI

я
о

г
1 .д
éJ

2
S
те
О
§д

II

фд
£ 8 8

es
8

S300esм
8 8

S

S3
00es

►о
о

S3
00esд
й
g

Й
g



a / 4 1 / 6 8 0  

English 
Annex III ■ 
Page 124 “

I

§ 2  
Ю С

43 X  • с  H  я  
я  44 Xи
X  Я  Я  
X  X  cL22 §«3 “S sa

s s  1
4» X  

• X  Я

0  2
| 2  « X  X  

X  • Я

„ 2 "

îg^
X  -X *9

S î ,

fe Й  *® 
M  я X

4 S Ф f4
g  X  Я

2 g-g
V9 <  *X

X  SÆ  
<  »  X

о»н
гг9
•9

>1Н
9Г9

Осч
с
<

S
й

2
Я а

я

я
Ü

я
X
X

« Ü

о
S'fi
§ 2  
X  Бё2

о
g, X

X
I

2акк

X
Ï
I

giH<

c‘2 
0  N•X XX taëi
9 № •m 9 О

52 Së

2-9Г9

9»H
iX >1iX

vo00
9»

I O'

<
° /.



A/41/680 
English 
Annek I I I  
Page 125

Ф

I

3 H0) a 
S g

. £Д *
О Ф X X X F

Ю ФС X Ф Ю ф я X о to IHto Ф to о*
<H>t ЯО«^*-1 Я сОНФ НЮХХХЯX X X  я > Я 6  •g I"° 82«£9»Ь0'Ю ХХ>~*X  ̂ Я О
" s.i^a а а 1 | Д 5 2 - 8 £ 8  "2? =52 S Ï 2 " 8X Х ф > > х с  XЮф (Г о с ю о ю» 5 8 Й 2 “ “  "

. . S ' " "

gX

"1
i '
SI^P4J5 '0'ах*00> <Q Ц)

Х Х 4 < ф О  СС> ч  <OiH 
* 06 0 0 > Х Ф Я * И Х Ф С « Н  Ф Я С .  Я Ф  8 и х х я х- « - л - « S 8S S"  П “
- ^ « • g e e ^ ^ g  o c S e

" S 8 2 ■= i   ̂ « I
X X  я (О с Ф X 
Я Я > : 9  - Х Х О О >  • X t o O i C t o X X C t t

ФОбСОФ Я Ф  ф х и
5 5  Й I S ^ £ а , 1 2  
2 8 1  8 2 S  S.8 £ Ï8Ф Ш Х О Ф  x x c t o  Я Х  6 * 0Х« 0  Я « X X X

Ох to 
»  X  Ф 
X X  X  »0.«0 я VO

Bsis;
0  Ф X  X  гНX S as И _

1 S'S
^  5 «  ф

& «

5152

•W
il

«С ю S Xс25 “ 8
ч с Ш

s2.
I»:  
2! s
II!
s JS - « «

Ф X X ю 2 2 2  . я X
■sg “- g f 4.“X  Ф X « X to Ф g, . £ 2 0 сX
81^2 8 06X 3 X

H  я ч-б я с с X
to
S i

2Д8 2 2
с X X X
" g «  &

X яto
•0 Ф§25 2 8 X ф я 0 •я X > X < X

I *
3 . e  8 2 1  
*  2 8  S«= 8
8 1  Ш X Я
e x   ̂X X Я ft с ФX ф toх ю  Cl 
X с ф

X •X ю

to в 382 8 Ф Я

е з 1
5 l 8

60 <в 
со СО 9S 0\

60 60 
00 00 
96 96

I аа«с < ? II< я: I I а<

2X
2
Я

аX
>>

X  ю° ё
8 5
to X
ê 2

S

isX я
-‘I
3 2•g X

to яX «  X 9

X
ê

£ 2

I s
(Q
Я g

X
X

to X
g £
X  to

2
g

O'
5

O'

5
O'
g I

6000O'

I I



ANNEX IV

Map showing Israeli settlements established, planned or under 
construction in the territories occupied since 1967
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MAP SHOWING ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS 

ESTABLISHED IN THE TERRITORIES 

OCCUPIED IN JUNE 1967

-  Golan Heights 41
Israeli settlement -  -  West Bank 177

- Gaza Strip 20

О Town selected for reference purp>oses

Information concerning the
Special Committee to /nvettigete Itraeli Practices Affecting the Human 
Rights o f the Population o f the Occupied Territories.

The designations employed and the presentation o f material on this 
map do not imply the expression o f  any opinion whatsoever on the 
part o f the Secretarial o f the United Nations concerning the legal status 
o f  any country, territory, city or area or o f its authorities, or concerning 
the delimitation o f  its frontiers or boundaries.
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